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CIRTEK 
Holdings Philippines Corporation 

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE 
STOCKHOLDERS OF 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

TO ALL STOCKHOLDERS: 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION will hold its Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") on Friday, 26 May 2017, at 10:30 a,m, at the, Paseo 
Premiere Hotel, Sta, Rosa BUSiness Park, Laguna, Philippines. 

C: The Agenda of the Annual Meeting is as follows: 

1. Call to order 

2. Certification of service of notice and e~istence of quorum 

3. Approval of the Minutes of the 2016 Ann~al Stockholders' Meeting held on 27 May 2016 

4. President's Report 

5. Presentation and approval of the Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2016 

6. Ratification of all acts of the Board of Directors and Management 

7. Election of 9 directors (including 2 independent directors) 

8. Appointment of External Auditors 

9. Approval of the following resolutions in connection with increasing the authorized capital stock of 
the Corporation: (i) 'Increase in common shares from Five Hundred Twenty Million Pesos 
(PhP520,000,000.00) to One Billion Four Hundred Million Pesos (PhP1,400,000,000) worth of 
common shares with a par value of One Peso (PhP1.00) per share, increase in preferred shares 
from Forty Million Pesos (PhP40,000,OOO.00) to One Hundred Forty Million Pesos 
(PhP140,000,000) preferred shares with a par value of Ten Centavos (PhP.10) per share, and 
creation of new preferred shares amounting to Four Hundred Sixty Million Pesos 
(PhP460,000,000) preferred shares with a par value of One Peso (PhP1.00) per share; (ii) 
delegation to the Board of Directors of the power and authority to implement the proposed 
increase in the authorized capital stock of the Corporation; (iii) delegation to the Board of Directors 
of the authority to fix the terms and conditions of the new preferred shares as they may be issued 
in tranches and series; and (iv) delegation to the Board of Directors of the authority to file such 
applications and submit such documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other 
government agencies, as may be necessary to increase the authorize capital stock of the 
Corporation and amend the articles of incorporation of the Corporation 

10. Other business as may properly come before the meeting; and 

11. Adjournment. 



CIRTEK 
Holdings Philippines Corporation 

The Board of Directors has fixed 27 April 2017 as the record date for determining the stockholders 
entitled to notice of, and to vote at the Annual. Meeting, Only holders of shares of stock as of the record 
date will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meetin·g, The stock and transfer books of the Company will be 
closed 20 business days prior to the meeting, , 

IF YOU DO NOT EXPECT TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL. MI;ETING, YOU MAY EXECUTE AND RETURN 
THE PROXY FORM TO THE OFFICE OF THE CORPORATION AT 116 EAST MAIN AVENUE, PHASE 
V-SEZ, LAGUNA TECHNOPARK, BuiIAN, LAGUNA, 4024, THE DEADLINE FOR THE SUBMISSION 
OF PROXIES IS ON 16 May 2017, 10:00 A,M, 

, . 

PROXY VALIDATION WILL BE ON 17 Mat20h, 1Q:00 A.M. AT 116 EAST MAIN AVENUE, PHASE V-C' SEZ, LAGUNA TECHNOPARK, BINAN, LAGUNA, 4024. 

On the day of the meeting, you or your duly designated proxy are hereby required to bring this Notice and 
any form of identification such as driver's license, passport, company I.D" voter's I.D" or TIN Card to 
facilitate registration, Registration shall start at 10:.00 a,m, and will close at 10:30 a,m, 

116 EAST MAIN AVENUE, PHASE v, SEZ 
LAGUNA TECHNOPARK, BINAN, LAGUNA 
PHILIPPINES 

~ 
TADEO F. HILADO 

Corporate Secretary 

TEL NOS, (63) 49·541·2310 TO 12 
FAX NO, (63) 49·541·2317 



CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

STOCKHOLDER PROXY 
(Proxy solicitation is being made by and on behalf of the Company) 

The undersigned hereby appoints the Chairman of the Board of CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES 
CORPORATION (the "Company"), with full power of substitution and delegation, as the proxy of the undersigned, 
to represent and vote all of the shares of common stock of the undersigned in the books of the Company for all matters 
to be taken up at all meetings of the Stockholders of the Company, including the Annual Stockholders' Meeting to 
be held on 26 May 20 I 7 and at any and all adjournments or postponements thereof, as fully and for all intents and 
purposes, as the undersigned might or could do if present and acting in person, and hereby ratifies and confirms any 
and all actions taken on matters which may properly come before said meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

In case of absence of the Chairman of the Board and any substitute proxy designated by him at any meeting 
of stockholders, the undersigned hereby grants to the designated Chairman of the meeting of Stockholders chosen in 
accordance with the Company's By-Laws, full power and authority to act as alternate proxy of the undersigned, for 
the same purposes specified in the preceding paragraphs. 

This Proxy shall continue to be in full force and effect for a period of FIVE (5) years from the date hereof, 
unless withdrawn by written notice delivered to the Corporate Secretary of the Company, but shall not apply in 
instances wherein the undersigned personally attends the meeting. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Proxy this __ day of ____ _ 

(SIGNATURE OVER NAME OF STOCKHOLDER 
OR AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY) 

Address: ___________ _ 

Date: ____________ _ 

================================================================================== 

STOCKHOLDERS' INSTRUCTIONS TO PROXY FOR THE 26 May 2017 
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING 

The Stockholder may provide hislherinstructions to the Proxy here. Should the Stockholder opt not to give instructions, the 
Stockholder authorizes the Proxy to vote according to the recommendation of Management: 

I. Approval of the Minutes of the 2016 Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 27 May 2016 

o FOR 0 AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

2. Approval of the Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2016 

o FOR 0 AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

3. Ratification of all acts of the Board of Directors and Management 

o FOR o AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

4. Approval of the Appointment of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. as External Auditor of the Company for 2017 

o FOR 0 AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

5. Approval of the increase in authorized capital stock, including the creation of a new class of preferred shares, and 
delegation to the Board of Directors of the power and authority to implement such increase in authorized capital stock, 
and the power and authority to fix the tenns and conditions of the new class of preferred shares 



o FOR o AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

6. Election of NINE (9) Directors including at least TWO (2) Independent Directors 

Th e nommees or e eclIon as I Irectors independent directors are: d' 
1. Jerry Liu --- 5. Michael Stephen Liu ---
2. Roberto Juanchito T. --- 6. Brian Gregory Liu ---

Dispo 7. Ernest Frilz Server (Independent --- ---
3. Anthony S. Buyawe --- Director) 
4. Justin Liu 8. Hector Villanueva (Independent ---

Director/Regular Director) 
9. Eduardo Lizares (Independent ---

Director/Regular Director) 

DFORALL o EXCEPTION: 

o WITHHOLD FOR ALL 

Instructions: 
I. The Stockholder may withhold authority to vote for any Of some nominee(s), by marking the exception box and writing the 

name(s) of such nominee(s) on the space provided. If the Stockholder designates exceptiones), the number of shares to be 
distributed to each of the remaining nominees must be indicated on the spaces provided beside each nominee's name. 

2. The total number of votes which a stockholder may cast is equal to nine (9) times the number of shares of common stock 
held as of the Record Dale. 

================================================================================== 
GENERAL INFORMATION AND INSTRUCTIONS 

1. Solicitation Information 

Solicitation of proxies for the meetings of stockholders is being 
made by and on behalf of Ihe Company. 

The cost and expenditures incidental to the proxy solicitation 
will be borne by the Company. 

2. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to 
be Acted Upon 

No director or officer of the Company or nominee for election 
as directorlindependent director or officer of the Company has 
any substantial interest, directly and indirectly, by security 
holdings or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the 
Annual Meeting of the Stockholders, other than election to 
office 

No director has infonned the Company in writing that he intends 
to oppose any action to be taken at the Annual Stockholders 
Meeting of the Company. 

3. Submission of Proxy 

a. The proxy form must be completed, signed and dated by the 
stockholder or his duly authorized representative, and received 
at 116 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ Laguna Technopark, 
Binan, Laguna, 4024 not later than 16 May 2017. 
b. If the shares of stock are owned by two or more joint owners, 
the proxy form must be signed by all the joint owners. 
e. If the shares ofstoek are owned in and "andlor" capacity, the 
proxy form must be signed by either one of the owners. 
d. If the shares of stock are owned by a corporation, association 
or partnership, the proxy form must be accompanied by a 
certification, signed by a duly authorized officer, partner or 
representative of such corporation, association or partnership, 

to the effect that the person signing the proxy form has been 
authorized by the governing body or has the power pursuant to 
the By-Laws, constitutive documents or duly approved polices 
of such corporation, association or partnership for such 
purpose. 

4. Revocation of Proxy 

An owner of shares of stock who has given a proxy has the 
power to revoke it by a written instrument duly signed and 
dated, which must be received by the Corporate Secretary not 
later than the last day for the submission of proxies as indicated 
in the Notice to Stockholders. A proxy is also considered 
revoked for a particular meeting if an individual stockholder 
attends the meeting in person and expresses his intention to 
vote in person. 

5. Validation of Proxies 

The last day for validation of proxies for the Annual 
Stockholders' Meeting is on 17 May 2017. Validation of 
proxies will be done by the Proxy Validation Committee 
composed of the Corporate Secretary of the Company, a 
representative from the stock and transfer agent of the 
Company, a representative from the external auditor of the 
Company and a representative from the Company. 



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 

CITY OF MAKATI CITY ) S.S. 

CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 

I, Ernest Fritz Server, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of 319 Chico Drive, Ayala Alabang 
Village, Muntinlupa City, after having been duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am an independent director ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation. 

2. 1 am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

Company/Organization 
RFM Corporation 
RFM Foundation, Inc. 
BJS Development Corp. 

Superior Las Pinas, Inc. 
Development 
Westview Properties, Inc. 
Philtown Properties, Inc. 
IConnect Integrated 
Solutions, Inc. 

__ Capital Mediaworks, Inc. 
Vicinetum Holdings, Inc. 
ABS-CBN Convergence, Inc. 
Arrakis Holdings, Inc. 
Seacage Industries, Inc. 
Phil. Stratbase Consultancy, 
Inc. 
818 Aqua Farms, Inc. 
A I Move Logistic, Inc. 

PositionfRelationship 
Vice Chairman 
Director 
Advisory Board 
Member 
President 

Chairman 
Vice Chairman 
President 

President 

President 
Director 
Chairman 
President 

=-~~~~-

Director 

Director 
Director 

~~~~~ 

J'eriod of Service 
U p to present 
Up to present 
Up to present 

Up to present 

U P to present 
Up to present 
Up to present 

Up to present 
Up to present 

U P to present 
__ U_~prese"t __ ~_ 

Up to present ____ _ 
Up to present 

U P to present 
U P to present 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an Independent 
Director of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation, as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

4. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as independent director 
under the Securities Regulation Code. 

5. I shall inform the corporate secretary of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation of any changes 
in the abovementioned information within five days from its occurrence. 

Done, this~~day of April 2017, at ______ _ 

APR 2 1 2UU 

ERNEST .FRITZ SERVER 
Affiant 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this day of April 2017 at MAKA11 ern! , 
affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me his Tax Identification Number 115-593-099. 

Doc. No. ~?>y,- _ 
Pagc No. _ ... 7_1.:::....; 
Book No. 5J"L; 
Series of 2017. 



.~ 

--.,---

REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 
CITY OF MAKA'fl CITY ) S.S. 

CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 

I, Eduardo P. Lizares, Filipino, of legal age, married, and a resident of No. 12 Planet Street, Bel­
Air Village, Makati City, Metro Manila, after having been duly sworn to in accordance with law do 
hereby declare that: 

I. I have been nominated as an independent director ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation. 

2. 1 am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

Company/Organization 

Padilla Law Office 
A professional partnership 
University ofthe Philippines 
College of Law 

PositionlRelationship 

Partner 

Professorial Lecturer 
Constitutional Law 

Period of Service 

Up to present 

2013-2016 

University of the Philippines, Law Center, Lecturer, Mandatory Continuing Legal 
Education, up to present 

Trustee, College of the Immaculate Conception, Inc., Cabanatuan, Nueva Ecija 

Trustee, Concordia College, Inc., 1739 Pedro Gil St., Paco, Manila 

Trustee, Immaculate Heart of Mary College, Inc., 54 Aurora Blvd., Quezon City 

Trustee, Sacred Heart College, Inc., Lucena City, Nueva Ecija 

Trustee, Asilo de San Vicente d~ Paul, Inc., UN Avenue, Manila 

Trustee, Asilo de la Milagrosa, Inc., Lahug, Cebu City 

Trustee, Asilo de Molo, Inc. Iloilo City 

Trustee, St. Vincent's Home, Inc., Bacolod City 

Trustee, Rosalie Rendu Development Center, Inc., Sucat, Paranaque City 

T serve as trustee of the foregoing non-stock, non-profit corporations up to the present. 

3. Padilla Law Office is legal counsel to the Holy See and various Roman Catholic Archdioceses 
and Dioceses in the Philippines, and most of the major religious congregations (of women religious) of 
Pontifical Right in the Philippines and their non:stock, non-profit educational institutions, hospitals and 
social welfare institutions. It is external legal counsel to the Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI) and 
Citiland, Inc., which are PSE listed companies. 



, I 

4. Should I be elected as Independent Director, I possess all the qualifications and none of the 
disqualifications to serve as an Independent Director of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation, as 
provided for in Section 38 of the Securities RegulationCode and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

5. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as Independent 
Director under the Securities Regulation Code. 

6. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation of any changes 
in the abovementioned information within five days from its occurrence. 

Done, this _21st_ day of April 2017, at Makati City. 

APR 2 12017 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN \0 before me this day of April 2017 at 

_______ --", affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me his Tax Identification 
Number 140-456-030-000 and Driver's License No. Foi-79-028107 valid through 12 April 2019. 

Doc. No. "9.72-; 
Page No. rZ-; 
Book No. §'5~; 
Series of2017. 

:? -e....., 

=r~U~~~l'R'~~~t,<.= ::s 
UNTIL DEC. 31, 2017 

2734 M. AURORA. ST. MAKATI CITY 
IBP NO. 1032359/ Cl 2015 APPT. NO. M. 17 
ilOLL NO.1S94)! MCLE· 4 NO. ;}:J6324 ! 11·22-16 
PTR NO. MKT. 5~09552! J.3·I) MAKATI CITY 



REPUBLI~JlJlfeBYlILiPPINES) 
CITY OF ) S.S. 

CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 

I, Hector Villanueva, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of 4419 Bluebelle Road, Sun Valley 
Subdivision, Brgy. Sun Valley, Paranaque City, after having been duly sworn to in accordance with law 
do hereby declare that: 

1. I have been nominated as an independent director of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation. 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

Company/Organization 
First Metro Philippine Equity 
Exchange Traded Fund, Inc. 
Philippine Postal Corporation 

Philippine Postal Corporation 
Polytechnic University of the 
Philippines 
Philippine Deposit Insurance 
Co. 

Philippine 
Management 
Inc. 
First Metro 
Corporation 
Sun Star Manila 

Pacific 
Consultancy, 

Investment 

Government of the 
Philippines 
Lakas-NUCD-UMDP 
Polytechnic University of the 
Philippines 

Philippine Electronics 
Exporter Association 
House of Representatives 

Government Service and 
Insurance System 
Silicon Technology, Inc. 
Business Day Corporation 

PositioniRelationship 
Chairman 

Postmaster General 
and CEO 
Chairman 
Member, Board of 
Regents 
Representative to 
Export & Industry 
Bank 
Chairman and 
President 

Member of the 
Advisory Board 
Publisher and Editor­
in-Chief 
Press Secretary 

National Spokesman 
Ninoy Aquino 
Professorial Chair in 
Political Economy 
Treasurer 

Director General 
Congressional 
Economic Planning 
Service 
Office of the President 
and General Manager 
Vice President 
Chairman and 
Treasurer 

Period of Service 
January 2013-2015 

October 2006 -
2011 
2004-2006 
2002-2006 

2002-2006 

2002-2006 

1998-2004 

1998-2001 

1995-1998 

1994-1995 
1989 

1982 

1987-1989 

1966-1987 

1976-1981 
1967-1972 



-.-

Department of Commerce 
and Industry 
Petroleum Economist 

The Chartered Bank, Manila 

Senior Economist 

Filoil Refinery 
Corporation 
Department Manager 

1963-1965 

1962-1963 

1960-1962 

3. Should I be elected as Independent Director, I possess all the qualifications and none of the 
disqualifications to serve as an Independent Director of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation, as 
provided for in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

4. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as Independent 
Director under the Securities Regulation Code. 

5. 1 shall inform the Corporate Secretary ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation of any changes 
in the abovementioned information within five days from its occurrence. 

Done, M'~ ~\da~OJl April 2017, at Makati City 

Co ./ -r,Olo/ 
HECTOR VILLANUEVA 

Affiant 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me AP~ 2 \ aI1!1of April 2017 at MakatiCitv 
affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me his Tax Identification Number ___ _ 

Doc. No. p; 
Page No. / -:? ; 
Book No. ;;t.4 
Series of 20 17. f.4.TTY:VlRG ATALLA 

~01A.Y pus ·OR MAKATI em 
,NO. M-SS 

lJ Il DEC. 31, 1018 
ROLLm \T1Y.NO.4834-8 

MClE COMPUAtKE NO. 11.I-0016333-4/l.0113 
'B.P O.R No. 705762. UFETlME MEMBER JAN. 29.2007 

PTR ~o. S90-90·82JAN.l. 2017 
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MAKATIAVE. COli .. IUfITt~ ,T. ""AKA,. co" 



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 

MJU(AH on' ) S,S, 

CERTIFICATION 

I, ANTHONY S. BUY A WE, of legal age, Filipino, with office address at 116 
EAST Main Ave. Ph. V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, BHian, Laguna, Philippines, do 
hereby depose and say: 

1. I am the incumbent Treasurer and Compliance Officer of CIRTEK 
HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION (the "Corporation"), a corporation duly 
organized and existing under the laws of the Philippines with principal place of business 
at No. 116 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, Biilan, Laguna. 

2. As such Treasurer and Compliance Officer, I hereby certify that none of 
the members of the Board of Directors and Officers of the Corporation are elective or 
appointive public officers or employees of the National or any Local Government 
Agency of the Philippines. 

3. This Certification is being issued pursuant to Article IX(B) Section 8 of 
the Philippine Constitution. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my signature this __ day 
of April 2017 at. _____ _ 

ANTfott?:~~ k"WE 
Treasurer/Compliance Officer 

i I;JR 2 {"t 1 2Dn 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this day of April 2017, 

at Ml>Jjvt.:fl Ci:T¥'affiant who is personally known to me exhibiting to me his Tax 
Identification Number 102-082-234. 

Doc. No . .:2z."S> 
Page No. r-z;. 
BookNo,~ 
Series of2017. UNTIL DEC. 31, 201'7 

,7'.: ,'/, kURUiU,. ST fM.;KATI CITY 
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PART I. 

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INFORMATION STATEMENT 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. Date, time and place of meeting of security holders. 

a. 

b. 

DATE OF MEmNG 
TIME OF MEmNG 
PLACE OF MEmNG 
PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

Approximate date on·. 
which the Information 
statement Is first to be 
sent or given to security 
holders 

26 May 2017 
10:30 AM 
Paseo Premiere Hotel, Sta. Rosa Business Park, Laguna 
116 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna 
Technopark, Biiian, Laguna 

5 May 2017 

Item 2. Dissenters' Right of Appraisal 

Any stockholder of the Corporation who exercises his right of appraisal must vote against the 
proposed corporate action in order to avail himself of the appraisal right. As provided in Title X of 
the Corporation Code, a stockholder may exercise his right of appraisal in the following instances: 

a. In case an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation has the effect of: 

i. Changing or restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares; 

ii. Authorizing preferences in any aspects superior to those of outstanding 
shares of any class; . 

iii. Extending or shortening the corporate existence; 

b. The sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or 
substantially all of the corporate property or assets; 

c. A merger or consolidation. 

In the exercise of the appraisal right, Title X provides the procedure on how it may be exercised: 

a. A dissenting stockholder files a written demand for payment of the fair value of the 
shares within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken. Failure to 
file a written demand within the thirty (30) day period shall constitute a waiver of 
the right. Within ten (10) days from demand, the dissenting stockholder shall submit 
the stock certificates to the corporation for notation that such shares are dissenting 
shares. From the time of demand for payment until either abandonment of the 

2 



corporate action or purchase of the shares of the corporation, all rights accruing to 
the shares shall be suspended, except the stockholder's right to receive payment for 
the fair value of his shares. 

b. If the corporate action is implemented, the corporation pays the stockholder the fair 
value of his shares upon surrender of the certificate/s of stock. Fair value is 
determined by the value of the shares on the day prior to the date on which the vote 
was taken, excluding appreciation/depreciation in anticipation of such corporate 
action. 

c. If the fair value is not determined within sixty (60) days from the date of action, it 
will be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons (one chosen by 
the corporation, another chosen by both). The findings of the said appraisers will be 
final, and their award will be paid by the corporation within thirty (30) days after 
such award is made. Upon such payment, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his 
shares to the corporation. No payment shall be made to the dissenting stockholder 
unless the corporation has unrestricted retained earnings in its books to cover such 
payment. 

d. If the stockholder is not paid within thirty (30) days from such award, his voting and 
diVidend rights shall be immediately restored. 

Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon 

As of the date hereof, none of the directors of the Corporation has informed the Corporation of 
his intention to oppose any of the corporate actions to be acted upon at the annual stockholders' 
meeting of the Corporation. 

B, CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

Item 4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 

(a) Number of shares outstanding 
as of 31 March 2017 

419,063,353 common shares 
400,000,000 preferred shares 

Number of votes to which each one (1) share or class is entitled 

The common and preferred shares are both entitled to one (1) vote per one (1) share. 
However, while the common shares are registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (,'SEC") and listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange ("PSE"), the preferred 
shares are not registered with the SEC and not listed with the PSE. 

(b) Cut-off date / record date 27 April 2017 
27 April 2017 

for common shares 
for preferred shares 

The Corporation's capital stock consists of common shares and preferred shares. The 
stockholders have the same voting rights. Each share is entitled to one vote. 

(c) Cumulative Voting for Directors - At the election of directors, each stockholder may vote the 
shares registered in his name, either in person or by proxy, for as many persons as there are 
directors, or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the 
number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he 

3 



may distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit: 
provided that the total number of votes cast by him shall not exceed the number of shares 
owned by him multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. 

(d) Security ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 

Owners of record of more than S% of the corporation's voting securities as of 31 March 
2017: 

Title of Name, Name of Citizenship Number of 0/0 of 
Class Address of Beneficial Shares Held Class 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Common Camerton, Camertcin, Inc. 
Inc.' 

Filipino 208,888,558 49.85 

Common Cirtek Cirtek Filipino 49,371,700 11.78 
ElectroniCS ElectroniCS 
Corporation' Corporation 

Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Filipino 143,816,827 34.32 
Corporation Corporation, 
Total 402 077 085 95.95% 

Preferred Camerton, Camerton, Inc. Filipino 400,000,000 100 
Inc.' 
Total 400 000 000 100% 

Under PCD account, the following participants hold shares representing more than 5% of the 
Corporation's outstanding shares 

Participant Number of Shares Percentage 
Guild Securities 67 on 828 19% 
Citibank N .A. 27561862 6.6% 

Except as stated above, the corporation has no knowledge of any person or any group who, 
directly or indirectly, is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the corporation's outstanding 
shares or who has a voting power, voting trust, or any similar agreement with respect to shares 
comprising more than 5% of the corporation's outstanding common stock. 

The number of common shares benefiCially owned by directors and executive officers as of 31 
March 2017 are as follows: 

Title of Class Name of BenefiCial No. of Citizenship 
Owner Shares Held 

Common Jerry Llu , 1 Chinese 
Common Rafael G. Estrada 1 Filipino 
Common Nicanor Lizares 1 Filipino 
Common Anthony Buyawe 1 ' Filipino 

Camerton, Inc. has apPOinted Jerry Liu who shall vote the shares on its behalf. 
Cirtek Electronics Corporation has appointed Jerry Uu who shall vote the shares on its behalf. 
Camerton, Inc. has apPOinted Jerry Liu who shall vo~e the.'shares on its behalf. 
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Percent 

0.0000 
0.0000 
0.0000 
0.0000 



Common Roberto Juanchito 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Dispo 

Common Martin Lorenzo 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Ernest Fritz Server 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Michael Stephen Liu 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Brian Greaorv Liu 1 

, Filipino 0.0000 
.. 

Voting Trust Holder of 5% or MOre 

The Corporation is not aware of any· person holding more than S% of the common shares of the 
Corporation under a voting trust or similar agreement as there has been no voting trust 
agreement which has been filed with the Corporation and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 

(e) Description of any arrangement which may result in a change In control of the corporation 

No change in control of the corporation has occurred since the beginning of the last fiscal year. 

Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers 

All of the Directors and officers named herein have served in their respective positions since 27 
May 2016. The Directors of the· Corporation were elected at the annual meeting of the 
stockholders of the Corporation to hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting of the 
stockholders and until the respective successors have been elected and qualified. 

The Officers were elected by the Board of Directors at the organizational meeting of the Board on 
27 May 2016. The Board also elected during the said meeting the chairman and members of the 
Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee, and the Compensation Committee. 

Nominees 

Nominations Committee 

The Chairman of the Nominations Committee of the Corporation is Ernest Fritz Server, an 
Independent Director, and the members are Jerry Liu and Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo. 

Nominees 

The nominees for election as members of the Board of Directors and as Officers of the 
Corporation as of the date of sending the Definitive Information Statement are listed below: 

Regular Directors 

Jerry Liu 
Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo 
Anthony Buyawe 
Michael Stephen Liu 
Brian Gregory Liu 
Justin Liu 

Independent Directors 

Ernest Fritz Server 
Eduardo Lizares 
Hector Villanueva 
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Corporate Secretary 
Tadeo Hilado 

Assistant Corporate Secretary 
Brian Gregory Li u 

The Nominees for Directors and Officers 

Name Age Citizenship Position 
Jerry Liu 68 Chinese Chairman and Director 
Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo 52 Filipino Vice Chairman, President and 

Director 
Anthony Buyawe 50 Filipino Treasurer/CFO, Compliance 

Officer and Director 
Michael Stephen Liu 32 Filipino Director 
Brian Gregory Liu 30 Filipino Assistant Corporate Secretary 

and Director 
Justin T. Liu 35 Filipino Director 
Ernest Fritz Server 73 Filioino Indeoendent Director 
Eduardo Lizares 60 Filioino Indeoendent Director 
Hector Villanueva 81 Filioino Indeoendent Director 
Tadeo Hilado 64 Filipino Coroorate Secretary 

The following is a brief profile of the Corporation's Directors and Officers for the year 2016-2017 
as well as the nominees for the year 2017-2018. 

Regular and Independent Directors. 

Jerry Liu, 68 years old was elected as the Corporation's Chairman and President on 25 May 
2012. He is currently the Chairman of the Corporation. He is also concurrently President/CEO of 
CEC, Director of Cirtek Land and Cayon Holdings, Inc. and Chairman of Silicon Link, Inc., Mr. Liu 
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Physics from Chung Yuan University of Taiwan and an MBA 
from the University of the East. 

Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo, 52 years old was elected Vice Chairman and Director of the 
Corporation on 4 January 2016 and also as President of the Corporation on 27 May 2016. Mr. 
Dispo is also Vice Chairman of Cosco Capital, and sits on the Board of PB Com Bank and Axa 
Philippines. Prior to joining the Corporation, Mr. Dispo was President and Director of First Metro 
Investment Corporation. Mr. Dispo holds BSC Economics and Business Management from San 
Sebastian College and Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila, respectively. He also completed 
Masters in Business Administration and Masters in Business Economics from Pamantasan ng 
Lungsod ng Maynila and the University of Asia & the Pacific, respectively. 

Nicanor Lizares, 53 years old was elected as a director of the Corporation on 17 February 
2011. He is also a director of Pancake House, Inc., and Cirtek Holdings, Inc. He is a partner of 
Aureos Philippine Advisers, Inc., Mr. Lizares has a Master of Science in Industrial Economics from 
the Center for Research and Communications and an M.A. in International Relations from Boston 
University. 

Anthony Buyawe, 50 years old was elected as the Corporation's Treasurer and Chief Financial 
Officer on 17 February 2011. He is concurrently the CFO of CEC, CEIC and the Figaro Coffee 
Corporation. Prior to joining the Corporation, Mr. Buyawe was CFO of ITP Technologies (2003 -
2005) and SMEDC (2008-2009) and Senior Director of Ernst and Young (2005-2008). Mr. Buyawe 
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obtained his BA degree from the University .of the Philippines and his MBA from the Asian 
Institute of Management. 

Rafael G. Estrada,. 64 years old, is Chairman and President of First National Holdings 
Corporation and Chairman of Delta Agrivet Commercial, Inc. and Waterfor Calasiao, Inc. 
Previously, Mr. Estrada served as Vice Chairman of the Social Security System, and served as 
director for Land Bank of the Philippines, Union Bank of the Philippines, Manila Doctors Hospital 
and Medical Center Manila. He obtained is BS Management degree from the University of Sto. 
Tomas and his MBA (candidate) from the University of Virginia. 

Martin Ignacio P. Lorenzo, 51 years old was elected as an Independent Director of the 
Corporation on 17 February 2011 and shall serve as such for one year or until his successor is 
elected and qualified. Mr. Lorenzo is the Chairman and President of Pancake House, Inc. He also 
served as Chairman, President and CEO of Macondray & Co., Inc., Chairman and President of 
First Lucky Property Holdings, Chairman and President of First Lucky Property Corporation and 
Marlor Investment Corporation. Mr. Lorenzo graduated from the Ateneo de Manila University with 
a Bachelor of Science in Management Engineering and earned his MBA from the Wharton 
Graduate School, University of Pennsylvania in 1990. 

Ernest Fritz Server, 73 years old, was elected as an Independent Director ofthe Corporation 
on 17 February 2011 and shall serve as such for one year or until his successor Is elected and 
qualified. Mr. Server serves as the PreSident of Multimedia Telephony Inc., Vice Chairman of RFM 
Corporation, Chairman of Arrakis Holdings, Inc.; President of Seacage Industries, Inc., President 
of West Properties, Inc., President of Superior Las Pin as, Inc., a director of ABS CBN 
Convergence, Inc. and a director of BJSDevelopment Corp. Previously, Mr. Server served as Vice 
Chairman of the Commercial Bank of Manila, Consumer Bank and Cosmos Bottling Corporation, 
President of Philippine Home Cable Holdings, Inc. and Philam Fund, and a director of Philippine 
Township, Inc .. Mr. Server graduated from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1963 with degree 
in Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and holds an MBA Major in Banking and Finance from 
the University of Pennsylvania, Wharton Graduate School. 

Michael Stephen T. Liu, 32 years old, is currently the General Manager of Cirtek Advanced 
Technology and Solutions (CATSI) a Cirtek company catering to the telecom and wireless 
broadband space. He was first elected as Director on 11 May 2015. Mr. Liu obtained his degree 
in Electronics and Communications Engineering from De La Salle University in 2007 and is a 
licensed Electrical Engineer. 

Brian Gregory T. Liu, 30 years old, has been the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the 
Corporation since March 2011. He was first elected as Director on 11 May 2015. He is 
concurrently a stockholder in Cirtek·Electronics Corporation, Cirtek Land Corporation, and 
Turborg Trading. Mr. Liu trained as an Operations Trainee in Dominos Pizza from 2001 to 2002, 
then as an Analyst in Evergreen Stockbrokerage & Securities Inc. from 2003 to 2005. He 
obtained his degree in Management in. Financial Institutions from De La Salle University in 2009. 

Justin T. Liu, 35 years old, is President and Director of Figaro Coffee Systems, Inc. Mr. Liu 
graduated from the De La Salle University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Management 
and earned his Masters in Finance from the University of San Francisco in 2006. 

Eduardo Lizares, 60 years old, is currently Partner at Padilla Law Office and Professorial 
Lecturer on Constitutional Law at the University of the Philippines. Atty. Lizares holds a Bachelor 
of Arts degree for De La Salle University, Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the 
Philippines, and a Master of Laws degree from Harvard Law School, Harvard University. 
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Hector Villanueva, 81 years old, has held senior positions in both private and public sectors. 
He was Chairman of the Board of First Metro Philippine Equity Exchange Traded Fund, Inc. 
Postmaster General and CEO of Philippine Postal Corporation, Member of the Advisory Board: 
First Metro In~estment Corporation, and Publisher and Editor-in-Chief, Sun Star Manila, among 
others. Mr. Villanueva was also Cabinet Secretary from 1995-1998. Mr. Villanueva obtained a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from the London School of Economics and Political 
Science, and post-graduate studies from Royal Institute of Bankers, United Kingdom. 

Independent Directors 

The nominees for Independent Directors of the Corporation for the year 2017-2018 
are: 

1. Ernest Fritz Server, 
2. Eduardo Lizares, and 
3. Hector Villanueva 

They have been nominated by Jerry Liu, current Chairman of the Corporation. Jerry Liu has no 
relationship with the nominee Independent Director. Ernest Fritz Server has been an 
Independent Director of the Corporation since 17 February 2011. In accordance with the 
Securities and Exchange Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series of 2016, Ernest Fritz Server may 
serve as Independent Director until 2021 while either Hector Villanueva or Eduardo Lizares mat 
served as Independent Director of the Corporation until 2026. 

Key Officers 

Tadeo Hilado, 64 years old, Filipino, was el.ected ",,5 the Corporation's Corporate Secretary on 17 
February 2011. Atty. Tadeo is a senior partner at the Angara Abello Concepcion Regala & Cruz 
law offices. He also serves as director and corporate secretary of several companies including 
Cocoa Specialties, Inc., Univation. Motor Philippines, Inc., Nissan Autoparts Manufacturing 
Corporation, Sumisetsu Philippines, Inc., SamsonitePhilippines, Inc., Vitarich Corporation, among 
others. Atty. Tadeo holds a Bachelor of Arts degreefr6m the De La Salle University, Bachelor of 
Laws degree from the University of the Philippines and a Master of Laws degree from the 
University of Michigan. 

Significant Employees 

The business of the Corporation is not highly dependent on the services of personnel outside of 
senior management. 

Family Relationships 

The Corporation's Chairman, Jerry Liu, is the father of Brian Liu, the Corporation's Assistant 
Corporate Secretary and Director, Michael Stephen Liu, the Corporation's Director, and Justin Liu, 
a nominee Director. 

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

The Corporation is not aware of the occurrence, during the past five (5) years up to the date 
hereof of any of the following events that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity 
of any director or executive officer: 

1. Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any director, or any business of a director, 
nominee for election as director, or executive officer who was a director, general partner or 
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executive officer of said business either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two (2) years 
prior to that time; 

2. Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being convicted by final 
judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending 
criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor 
offenses; . 

3. Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being subject to any order, 
judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign,. permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, 
commodities or banking activiti~s; and 

4. Any director, nominee for election as director; or executive officer being found by a domestic 
or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign 
body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self- regulatory 
organization, to have violateda·securities or commodities law or regulation, and the 
judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

Item 6. Compensation of Directors and. ExecutivE! Officers 
! 

a. Total Annual Compensation 
The total annual compensation of the President and the top four highly compensated 
executed and to its officers and directors as a group unnamed is as follows: 

For 2016 
. 

Name 80. Position Year Salarv Estimated Bonus 
Jerry Liu (President) 2016 1'40.0 million 1'8 million 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Domingo Bonifacio (President 
CATS) 
Rolando Enriquez (Vice 
President CATS) 
Jorqe Aquilar (President CEC 
Aggregate compensation paid 2016 1'45 million 1'10 million 
to all officers and directors as 
a Cirtek GrOUD unnamed 

For 2017 

Name 80. Position Year Estimated Salarv Estimated Bonus 
Jerry Liu (Chairman) 2017 1'42 million 1'8.4 million 
Roberto Juanchito Dispo 
(President) 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Rolando Enriquez (Vice 
President CATS) 
Jorge Aguilar (President CEC) 

Aggregate compensation paid 2017 1'48 million 1'12 million 
to all officers and directors as 
a Cirtek Group unnamed 
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b. Compensation of Directors 

Under the By-Laws of the Corporation, by resolution of the Board, each director, shall receive a 
reasonable per diem allowance for his attendance at each meeting of the Board. As 
compensation, the Board shall receive and allocate an amount of not more than ten percent 
(10%) of the net Income before income tax of the corporation during the preceding year. Such 
compensation shall be determined and apportioned among directors in such manner as the Board 
may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders representing at least majority of the 
outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the stockholders. 

As of date, the directors have yet to pass,a resolution fixing their per diem. 

c. Standard Arrangements and Other Arrangements 

There are no other arrangements for compensation either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments., 

There are no other arrangements for compensation' either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments other than' reasonable per diem. There are also no 
outstanding warrants or options held by the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer, other officers 
and/or directors. 

d. Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control 
Arrangements 

The Cirtek Group has executed employment contract with some of its key officers. Such 
contracts provide the customary provision on job description, benefits, confidentiality, non­
compete, and non-solicitation clauses. There are no special retirement plans for executives. 
There is also no existing arrangement for compensation to be received by any executive officer 
from the Corporation in the event of change in control of the Corporation. 

Item 7. Independent Public Accountants 

a. The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is composed of three (3) members, one (1) of whom is an independent 
director. It is composed of the following members: 

1. Ernest Fritz Server ( Chairman) 
2. Anthony Buyawe (Membel') 
3. Jerry Liu (Membel') 

b. The Public Accountant 

The Corporation's public accountant Is the accounting firm Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co ("SGV"). 
They are being recommended once again for election, approval, and ratification for the current 
fiscal year. As of December 31, 2015, SGV has been the Corporation's external auditor for five 
years with Mr. Ladislao Z. Avila, Jr. as the Partner-in-Charge for the audit years 2011 to 2015. 
The Corporation, in compliance with SRC Rule 68, paragraph 3 (b) (iv) re: compliance with the 
five (5) year rotation requirement for external auditors, has requested for a new Partner-in­
Charge from SGV to handle its accounts. Mr. Martin C. Guantes has been assigned by SGV as 
Part-in-Charge effective 2015 Audit. 
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Representatives from S~V attend the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of the Corporation and 
are given the opportUnity to make a statement if, they so desire. They are also expected to 
respond to appropriate questions. 

c. External Audit Fees and Services 

Audit and Audit-Related Fees 2016 2015 
Regular audit 1'1,100 000 I' 950,000 
Special audit I' 9 100000 I' 700 00 
Other fees (out-of-pocket expenses) 1'- I' -
Total Audit and Audit-related Fees 1'10 200 00 I' 1650 000 

The Audit Committee approves the poliCies and procedures for the above services by observing 
the independence of parties and by carrying out transaction at arms-length basis. 

Item 8. Compensation Plans 

There are no actions to be taken with respect to any plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash 
compensation may be paid or distributed. 

There are no outstanding warrants .and options held by any of the Corporation's directors and 
executive officers. 

C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 

Item 9. Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange 

There is no action to be taken with respect authorization or issuance of securities other than for 
Exchange. 

Item 10. Modification or Exchange of Securities 

There is no action to be taken with respect to the modification of any class of securities of the 
registrant, or the issuance or authorization for issuance of one class of securities of the registrant 
in exchange for outstanding securities of another class. 

Item 11. Financial and Other Information 

There is no action to be taken with respect to any matter specified in Items 9 or 10 above. 

Item 12. Mergers, Consolidations, Acqui.sitions and Similar Matters 

There are no actions or transactions with respect to any mergers, consolidations, acquisitions or 
similar matters that will be taken up by the registrant. 

Item 13. Acquisition or Disposition of Property 

There is no action to be taken up with respect to the acquisition or disposition of any property. 

Item 14. Restatement of Accounts 

There is no action to be taken up with respect to the restatement of any asset, capital, or surplus 
account of the registrant. 
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D. OTHER MATTERS 

Item 15. Action with Respect to Reports 

a. The Board in its special meetings held last 24 October 2016 and 4 April 2017 approved to 
Increase the authorized capital stock of the Corporation by up toOne Billion Four 
Hundred Forty Million Pesos (Pl,440,000,000.00) in lawful money of the Philippines, or 
from Five Hundred Sixty Million pesos (P560,000,000.OO), divided into five hundred 
twenty million (520,000,000) Common Shares with a par value of One Peso (P1.00) per 
share and four hundred million preferred shares (400,000,000) Preferred Shares with a 
par value of Ten Centavos (PO.10) per share ("Preferred A Shares"), to up to Two Billion 
Pesos (P2,000,000,000.00), consisting of up to One Billion Four Hundred Million Pesos 
(Pl,400,000,000.OO) worth of Common Shares with a par value of One Peso (P1.00) per 
share and, up to Six Hundred Million Pesos (P600,000,000.00) worth of Preferred Shares 
classified into up to One Hundred Forty Million Pesos (P140,000,OOO.00) Preferred A 
Shares with a par value of Ten Centavos (PO.l0) per share, and up to Four Hundred 
Sixty Million Pesos (P460,OOO,OOO.OO) New Preferred Shares with a par value of One Peso 
(P1.00) per share, the series, classes, preferences, convertibility, voting rights and other 
features of which shall be determined· by the Board of Directors. 

In view thereof, the following matters shall be presented to the stockholders for their 
approval during the Annual Stockholders' Meeting on 26May 2017:(I)increase in the 
amount of the authorized capital stock from Five Hundred Sixty Million Pesos 
(P560,OOO,OOO.00), divided into five hundred twenty million (520,000,000) Common 
Shares with a par value of One Peso (P1.00) per share and four hundred million 
preferred shares (400,000,000) Preferred Shares with a par value of Ten Centavos 
(PO. 10) per share ("Preferred A Shares"), to up to Two Billion Pesos 
(P2,000,000,000.00), consisting of up' to One Billion Four Hundred Million Pesos 
(Pl,400,OOO,OOO.00) worth of Common Shares with a par value of One Peso (P1.00) per 
share and, up to Six Hundred Million Pesos (P600,000,000.00) worth of Preferred Shares 
classified into up to One Hundred Forty Million Pesos (P140,000,000.00) Preferred A 
Shares with a par value of Ten Centavos (PO. 10) per share, and up to Four Hundred 
Sixty Million Pesos (P460,000,OOO.OO) New Preferred Shares with a par value of One Peso 
(P1.00) per share, the series, classes, preferences, convertibility, voting rights and other 
features of which shall be. determined by the Board of Directors;(ii)creation of New 
Preferred Shares, the series, classes, preferences, convertibility, voting rights and other 
features of which shall be determined by the Board of Directors;(iii)delegation to the 
Board of the the power and authority to: (a) determine the manner (either in one or 
more tranches) by which the proposed increase in the Authorized Capital Stock of the 
Corporation will be implemented, and (b) the manner by which the increase in the 
Authorized Capital Stock will be subscribed and paid for, such as, but not limited to, a 
private placement transaction or public offering;(iv)delegation to the Board of Directors 
of the power and authority to issue from time to time in one or more series the New 
Preferred Shares mentioned above, and to determine the issue price of each particular 
series of the New Preferred Shares, to fix the number of shares to be included in each of 
such series, and to determine the preferences, convertibility, voting rights, features and 
other terms and conditions' for each such series of the New Preferred 
Shares;(v)delegation to the Board of Directors of the power and authority to file such 
applications and documents as may be neceSsary to amend the articles of incorporation 
of the Corporation that will give effect to the foregoing resolutions. 

Item 16. Matters Not Required to be Submitted 

There is no action to be taken with respect to any matter which is not required to be submitted 
to a vote of security holders. 

12 



Item 17. Amendment of Charter, By-Laws or Other Documents 

The rationale for the foregoing resolutions/actions are as follows: 

Since the authorized capital stock of the Corporation is almost fully subscribed, the Corporation 
has very limited ability to raise funds for its business needs. The proposed resolutions above, will 
give the Corporation the flexibility to address needs to increase the authorized capital stock of 
the Corporation for purposes of sourcing funds for expanding operations. 

The creation of a new class of preferred shares is contemplated in light of potential investors who 
prefer to subscribe to shares with additional features. 

Should the proposed resolutions above,. which envision to Increase the authorized capital stock of 
the Corporation and to create ,a new class of preferred shares, once implemented shall have the 
following general effects: 

The increase in the authorized capital stock Will result in more number of shares which can be 
issued by the Corporation to the public ,and to its existing stockholders. 

The creation of a new class of preferred shares ~hall provide additional source of funding for the 
Corporation. The resulting new class of shares which will not be listed in the Philippine Stock 
Exchange. 

Item 18. Other Proposed Action 

a. With respect to the proposed increase in the authorized capital stock of the Corporation, the 
Board will obtain the consent of the, Stockholders to delegate to the Board of Directors the 
authority to: (i) determine the manner (either in one or more tranches) by which the 
proposed increase in the authorized capital. stock of the Corporation will be implemented; and 
(ii) the manner by which the increase in the authorized capital stock will be financed and 
supported, such as, but not limited to a, private placement transaction (whether by a third 
party investor or a related-party iiwestor), and for this purpose, the approval of the majority 
of the minority shareholders of theCorporatiori to waive the reqUirements to conduct a rights 
or public offering of the shares to be subscribed by the related party will be obtained; and 

b. With respect to the delegated authority to, amend the articles of incorporation of the 
Corporation to effect the implementation of the increase in the Authorized Capital Stock, the 
Board will obtain the consent of the Stockholders to delegate to the Board of Directors the 
authority to file such applications and documents as may be necessary to amend the articles 
of incorporation of the Corporation that will give effect to the foregoing resolutions. 

Item 19. Voting Procedures 

The vote required for the election of Directors and Independent Directors 

At all elections of Directors and Independent Directors, there must be present, either in person or 
by representative authorized to act by written proxy, the owners of a majority of the outstanding 
capital stock. The election must be by ballot if requested by any voting stockholder or member. 
Every stockholder entitled to vote shall have the right to vote in person or by proxy the number 
of shares of stock standing, at the time fixed in the by-laws, in his own name on the stock books 
of the corporation, and said stockholder may vote such number of shares for as many persons as 
there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many 
votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, 
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or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit: 
Provided, That the total number of votes cast by him shall not exceed the number of shares 
owned by him as shown in the books of the corporation multiplied by the whole number of 
directors to be elected. 

The vote required for the declaration of stock dividends 

Under the Corporation Code, no stock dividend shall be issued without the approval of 
stockholders representing not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the Corporation's capital stock. 

The vote required for the increase in the authorized capital stock 

Under the Corporation Code, no corporation shall increase its authorized capital stock unless 
approved by stockholders representing' at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock 
of the corporation at a meeting duly called for the purpose. 

The vote required for the amendment of the articles of incorporation of the Corporation 

Under the Corporation Code, any provision or matter stated in the articles of incorporation may 
be amended by the vote of the stockholders representing at least two-thirds (2/3) of the 
outstanding capital stock of the corporation. 

The method by which votes will be counted 

Each shareholder may vote in person or, by proxy by the number of shares of stock standing in 
his name of the books of the Corporation. Each share represents one vote. Voting shall be by 
balloting. The Corporate Secretary, Atty. Tadeo F. Hilado, shall assist the Corporation's Stock 
and Transfer Agent in counting the votes to be cast., 

No director has informed the Corporation of any intention to oppose the matters to be taken up 
in the Annual Stockholders' Meeting. 

Vote entitlement of the Common and Preferred Shares of the Corporation 

Both common and preferred shares are entitled to one (1) vote per one (1) share. However, 
while the common shares are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") 
and listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange ("PSE"), the preferred shares are not registered 
with the SEC and not listed with the PSE. ' 
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PART II. 

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROXY FORM 
(This form shall be prepared In accordance, with paragraph (5) of SRC Rule 20) 

Item 1. Identification 

The Registrant is the person on whose behalf the solicitation is made. 

The Chairman of the Board of the Registrant shall be appointed as the proxy, and In his absence, 
by any substitute proxy designed by him at any meeting of the stockholders, or in the absence of 
such designation, the designated Chairman of the meeting of stockholders chosen In accordance 
with the Corporation's By-Laws. 

Item 2. Instruction 

a. The manner in which the form shall be accomplished; including the validation process of such 
form, must be clearly discussed. 

The form of the proxy Is hereto attached,as Annex "A". By affixing the signature on the space 
provided in the Proxy Form, the stockholder directs the proxy to vote on the agenda items as 
expressly indicated by marking the Proxy Formwith an "X" in the respective boxes for each 
matter to be taken up in the meeting, failing which, said proxy shall exercise full discretion in 
acting thereon and vote in accordance with the 'recommendation of Management. 
Management recommends a "FOR ALL" vote for all proposals herein. 

Proxies must be received by the Corporation no later than 16 May 2017 at its principal office 
located at 116 East Main Avenue, Phase V"SEZ, Laguna Technopark, Binan, Laguna. Proxy 
validation shall be conducted by the Proxy Validation Committee composed of the Corporate 
Secretary, or his representative, a representative of the Stock and Transfer Agent of the 
Corporation, a representative of the Auditors of the Corporation, and a representative from 
the Corporation. Proxy validation shall on 17 May 2017. 

All proxies will be validated in accordance' with the requirements of Section 58 of the 
Corporation Code which provides that proxies must be in writing, signed by the stockholder 
and filed before the scheduled meeting with the Corporate Secretary, which in this case is no 
later than 16 May 2017. Proxies shall be valid and effective for a maximum period offive (5) 
years. A proxy executed by a corporation shall be in the form of a board resolution duly 
certified by the Corporate Secretary or in a proxy form executed by a duly authorized 
corporate officer accompanied by a Corporate Secretary's certificate quoting the board 
resolution authorizing the said corporate officer to execute the said proxy. Proxies executed 
abroad shall be duly authenticated' by the Philippine Embassy or Consular Office. All issues 
relative to proxies including their validation shall be resolved prior to the canvassing of votes 
for purposes of determining a quorum. 

b. Disclose how the form shall be voted upon in case the same is not properly executed. 

Proxies which are not properly executed shall be conSidered void and shall not be considered 
in the counting of the votes. 

c. The matters to be taken up in the, meeting shall be enumerated opposite of the boxes. 
Likewise, the names of nominee directors shall be enumerated opposite the boxes. 
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Item 3. Revocability 

The Proxy shall be for a period of five (5) years. It is revocable upon written notice delivered to 
the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation. The Proxy shall also be deemed revoked for a 
particular meeting when the stockholder personally attends the meeting and signified his 
intention to vote his shares. 

Item 4. Persons Making the Solicitation 

1. The Registrant shall do the solicitation by attaching a copy of the Proxy Solicitation Form (the 
form of which is attached hereto as Annex "A") in the Notice and Agenda to be sent to all 
stockholders of record. In addition, the Chairman of the Board will also exert efforts, on his 
own, to solicit such proxies through email, telephone calls and personal visit to some security 
holders. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

None of the regular employees of the Corporation or any other participant in a solicitation 
have been or are to be employed to solicit security holders. 

No specially engaged employees, representatives or other persons have been or will be 
employed by the Corporation to solicit security holders. 

The Corporation estimates that it will spend a total of Two Thousand Five Hundred Pesos 
(Php2,500.00) for the printing and reproduction of the Proxy SoliCitation Form. 

The Registrant shall bear all the direct or indirect cost of soliCitation. 

There are no settlement agreements between the Corporation and any other participant in the 
solicitation of proxies. 

No director has informed the Registrant in writing that he/she intends to oppose any action 
intended to be taken by the Registrant during the Annual Stockholders' Meeting. 

Item 5. Interest of Certain Persons in matters to be Acted Upon 

Directors and Executive Officers 

(a) Legal Proceedings - none of the directors are involved in any material pending legal 
proceedings where their properties are the subject of such proceedings. 

(b) The Incumbent Directors and Officers of the Corporation are: 

Incumbent Directors/Officers (Age)f Citizenshio Position/Period which they had Served 
JERRYUU Chairman and President 

(17 February 2011 to presenf) 
(68)/ Director 

Chinese (17 February 2011 to presenf) 
Chairman 
(27 May 2016 to presenfJ 

ROBERTO JUANCHITO 
Vice Chairman and Director 

(52)/ (4January 2016 to presenf) 
DISPO 

Filipino PreSident 
(27 May 2016 to oresenfJ 
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Vice-President 

NICANOR LIZARES (53)/ (17 February 2011 to presenf) 
Filipino Director 

(17 February 2011 to ~resenf) 
Treasurer 

ANTHONY BUYAWE (50)/ (17 February 2011 to presenf) 
Filipino Director 

(17 Febru~ry 2011 to presenf) 
RAFAEL ESTRADA (64)/ Director 

Filioino (31 May2013 to oresenfJ 

MICHAEL STEPHEN LIU (32)/ Director 
Filipino (11 May 2015 to present) 

MARTIN LORENZO (51)/ Independent Director 
Filipino (17 February 2011 to presenf) 

ERNEST FRITZ SERVER (73)/ Independent Director 
Filipino (17 February 2011 to presenf) 

TADEO F. HILADO (64)/ Corporate Secretary 
Filipino (17 February 2011 to presenf) 

Assistant Corporate Secretary 

BRIAN GREGORY LIU (30)/ (March 2011 to presenf) 
Filipino Director 

(30 March 2015 to presenfJ 

(c) Family Relationships 

Michael Stephen Liu, current Director, Brian Gregory Liu, current Director and Assistant 
Corporate Secretary, and Justin Liu, nominee for Director, are the sons of the Chairman, 
Jerry Liu. 

(d) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings - None of the Directors and Officers are 
involved in: 

(1) Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person 
was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or 
within two years prior to that time; 

(2) Any conviction by final judgment, including the nature of the offense, in a 
criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor 
offenses; 

(3) Being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, 
suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or 
foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise 
limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or 
banking activities; and 

(4) Being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil 
action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign 
Exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization, to 
have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment 
has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

(e) Each nominee for election as a director of the Registrant. The following are the 
nominees for election to the Board of Directors: 
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Directors: 
1. Jerry Llu 
2. Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo 
3. Anthony Buyawe . 
4. Michael Stephen T. Liu 
5. Brian Gregory T. Liu 
6. Justin T. Liu 

Independent Directors· 
7. Ernest Fril+ Server 
8. Eduardo Lizares 
9. Hector Villanueva 

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Please refer to Note 17 ofthe Consolidated Financial Statement of the Corporation. 

The Liu family, primarily through Camerton, Inc., is the largest shareholder in the Corporation, 
and as of 31March 2017 owned 208,888,558 shares, or approximately 49.85% of the 
Corporation's issued and outstanding common shares. 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common 
control. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. 

In the normal course of business, the Group has entered Into transactions with affiliates. The 
most significant of these transactions are as follows: 

a. Account balances with related parties which are mainly advances for operating requirements are 
as follows: 

Amounts Amounts 
owed by owed to Rental 

Related narties Year related nartles related narties denosit 
irtek Holdinos Inc. 2016 $1,809,256 $- $-

(CHl) 2015 $1809256 $- $-
. 

avon Holdinas Inc. 2016 $206284 $73182 -
2015 $206284 $61492 -

lCamerton. Inc. 2016 $111.994 - -
2015 ~33 161 - -

. 
Irtek Land Corn oration 2016 - $446,970 IS1131399 

(CL() 2015 - $434 194 $1 131 399 
. 

Officer 2016 510.309.041 - -
2015 ~8 558 051 - -
2016 . 512436575 $520152 $-
2015 $10606752 $495686 $1131399 

The above related parties, except for the officer, are under common ultimate ownership with the 
Group. 

Amounts owed by and to related parties are non-interest bearing with no fixed repayment terms 
but are collectible/payable upon demand. 
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Transactions with CHI, Charm view Enterprises Ltd (CEl) and officer 

The amount owed by an officer amounting to $7.7 million as of 31 December 2010 was 
transferred in 2011 to CEl, the former ultimate parent of CEC and CEIC. CEl now owns 40% 
interest in Camerton, the parent of the Parent Company. 

The amounts owed by and to CHI as of 31 December 2010 represent advances for working 
capital lines in the normal course of business when CEC and CEIC were then still subsidiaries of 
CHI. 

For purposes of settling outstanding balances with the Group and as part of corporate 
restructuring in preparation for the planned initial Public Offering (IPO) of the Parent Company, 
on 17 March 2011: 

• CHI, CEl and the officer, with the consent of the Group, entered into assignment agreements 
whereby CHI absorbed the amounts owed by CEl and by the officer as of 17 March 2011 
amounting to $7.7 million and $0;8 rnillion, respectively. 

• The Group, with the consent of the related parties, entered into assignment agreements 
whereby the Parent Company absorbed the amount owed by CEIC to CHI totaling 
$3.6 million representing unpaid advances of $2.3 million and dividends of $1.3 million 
(see Note 28) as of 17 March 2011. 

Thereafter, on 18 March 2011, the Parent Company and CHI, in view of being creditors and 
debtors to each other as a result of the assignment· agreements above, entered into a set-off 
agreement for the value of the Group's liability aggregating $6.8 million. The amount represents 
the above mentioned total liability Of $3.6 million and the balance outstanding from the Parent 
Company's purchase of CEC and CEIC amounting to $3.2 million, as revalued from the effect of 
foreign exchange rate. . 

The amount owed by CHI as of 31 December 2016 and 2015 pertains to the outstanding 
receivable arising from the assignments and set-off agreements as discussed above. 

Transactions with Camerton 

Camerton is the majority shareholder of the Parent Company holding 60% interest. Amounts 
owed by Camerton as of 31 December 2016 and 2015 pertain mainly to working capital advances 
and advances for incorporation expenses of Camerton. 

Transactions with CLC and Cayon 

ClC is an entity under common ownership with the ultimate parent. CEC had a lease agreement 
on the land where its manufacturing plant is located with ClC for a period of 50 years starting 1 
January 1999. The lease was renewable for another 25 years at the option of CEC. The lease 
agreement provided for an annual renta.1 of $151,682, subject to periodic adjustments upon 
mutual agreement of both parties. 

On 1 January 2005, CEC terminated the lease agreement with CLC but has continued to occupy 
the said land for no consideration up to the present with CLC's consent. With the termination of 
the lease agreement, the Group has classified the rental deposit amounting to $1.1 million as 
current asset as the deposit has become due and demandable anytime from CLC (see Note 9). 

Starting 1 January 2011, CEC entered into an agreement with ClC to lease the land where CEC's 
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Building 1 is erected. The agreement calls for a 11640,704 rent per annum for a period of ten 
(10) years and renewable thereafter by mutual agreement of the parties subject to such new 
terms and conditions as they may then be mutually agreed-upon. Total rent expense charged to 
operations amounted to $12,777, $13,515 and $14,434 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

CEC also entered into an agreement with Cayon starting 1 January 2011 to lease the land where 
CEC's Building 2 is located. The agreement calls for an annual rental of 11582,144 for a period of 
ten (10) years and renewable thereafter. Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to 
$11,690, $12,025 and $13,114 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

20. 



PART III. 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

I undertake to provide without charge to each person, a copy of the Registrant's annual 

report on SEC Form 17-A, upon written request sent to 116 East Main Ave., Phase V SEZ Laguna 

Technopark, Bii'ian, Laguna, and addressed to the undersigned. At the discretion of 

Management, a charge may be made for exhibits, provided such charge is limited to 

reasonable expenses incurred by the Registrant in furnishing such exhibits. 

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set 

forth in this report is true, oomplete and oorrect. This report is signed in the City of Biiian on 21 April 2017. 

Cirtek Holdings PMippines Corporation 
Definitive Information Statement 2017 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHIUPPINES CORPORATION 

By: 

#~ 
ANTHONY S. BUYAWE 

Compliance Officer/Corporate Information Officer 
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ANNEX "A" 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

STOCKHOLDER PROXY 
(Proxy solicitation is being made by and on behalf of the Company) 

The undersigned hereby appoints the Chairman of the Board of CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES 
CORPORATION (the "Company"), with full power of substitution and delegation, as the proxy of the undersigned, 
to represent and vote all of the shares of common stock of the undersigned in the books of the Company for all matters 
to be taken up at all meetings of the Stockholders of the Company, including the Annual Stockholders' Meeting to 
be held on 26 May 2017 and at any and all adjournments or postponements thereof, as fully and for all intents and 
purposes, as the undersigned might or could do if present and acting in person, and hereby ratifies and confirms any 
and all actions taken on matters which may properly come before said meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

In case of absence of the Chairman of the Board and any substitute proxy designated by him at any meeting 
of stockholders, the undersigned hereby grants to the designated Chairman of the meeting of Stockholders chosen in 
accordance with the Company's By-Laws, full power and authority to act as alternate proxy of the undersigned, for 
the same purposes specified in the preceding paragraphs. 

This Proxy shall continue to be in full force and effect for a period of FIVE (5) years from the date hereof, 
unless withdrawn by written notice delivered to the Corporate Secretary of the Company, but shall not apply in 
instances wherein the undersigned personally attends the meeting. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Proxy this __ day of ____ _ 

(SIGNATURE OVER NAME OF STOCKHOLDER 
OR AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY) 

Address: ___________ _ 

Dale: _______________ __ 

================================================================================== 

STOCKHOLDERS' INSTRUCTIONS TO PROXY FOR THE 26 May 2017 
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING 

The Stockholder may provide hislherinstructions to the Proxy here. Should the Stockholder opt not to give instructions, the 
Stockholder authorizes the Proxy to vote according to the recommendation of Management: 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the 2016 Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 27 May 2016 

D FOR D AGAINST D ABSTAIN 

2. Approval of the Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2016 

D FOR D AGAINST D ABSTAIN 

3. Ratification of all acts of the Board of Directors and Management 

D FOR D AGAINST D ABSTAIN 

4. Approval of the Appointment ofSycip Gorres Velayo & Co. as Extemal Auditor of the Company for 2017 



o FOR o AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

5. Approval of the increase in authorized capital stock, including the creation of a new class of preferred shares, and 
delegation to the Board of Directors of the power and authority to implement such increase in authorized capital stock, 
and the power and authority to fix the terms and conditions of the new class of preferred shares 

o FOR o AGAINST 0 ABSTAIN 

6. Election of NINE (9) Directors including at least TWO (2) Independent Directors 

Th r. I t' e nommees or e ec IOn as d' t f' d lrec ors m epen d ent d' lrectors are: 
I. Jerry Liu --- 5. Michael Stephen Liu ---
2. Roberto Juanchito T. --- 6. Brian Gregory Liu ---

Dispo 7. Ernest Fritz Server (Independent --- ---
3. Anthony S. Buyawe --- Director) 
4. Justin Liu 8. Hector Villanueva (Independent ---

Director/Regular Director) 
9. Eduardo Lizares (Independent ---

Director/Regular Director) 

o FOR ALL o EXCEPTION: 

o WITHHOLD FOR ALL 

Instructions: 
I. The Stockholder may withhold authority to vote for any or some nominee(s), by marking the exception box and writing the 

name(s) of such nominee(s) on the space provided. If the Stockholder designates exceptiones), the number of shares to be 
distributed to each of the remaining nominees must be indicated on the spaces provided beside each nominee's name. 

Z. The total number of votes which a stockholder may cast is equal to nine (9) times the number of shares of common stock 
held as of the Record Date. 

================================================ 
GENERAL INFORMATION AND INSTRUCTIONS 

1. Solicitation Information 

Solicitation of proxies for the meetings of stOCkholders is being made 
by and on behalf of the Company. 

The cost and expenditures incidental to the proxy solicitation will be 
borne by the Company. 

2. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be 
Acted Upon 

No director or officer of the Company or nominee for election as 
director/independent director or officer of the Company has any 
substantial interest, directly and indirectly, by security holdings or 
otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting of the 
Stockholders, other than election to office 

No director has informed the Company in writing that he intends to 
oppose any action to be taken at the Annual Stockholders Meeting of 
the Company. 

J. Submission of Proxy 

a. The proxy form must be completed, signed and dated by the 
stockholder or his duly authorized representative, and received at 116 
East Main Avenue, Phase VMSEZ Laguna Technopark, Bil'!an, Laguna, 
4024 not later than 16 May 2017. 
b. If the shares of stock are owned by two or more joint owners, the 
proxy form must be signed by all the joint owners. 
c. If the shares of stock are owned in and "and/or" capacity, the proxy 
fonn must be signed by either one of the owners. 
d. If the shares of stock are owned by a corporation, association or 
partnership, the proxy form must be accompanied by a certification, 
signed by a duly authorized officer, partner or representative of such 
corporation, association or partnership, to the effect that the person 

signing the proxy fonn has been authorized by the governing body or 
has the power pursuant to the BYMLaws, constitutive documents or duly 
approved polices of such corporation, association or partnership for 
such purpose. 

4. Revocation of Proxy 

An owner of shares of stock who has given a proxy has the power to 
revoke it by a written instrument duly signed and dated, which must be 
received by the Corporate Secretary not later than the last day for the 
submission of proxies as indicated in the Notice to Stockholders. A 
proxy is also considered revoked for a particular meeting if an 
individual stockholder attends the meeting in person and expresses his 
intention to vote in person. 

5. Validation of Proxies 

The last day for validation of proxies for the Annual Stockholders' 
Meeting is on 17 May 2017. Validation of proxies will be done by the 
Proxy Validation Committee composed of the Corporate Secretary of 
the Company, a representative from the stock and transfer agent of the 
Company, a representative from the external auditor of the Company 
and a representative from the Company. 
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PART I BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1 BUSINESS 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation (CHCP or the Company) through its subsidiaries, Cirtek Electronics 
Corporation (CEC) and Cirtek Electronics International Corporation (CEIC), (collectively the Cirtek Group), 
is primarily engaged in two major activities: (1) the manufacture and sales of semiconductor packages as 
an independent subcontractor for outsourced semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services, and 
(2) the manufacture of value-added, highly integrated technology products. CEC provides turnkey 
solutions that include package design and development, wafer probing, wafer back grinding, assembly 
and packaging, final testing of semiconductor devices, and delivery and shipment to its customers' end 
users. CEC has over 64 regular customers spread out in Europe, the US and Asia. CEIC sells integrated 
circuits principally in the US and assigns the production of the same to CEe. CEIC recently acquired 
Remec Broadband Wireless Inc. (RBWI), recently renamed Cirtek Advanced Technologies and Solutions, 
Inc, (CATS), a proven Philippine-based manufacturer of value added, highly integrated technology 
products. CATS offers complete "box build" turnkey manufacturing solutions to RF, microwave, and 
millimeter wave products used in the wireless industry such as telecommunication, satellite, aerospace 
and defense, and automotive Wireless devices. 

The Cirtek Group has earned a strong reputation from its customers for its high-quality products, 
production flexibility, competitive costing and capability to work with customers to develop application 
and customer specific packages. The Cirtek Group has been accredited and certified by several 
international quality institutions, namely TOD SOD Management Service GmbH, TOV Product Service Asia 
Ltd., Taiwan Branch, Defense Supply Center & British Approval Board Telecom, for the latest quality 
system standards, which include 1509001, 15014001, and Q59000/T516949. 

The Company's principal office is located at 116 East Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, 
Binan, Laguna. . 

The Company was registered with the SEC on FebruarY 10, 2011, with an Initial authorized capital stock 
of 1>400,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 commOn shares with a par value of One Peso (1'1.00) per 
share. Of the authorized capital stock, 30% equivalent to 120,000,000 shares or 1'120,000,000.00 was 
subscribed and fully paid-up. 

On February 17, 2011, the Company's Board of Directors and Stockholders approved the acquisition from 
CHI of 155,511,952 common shares (representing 99.99% of the outstanding capital stock) of CEC and 
50,000 shares (representing 100% of the outstanding capital) of CEle. On March 1, 2011, the two (2) 
deeds of sale were executed by the Company and CHI in order to Implement the transfers. 

Corporate Name 
Cirtek Electronics Corporation· 
Cirtek Electronics International Corporation 

Date of Incorporation 
May 31, 1984 
April 4, 1995 

In 2016, the Cirtek Group had total revenues of US$74 million, and net income of US$7.6 million. As of 
December 31, 2016, the Cirtek Group had total assets of US$122 million and total liabilities of 
US$97.3million. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Corporate Structure 

I Liu Family (100%) I I Liu Family (100%) I 
I 

Carmetheus Holdings, Inc. CharmviewEnterprises, Ltd. 
(60%) (40%) 

~ / 
I Camerton Inc. (~O%)* I I Public Shareholders (50%) I 

~ . / 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines 

Corporation 

I . 

100% 100% 

Cirtek Electronics Cirtek Electronics 
Corporation International Corporation 

I 
Cirtek Advanced Technologies 

and Solutions, Inc. (BVI) 

I 
CirtekAdvanced Technologies 

and Solutions, Inc. 
(Philippine branch) 

I 
RBW Realty and Property, Inc. 

* Camerton has 50% economic interest and 74A% voling rights 

Cirtek Electronics Corporation 

CEC was Incorporated with the SEC on May 31,. 1984,· primarily to engage as an independent 
subcontractor for semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services. 

Prior to the Company's acquisition of CEC in 2011, CEC was majority-owned by Charmview, a holding 
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on November 1, 1994 and is owned by the Liu family, 
wherein the U5$50,OOO authorized capital stock isdividep equally among Jerry Liu, Nelia Liu, Michael Liu, 
Justin Liu and Brian Gregory Liu. . 
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In March 24, 2008, Charmview and CHI entered into a Share Swap Agreement whereby Charmview 
transferred all of its interest in CEC, constituting 155,511,959 common shares, to CHI in exchange for 
50,000 common shares of stock of CHI. As a result ofthe share swap, CEC became a subsidiary of CHI. 

On March 1, 2011, CHI and the Company executed the Deed of Absolute Sale of Shares wherein CHI 
transferred all of its 155,511,959 shares in CEC in favor of the Company for and in consideration of 
1'130,000,000, making CEC a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

CEC owns the manufacturing plants in Technopark as well ,as machinery such as bonder, auto test 
handler, optical inspection system, wafer back grinder, mold set, and other machinery necessary for the 
manufacture, assembly and testing of semiconductors. 

CEC was previously registered with the Board of Investments (BOI) under Presidential Decree No. 1789, 
as amended by Batas Pambansa Big. 391, as a preferred pioneer enterprise for the manufacture and 
export of integrated circuits. As a registered enterprise, CEC was entitled to certain tax and nontax 
incentives provided for in PD 1789. 

On March 24, 1998, the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) approved CEe's registration as an 
ecozone export enterprise at the Laguna Technopark for the manufacture of standard integrated circuits, 
discrete, hybrid and potential new packages. Beginning October 30, 2002, the manufacture and export 
of integrated circuits, discrete and hybrid transferred to PEZA from BOI. Since its income tax holiday 
incentive expired in 2003, CEC is subject to tax at the preferential rate of 5% of its gross income in 
accordance with Republic Act No. 7916, the law creating the PEZA. In order to maximize the incentives 
granted under Republic Act No. 7916, CEC applied for the registration of its new products and was 
granted income tax holiday therefor from 2003 to 2005: 

On April 27, 2011, PEZA approved CEC's application for the registration of a new project involving the 
manufacture of devices which will be used as· components for smart phones, automotive sensor 
applications, battery chargers, and industrial applications. 

Clrtek Electronics International Corporation 

CEIC was incorporated under the International Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands on 
April 4, 1995. CEIC was incorporated with primarily purpose of selling integrated circuits principally in the 
United States of America and subcontracts the production of the same to CEe. 

Beginning June 8, 1995, CEIC after securing the sales from its customers abroad, would subcontract the 
assembly, test and/or packaging of the devices to CEC pursuant to a Master Subcontractor Agreement. 
Under said agreernent, CEIC issued purchase orders to CEC stating therein the type of product it will 
require, the quantity, delivery date and destination together with such other instructions the former may 
have. In consideration for its services, CEC was paid a service fee depending on the services contracted 
for a particular purchase order. 

Prior to the Company's acquisition of CEIC in 2011, CEIC was majority-owned by Charmvlew. In March 
24, 2008, Charmview and CHI entered into a Share Swap Agreement whereby Charmview transferred ali 
of its interest in CEIC, constituting 50,000 common shares, to CHI in exchange for 50,000 common 
shares of stock of CHI. As a result of the share swilp, CEjC became a subsidiary of CHI. 

On March 1, 2011, CHI and the Company executed the Deed of Absolute Sale of Shares wherein CHI 
transferred ali of its 50,000,000 shares in CEIC in favor of the Company for and in consideration of 
1'130,000,000, making CEIC a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 
After the reorganization, the Company became the parent company of both CEC and CEIC while CHI 
remains a holding company of the Liu family, which no longer forms part of the post-reorganization 
structure of the Company. 
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CEC PRODUCTS 

CEC offers a broad range of products that go into various applications. The end application covers 
practically everything from consumer products to high reliability industrial and military products. 

The following are CEC's product lines: 

1. Protection products 

These products are designed to protect electronic devices from damaging voltage or current spikes. 
These are in multi-chip SOIC packages, with up to 32 diodes in a single unit. 

2. Light sensors 

These optical devices sense the intensity of light and trigger the automatic switching on and off of 
headlights and the automatic adjustment of air conditioning settings in cars. The package is a 
transparent custom-body QFN. 

3. Real time clock 

These are precision time keeping devices which contain features like calendars, time of day, trickle 
charger and memory functions. These devices come with tuning fork cylindrical crystals and are 
packaged in 16/20L SOIC 300mil body version. ' 

4. Voltage control oscillators (VCO) 

This is an electronic oscillator that Is designed to be control,led in oscillation frequency by a DC voltage 
Input. Signals may also be fed into the VCO to cause frequency modulation or phase modulation. 

5. Electronic Relays 

These are opto relays that are used in controlling high voltage and high power equipment. The control is 
achieved through the physical isolation of high voltage output and the low voltage input side of the 
device protecting the circuit components and the users. These are packaged in PDIP with an LED and a 
driver IC coupled together, without electrical connection between them. 

6. Power management devices 

These devices are used in a wide range of power management applications from telecommunications, 
industrial eqUipment, portable devices, computers, and networks. These are packaged In SOIC with the 
die pad exposed. 

CEC MANUFACTURING PROCESS FLOW 

The Company, through its subsidiary CEC, assembles' and tests semiconductor devices at its 
manufacturing complex located on a 12,740 square meter property in Biiian, Laguna. CEC currently 
leases the property from Cirtek Land, Inc. and Cayon Holdings, Inc., both of which are majority owned by 
one of the Company's directors, Nelia T. Liu. CEC's manufacturing facility is composed of two buildings, 
with a total floor area of 152,000 square feet. 
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Process Flow 

The figure below illustrates the typical manufacturing process for the back-end production of 
semiconductor products: 
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The back end semiconductor operation starts with package design and development. The design phase 
pertains to a.) the determination of the type of package to be used that conforms to industry standards, 
b.) the substrates that will match the intended package, and c.) the material set that will be used to meet 
customer specifications. This is followed by tooling selection and ordering. 
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The development process follows a systematic approach which takes into account the standards required 
by the end user product. Advanced quality planning is made part of the process to ensure that the critical 
quality characteristics are fully understood, characterized and tested. Customers are involved as they 
have to approve the design and any changes that will happen later in the development stage. 

The development is only deemed complete once critical processes are proven capable and qualification 
units and lots are produced and tested for reliability internally and or by the customers. 

The fundamental package assembly process starts after the Company receives the wafer silicon from 
customers. Pre-assembly, the wafers are back grinded to the desired thickness, probed for electrical 
performance and then sawn to dice the wafers to its individual chip size following customer reqUirements. 
The individually sawn dies are then mounted on a copper substrate typically using epoxy adhesives. 
Other packages made by the Company however, may require other mounting adhesives for enhanced 
functional performance. Examples of these include, .E0201 DFN (used in smart phones) which requires a 
gold eutectic process or the PQFN (used in charges) which requires solder paste. 

The interconnection between die to leads is normally done using gold fine wire. Power packages 
however use copper clips for higher electrical conductivity. The parts are then encapsulated by an epoxy 
molding compound, which are usually opaque. 

The parts are then electroplated for protection of the metal leads, trimmed and formed into its final 
shape or sawn into its final dimensions in the case of 0201DFN, ODFN and PQFN. 

These assembled units are electrically tested for functional screening. The good parts are then packed 
per customer specifications and shipped to its intended destination. 

Customers may opt to contract for the entire process flow or for portions thereof, as well require 
changes, subject to mutual consent to suit the customers' product needs. 

CATS PRODUCTS 

CATS offers a broad range of microwave products that go into various applications. The end application 
covers microwave/wireless solutions for carrier and. private data networks catering mobile backhaul, 
service provider, education, enterprise, governrfientjmunicipalities and healthcare. 

In March 2016, CATS begun commercial shipment tb Quintel, a leading innovator of efficient and space­
saving base station antennas used for cellular networks. 

The following are CATS' major products: 

1. CTTODU 

The CTTH ODU is available in 6L, 6U, 7GHz, 8GHz, llGHz, 13GHz, 15GHz, 18GHz, 23GHz, 26GHz, 
28GHz, 32GHz and 38GHz. The CTTH ODU supports QPSK.to 256QAM modulation and 7MHz to 56MHz 
channel bandWidth. 

2. IRFU 

The Indoor RFU is available in L6, U6, 7GHz, 8GHz, and llGHz frequency bands. The channel spaCing 
supported for North American ANSI rates is between 3.75 MHz and 60 MHz. The channel spacing 
supported for ETSI rates is between 7 MHz and 56 MHz. 
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3. OIPR 

The OIPR is available in 6L, 6U, 7GHz, SGHz, llGHz, 13GHz, 15GHz, lSGHz, 23GHz, 26GHz, 2SGHz, 
32GHz and 38GHz. The supported modulation is QPSK to 256QAM. The channel spacings supported for 
North American ANSI rates is between 10MHz and 50 MHz. The channel spacings supported for ETSI 
rates are 7MHz, 14M Hz, 2S-30MHz, 40MHz and 56MHz. 

4. FLEX4G-UHA 

Flex4G-UHA-UHA operates in the 71-76/81-86 GHz frequency range in compliance to ECC/REC 05/07 
Recommendations and is subject to use based on each EU member country's individual regulations for 
operation in this band. The FLEX4G-UHA uses BPSK modulation and supports a maximum data rate of 
1,000 Mbps in a 1,250 MHz channel. 

5. SMART ANTENNAS 

Multi-port. multi-band wireless antennas that are offered with various combinations of ports and lengths. 
The product supports various access technologies (4G LTE, 3G, 2G). 

CATS MANUFACTURING PROCESS FLOW 

The Company assembles and tests microwave products at its manufacturing complex located on a 12,740 
square meters property in Bioan, Laguna. CATSI currently leases the property from Cirtek Land, Inc. and 
Cayon Holdings, Inc., both of which are majority Clwned by one of the Company's directors, Nelia T. Liu. 
The manufacturing facility is composed of two buildings, with a total floor area of 152,000 square feet. 
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Process Flow 

The figure below illustrates the typical manufacturing process for the production of microwave products: 
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The manufacturing process starts with business and product development. The business development 
pertains to a) RFQ (Request for Quote) from customer. and b) customer approval. Once the customer 
approves the quote, product development proceeds. The product development pertains to a) NPI (New 
Product Introduction) and b) bill of materials selection. During NPI, the factory will qualify the product 
and the process (to manufacture the product). The NPI process is considered completed once critical 
processes are proven capable and qualification units are prOduced and tested for reliability internally and 
or by the customers. If NPI is successful, the bill of materials is finalized. This includes the product BOM, 
fixtures and packaging. Mass production follows. 

The fundamental assembly process starts with PCBA(Printed Circuit Board Assembly). Solder paste is 
applied to the PCB, followed by placement of components during SMT pick and place. The populated 
board is then loaded to the reflow oven for solder paste curing. After the oven reflow, the board 
undergoes AOI (Automatic Optical Inspection); All. boards with reject (assembly rejects, i.e. missing 
components, wrong part mounted, tombstone, insufficient solder, mis-oriented, tilted, etc.) during AOI 
are reworked. All boards without rejects proceed to 20d operation or manual soldering (if required). 

Some modules/sub-assembly boards from PCBA undergo MIC process (Microwave Integrated Circuit). 
During this process, a component (MMIC) is attached or mounted to the board with epoxy, either 
manually or automated. The board is then cured to the required temperature depending on the type of 
epoxy used. Wirebond/gapweld is performed depending on the required assembly drawing. Inspection 
follows to ensure conformance to the assembly drawing. 

The modules/sub-assembly boards will then undergo test and tune (if required). All passing modules are 
then integrated to form the ODU (final product) during Top level assembly. System level testing follows 
(Calibration and Parametric test, Bit Error Rate (BER) Test, etc.). The ODUs should conform to the 
specifications set by the customer. 

Finished products are then packed per customer specifications and shipped to the intended destination. 

The figure below illustrates the typical manufacturing process for the production of multiport antennas: 
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Multiport Antennas Proces flow chart 
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CUSTOMERS 

Beginning in 1984 with 3 customers, the Cirtek Group has ,significantly grown its customer base to over 
70 major and regular customers as of present date. The Clrtek Group's Company's customers are located 
in various countries, with the bulk of revenues contributed by customers located in Europe and the United 
States of America. The figure below illustrates the geographic distribution of customers by revenue 
contribution, over the past 2 years. 

0/0 Contribution to Revenue Per Region 

2015,2016 

Asia 

Europe 

USA 

2015 
17% 
28% 

54% 

2016 
19 
26 

55 

The Company is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers or industry, the loss of any of 
which would have a material adverse effect on the Company. Neither is the Company reliant on any 
specific industry since its products have varied applications in different industries. However, in 2016, 
Quintel contributed 26% of the Company's total revenues: . 

MARKETING 

The Company appoints non-exclusive sales agents around the globe to promote its products and services. 
These agents help promote and maintain strong relationships by working closely with customers to 
address and resolve quality issues and c011)munlcate timely responses to specific requirements and 
delivery issues. The Company through its subsidiaries currently maintains a sales director in the USA and 
sales agents in the USA, Europe and Asia. 

Cirtek also performs marketing research for technology development by working closely with its 
customers through collaboration, conducting surveys and gathering market trends to keep the Company 
abreast of new packaging techniques and product introductions. 

SUPPLIERS 

Direct materials used by the Company In the man~facturing process are lead frames, molding compound, 
wires (gold and copper) and epoxy adhesives. Silicon wafers are provided by Cirtek's customers. 

These direct materials are sourced abroad, mainly from Hongkong, Singapore, Malaysia and Korea. 
Shipment is mostly by air, except for the molding compound, which is by sea because of its weight. In 
order to mitigate the risk of shortage of these direct materials, the Company has at least two suppliers 
for each material. 
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COMPETITORS IN THE INDUSTRY 

CEC 

The assembly and testing segment of the semiconductor industry Is highly competitive. The Company's 
competitors in the semiconductor space include IDM's with their own in-house assembly and testing 
capabilities, and similar independent semiconductor assembly and test subcontractors, located in the 
Philippines and in the Asia-Pacific region. Among the Company's competitors are Amkor Technology in 
Korea and in the Philippines; ASE, Orient Semiconductor Electronics, Ltd., Siliconware Precision Industries 
Co., Ltd in Taiwan; Unisem and Carsem Semiconductor in Malaysia; Hana Microelectronics in Thailand; 
STATS ChipPac Ltd. in Singapore, and other Chinese subcontractors such as Diodes Inc. and JCET. 

The principal areas of competition are pricing and product quality. The Company believes however, that 
it has an advantage over its competitors not only in the above-mentioned areas but also because of the 
following reasons: advanced packaging technology in multiple component products; focus on jointly 
developed application-specific packages; dedicated line services; and quick turnaround time on customer 
requirements. 

CATS 

The Company's competitors in the RFjSatcom EMS space include large OEMs with international presence 
such as Benchmark Electronics, Plexus, Flextronics, and MTI Electronics. Among the Company's local 
competitors for certain product lines are lonics and 1M!. 

The Company believes is competitive strength, lies in its ability to provide complete turnkey solutions for 
complex, box build electronic and microwave products. The Company also believes it has unique 
RFjmicrowave expertise to deliver vertically integrated products from components to modules and system 
levels. 

EMPLOYEES 

As of March 31, 2016, the Cirtek Group has 1,735 regular employees. 

Position 
Managers and Executives' 
Engineers 
Administration 
other support Cirtek Groups 
Rank and File 

Total 

Total 
42 
40 
39 
538 

1,094 

2,807 

The Cirtek Group is not unionized. However, to foster ,better employee-management relations, the Cirtek 
Group has a labor management council ("LMC") composed of committees with representatives from both 
labor and management. These committees include the committee on employee welfare and benefit, 
employees cooperative committee, employee diSCipline committee and sports and recreation committee, 
among others. 

LMCs are established to enable the workers to partiCipate in policy and decision-making processes in 
establishment, in so far as said processes will directly affect their rights, benefits and welfare, except 
those which are covered by collective bargaining agreement or are traditional areas of bargaining. The 
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scope of the council/committee's functions consists 0( information sharing, discussion, consultation, 
formulation, or establishment of programs or projects affecting the employees in general or the 
management. 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

The Company does not believe that its operations are dependent on any patent, trademark, copyright, 
license, franchise, concession or royalty agreement. . 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

Research and development work is performed by a team of over 40 experienced engineers with skills 
developed internally and learned from previous work experiences. Skills are brought in through hiring 
when necessary while training is a continuing concern to hone the skills of the technical staff. 

The Company, through CEC and CATS, has successfully cooperated with customers on many projects, co­
developing with them new technology that are customer specific that will ensure continuing engagement 
by the customers. This approach ties up customer with the Company over a long period of time 
generating revenues from a captive market. 

The Company's technology roadmap covers material development and process improvement to improve 
on cost and to help maintain the margins. The latest materials are identified to meet ever increasing 
demand for higher quality and lower cost. These are product-application specific that are jOintly co­
developed with the customers bringing benefits to both parties. 

The same technology roadmap resulted in bringing down the material and labor cost. For 2012, there 
was a reduction of 0.5% in cost of sales from new material developed. 

Although the Company engages in research and development activities, the expenses incurred by the 
Company in connection with these. activities are not material. 

GOVERNMENT APPROVAL AND PERMITS 

All government approvals and permits issued by the· appropriate government agencies or bodies which 
are material and necessary to conduct the· business and ·operations of the Company, were obtained by 
the Company and are in full force and effect, ·As a holding company, the Company is only required to 
obtain a mayor's permit, which was issued to the Company on March 4, 2012 by the City of Biiian, 
Laguna. Such mayor's permit is required to, be renewed within the first twenty (20) days from the 
beginning of January of the following year. 

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

As a PEZA-registered entity, CEC and CATS are required to submit periodiC financial and other reports. 
CEC is also required to submit quarterly, semi-annual and . .annual reports to the Department of 
Environment and Natural Resources as part of its Environmental Compliance Certificate reqUirements. 
The failure to comply with these reports and with any other requirements or regulations of these 
government agencies could expose CEC and CATS to penalties and the revocation of the registrations. 

CEC and CATS ensures compliance with these requirements by assigning dedicated personnel to monitor, 
prepare the necessary filings and liaise with the relevant government agencies. 
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ITEM 2 PROPERTIES 

The Company, through its subsidiary, owns the manufac;turlng plants in the Laguna Technopark as well 
as machinery such as bonder, auto test handler, optical inspec;tion system, wafer back grinder, mold set, 
and other machinery necessary for the manufacture, assembly and testing of semiconduc;tors. All of these 
properties are free and clear of liens, encumbrances and other charges, and are not subject of any 
mortgage or other security arrangement. 

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

There are no pending legal cases against the Company and its management that will have immediate 
material effect on the financial position and operating results of the Company. 

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

No stockholders' meeting was held between the period Juneto December, 2016. 
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PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 5 MARKET FOR ISSUER'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 

The registrant's common equity is principally traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). The high 
and low sales prices for every quarter ended are indicated. in the table below: 

2016 2017 ---------.-------.---------------------------------------------------------------------.-.------------.-----_.------------------------------------------.-----------._.---------------------------- -
HIGH LOW HIGH LOW 

Ql 20.75 17.20 24.00 22.05 
Q2 20.60 15.90 
Q3 24.00 15.40 
Q4 23.40 22.25 

The price of the Corporation's common shares as of March 31, 2017 and April 20, 2017 trading dates 
were PhP23.7 per share and PhP23.5 per share, respectively. 

The number of Shareholders of record as of March 31, 2017 is 27. 

Recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of securities constituting an 
exempt transaction 

The Corporation has not sold any unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuances of 
securities constituting an exempt transaction. 

Top 20 Stockholders of Record holding Common Shares as of March 31, 2017 

Percentage of 
Stockholder Name Number of Shares Held Shareholdinq 

Camerton Inc. 208,888 558 49.85 
PCD Nominee Filipino 143816827 34.32 
Cirtek Electronics Corporation 49371 700 11.78 
PCD Nominee Non-Filipino 16806610 4.01 
Ambrosio J. Makalintal or Maripi A. 
Makalintal 940B9 .02 
8eant Sinqh Grewal 37,000 .01 
Anna Loraine M. Mendoza 17500 0 
Plo Ma. Victor H. Garayblas 15000 0 
Raymond Alvin M. Mendoza 13 100 0 
Myra P. Villanueava 2000 0 
Stephen G. Soliven 535 0 
Julius Victor Emmanuel D. Sanvictores 145 0 
Owen Nathaniel S. Au ITF Li Marcus Au 106 0 
Joselito C. Herrera 100 0 
Jesus San Luis Valencia . 62 0 
Dondi Ron R. LimClenco . 11 0 
Robert Juanchito T. Dlspo 1 0 
Anthony S. Buyawe 1 0 
Brian Gregory Liu ... . 1 0 
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Jerry Liu 1 ° JustinT. Liu 1 ° Michael Stephen Liu 1 ° Nicanor P. Lizares 1 ° Martin Lorenzo 1 ° Ernest Fritz Server 1 ° Total 419,063353 100 

Top 20 Stockholders of Record holding Preferred Shares as of March 31, 2017 

Percentage of 
Stockholder Name Number of5hares Held Shareholding 

Camerton, Inc. 400,000000 100 
Total ' , 400000000 100 

, 

Dividends Declaration 

On January 28, 2016, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of $0.0050 
per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000021 per share for 
each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to an aggregate sum of $2,100,000, 
for payment and distribution on February 29, ,2016 to shareholders of record of February 12, 2016. The 
cash diVidend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

On June 9, 2016, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of $0.00362 per 
share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and $0.000001 per share for each of 
the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to an aggregate sum of $1,520,000, for 
payment and distribution on July 7, 2016 to shareholders of record of June 23, 2016. The cash dividend 
shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

There are presently no restrictions that limit the payment of dividend on common shares of the 
Corporation. 

Owners of record of more than 5% of the CorporatiOh's voting securities as of March 31 2017: 

Title of Name, Name of, Citizenship Number of Shares G/o of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial Held 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Common Camerton, Camerton, Filipino 
Inc. Inc. 208888,558 49.85 

Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Filipino 
Corporation Corporation 143816,827 34.32 

Common Cirtek Cirtek Filipino 49,371,700 11.78 
Electronics Electronics 
Cor~oration Corporation 

Common Total 402077 085 95.95% 
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Under PCD account, the following participants hold shares representing more than 5% of the company's 
outstanding common shares 

Participant Number of Shares Percentage 
Guild Securities 67,072,828 19% 

Citibank N.A. 27561862 6.6% 

Title of Name, Name of Citizenship Number of Shares Held 0/0 of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Preferred Camerton, Camerton, Filipino 400,000,000 100 
Inc. Inc. 

Preferred Total , 400000000 100% 

ITEM 6 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION ANI> AIIIALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 

Overview 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corp. (CHPC), through, its subSidiaries Cirtek Electronics Corp. (CEC) and 
Cirtek Electronics International Corp. (CEIC), provides a broad range of assembly and testing services for 
various semiconductor devices and complex RF, miCrowave, millimeter wave, and advance antenna 
systems. 

CHPC through its subSidiaries harnesses mor~ than 53 years of combined operating track record. The 
Company's products cover a wide range of applications and industries, including communications, 
consumer electronics, power devices, computing, automotive and industrial. 

Factors Affecting the Company's Results of Operations and Financial Conditions 

Cyclical Nature of the ElectronIcs Industry 

The worldwide electronics industry has experienced peaks, and troughs over the years. From 2011 to 
2013, the market has experience single-digit growth. ' 

Market Conditions for End-User Application of Electronics 

Market conditions in the electroniCS industry, to a large degree, track those for their end-user 
applications. Any deterioration in the market conditions for the end-user applications of semiconductors 
that the Company assembles and tests may reduce del1]and for our services and, in turn, materially 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

The Company has a diversified customer base that operates in different industry spaces. Because of this, 
the Company's products are likewise used in different industries; this mitigates the effect of downturn in 
certain industries to the Company's operating results and financial outcomes. Customers are also 
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geographically diverse among Europe, U.S. and Asia; thus, the Company is not dependent on a single 
geographical market. 

Competitive Selling Prices of Semiconductor and RF/Microwave Products 

The semiconductor industry is characterized by a general decrease in prices for products and services 
over time as a result of product and technology life cycles. 

The Company constantly reviews and makes innovations in its product and assembly techniques to 
improve yield and optimize productivity. The Company also prepares cost-reduction roadmaps which it 
eventually pres Basis of Preparation. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group' are prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
derivative liability and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) which is carried at fair 
value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States (US) dollars ($), which is 
also the Group's functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. All amounts are rounded off to the nearest US dollar except 
when otherwise indicated. 

Basis of Presentation, Statement of Compliance, Basis of Consolidation and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies 

BaSis of Pre pa ration 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
financial assets at FVPL which are carried at fair value, The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in United States (US) dollars ($), which is the Parent Company's functional and presentation 
currency. All amounts are rounded off to the nearest US dollar except when otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared In accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 
PFRS includes statements named PFRS, Philippine, Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine 
Interpretations of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued by FRSC. 

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016and 201S (see Notes 1 and 4): 

Country of 
Incorporation 
Philippines CEC 

CEIC British Virgin lslimds 
(BVI) 

CATS (formerly known as 
RBWI) BVI 

CATS - Philippine Branch Philippines 
Remec Broadband Wireless 

Real Property(RBWRP) PhilippineS 
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Percentage of Ownership 
2016 2015 

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
100 

100 

100 
100 

100 

100 

100 

100 
100 

100 



Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
SpeCifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including 
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote, holders of the investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
• The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses ofa subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until 
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (ocr) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non­
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the stand-alone 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting poliCies into line with the Group's accounting 
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

A change in, the ownership Interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognlzes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 
• Derecognlzes the carrying amount of any nOA,controliing interests; 
• Derecognlzes the cumulative transl"tion differences recorded in equity; 
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration receiveq; 
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; 
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
• Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or 

retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. 

Common control business combinations 
Where there are group reorganizations and business' combinations in which all the combining entities 
within the Group are 'ultimately controlled by the same ultimate parent (i.e., controlling shareholders) 
before and after the business combination and the control is ~ot tranSitory (business combinations under 
common control), the Group accounts for such group reorganizations and business combinations Similar 
to a pooling-of-interests method. The assets and liabilities of the acquired entities and that of the 
Company are reflected at their carrying values at the stand-alone financial statements of the investee 
companies. The difference in the amount recognized and the fair value of the consideration given is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, i.e., as either a contribution or distribution of eqUity. Further, 
when a subsidiary is disposed in a common control transaction without loss of control, the 
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difference in the amount recognized and the fair value of consideration received is also accounted for as 
an equity transaction. 

The Group records the difference as equity reserve and ,is presented as a separate component of equity 
in the consolidated balance sheet. Comparatives shaH be restated to include balances and transactions 
as if the entities have been acquired at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the consolidated 
finanCial statements, regardless of the actual date of the combination. 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting pOlicies adopted are consistent with those of the previous finanCial year, except that the 
Group has adopted the following new accounting pronouncements starting 
January 1, 2016. These pronouncements are either not applicable to the Group or their adoption did not 
have a significant impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, Investment Entities: 
Applying the Consolidation Exception 

These amendments clarify that the exemption. in PFRS 10 from presenting consolidated financial 
statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity that measures all of its 
subsidiaries at fair value. They also clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an 
investment entity itself and that provides support services to the investment entity parent is consolidated. 
The amendments also allow an investor (that is not an investment entity and has an investment entity 
associate or joint venture) to retain the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity 
associate or joint venture to its interests in subSidiaries when applying the equity method. 

• Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, Accounting for AcquiSitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations 

The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of an interest 
in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business (as defined by PFRS 
3, Business Combinations), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 principles for business combinations accounting. 
The amendments also clarify that a previously held. interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the 
acquisition of an additional Interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, 
a scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the 
parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of the same 
ultimate controlling party. 

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in a jOint operation and the 
acquisition of any additional interests In the same Joint operation. 

• PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, wnbse, activities are subject to rate-regulation, to 
continue applying most of Its existing accounting policies for. regulatory deferral account balances upon 
its first-time adoption of PFRS. Entitles that adopt PFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts 
as separate line Items on the statement of financial pOSition and present movements in these account 
balances as separate line items in the statement of income and other comprehensive income. The 
standard requires disclosures on the nature of,and .risks associated with, the entity's rate-regulation and 
the effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements; 

• Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, Disclosure Initiative 
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The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the presentation and 
disclosure requirements in PFRSs. They clarify the following: 

• That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either 
obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items that 
have different natures or functions . 

• That specific line items in the statement of income 'and other comprehensive income and the 
statement of financial position may be disaggregated , 

• That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial 
statements 

• ·That the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified 
between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

! Amendments to PAS 16, Property" Plant and Equipment and PAS 38, Intangible Assets, 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization 

The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic 
benefits that are generated from operating a business (of' which the asset is part) rather than the 
economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method 
cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited 
circumstances to amortize intangible assets. 

• Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41, Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

The amendments change the accounting reqUirements fot biological assets that meet the definition of 
bearer plants. Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants will no 
longer be within the scope of PAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After initial recognition, bearer plants 
will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost model or 
revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer 
plants will remain in the scope of PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For government grants 
related to bearer plants, PAS 20, Accounting for Govemment Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance, will apply. 

• Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, Equity Method In Separate Financial 
Statements 

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying PFRS and 
electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial statements will have to apply that 
change retrospectively. 

• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle 

• Amendment to PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for.Sale and Discontinued Operations, Changes 
in Methods of Disposal 

The amendment is applied prospectively and.clarifies that changing from a disposal through sale to a 
disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be considered to be a new plan of 
disposal, rather it is a continuation· of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the 
application of the requirements in PFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal 
method does not change the date of classification. 

• Amendment to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments:. DiSclosures, Servicing Contracts 
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PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement In a transferred asset that 
Is derecognlzed In Its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that Includes a fee can 
constitute continuing Involvement in a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and 
arrangement against the guidance for continuing Involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the 
disclosures are required. The amendment Is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing 
contracts constitute continuing involvement will need to be ,done retrospectively. However, comparative 
disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before the annual period in which 
the entity first applies the amendments. 

• Amendment to PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim 
Financial Statements 

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies, that the disclosures on offsetting of financial 
assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report unless they 
provide a significant update to the information report~d in the most recent annual report. 

• Amendment to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Discount Rate: Regional Market Issue 

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds 
is assessed based on the currency In which the obligation, is denominated, rather than the country where 
the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, 
government bond rates must be used. 

• Amendment to PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, Disclosure of Information 'Elsewhere in the 
Interim Financial Report' ' 

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either 
be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the interim finanCial 
statements and wherever they are included within the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the 
management commentary or risk report). 

Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does 
not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a significant impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they 
become effective. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2017 

• Amendment to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual Improvements 
to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating to 
summarized financial Information, apply to an entity's interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an 
associate (or a portion of its Interest in a jOint venture or an associate) that is claSSified (or included in a 
disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

The amendments do not have any impact on the Group's financial position and results of operation. The 
Group will include the required disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial statements . 

.! Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative 
The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to' provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes In liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses). On initial 
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application of the amendments, entities are not required to provide comparative information for 
preceding periods. Early application of the amendments is permitted. 
The amendments do not have any impact on the Group's financial position and results of operation. The 
Group will include the required disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial statements. 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses 

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable 
profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. 
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits 
and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery of some assets for more 
than their carrying amount. 

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the 
amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognized In 
opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the 
change between opening retained earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying this relief 
must disclose that fact. Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

• Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based' PaYment, Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions . 

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the 
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and the accounting 
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its 
classification from cash settled to equity settled. 

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but 
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria are met. 
Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 

• Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with PFRS 
4 
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial instruments 
standard before implementing the forthcoming insural]ce contracts standard. They allow entities to 
choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal with the transitional challenges. 
The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance contracts the option to recognize in other 
comprehensive Income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied 
before the new insurance contracts standard is issued. On the other hand, the deferral approach gives 
entities whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary exemption 
from applying PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard or 
January 1, 2021. 

The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not previously 
applied PFRS 9. 
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The amendments are not applicable to the Group since none of the entities within the Group have 
activities that are predominantly connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts. 

• PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arlsmg from contracts with 
customers. Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The 
principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. 

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition 
requirements under PFRSs. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of PFRS 15 
and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date once adopted locally. 

• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted .. Retrospective application is required, but providing 
comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied 
prospectively, with some limited exceptions. 

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Group's financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no impact on the 
classification and measurement of the Group's finanCial liabilities. The adoption will also have an effect on 
the Group's application of hedge accounting and on the amount of its credit losses. The Group is 
currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard. 

• Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of Annual 
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) . 

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, 
may elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its Investments in 
associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. They also clarify that if an entity that is 
not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or jOint venture that is an Investment entity, 
the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by 
that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate's or jOint venture's 
interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or jOint 
venture, at the later of the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially 
recognized; (b) the associate or jOint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment 
entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. The amendments should be applied 
retrospectively, with earlier application permitted. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction 
or development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs 
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is eVidence 
of the change in use. A mere change in management's intentions for the use of a property does not 
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provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use 
that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the 
amendments. Retrospective application is only permitted if this' is possible without the use of hindsight. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 

• Philippine Interpretation on IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non­
monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an 
entity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a 
date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation may be 
applied on a fully retrospective basis. Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, 
expenses and income in its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the interpretation ,or the beginning of a prior reporting period 
presented as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the interpretation. 

The adoption of the interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019 

• PFRS 16, Leases 
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance leases 
in accordance with PAS 17, Leases. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset model. Under this model, 
lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases on their balance sheets, and 
subsequently, will depreCiate the lease assets and recognize' interest on the lease liabilities in their profit 
or loss. Leases with a term of 12 months or less or fat which the underlying asset is of low value are 
exempted from these requirements. . 

.~ The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the principles 
of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however, wil! .be required to disclose more information in 
their financial statements, particularly on the risk expoSure .. to residual value. 

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only If they have also adopted PFRS 15. When adopting PFRS 16, 
an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach, with options 
to use certain transition reliefs. 

The Group is currently asseSSing the impact of adopting PFRS 16. 

Deferred effectivity 

• Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or JOint Venture 
The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of 
a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that a full 
gain or loss Is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves a bUSiness as defined 
in PFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any gain or loss.resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 
does not constitute a business, however, is recognized· only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests 
in the associate or jOint venture. 
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On January 13, 2016, the FRSC postponed the original effective date of January 1, 2016 of the said 
amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board has completed its broader review of the 
research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification of accounting for such 
transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 

Summary of Significant Accounting PoliCies 

Fair value measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. The fair value of an 
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset tClkes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate. in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• 
• 

• 

Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable ' 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have 'occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is Significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
baSis of the nature, characteristics and risks, of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit 
rates. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid Investments ,that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of acquisition and that are 
subject to an inSignificant risk of change in val,ue. ' 

Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
Initial recognition 
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Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at FVPL, loans and 
receivables, HTM investments, AFS financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such claSSificationS at every reporting 
date. . 

FinanCial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at FVPL, directly 
attributable transaction costs. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognized on the trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Group's finanCial assets include cash an'd cash eqUivalents, trade and other receivables, financial 
assets at FVPL, HTM investments, AFS financial asset, amounts owed by related parties, loans to 
employees (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in the consolidated 
balance sheet)and deposits (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in 
the consolidated balance sheet). 

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their claSSification as follows: 

Financial assets at FVPL 
Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets deSignated upon 
initial recognition as at FVPL. Financial assets ·are classified· as held for trading if they are acquired for 
the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial 
assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value with gains or losses recognized 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not held 
for trading or deSignated at FVPL. .These embedded. derivatives are measured at fair value with gains or 
losses ariSing from changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. Reassessment only occurs If there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly 
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of 
FVPL. 

Financial assets deSignated as FVPL are deSignated by. management on initial recognition when any of 
the following criteria are met: 

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabiHties or recognizing gains or losses on them on a 
different basis; or 
• The assets and liabilities are part of a' group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which 
are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or Investment strategy; or 
• The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does 
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, w./thlittle or no analysis, that it would not be 
separately recorded. 

As of December 31, 2016and 2015, the Group designated its Investments in Unit Investment Trust Fund 
(UITF) and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBCl Senior Notes as financial assets at FVPL. 
Loans and receivables 
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. This method uses an EIR that exactly discounts estimated 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the 
loans and receivables are derecognized or Impaired, as well as through the amortization process. Assets 
in this category are included in current assets except for-maturities greater than 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period, which are classified as noncurrent assets. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has designated as loans and receivables its cash in banks 
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts owed by related parties, security deposit, 
loans to employees (reported as part of 'Other current . assets' and 'other noncurrent assets' in the 
consolidated balance sheet) and deposits (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other 
noncurrent assets' in the consolidated balance sheet). 

HTM investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as 
HTM when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial 
measurement, HTM investments are measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, less impairment. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are integral part of the EIR. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when the investments. are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process. 
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has HTM investments in Philippine government securities. 

AFS financial assets 
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not classified in 
any of the three preceding categories. They are purchased and held Indefinitely, and may be sold in 
response to liquidity requirements or change in market conditions. After initial measurement, AFS 
financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized directly in equity 
until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss recorded in equity is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, or determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative loss recorded in. equity is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

As of December 31, 2016and 2015, the Group's AFS financial asset pertains to unquoted equity shares of 
Cloud Mondo, Ltd. 

Financial liabilities 
Initial recognition 
Financial liabilities within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at FVPL, other financial 
liabilities, or as derivatives deSignated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The 
Group determines the claSSification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every financial reporting date. 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of finanCial liabilities not at FVPL, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group's financial liabilities inciude trade and other payables, short-term loans, long-term debt and 
amounts owed to related parties. 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
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Financial liabilities at FVPL 

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition at FVPL. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 
near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that do not 
meet the hedge accounting criteria as defined by PAS 39. 

Gains and losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The Group does not have a financial liability at FVPL as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any related 
issue costs, discount or premium. Gains and losses emi recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognized,as well as through the amortization process. 

As of December 31, 2016and 2015, the Group's other financial liabilities includes trade and other 
payables, short-term loans, amount owed to related parties.and long-term debt. 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and ·the net amount reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
intention to settle on a net baSiS, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group 
assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset If the right is not contingent on a future event, 
and is legally enforceable in the normal course of bUSiness, event of default, and event of insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties. 

'Day l' difference 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction 
price and fair value (a 'Day l' difference) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income unless 
It qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which is not 
observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the inputs become observable or when the 
instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of 
recognizing the' Day l' difference amount. 

Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity 
A financial instrument is claSSified as debt if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or 
• exchange finanCial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Group; or 
• satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 
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If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset to 
settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability. The components 
of issued financial instruments that contain· both IiClbility and equity elements are accounted for 
separately, with the equity component being assigned the. residual amount after deducting from the 
instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component on 
the date of issue. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses, at each balance sheet date, whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 'loss event') and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in. the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. If such 
evidence exists, any impairment loss is recognized in the. consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 
that are individually Significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it 
is determined that no objective evidence ofimpairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, the asset is included ina group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which, an impaiql1ent loss is or continues to be recognized 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. . 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment/oss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's otiginal EIR (i.e., the EIR computed at initial 
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or through the use of an 
allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss Is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying value 
of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Financial assets carried at cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is 
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such .,an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial 
asset. 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized where: 
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• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
! the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass­
through' arrangement; and 
• either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the 
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into pass 
through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group's 
continuing involvement in the asset. In this case the Group also recognizes an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay. 
When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash 
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group's continuing 
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the 
case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or Similar provision) on an asset measured at 
fair value, the extent of the Group's continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation. und~r the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expired. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially' modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognltlon of the original liability and.the. recognition of a new liability, and the difference 
in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Costs incurred in bringing 
each inventory to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 

Raw materials, spare parts, 
supplies and others 

Finished goods and work-in-

- purchase cost on a first-in; first-out basis (FIFO); 

process inventories - cost of direct materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing overhead 
cost. Costs are determined on a standard cost basis. Standard costs take into account normal levels of 
materials and supplies, labor, effiCiency and capacity utilization. They are regularly reviewed and, if 
necessary, revised in light of current conditions. 

NRV of finished goods and work-in-process inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of bUSiness, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. NRV of raw materials, supplies, spare parts and others is. the current replacement cost. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
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Property, plant and equipment, except land, are stated at cost and costs of day-to-day servicing, less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of 
replacing part of such property, plant and equipment and borrowing cost when that cost is incurred and if 
the recognition criteria are met. Repairs and mainte'nance are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as incurred. Land is carried at cost less any impairment in value. 

Depreciation commences when an asset is in its location and condition and capable of being operated in 
the manner intended by management. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment as 'follows: 

Category 
Number of Years 
Machinery and equipment 10-15 
Buildings and improvements 5-25 
Facility and production tools 5-8 

-- Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5 
Transportation equipment 5-7 

The property, plant and equipment's residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recollnized in the carrying amount of the property, 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

Construction in progress represents property under construction and is stated at cost. This includes costs 
of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time that 
the relevant assets are completed and put into operational use. 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use. When assets are 
retired or otherwise disposed of, both the cost and related accumulated depreciation and any allowance 
for impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or 
charged to current operations. ' 

An item of property, plant and eqUipment is derecognizedupon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal' proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 
Property, plant and equipment are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction expected to' be completed within one year from the date of 
classification, rather than through continuing use. Property,plant and equipment held for sale are stated 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value hi!ss costs to sell. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale or distribution is highly 
probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions 
required to complete the sale should indicate that It is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be 
made or that the sale will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the sale expected within 
one year from the date of the classification. 

Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get reaciy for its intencieci use or sale are capitalized as 
part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. 
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Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. Foreign currency exchange differences are included in the determination of 
borrowing costs to be capitalized, butonly to the extentthat they are an adjustment to the interest cost 
on the borrowing. . 
Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are 
not capitalized and expenditure is charged against income in the period in which the expenditure is 
incurred. . 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over seven (7) years, which represents their economic 
useful life, and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for intangible assets with a finite useful 
life are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the 
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit (CGU) level. The useful life of an intangible asset with 
an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an indiVidual project are 
recognized as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be .available for 
use or sale; 
• its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset; 
• how the asset will generate future economic benefits; 
• the availability of resources to complete the asset; and 
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins 
when development Is complete and the asset is. available for use. It is amortized over the period of 
expected future benefit, which is estimated to be five (5) to ten (10) years. Amortization is recorded in 
cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. 

Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acqulree, For each business combination, the Group 
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred and included in administrative expenses. 
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When the Group acquires a business, It assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

If the bUSiness combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirerwill be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified' as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument 
and within the scope of PAS 39is measured at fair value' with changes in fair value recognized either in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or as a change to OCr. If the contingent 
consideration is not within the scope of PAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within eqUity. ' 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the conSideration transferred 
and the amount recognized for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the, fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess 
of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of 
the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 
amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair 
value of net assets acquired over the aggregate conSideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of Impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group's CGUs that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. GoodWill disposed in these Circumstances is measured based on 
the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a nonfinancial asset may 
be impaired. The Group has deSignated as nonfinancial assets its prepaid expenses, advances to 
suppliers, property, plant and equipment, and other assets. If any such indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for a nonfinancial asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the nonfinancial 
asset's recoverable amount. A nonfinancial asset's estimated recoverable amount is the higher of a 
nonfinancial asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use (VIU) and is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the nonfinancial asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other nonfinancial assets or groups of nonfinancial assets. Where the carrying 
amount of a nonfinancial asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the nonfinancial asset is 
conSidered impaired ,and is written down to its estimated recoverable amount. In asseSSing VIU, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speCific to the nonfinancial 
asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries 
or other available fair value indicators. 
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For nonfinancial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. A previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the nonfinancial asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If 
that is the case the carrying amount of the nonfinancial asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the non-financial asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Capital Stock 
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Subscriptions receivable are accounted for as 
a deduction from equity. Proceeds and/or fair value of consideration received in excess of par value, if 
any, are recognized as additional paid-in capital (APIC) .. 

Retained Earnings 
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit or loss attributable to the Group's equity holders 
and reduced by dividends on capital stock. Retained earnings may also include effect of changes in 
accounting policies as may be required by the' standards' transitional provisions. 

The Group may pay dividends In cash or by the issuance of sh~res of stock. Cash and property dividends 
are subject to the approval of the BOD, while stock diVidends are subject to approval by the BOD, at least 
two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at a shareholders' meeting called for such 
purpose, and by the Philippine SEC. Cash and property dividends on preferred and common stocks are 
recognized as liability and deducted from equity when declared. Stock diVidends are treated as transfers 
from retained earnings to paid-in capital. 

Eq u ity Reserve 
Equity reserve represents the effect of the application of the pooling-of-interests method. 

Treasury Shares 
Treasury shares represent reaquired equity instruments, which no gain or loss is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Group's own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the conSideration, if 
reissued, is charged or credited to APIC. 

other Comprehensive Income 
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income ahd expenses that are not recognized in profit 
or loss for the year in accordance with PFRS. other comprehensive income pertains to remeasurements 
of the Group's retirement benefit obligatibnand changes in fair value of AFS financial asset. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardleSs of when the payment is being made. Revenue Is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually 
defined terms of payment and excluding discounts, returns,reba.tes and other sales taxes or duties. The 
Group assesses its revenue arrangement against specific criteria in order to determine If it is acting as 
principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue 
arrangements. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. 
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Interest income 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the EIR method. 

Deferred revenues 
Deferred revenues pertain to the unearned income arising from the sale of goods wherein no actual 
shipment or transfer of risks and rewards to customers has occurred yet. No amortization is done to 
recognize the earned revenue since the Group will make' subsequent reversals upon shipment of the 
goods to customers. 

Costs and Expenses Recognition 
Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when a 
decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has 
arisen that can be measured reliably. 

~_ Cost of sa les 
Cost of sales is recognized when the related sale has met the criteria for recognition. 

Operating expenses 
Operating expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangements is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset. A reassessment is made after the inception: of the lease only if one of the following 
applies: .. 

a. There is a change in contractual terms,. other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option Is exercised and extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension 
was Initially Included In the lease term; 
c. There Is a change In the determination of whether fulfillment Is dependent on a specified asset; 
or 
d. There Is a substantial change to the asset. 

When a reassessment Is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change In circumstances give rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

Group as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially .all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits Costs 
The Group Is covered by a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. The net defined benefit 
liability or asset Is the aggregate of the present value ofthedefined benefit obligation at the end of the 
reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined 
benefit asset to the asset ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present value of any economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan 
The cost of providing benefits under the defined .benefit plans Is actuarlally determined using the 
projected unit credit method. 
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Defined benefit costs comprise the following; 
• Service cost 
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset 
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset. 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Past 
service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net defined 
benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount 
rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Net interest on 
the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the 
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized immediately 
in other comprehensive income in the period in whicli they arise. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods. These are retained in other comprehensive income until full 
settlement of the obligation. 

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until 
the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, 
or changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately. 

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying insurance policies. 
Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group, .nor can they be paid directly to the Group. 
The fair value of plan assets is based on market price information. 
When no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting expected 
future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk aSSOCiated with the plan assets and the 
maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until 
the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited 
to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in 
future contributions to the plan. I 

The Group's right to be reimbursed of some or all the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit 
obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value and when, and only when, reimbursement is 
virtually certain. 

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Group's functional and 
presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency 
spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Outstanding monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date. 

All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Nonmonetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates as of the dates of the initial transactions. 
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Income Taxes 
Current tax 
Current tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the financial reporting date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at the 
financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable.temporary differences, except: 

• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 
• in respect of taxable temporary differences aSSOCiated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of 
unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax 
(RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference, and the carryforward of unused 
tax credits from excess MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized, except: 

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is. reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that· sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at th~ tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred Income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized directly in equity and not 
in profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if, and only if, a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities exist and the deferred 
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to either settle current tax liabilities and assets on 
a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities Simultaneously, in each future period in which 
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significant amounts of deferred income tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or recovered. 
Subsidiaries operating in the Philippines file income tax returns on an individual basis. Thus, the deferred 
income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset on a per entity basis. 

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the ,year by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends and 
stock split. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net income and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 

Segment Reporting 
For management purposes, the Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. 
Sales are reported internally per division, however, profit or loss, assets and liabilities are reported on an 
entity-wide basis. These information are measured using the' same accounting policies and estimates as 
the Group's consolidated financial statements (see Note 25). 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that an outfiow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the 
Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed;for example, under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income, net of any 
reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an interest expense. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are- disclosed In the notes to consolidated financial 
statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 
when an Inflow of economic benefit is probable. 

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's position at the balance sheet 
date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that 
are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when material. 
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Results of Operations 

For the 12-month period ending December 31" 2016 compared to the 12-month period 
ending December 31, 2015 

Revenue 

The Company recorded consolidated revenues of US$74.3 million for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2016, an increase of 25% fromUS$59.1 million for the same period in 2015. The increase was 
accounted for by the growth of both the Company's semiconductor and Antenna Systems businesses. 

Sales per division 

In US$OOO For the 12 months ended December 31 
2016 2015 Ofolnc/ 

(Dec) 
CEC 
Discrete 12,486 11,296 11 
Multichip 9;681 10,163 (5) 
IC 9,818 8,119 21 
QFN 4,937 5,143 (4) 
New Products 5,273 5,415 (3) 
Hermetics 1,488 2,083 (29) 
CATS 
Cougar 241 329 (27) 
Outdoor Unit 6,488 10,200 (36) 
Indoor Unit 1,691- (100) 
Bridgewave 3,024 2,332 30 
IRFU 1;372 . 2,493 (45) 
RMS 127 285 (53) 
Antenna Systems 19,387 . 

Total 74,322 59,549 25% 

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin 

The Company's cost of sales (COS) is composed of: raw materials, spare parts, supplies; direct salaries, 
wages and employees' benefits; depreciation and amortization; utility expenses directly attributable to 
production, freight and duties; and changes in finished goods and work in process inventories. The 
Company's cost of sales increased by 23% to US$61.6 million in the 12 months ending December 31, 
2016 from US$50 million for the same period in 2015. The increase was mainly due to a rise in raw 
materials expenses as a result of higher sales, higher salaries and wages, , depreciation, and increase in 
inward freight and duties. . 

Raw materials, spare parts, supplies and other inventories grew by38% to US$42.4 million 
for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 from US$35.0 million for the same period in 
2015. 
Salaries, wages and employees' benefits increqsed by 28% to US$1O.5 million for the 12 
months ending December 31, 2016, from US$8.2 million for the same period in 2015. 
Utility expenses amounted to US$35 million for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, 
from US$3.7 million for the same period in 2015, a decrease of 6%Depreciation and 
amortization Increased by 24% to US$2.6 million for the 12 months ending December 31 
2016, from US$2.1 million for the same period in 2015. 

41 



Freight and duties increased by 176% to US$2.5 million for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2016 from US$899 thousand for the same period in 2015. 

The Company's gross margin was 17% for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, one percentage 
point higher than the gross margin recorded for the same period in 2015. 

Operating Expenses 

The Company's operating expenses for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to US$4.4 
million, 14% higher compared to the US$3.8 million recorded during the same period in 2015. 

Net Income (Loss) Before Income Tax 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2d16, the Company recorded a net income before income tax of 
US$8.2 million, an increase of 45% compared with US$5.6 miliion recorded for the same period in 2015. 
Provision for Income Tax 

Provision for income tax for the 12 months ending. December 31, 2016 amounted to US$547 thousand 
compared with US$516 thousand for the same perioo in 2015, an increase of 6%. 

Net Income After Tax 

The Company's net income for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to US$7.6 million, an 
increase of 49% compared with US$5.1 million for the same period in 2015. 

Total Comprehensive Income 

The Company's total comprehensive income for the.12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to 
US$7.1 Mn, compared to US$5.3 Mn for the same periOd in 2015, a 34% increase. 
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Financial Condition 

For the 12-month period ending December 31, 2016 compared to the period ending 
December 31, 2015 

Assets 

The Company's cash and cash equivalent forthe 12. months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to 
U5$24.5 million, compared with U5$29.8 million for the period ending December 31, 2015, a decrease of 
US$5.3 million or 18%. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in trade receivables and inventories 

Trade and other receivables for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to U5$23.2 million, 
compared with US$13.7 million for the period ending December 31,2015, a 69% increase. The increase 
was mainly due increase in sales and longer AR days for certain key customers. 

Inventory levels for the 12 months ending December 31,2016 amounted to US$15.3 million, 166% 
higher compared with US$5.7 million for the period ending December 31, 2015. The increase was mainly 
due to longer lead times for certain major raw materials and ramp up of product volume runners. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss refer to short-term investments of the Company. For 
the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, the Company sold its short-term investments in UITF and 
RCBC senior notes. 

The Company's HTM investments pertain to government bonds which were purchased by the Philippine 
Branch of CATS in compliance with the Corporation Code for foreign companies to maintain securities 
with the SEC. Other current assets for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 totaled US$2.6 million, 
compared with US$2.5 million for the period ending December 31 2015, an increase of 3%. The change 
was mainly due to advances to suppliers. 

Non-current assets held for sale pertain to the Company's Carmelray property which is being actively 
marketed for sale. 

Non-current assets, comprised of Property, piant and equipment (PPE), Available-for-sale (AFS) finanCial 
asset, deferred income taxes and other noncurrent assets for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 
amounted to US$32.7million compared with US$26.9 million for the period ending December 31, 2015, 
an increase of 21 % The increase was mainly due to increase .in PPE and non-current assets. 

Liabilities 

The Company's current liabilities is comprised of trade and other payables, short-term loans, long-term 
debt - current portion, amounts owed to related parties, deferred revenue, income tax payable, 
provision for warranty. For the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, current liabilities were at US$58.5 
million compared with US$30.1 million for the period ending December 31, 2015, a 192% increase. This 
can be mainly attributed to increase in trade. and other receivables, short-term loan, current portion of 
long-term debt, income tax payable, and provision for warranty. 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, the Company's non-current liabilities, comprised of long­
term debt - net of current portion, retirement benefit obligation, and deferred income tax liability 
amounted to US$38.8 million, a 100%% increase compared to US$19.3 million for the period ending 
December 31, 2015. The increase was mainly due to increase in long-term debt and increase in 
retirement benefit obligation. 
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Equity 

The Company's shareholders' equity as of the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to 
US$25.2 million compared with US$71.3 million for, the period ending December 31, 2015, a 65% 
decrease. The decrease in equity was due to acquisition of parent company shares by subsidiary. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

For the 12 months ending December 31,' 2016, the Company's principal sources of liquidity was cash 
from sales of its products, IPO proceeds, bank credit facilities, proceeds from its 5-year corporate notes 
issuance, and proceeds from its follow-on offering. The Company expects to meet its working capital, 
capital expenditure, dividend payment and investment requirements for the next 12 months primarily 
from the proceeds of the Company's Initial Public Offering, proceeds of the Company's corporate notes 
issuance, short-term credit facilities and cash flows from operations. It may also from time to time seek 

-- other sources of funding, which may include debt or equity financings, including dollar and peso­
denominated loans from Philippine banks, depending' on its financing needs and market conditions. 

For the next 12 months, the Company plans to increase its production further by increasing volume 
deliveries to existing customers, entering into new production agreements, and expanding its customer 
base by intensifying its sales and marketing activities. 

The following table sets out the Company's cash flows for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 and 
the same period 2015: 

For the 12 months 
In US$ Thousands ending December 31 

2016 2015 
Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) operating activities (1 582) 16996 
Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) 'investing activities 11390 (28,900) 
Net cash flows provided by{ (used for) financlnqactivities (14916) 29019 
Net increase (decrease) in cash equivalents (5265) 17,174 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net cash flow provided by operating activities was U5$(1.6) million for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2016, compared with U5$17.6 million for the same period in 2015. 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2016, net income before tax was US$8.2 million. After 
adjustments for depreciation, unrealized foreign exchange gain/losses, interest income/expense, and 
excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, operating 
income before change in working capital was US$11.6 million., Changes in working capital decreased 
operating income to US$1.6 million. This was mainly due to increase in inventories and receivables, and 
increase in trade and other payables. 

Investing Activities 

Net cash from investing activities amounted to US$11A million for the 12 months ending December 31, 
2016. Investing activities in 2016 mainly involved disposal, of financial assets at FVPL, increase in PPA, 
and increase in other noncurrent assets. acquisition of property, plant and equipment. For the same 
period in 2015, major investing activities involved investment in financial asset at FVPL, acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment and AFS financial asset. 
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Financing Activities 

Net cash flow used in financing activities for the 12 months ending December 31, 2016 amounted to 
US$14.9 million. Major financing activities involved proceeds from availment of short-term loans, 
proceeds from issuance of corporate notes, less payment of cash dividends, payment of short-term and 
long-term loans, interest, acquisition by subsidiary of Parent Company Shares, stock issue cost, and net 
movement In amounts owed by and owed to related parties. For the same period in 201S financing 
activities amounted to US$29 million and mainly involved proceed from short-term loans, proceeds from 
FOO, less payment of cash dividends, interest payments, payments of short term and long term loan and 
net movement in amounts owed by and owed to related parties. 

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Income Statement as of December 31, 2016 
compared to the Audited Income Statement as of December 31, 2015 (increase/decrease of 
5% or more) 

• 25% increase in net sales 
Sales growth for both CEC anf CATS 

• 23% increase in cost of sales 
Increase in net sales 

• 14% increase in operating expenses 
Higher operating expenses to support expansion of operations 

• 45% increase in Net Income Before Tax 
Higher sales, higher gross margins, higher operating margins 

• 6% increase in Provision for Income Tax 
Higher taxable income for CEC and CATS 

• 49% increase In Net Income After Tax 
Increase in sales, gross profit, and operating income before tax 

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016 
compared to the Audited Balance Sheet as of December 31,2015 (increase/decrease of 5% 
or more) 

• 1B% decrease in Cash and cash Equivalent 
Increase in working capital, investments in PPE, ''',vestment, purchase by subsidiary of parent 
company shares 

• 69% increase in Trade and Other Receivables - Net 
-Longer payment term for certain key customers 

• 166% increase in inventories 
Longer lead times for certain raw materials 
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• 100% decrease in Financial assets at fair 'value through profit or loss 
Sale of short-term investments 

• 21 % increase in Non-current Assets 
Increase in PPE and other non-current assets 

• 94% increase in Current Liabilities 
Increase in trade and other receivables, short-term loans, current portion of long-term debt, income 
tax payable, provision for warranty 

• 97% in Non-current Liabilities 
Increase in long-term debt and retirement benefit obligation' 

• 65% decrease in Total Equity 
Investment by a subsidiary in parent company shares 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The Company's top five (5) key performance indicators are .listed below: 

Amounts in thousand US$, 2014, 2015 2016 
except ratios, and where , , 

indicated 
EBITDA 9558 8767 11862 

EBITDA Margin 18% 15% 16% 
Sales Growth 18% 15% 25% 
Current Ratio (x) 3.5x 3.1 x , 1.5x 
Earnings per share (US$) 0.017 0.013 0.D18 

Note: 
**Earnings per Share was calculated usIng CHPC's average outstanding common shares for the years 
2014, 2015 and 2016 

• EBITDA and EBITDA Margin 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) provides an indication of the 
rate of earnings growth achieved. 

The EBlTDA margin shows earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization as a 
percentage of revenue. It is a measure of how efficiently revenue is converted into EBITDA. 

EBlTDA and EBlTDAR Margin are not measures of performance under PFRS, and investors should not 
consider EBlTDA and EBITDA Margin In isolation or as ,alternatives to net income as an indicator of 
our Company's operating performance ,or to cash .flow from operating, Investing and financing 
activities as a measure of liqUidity, or any other measures of performance under PFRS. Because there 
are various EBITDA and EBlTDA Margin calcu'lation methods, the Company's presentation of these 
measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. 
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The following table sets out the Company's EBITDA afterconsolidation entries. 

For the years ended December 31 

In USlOOO 2014 2015 2016 
Net income 5,844 5,120 7,608 
Add back: 

Interest expense/income-
net 519 941 995 

Provision for 
income tax 79 516 547 

Depreciation and 
amortization 2,901 2,190 2,712 

EBITDA 9[558 8[767 11[862 

The table sets forth a reconciliation of the Company's consolidatedEBITDA to consolidated net income. 

For the years ended December 31 

In USlOOO 2014 2015 2016 
EBITDA .9,558 8,767 11,862 
Deduct: 

Interest 
expense/(income) (519) (941) (995) 

Provision for 
income tax (79) (516) (547) 

Depreciation and 
amortization (2,901) (2,190) (2,712) 

Net Income 5,844 5,120 7,608 

• Sales growth 

Sales growth is a key indicator of the Company's· ability to grow the business 

• Current ratio 

Current ratio measures a company's short-term liquidity, i.e. its ability to pay its debts that are due 
within the next 12 months. It is expressed as the ratio between current assets and current liabilities. 

• Earnings per share 

Earnings per share show the Company's attributable profit earned per share. At constant outstanding 
number of shares, as the Company's earnings in.crease, the earnings per share correspondingly 
increase. 

47 



· FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURE 

The Company is not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that 
will have a material impact on the Company's liquidity. 

The Company is not aware of any event that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company, including default or acceleration of any obligation. 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period. 

The Company has allocated up to US$8 Million for capital expenditure for full year 2017, from the 
proceeds of the Company's Initial Public Offering, Follow~one Offering, Corporate Notes Issuances and 
cash flows from operations. It may also from time· to time seek other sources of funding, which may 
include debt or equity financings,· including dollar and peso-denominated loans from Philippine banks, 
depending on its financing needs and market conditions. 

The Company is not aware of any trends, eventsqruncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 
expected to have a material favorable orunfavorab.le . impact on net sales/revenues/income from 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from its 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial conditions 
or results of operations. 
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Results of Operations 

For the 12-month period ending December 31, 2015 compared to the 12-month period 
ending December 31, 2014 

Revenue 

The Company recorded consolidated revenues of US$59.5 million for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2015, an increase of 15% from US$51.8 million for the same period in 2014. The increase was 
accounted for by the growth of both the Company's semiconductor and RF/microwave/millimeterwave 
businesses. 

Sales per division 

InUS$OOO For the 12 months ended December 31 
2015 2014 0/0 Inc I 

(Dec) 
CEC 
Discrete 11,296 10,800 5 
Multichip 10,163 9,629 6 
IC 8,119 8,556 (5) 
QFN 5,143 3,848 34 
New Products 5,415 5,221 4 
Hermetics 2,083 2,008 4 
CATS 
Cougar 329 150 119 
Outdoor Unit 10,200 8,003 27 
Indoor Unit 1,691 . 
Bridgewave 2,332 1,534 52 
IRFU 2,493 1,009 147 
RMS . 285 1,034 (72) 

Total 59,549 51,792 15% 

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin 

The Company's cost of sales (COS) is composed of: raw materials, spare parts, supplies; direct salaries, 
wages and employees' benefits; depreciation and amortization; utility expenses directly attributable to 
production, freight and duties; and changes in finished goods and work in process Inventories. The 
Company's cost of sales increased by 13% to US$50 million in the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 
from US$44.3 million for the same period in 2014. The incr!;!ase was mainly due to a rise in raw materials 
expenses as a result of higher sal!;!s, higher salaries and . wages, , and increase in inward freight and 
duties. 

Raw materials, spare parts, supplies and other inventories grew by8% to US$30.7 million for the 
12 months ending December 31, 2015 from US$28.4 million for the same period in 2014. 
Salaries, wages and employees' benefits increased by 5% to US$8.2 million for the 12months 
ending December 31, 2015, from US$7.8 million for the same period in 2014. 
Freight and duties increased by 30% to US$960 thousand for the 12 months ending 
December 31,2015 from US$739 thousand for'the same period in 2014. 

Other cost of sales increased by 65% to US$845 thousand for the 12 months ending 
December 31, 2015 from US$513 thousand for the same period in 2014. 
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The Company's gross margin was 16% for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, one percentage 
point higher than the gross margin recorded for the same period in 2014. 

Operating Expenses 

The Company's operating expenses for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 amounted to US$3.8 
million, 15% higher compared to the US$3.3 million recorded during the same period in 2014. 

Net Income (Loss) Before Income Tax 

For the 12 months ending December 31 2015, the Company recorded a net income before income tax of 
US$5.6 million, a decrease of 7% compared with US$6.1 million recorded for the same period in 2014. 
In 2014, the Company recognized a gain from the excess of the fair market value of net assets over the 
acquisition cost (RBW acquisition) amounting to US$2.6 million. In terms of core income (i.e. excluding 
negative goodwill) the Company registered a gain of 35%, with core income at US$5.1 million for the 12 
months ending December 31, 2015, compared to US$3.8 million for the same period in 2014. 

Provision for Income Tax 

Provision for income tax for the 12 months ending December 31 2015 amounted to US$516 thousand 
compared with US$207 thousand for the same period in 2014, an increase of 149%. This was mainly a 
result of higher sales generated by CEC and CATS. 

Net Income After Tax 

The Company's net income for the 12 months ending December 31 2015 amounted to US$5.1 million, a­
decrease of 12% compared with US$5.8 million for the same period in 2014. 

Financial Condition 

For the 12-month period ending December 31, 2,,15 compared to the per/od ending 
December 31, 2014 

Assets 

The Company's cash and cash equivalerit for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 amounted to 
US$29.8 million, compared with US$12.6 million for the period ending December 31, 2014, an increase of 
US$17.2 million or 136%. The increase was mainly due to the proceeds from the follow-on offering 
completed by the Company in November 2015 .. 

Trade and other receivables for the 12 months ending Decelllber 31, 2015 amounted to US$13.8 million, 
compared with US$14.9 million for the period ending December 31, 2014, an 8% decline. The decrease, 
despite an increase in the Company's consolidated sales, translates to more efficient collection of 
receivables in 2015. 

Inventory levels for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 amounted to US$5.7 million, 47% lower 
compared with US$1O.8 million for the period ending December 31, 2014. The decrease was mainly due 
to reduction in work in process inventory .. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and· loss refer to short-term investments of the Company. For 
the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, short term investments amounted to US$19,4 million 
compared with US$702 thousand for the period ending December 31 2014, an increase of 26.7x. The 
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increase was due to certain portion of proceeds from the Company's Faa placed in short-term 
investments until the funds are utilized. 

Other current assets for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 totaled US$2.5 million, compared with 
US$1.8 million for the period ending December 312014, an increase of 4%. The change was mainly due 
to security deposit and prepaid expenses. . 

Non-current assets, comprised of Property, plant and equipment (PPE), Available-for-sale (AFS) financial 
asset, deferred income taxes and other noncurrent assets for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 
amounted to US$26.9 million compared with US$19.1million for the period ending December 31,2014, 
an increase of 41 %. The increase was mainly due to increase in PPE and AFS financial asset. 

Liabilities 

The Company's current liabilities is comprised of trade and other payables, long-term debt - current 
portion and net of deferred financing costs, short-term loan, amounts owed to related parties, income tax 
payable, dividends payable and derivative liability. For the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, 
current liabilities were at US$30.1 million compared with US$16.3 million for the period ending December 
31, 2014, an 84% increase. This can be mainly attributed to increase in trade and other receivables, 
short-term loan and current portion of long-term debt. 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, the Company's non-current liabilities, comprised of long­
term debt - net of current portion and deferred financing costs and retirement benefit obligation, 
amounted to US$20.9 million, a 24% decrease compared to US$25.3 million for the period ending 
December 31, 2014. The increase was mainly due to decrease in long-term debt and retirement benefit 
obligation. 
Equity 

The Company's shareholders' equity as of the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 amounted to 
US$71.2 million compared with US$35 million for the period ending December 31, 2014, a 100% 
increase. The increase In equity was due. to additional paid-in capital and profits recorded by the 
Company in 2015, less cash dividends paid out during the year. 

liquidity and Capital Resources 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, the . Company's principal sources of liquidity was cash 
from sales of its products, IPO proceeds,bank credit facilities, proceeds from its 5-year corporate notes 
issuance, and proceeds from its follow-on offering, The COlJ1pany expects to meet its working capital, 
capital expenditure, dividend payment and Investment requirements for the next 12 months primarily 
from the proceeds of the Company's Initial. Public Offering, proceeds of the Company's corporate notes 
issuance, short-term credit facilities and cash flows 'from operations. It may also from time to time seek 
other sources of funding, which may include debt or equity financings, including dollar and peso­
denominated loans from Philippine banks, depending .on its financing needs and market conditions. 

For the next 12 months, the Company plans to increase its production further by increasing volume 
deliveries to eXisting customers, entering Into new production agreements, and expanding its customer 
base by intensifying its sales and marketing activities. 

The following table sets out the Company's cash flows for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 and 
the same period 2014: 
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For the 12 months 
In US$ Thousands • 

, ending December 31 
, 2015 2014 

Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) operating activities 16,973 3,851 
Net cash flows jJrovided by! (used for) investing activities (28,900) (1,642) 
Net cash flows provided by/ (used for) financinq activities 29041 3320 
Net increase (decrease) in cash equivalents 17,174 5578 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net cash flow provided by operating activities was US$17 million for the 12 months ending December 31, 
2015, compared with U5$3.9 million for the same period in 2014. 

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2015, net income before tax was U5$5.6 million. After 
adjustments for depreciation, unrealized foreign exchange gain/losses, interest income/expense, and 
excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, operating 
income before change in working capital was US$8,4 million. Changes in working capital increased 
operating income to US$17.7 million. This was mainly due to decrease in inventories and receivables, 
and increase in trade and other payables. 

Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to US$28.9 million for the 12 months ending December 
31, 2015. Investing activities on 2015 mainly involved investment in financial assets at FVPL, AFS 
financial asset, and acquisition of property, plant and equipment. For the same period in 2014, major 
investing activities involved investment in financial asset at FVPL, acquisition of property, land and 
equipment and net payment for acquisition of REMEC. 

Financing Activities 

Net cash flow from financing activities for the 12 months ending December 31, 2015 amounted to US$29 
million. Major financing activities involved proceeds from availment of short-term loan, proceeds from 
issuance of common stock and preferred stock, less payment of cash dividends, payment of short-term 
and long-term loans, interest and stock issue cost,and net movement in amounts owed by and owed to 
related parties. For the same period in 2014 financing activities amounted to US$3.3 million and mainly 
involved proceed from short-term loan and long-term debt, less payment of cash dividends, interest 
payments, payments of short term and long term loan and net movement in amounts owed by and owed 
to related parties. 

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Income Statement as of December 31, 2015 
compared to the Audited Income Statement as of December 31,2014 (Increase/decrease of 
5% or more) 

• 15% Increase in net sales 
Sales growth for both CEC and CATS 

• 13% increase in cost of s,ales 
Increase in net sales 

• 15% increase in operating expenses 
Full-year consolidation of CATS operating ,expenses 
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• 7% decrease in Net Income Before Tax 
Net Income in 2014 was significantly boosted by n~gative goodwill (gain from the excess of the fair 
market value of net assets over the acquisition cost [Remec acquisition]). 

• 149% increase in Provision for Income Tax 
Higher taxable income for CEC and CATS 

• 12% decrease in Net Income After Tax. . . : 
In 2014, Net Income was significantly boosted by negativ~ goodwill (gain from the excess of the fair 
market value of net assets over the acquisition cost (Remec acquisition) 

Material Changes to the Company's Audited Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2015 
compared to the Audited Balance Sheet as of. December 31,2014 (increase/decrease of 5% 
or more) 

• 136% increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent 
Proceeds from the Company's follow-on offering 

• 8% decrease in Trade and Other Receivables ~ Net 
-Improved collection efficiency 

• 47% decrease in inventories 
Reduction in work in process inventory 

• 26.7x increase in Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Certain portion of proceeds from the Company's FOO placed in short-term investments until the 
funds are utilized 

• 41% increase in Non-current Assets . 
I ncrease in PPE and AFS financial assets 

• 84% increase in Current liabilities 
Increase in trade and other receivables, short-term loan and current portion of long-term debt 

• 24% decrease in Non-current Liabilities 
Decrease in long-term debt and retirement benefit obligation 

• 100% Increase in Total Equity 
Additional paid-in capital and profits recorded by the Company in 2015, less cash dividends paid 
out during the year 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The Company's top five (5) key performance indicators are listed below: 

Amounts in thousand US$, 2013 2014 2015 
except ratiOS, and where 
indicated 
EBITDA 7492 9558 8767 
EBITDA Marqln 17% . 18% 15% 
Sales Growth 8% 18% 15% 
Current Ratio (x) 5)(. 3.5 x 3.1x 
Earnings per share (US$) 0.014 0.070 I 0.013 
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Note: 
**Earnings per Share was calculated using CHPC's average outstanding common shares for the years 
2013, 2014 and 2015 

• EBITDA and EBITDA Margin 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) provides an indication of the 
rate of earnings growth achieved. 

The EBITDA margin shows earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization as a 
percentage of revenue. It is a mea'sure of how efficiently revenue is converted into EBITDA. 

EBITDA and EBITDAR Margin are not measures of performance under PFRS, and investors should not 
consider EBITDA and EBITDA Margin in isolation or as alternatives to net income as an indicator of 
our Company's operating performance or to cash flow from operating, investing and financing 
activities as a measure of liquidity, or any other measures of performance under PFRS. Because there 
are various EBITDA and EBITDA Margin calculation methods, the Company's presentation of these 
measures may not be comparable to Similarly titled Il)easures used by other companies. 

The following table sets out the Company's EBITDA after consolidation entries. 

For the years ended December 31 

In USiOOO 2013 2014 2015 
Net income 4,637 5,844 5,120 
Add back: 

Interest expense/income-
net 285 519 941 

Provision for 
income tax 260 79 516 

Depreciation and 
amortization 2,310 2,901 2,190 

EBITDA 7,492 9,558 8,767 

The table sets forth a reconciliation of the Company's consolidated EBITDA to consolidated net income. 

For the years ended December 31 

In USiOOO 2013 2014 2015 
EBITDA 7,492 9,558 8,767 
Deduct: 

Interest 
expense/(income) (285) (519) (941) 

Provision for 
income tax (260) (79) (516) 

Depreciation and 
amortization (2,310) (2,901) (2,190) 

Net Income 4,637 5,844 5,120 
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• Sales growth 

Sales growth is a key indicator of the Company's ability to grow the business 

• Current ratio 

Current ratio measures a company's short-term liquidity, i.e. its ability to pay its debts that are due 
within the next 12 months. It is expressed as the ratio between current assets and current liabilities. 

• Earnings per share 

Earnings per share show the Company's attributable profit earned per share. At constant outstanding 
number of shares, as the Company's earnings increase, the earnings per share correspondingly 
increase. 

FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURE 

The Company is not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that 
will have a material impact on the Company's liquidity. 

The Company is not aware of any event that will trigge; direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company, including default or (lcceleration of any obligation. 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationships with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period. 

The Company has allocated up to US$8 Million for capital expenditure for full year 2016, from the 
proceeds of the Company's Initial Public Offering and cash flows from operations. It may also from time 
to time seek other sources of funding, which may include debt or equity financings, including dollar and 
peso-denominated loans from Philippine banks, depending on ,its financing needs and market conditions. 

The Company is not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 
expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable' impact on net sales/revenues/income from 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from its 
continuing operations. 

The Company does not have any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial conditions 
or results of operations. 
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ITEM 7 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Please see attached Audited Financial Statements ending 31 December 2016. 

ITEMS CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9 INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT AND AUDIT RELATED FEES 

a. The Public Accountant 

The Corporation's public accountant is the accounting firm Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co ("SGV"). 
They are being recommended once again for election, approval, and ratification for the current 
fiscal year. As of December 31, 2015, SGV has been the Corporation's external auditor for five 
years with Mr. Ladislao Z. Avila, Jr. as the Partner-in-Charge for the audit years 2011 to 2015. 
The Corporation, in compliance with SRC Rule 68, paragraph 3 (b) (iv) re: compliance with the 
five (5) year rotation requirement for external auditors, has requested for a new Partner-in­
Charge from SGV to handle its accounts. Mr. Martin C. Guantes has been assigned by SGV as 
Part-in-Charge effective 2015 Audit. 

Representatives from SGV attend the Annual. Meeting of the Stockholders of the Corporation and 
are given the opportunity to rnake. a statement if they so desire. They are also expected to 
respond to appropriate questions. 

b. External Audit Fees and Services 

Audit and Audit-Related Fees 2016 2015 
Reqular audit Pl100 000 P 950 000 
~ecial audit P9100,000 P 700,00 
Other fees (out-of-pocket expenses) p, P -
Total Audit and Audit-related Fees P 10,200,00 P 1,650 000 
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PART III - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE ISSUER 

Except for Mr. Roberto Juanchito T. Dispo, who was elected as Director, President and Vice Chairman of 
the Corporation, the rest of the Directors and officers named herein have served in their respective 
positions since May 11 2015. The Directors of the Corporation were elected at the annual meeting of the 
stockholders of the Corporation to hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting of the 
stockholders and until the respective successors have been elected and qualified. 

The Officers were elected by the Board of Directors at the organizational meeting of the Board on May 11 
2016. The Board also elected during the said meeting the chairman and members of the Audit 
Committee, the Nominations Committee, and the Compensation Committee. 

The following is a brief profile of the Corporation's Directors and Officers for the year 2016-2017as well 
as the nominees for the year 2017-2018. 

Regular and Independent Directors. 

Jerry Liu, 69 years old was elected as the Corporation's Chairman and President on 25 May 2012. He is 
currently the Chairman of the Corporation. He is also concurrently President/CEO of CEC, Director of 
Cirtek Land and Cayon Holdings, Inc. and Chairman of Silicon Link, Inc., Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Physics from Chung Yuan University of Taiwan and an MBA from the University of the 
East. 

Roberto Juanchito T. Dlspo, 52 years old was elected Vice Chairman and Director of the Corporation 
on 4 January 2016 and also as President of the Corporation on 27 May 2016. Mr. Dispo is also Vice 
Chairman of Cosco Capital, and sits on the Board of PB Corn Bank and Axa Philippines. Prior to joining 
the Corporation, Mr. Dispo was President and Director of First Metro Investment Corporation. Mr. Dispo 
holds BSC Economics and Business Management from San Sebastian College and Pamantasan ng 
Lungsod ng Maynila, respectively. He also completed Masters in Business Administration and Masters in 
Business Economics from Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila and the University of Asia & the Pacific, 
respectively. 

Nicanor Lizares, S3 years old was elected as a director of the Corporation on 17 February 2011. He is 
also a director of Pancake House, Inc., andClrtek Holdings, Inc. He is a partner of Aureos Philippine 
Advisers, Inc., Mr. Lizares has a Master of Science in Industrial Economics from the Center for Research 
and Communications and an M.A. in International Relati~ns from Boston University. 

Anthony Buyawe, 49 years old was elected as the Corporation's Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 
on 17 February 2011. He is concurrently the CFO of CEC, CEIC and the Figaro Coffee Corporation. Prior 
to joining the Corporation, Mr. Buyawe was CFO of ITP Technologies (2003 - 2005) and SMEDC (2008-
2009) and Senior Director of Ernst and Young (2005-2008). Mr. Buyawe obtained his BA degree from the 
University of the Philippines and his MBkfrom the Asian Institute of Management. 

Rafael G. Estrada, 64 years old, is Chairman and President of First National Holdings Corporation and 
Chairman of Delta Agrivet Commercial, Inc. and Waterfor Calasiao, Inc. Previously, Mr. Estrada served as 
Vice Chairman of the Social Security System, and served as director for Land Bank of the Philippines, 
Union Bank of the Philippines, Manila Doctors Hospital and Medical Center Manila. He obtained is BS 
Management degree from the University of Sto. Tomas and his MBA (candidate) from the University of 
Virginia. 
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Martin Ignacio P. Lorenzo, 51 years old was elected as an Independent Director of the Corporation 
on 17 February 2011 and shall serve as such for one year or until his successor is elected and qualified. 
Mr. Lorenzo is the Chairman and President of Pancake House, Inc. He also served as Chairman, President 
and CEO of Macondray & Co., Inc., Chairman and President of First Lucky Property Holdings, Chairman 
and President of First Lucky Property Corporation and Marlor Investment Corporation. Mr. Lorenzo 
graduated from the Ateneo de Manila University with a Bachelor of Science in Management Engineering 
and earned his MBA from the Wharton Graduate School, University of Pennsylvania in 1990. 

Ernest Fritz Server, 73 years old, was elected as an Independent Director of the Corporation on 17 
February 2011 and shall serve as such for one year or until his successor is elected and qualified. Mr. 
Server serves as the President of Multimedia Telephony Inc., Vice Chairman of RFM Corporation, 
Chairman of Arrakis Holdings, Inc., President of Seacage Industries, Inc., President of West Properties, 
Inc., President of Superior Las Pinas, Inc., a director of ABS CBN Convergence, Inc. and a director of BJS 
Development Corp. Previously, Mr. Server served as Vice Chairman of the Commercial Bank of Manila, 
Consumer Bank and Cosmos Bottling Corporation, President of Philippine Home Cable Holdings, Inc. and 
Philam Fund, and a director of Philippine Township, Inc .. Mr. Server graduated from the Ateneo de Manila 
University in 1963 with degree in Bachelor·of Arts degree in Economics and holds an MBA Major in 
Banking and Finance from the University of Pennsylvania, Wharton Graduate School. 

Michael Stephen T. Liu, 32 years old, is currently the General Manager of Cirtek Advanced Technology 
and Solutions (CATSI) a Cirtek company catering to the telecom and Wireless broadband space. He was 
first elected as Director on 11 May 2015. Mr. Liu obtained his degree in Electronics and Communications 
Engineering from De La Salle University in 2007 and is a licensed Electrical Engineer. 

Brian Gregory T. Liu, 30 years old, has been the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Corporation since 
March 2011. He was first elected as Director on 11 May 2015. He is concurrently a stockholder in Cirtek 
Electronics Corporation, Cirtek Land Corporation, and Turborg Trading. Mr. Liu trained as an Operations 
Trainee in Dominos Pizza from 2001 to 2002, then as an Analyst in Evergreen Stockbrokerage & 
Securities Inc. from 2003 to 2005. He obtained his degree in Management in Financial Institutions from 
De La Salle University in 2009. 

Justin T. Liu, 35 years old, is President and Director of Figaro Coffee Systems, Inc. Mr. Liu graduated 
from the De La Salle University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Management and earned his 
Masters in Finance from the University of San Francisco in 2006. 

Eduardo Lizares, 60 years old, is currently Partner at Pacjilla Law Office and Professorial Lecturer on 
Constitutional Law at the University of the Philippines. .Atty. Lizares holds a Bachelor of Arts degree for 
De La Salle University, Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of the Philippines, and a Master of 
Laws degree from Harvard Law School, Harvard UniverSity. 

Hector Villanueva, 81 years old, has held senior positions in both private and public sectors. He was 
Chairman of the Board of First Metro Philippine Equity E~change Traded Fund, Inc., Postmaster General 
and CEO of Philippine Postal Corporation, Member of the, Advisory Board, First Metro Investment 
Corporation, and Publisher and Editor-in-Chlef, Sun Star Manila, among others. Mr. Villanueva was also 
Cabinet Secretary from 1995-1998. Mr. Villanueva obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Economics 
from the London School of Economics and' Political Science, and post-graduate studies from Royal 
Institute of Bankers, United Kingdom. ' ' 

Independent Directors 

The nominees for Independent Directors of the Corporation for the year 2017-2018 are: 

1. Ernest Fritz Server, 
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2. Eduardo Lizares, and 
3. Hector Villanueva 

They have been nominated by Jerry Liu,· current Chakman of the Corporation. Jerry Liu has no 
relationship with the nominee Independent Director. Ernest Fritz Server has been an Independent 
Director of the Corporation since 17 February 2011. In .accqrdance with the Securities and Exchange 
Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series of 2016, Ernest Fritz Server may serve as Independent Director until 
2021 while either Hector Villanueva or Eduardo lizares mat served as Independent Director of the 
Corporation until 2026. 

Key Officer 

Tadeo Hilado, 64 years old, Filipino, was elected as the Corporation's Corporate Secretary on 17 
February 2011. Atty. Tadeo is a senior partner at the Angara Abello Concepcion Regala & Cruz law 
offices. He also serves as director and corporate secretary of several companies including Cocoa 
Specialties, Inc., Univation Motor Philippines, Inc., Nissan Autoparts Manufacturing Corporation, 
Sumisetsu Philippines, Inc., Samsonite Philippines, Inc., Vita rich Corporation, among others. Atty. Tadeo 
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the De La Salle UniverSity, Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
University of the Philippines and a Master of Laws degree from the University of Michigan. 

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

As a newly incorporated holding company, the Company has not paid or accrued any compensation prior 
to 2011. The aggregate compensation during the last fiscal year and to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year 
to the company's 4 most highly compensated officers and to its officers and directors as a Cirtek Group 
unnamed is as follows: 

For 2016 

Name & Position Year Salary Estimated Bonus 
Jerry Liu (PreSident) 2016 P40.0 million P8 million 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Domingo Bonifacio (President 
CATS) 
Rolando Enriquez (Vice 
President CATS) 
Jorge Aguilar (President CEC 
Aggregate compensation paid 2016 P45 million PiO million 
to all officers and directors as 
a Cirtek Group unnamed 

. 

For 2017 

Name & Position Year . Estimated Salary Estimated Bonus 
Jerry Liu (Chairman) 2017 P42 million P8.4 million 
Roberto Juanchito Dispo 
(PreSident) 
Anthony Buyawe (CFO) 
Rolando Enriquez (Vice 
PreSident CATS) 
Jorge Aguilar (President CEC) 
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Aggregate compensation paid 2017 P48 million P12 million 
to all officers and directors as 
a Cirtek Group unnamed 

Compensation of Directors 

Under the By-Laws of the Company, by resolution .of the Board, each director, shall receive a reasonable 
per diem allowance for his attendance at each meeting of the Board. As compensation, the Board shall 
receive and allocate an amount of not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax 
of the corporation during the preceding year. Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned 
among directors in such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders 
representing at least majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the 
stockholders. 

Standard Arrangements and Other Arrangements 

There are no other arrangements for compensation, either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments. 

There are no other arrangements for compensation . either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments other than reasonable per diem. There are also no outstanding 
warrants or options held by the Company's Chief Executive Officer, other officers and/or directors. 

Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control Arrangements 

The Cirtek Group has executed employment contract with some of its key officers. Such contracts 
provide the customary provision on job description, benefits, confidentiality, non-compete, and non­
solicitation clauses. There are no special retirement plans for executives. There is also no existing 
arrangement for compensation to be received by any executive officer from the Company in the event of 
change in control of the Company. 

Warrants and Options 

There are no outstanding warrants and options held by any of the Company's directors and executive 
officers. 
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ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND 
MANAGEMENT 

Owners of record of more than 5% of the corporation's voting securities as of 31 March 2017: 

Title of Name, Name of Citizenship Number of Shares % of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial Held 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Common Camerton, camerton, FilipinQ 
Inc. Inc. 208888558 49.85 

Common PCD Nominee PCD Nominee Filipino 
Corpolation Corporation 143816827 34.32 

Common Cirtek Cirtek Filipino 49,371,700 11.78 
Electronics Electronics 
Corporation Corporation 

Common Total 402077,085 95.95% 

Title of Name, Name of Citizensh i p lNumber of Shares Held % of Class 
Class Address of Beneficial . 

Record Owner and 
Owner, and Relationship 
Relationship with Record 
with Issuer Owner 

Preferred camerton, Camerton, Filipino 400,000,000 100 
Inc. Inc. 

Preferred Total 400000000 100% 

Under PCD account, the following participants hold shares representing more than 5% of the company's 
outstanding shares: 

Participant Number of Shares Percentage 
Guild Securities 67,072,828 . 19% 

Citibank N.A. 27,561862 6.6% 

Except as stated above, the corporation has no knowledge of any person or any Cirtek Group who, 
directly or indirectly, is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the corporation's outstanding shares or 
who has a voting power, voting trust, or any similar agreement with respect to shares comprising more 
than 5% of the corporation's outstanding common stock. 

The number of common shares benefiCially owned by directors and executive officers as of 31 March 
2017 are as follows: 
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Title of Class Name of No. of Shares . Citizenship Percent 
Beneficial . Held 

Owner 
. 

Common Jerry Liu 1 Chinese 0.0000 
Common Rafael G. 1 Filipino 0.0000 

Estrada 
Common Nicanor Lizares 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Anthony Buyawe 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Roberto 1 Filipino 0.0000 

Juanchito Dispo 
Common Martin Lorenzo 1 Filipino 0.0000 
Common Ernest Fritz 1 Filipino 0.0000 

SelVer 
Common Michael Stephen 1 Filipino 0.0000 

Liu 
Common Brian Gregory 1 Filipino 0.0000 

Liu 

Voting Trust Holder of 5% or More 

The corporation is not aware of any person hOlding more than 5% of the common shares of the 
corporation under a voting trust or similar agreement as there has been no voting trust agreement which 
has been filed with the corporation and the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Description of any arrangement which may result Ina c:hange In control of the corporation 

No change in control of the corporation has occurred since the! beginning of the last fiscal year. 

Item 13 Certain. Relationships and Related Transactions 

The Liu family, primarily through Camerton, Inc., is the largest shareholder in the Corporation, and as of 
March 31 2016 owns 208,888,558 shares, qr approximately 49.85% of the Corporation's issued and 
outstanding common shares. 

Related party relationship exists when the party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, or exercise significant' influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between andlor among entities which are 
under common control with the reporting entity and Its key management personnel, directors or 
stockholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationships. . , 

In the normal course of business, the Group has entered into transactions with affiliates. The significant 
transactions consist of the following: 

a. Advances for operating requirements of CHI, former parent of CEC and CEIC 
b. Rental of land and lease deposit with Cirtek Land Corporation (CLC), an affiliate, where the 

manufacturing building 1 and administrative building is Situated; and 
c. Payments and lor reimbursements of expenses made or in behalf of the affiliates 
d. Rental of land with Cayon Holdings, Inc. (Cayon), fin affiliate, where the building 2 of the Group 

Is situated 
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The consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of comprehensive income include the 
following significant account balances resulting from the above transactions with related parties: 

a, Amounts owed to related parties 

Transactions Balances as of 
2016 2015 2016 2015 Tenns Conditions 

Oll,er related parties 
CLC Rental $12,776 $13,515 ' $446,970 $434,194 Due on demand; Unsecured 

non-interest 
bearing 

Cayon Rental 11,690 12,025 73,182 61,492 Due on demand; Unsecured 
non-interest 
bearing 

$520,152 $495,686 

b, Amounts owed by related parties 

Transactions Balances as of 

2016 2015 2016 2015 Terms Conditions 
Other related parties 
Camcrton Reimbursement $78,833 $- $111,994 $33,161 Due on demand; Unsecured; no 

of expenses non-interest impainnent 
bearing 

CHI Advances for 1.809.256 1,809,256 Due on demand; Unsecured; no 
working capital non-interest impairment 

bearing 
Cayon Reimbursement 206,284 206,284 Due on demand; Unsecured; no 

of expenses non-interest impairment 
bearing 

Jerry Liu Reimbursement 1,750,990 5,483,674 IO,~09,041 8,558,051 Due on demand; Unsecured; no 
of expenses non-interest impairment 

bearing 
$12,436,575 $10,606,752 

c, Rental deposit 

Transactions Balances as of 
2016 2015 2016 2015 Terms Conditions 

Other related parties 
CLC S- S- 51,131,3?? $1,131,399 Due on demand; Unsecured; no non-interest impairment bearing 

The above related parties, except Jerry Liu, ,are entities under common control of the ultimate parent 
company, Jerry Liu is a stockholder and the chairman of the Parent Company's BOD, 

Transactions with CHI, Charmview Enterprises ltd (CEl) and officer 

The amount owed by an officer amounting to $7.7 million as of December 31, 2010 was transferred in 
2011 to CEl, the former ultimate parent of CEC and CEIC, CEl now owns 40% interest in Camerton, the 
parent of CHPc' 

The amounts owed by and to CHI as of December 31, 2010 represent advances for working capital lines 
in the normal course of business when CEC and CEIC were then still subSidiaries of CHI. 
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For purposes of settling outstanding balances with the Group and as part of corporate restructuring in 
preparation for the planned Initial Public Offering (IPO) of the Parent Company, on 
March 17, 2011, CHI, CEl and the officer, with the consent of the Group, entered into assignment 
agreements whereby CHI absorbed the amounts owed by' CEl and by the officer as of 
March 17, 2011 amounting to $7,7 million and'$0.8million, respectively. 

The Group, with the consent of the related parties, entered into assignment agreements whereby the 
Parent Company absorbed the amount owed by CEIC to CHI totaling $3.6 million representing unpaid 
advances of $2.3 million and dividends of $1.3 million as of March 17, 2011 (see Note 28). 

Thereafter, on March 18, 2011, the Parent Company and CHI, in view of being creditors and debtors to 
each other as a result of the assignment agreements above, entered into a set-off agreement for the 
value of the Group's liability aggregating $6.8 million. The amount represents the above mentioned total 
liability of $3.6 million and the balance outstanding from the Parent Company's purchase of CEC and 
CEIC amounting to $3.2 million, as revalued from the effect, of foreign exchange rate. 

The amount owed by CHI as of December 3L2016 and 2015 pertains to the outstanding receivable 
arising from the assignments and set-off agreements as discussed above. 

Transactions with Camerton 
Camerton is the majority shareholder of the Parent Company. Amounts owed by Camerton as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 pertain mainly to working ca'pital advances and advances for incorporation 
expenses of Camerton. 

Transactions with ClC and Cayon 

CLC is an entity under common control of the ultimate parent company. CEC had a lease agreement on 
the land where its manufacturing plant (Building 1) is located with ClC for a period of 50 years starting 
January 1, 1999. The lease was renewable for another 25 years at the option of CEC. The lease 
agreement provided for an annual rental of $151,682, subject to periodic adjustments upon mutual 
agreement of both parties. 
On January 1, 2005, CEC terminated the lease ,agreement with ClC but has continued to occupy the said 

'- land for no conSideration with ClC's consent., With the termination of the lease agreement, the Group 
has classified the rental deposit amounting to $1.1 million as current asset as the deposit has become 
due and demandable anytime from ClC (see Note 9). 

On January 1, 2011, CEC entered into an agreement with ,ClC to lease the land where CEC's Building 1 is 
located. The agreement calls for a P=640,704 rent per annum for a period of 10 years and renewable 
thereafter by mutual agreement of the parties subject to such new terms and conditions as they may 
then be mutually agreed-upon. Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to$12,777, $13,515 
and$14,434in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

CEC also entered into an agreement with Cayon starting January 1, 2011 to lease the land where CEC's 
Building 2 is located. The agreement calls for an annual rental of P=582,144 for a period of 10 years and 
renewable thereafter. Total rent expense' charged to operations amounted to $11,690,$12,025 
and$13,114 in2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, 
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PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

ITEM 13 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Corporation is committed to the ideals of good corporate governance. In compliance with the SEC 
requirement, The Corporation is studying best practices in good corporate governance to further improve 
the current corporate governance practices of the Corporation and to develop an efficient and effective 
evaluation system to measure or determine the level of compliance of the Board of Directors and top 
level management with its Manual of Corporate Governance. 

Corporate governance rules/principles were established to ensure that the interest of stakeholders are 
always taken into account; that directors, officers and employees are conducting business in a safe and 
sound manner; and that transactions entered into between ,the Corporation and related interests are 
conducted at arm's length basis and in the regular course of business. There are no incidences of 
deviation from the Corporation's Manual of Corporate Governance. 

The Corporation has sufficient number of independent directors that gives the assurance of independent 
views and perspective. 

65 



CIRTEK HOLDINGS 
Philippines Corporation 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The management of CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION is responsible 
for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the schedules 
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2016, and 2015 and 2014, in accordance with 
the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules 
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders or members. 

Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited 
the financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, 
and in its report to the stockholders or members, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of 
presentation upon completion of such audit. 

~ , -JERRYLIU 
Chairman of the Board 

ROBERTO JUANCmTO T. DlSPO 
President 

/v1~ 
"ANTHONY S. BUVA WE 

Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer 
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Reporton th~ Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Opjnlon 

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation 
(the Company), which comprise the parent company balance sheets as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, 
and the parent company statements of comprehensive income, parent company statements of changes in 
equity and parent company statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes. to the parent 
company financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company financial statements pres.ent fairly, in all material. 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financ.ial 
Reporting .Standards (PFRSs). 

__ Basis raJ" OnjnioD 
-~'- .. -',:'''''_',~, ., ... :;;:;, ...... £ ..... "._ .. ,.~-~ ... :"'."_._ "'~" :.: ... _ .. _'u .. , _ •. ,. ,n_.·, ••. ' ..• :::"'=:iI::'=~".:: ••. ,,_ , . 

.•... ,._.,.> -~ •• -' •. - •• -_." ..... __ ._., •.. -

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditin!\ (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities/or the Audit 
of the Parent Company Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the Co.de of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to Our audit of the parent company financial 
statements in me Philippines, and we have fulfilled .Qur other ethical responsi.bilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we .have obtained is . 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of~nagementa\ld Th.ose Charged wlthGovernance fQr the Parent Company 
Finan cial Statem'ents 

Management is respons.ible for the preparation and fair preseritation of the parent cpmpanyfinancial 
statements in acco.rdance with PFRSs, and for such interoal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the. preparation of parent company financial statemellts that are free from material 
misstatement, whQtner'due to fraud or en-QT., 
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In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company Or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 10 <\0 s.o .. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for tbe Au.dit or the Parent Company Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assuranceabou! whether the parent company financial statements 
as a Whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that inclUdes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assu!'ance, but is not a guarantee 
that an. audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or errOr and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to. influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these parent company financial statements. . 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the aUdit.V{e aiso: 

• Identify and assess the risks of materia:! misstatement of the parent company financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to thOSe risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide. a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, Or the override of 
internal contr.ol. 

• a ~-,-,~. .. ':·ili&t-lif.ii'ippiij)i;iate::m-eclf.cwn ·-"·cei;:bJltilbt]orJH~-jiUipOs~Jif.exp;:esslii'g:.,,-op1nilinlm the~~~'- ... 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriat~ness ofmanagemcnt's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidenc,e obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going ConceD). 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related dis,closures in the parent company financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequat.e, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the dale of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may caUse the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner th.t achieves fair presentation. 

II~nIIWlllmm~m~MI~111 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, .including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations No. 15-2010 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the parent company financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information required under Revenue Re!!"la(ions 
No. 1.5-2010 in Note 17 to the. parent company financial statements is presented for purposes of filing 
with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and. is not a required part of the basic financial statemeots. Such 
information is the responsibility of the management ofCirtekHoldings Philippines Corporation. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in o.ur audit of the basic financial 
statements .. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
flllancial statements taken as a whole. 

GORRES VELA YO & CO. 

PTR No. 5908679, January 3, 2017, Makati City 

April 12,2017 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS 

ASSETS 

ClInen! Assets 
Cash and c.shequi".I.nts (Note 4) 
Amounts owed by related parties (Note It) 
Fin.ncial asset at fair value through profit and loss CFVPL) 

(Note 5) . 
Other current ass.e!s· 
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Available-far-sale CAFS) financial asset (Note 7) 
Investments in su.bsidiaries (Note 6) 
Property and equipment 
Total Noncurrent Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities. 
Accmed expenses (Note 8) 
Short-term loans (Note 9) 
Current portion of long-term debt - net of deferred 

financing cost (Note 10) 

Noncurrent Liability 
Long-tenn debt - net of current portion and 

deferred financing cost (Note 10) 

Eq uity (Note 14) 
Common stock 
Preferred stock - net of sUlJscription receivable 
Additional paid-in capital 
Retained earnings 
Total Equity 

TOTALLIABIUTIES AND EQUITY 

See ae,companying Noles to Parent Company fji1anci~1 Statem~t1t; 

$13,322,6Z.9 
97,931,90.8 

5,314 
111,259,851 

1,667;000 
5,9.81,499 

67,757 
7;716,256 

$118,976,107 

$157;059 
8,852,857 

6,881.,12.6 

36,977,845 
72,807,618 

9,S94,J21 
221,239 

·3~,8.96,893 

456,036 
46,168,489 

$118,976,107 

$17,260,582 
44,6?2,827 

8,767,580 
157,786 

70,878,775 

1,667,000 
5,981,499 

84,696 
7,733,195 

$78,611,970 

$.133,451 
4,500,000 

3,433,849 

32,493,961 

9,594,321 
221,239 

35,896,893 
405,556 

46,118,009 

$78,611,970 

lill~iOOliMI~IIIIIII~~llllm~llll! 



CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

DlvmEND INCOME (Note 11) 

GENERAL. AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(Note 12) 

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Interest e)(penSe (Notes 9 and 10) 
rnterest income (Notes 4 and 5) 

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) - Net 
Foreign e)(cnange losses - nel 
Gain on disposal 
Bank charges 
Input value-added tax (V AT) written off 
Mark-Io-market gain (Nole 5) 

INCOMEBEFORETA,X 

pROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 13) 

NET INCOME 

OTHER COMP.REHENSlVEINCOME 

See accompanying N ote$ to Parent ComPany FJna~lal Statements. 

Yea.r. Ended Deqember 31 
2016 2015 

$4,820,000 

(278;040) 

(1,134,962) 
~58,230 

(776,732) 

(187;263) 
93,670 
(1,155) 

(94,748) 

3,670,:480 

3,670,480 

$3,050,000 

(340,802) 

(780,303) 
343,193 

(437,110) 

(52,906) 

(1,768) 
(51,109) 
267,580 
161,797 

2,433,885 

2,433,885 
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CIRTEl( HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPOIUlTION 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHA:lllGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS END]lD DECEMBER 34 2!)lli AND hlb5 

J 
J 1 CoDimoll sto'ck 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER31,2014 

Issuance of additional capil;ll stock (Note 14): 
Common stock 
p",ferred stock 

Stock issue cost (Note 14) 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
IsSuance of Undistributed stock dividendS (Note 14) . 
Cash dividends declared (Note 14) 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 

T ota! comprehensive income for the year 
Cash d~idends decl"!"'l (N(lte 14) 

J , 

111 Issued 
1 ~ 
~03,869 
i !! 

i ~t7Q),J87 

ii ~ 

ll]689,26: 

~14;21~ 
: 'I 
\:1 
1-:1 
~ 

~~. BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31,ZOiJ . ' ....... , .. ," n09~,321 
See Qccomppnying No!es (0 P~7UCompaqy fi!JDnc[titStaie!Ji¢nti, j jl~ 

dl , " 
1 ,I 

'.! \,11 i·, 

! .: 
"I' 
'. '1 ' , 

, 

Undistributed 
Stock 

Dividends 

$689,265 

(§'lW,ZSS) 

:s.,. 

i 

Preferred Additional 
Stock Paid-in Capital 

.s-, 

221,4~9 

221,239 

SZll;239 

$4,733,511 

32,ilZ2,545 

(J,1$9,163) 

3$,896,893 

$3Ji.$}~6,893 

Retained 
Earni~ 

S71,67i 

2,433,885 

(2,100,QOO) 

405,556 

],670,480 
(:1,620;000) 

$456,031i 

Total 

S12,698,316 

34,023,732 
221,239 

(l,159,163) 
2,433,885 

(2,100,00QL 

46,118,009 

1,670,480 
($,620;000) 

,$4,6,1,(,11,48<) 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax 
AdJustments' for: 

Diviqend 'income (Note 11) 
Interest expense (Notes 9 and 1.0.) 
Interest income (Notes 4 and 5) 
Unreali~ed foreign exch~ge loss - net 
Gain on disposal of financial asset at FVPL (Note 5) 
Depreciati'on 
Mark-to-market gall) 

Operating loss before working capital changes 
Decrease (increase) in: , 

Amounts owed by relatedparties (Note II,) 
Other current assets 

Illcrease in accrued expenses 
Cash used in operations 
Dividends received 
Interest' received 
Net cash used in operating activities 

CASH FLOWS" FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from disposal of fmancial asset at FV?L 
Acquisitions of: " 

Financial asset at FVPL (Note 5) 
AFS financial asset (Note 7) 
Property and c9uipment 

Cash from (used in) investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Yea-no Ended Decem ber 31 
2.0.16 2.0.15 

$3,67.0.,48.0. $2,433,885 

(4,82.0.,.0.0.0.) (3,.0.5.0.,.0..0.0) 
1,134,962 78.0.,3.0.3 
(358,23.0.) (343,193) 
143,588, 43,49.0. 
(93,67.0.) 
16,939 

(267,58.0.) 
(305,931) (4Q3,D95) 

(53;239,.0.81) (5,511,.0.95) 
(5,,448) 8,449 
1,.0.19 26,3.0.5 

(53,549,441) (5,879,436) 
4,82.0.,.0..0..0. 3,.0.5.0.,.0..0..0. 

516,.0.16 185,407 
(48,213,425) (2,644,.0.29) 

8,,861;25.0. 

(8,5.0..0.,0.0..0.) 
(1,667,.0..0..0.) 

(84,696) 
8,861J50 (10,251,696) 

Il a ----.,-"'~~~~.""---~,--.-""~".---~-,-,-~~~~ 
Stock issuance (Note 14) 

Increase (decrease) in ~mounts owed to related partie:s (Note 11) 
Payments of: 

Cash dividends (Note 14) 
Long-term debt (Note 10) 
Interest (Note 9) 
Debt issuance costs (Note 10) 
"Short-term loans 
Sto.ck issue costs (Note '14) 

Net cash from_ fmancing activities 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 
ON CASU AND CASU EQUIVALENTS 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH AND CASREQUIVALENTS ATE"ND OF YEAR (Note 4) 

See accompanying Notes to Parent Company FinanCial Statements. 

9,672,441 (15,578,233) 

(1,62.0.,.0..0..0.) 
(3,5.0..0.,0.0..0.) (1,.0.00,.0..0..0.) 
(1,.0.25,.0.2 tl (698,894) 

(321,6.0.5) (161,,159), 
(290,Q00) 

0,141,435) 
35,558,672 2.0.,165,250 

(]44,45D) (44,3.0.9) 

(3,937,953) 7,225;216 

)7;26.0.,582 1.0.,.0.35,366 

$13,3Z2,629 $17 ,26.0.,582 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Corporat~ Infonnation 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation (CHPC or the ParentCompany) was incorporated under 
the laws of the Republic of the Phjlippines on February 10,2011 to illvestin, purchase or acquire 
personal property of every kind, including shares of stocks, bonds, dehentures, notes, evidences of 
indebtedness, and other securities. 

The Parent Company was listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on November 18, 20 I L 

PrJor to the IIsti.ng, the Parent Company had' undergone a corpOl'ate'Te-organization-QIl 
March 1, 2011. which includes .an acquisition from Cirtek Holdings, Inc. (CHI) of 155,5 II ,952 
common shares of Cirtek Electronics Corporation (CEC), and 50,000 shar.es of Cirtek Electronics 
International Corporation (CErC), representing 100% of the outstanding capital stOck of both 
companies. The above transaction was treated as a business combination of entities under 
common control and was accounted for similar to pooling-of-interests method. Carnertoo 'Inc. is 
the immediate parent of CHPC, while Carmetheus Holdings, Inc. is the ultimate parent company 
of the Group. . 

The Company has no employees as orPecemper 31, 2016 and 2015. The accounting and 
administrative function of the Parent Company are handled by CEC. 

Bus i'nesS' Acquis irion 
On July 30, 2014, CEIC entered into a sale and purchase agreement with REMEC Broadband 
Wireless Holdings ("REMEC"), for the purchase of I 00% shares of REMEC's manufacturing 
division, REMEC Broadband Wireless International, Inc. ("RBWI"), a Philippine"based 
manufacturer of value added, highly integrated technology products. Based on the terms. of the 
sale, REMEC and its . subsidiaries will continue to design and market its top-of-class 
telecommunications under its "REMEC" brand, and, REMEC will enter into a 

CHPC funded the acquisition thrOU~g~h~a~~::~~!:~:~~!~~~!~r:~"---=-~ 
a corporate notes iss.uance. 

The closing date of the transactions waselfective July 30,2014. 

Authorization and issuance o/parent aompemyjinancial statements 
The parent company financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 
2015 were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors (BOD) on 
April 12, 2017. 

2. Basis of Preparation, Statement of Compliance and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Pol;cies 

Basis of Preparation 
The parent company financial statemenfs are prepared on a historicalcostbasis, exc.eptfor 
financial asset at FVPL whicl1 is carried at fair value. The parent company financial statements 
are presented in United States (U~) dollar,which is tIie. Parent Company's functional and 
presentation currency. All amounts are rO.unded off to the nearest US dollar ($) except when 
otherwise indicated. 

1~llgllllilllllll~~lliIIOOIW"~II! 
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Statelnenl QfCompliance 
The parent company financial statements are prepared in accordance with Philippine financia:! 
Reportin~ Stanaaras (PFRS), The term PFRS, in general, includes wll applicable PFRS, 
PhIlippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Interpretations issued by the Standinglnterpretations 
Committee, Philippine Interpretations Committee and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which have been approved by the PhilipplneFinancial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by the Philippine Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC), , , 

The Parent CompanY also prepareS and issues consolidated fmanciolstatements for the same 
period as the separate financial statements in compliance with PFRS" These may be obtained at 
the Parent company's registered office address, 

Changes in Accounting Poli<iies and Disclosures 
,Th,e accounting policies adopted are consistent with those ofthe previous'financial year, except 
that the parent Company has adopted the following new accounting pronouncement and 
amendments to existing pronouncements startingJanuaryl, 2016, Adoption ofthese 
pronouncements did not have a signific'mt impact on,the Parent Company's financial position Or 
performance. 

• ' Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Finaneia/Statements, PFRS \'4, Disclosure 0/ 
Interests in Other Entities, and Philippine Accouting Standards (PAS) 48, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures ,Investinent Entities: Applying the COn.!'olidation Exception 

• Amendments to PFRS II, Joint Arrangements,Accountingfor Acquisitions a/Interests in 
Joint Operation.!' 

• PfRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
• Amendments to PAS I,presentation of Financial Statements, Disclosure Initiative 
• Amendments to. PAS 16, Property, Piant and Equipment and PAS 38Jntangible Asseis, 

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of De preci ali on rmd Amortization· 
• Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41, Agriculture; Bearer Plants 

.~-: ..:-_:': .-F - -A'!!.dnifiriil"ts. t&P'k"H''ff8ijfiira!e1'!hi7iii~~ i'Siji.itif.:.M}!.t1i/;iJfi7!ft!iar~_12liiiiii1. -­
Statements 

• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 201'2 - 2014 Cycle 
Amendment to PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Heldjor Sale andDiscontinuedOperarions, 
Changes in Methods oj Disposal 
Amendm~nt to PFRS 7, Financial In.struments: Disclosur~s; Servicing· Contracts 
Amendment to PFRS 7, Applicability ojthe Amendments to PFRS7,0 Con.densedlnterim 
Financial Statements 
Amendment to PAS. 19, Employee Benefits, Discount Rate: Reg!onalMarketissue 

• Amendment to PAS 34, interim Financial Reporting, Disclosure o!TY/jonnation 
'Elsewhere. in the Interim Financial Report' 

Pronouncements issued· but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the Parent 
does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a significant -impact on its 
financial statements. The Parent Company intends to adopt the following pronouncements when they 
become effective .. 

Effective beginning on or a/terJanuary 1,20[7 

• Amendment to PFRS 12, Clarification o!the Scope o!the Siandard(Part of Annual 
Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016. Cycle) 

mllilllll~limIUlml~~1 
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The·amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements inPFRS 12, other than. those relating 
to summarized financial information, apply to an entity's interest in a subsidiary, a Joint 
venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture Or an associate) that is 
classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

The amendments do not have any impact on the Parent Company's financial position and 
results of operation. The Parent Company wiIJ include the required disclosures in its 2017 
parent company financial statements .. 

• Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures' that enable users Of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from .cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign 
exchange gains or losses). On initial application of the amendments, entities are not required 
to provide comparative information for preceding periods. Early application ofthe 
amendments is permitted. 

The amendments do not have any impact on th!, Parent Company's financial position and 
results of operation. The Parent Company will include the required disclosures. in its 2017 
parent company financial statements, 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes,Recognition of Deferred TaxAssetsfor Unrealized 
Losses 

The.amendments clarify that an entity ne~ds,to cons:ider whether 'tax law'restricts the sources 
oftaxablc profits against which itmay make deductions on the reversal of that deductible 
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amepdments provide guidance on how an entity should 
determine future taxable profits and 'explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may 
inclu<le the recovery of some a$.sets for more than their carrying arnoU11t. 

A. * .. " . ·."..:=-"'=~'tfnJiiies=ar •. iO¥iliiid -to:applY:llie-.am~ndi~~iits: r.1i'~;'IY;·.H6.~v",,;orr'kiti&t.&PPficati;'~-· .. -. 
ofthe amendments, the change in the opening equity oflhe earliest comparative period may 
be recognized in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, a. 
appropriate), without allocating the chlU)ge between opening retained earnings' and other 
components of equity. EntitieS applying this relief must disclose that fact. Barly application of 
the amendments is permitted. 

These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Parent Company. 

Effective be~inning on or after January I, 2018 

• Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Me.asurement of Share­
based Payment Transactions 

The amendments to PFRS 2 address tlu:eemain areas; the effects of vesting conditions on the 
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share­
based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and 
the accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions ofa share-based payment 
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled. 
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On adoption. entitie, are required to appiytbe amendments witbout restating prior periods. but 
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria 
are met. Early application of the amendments is. permitted., 

The amendments will not have any impact on the Parent Company. 

• Amendments to PFRS 4. Insurance Contracts. Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with 
PFRS4 

The amendments address COncerns arising from implementingPFRS.9. the new financial 
instruments standard before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard. They 
allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal with 
the transitional challenges. The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance 
contracts the option to recognize in other comprehensive income. rather than profit or loss. the 
volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard 
is issued. On the other hand. the deferral approach gives entities whose activities are 
predominantly connected with insurance an optional temporary exemption fr.om applying 
PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard or 
January 1,2021. 

The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to. a!l entity if it has not 
previously applied PFRS 9, 

The amendments are not applicable to the Parent Company. 

• PFRS 15, Revenue/rom Conlroctswith Customers 

PFRS 15· establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under PFRS 15. revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to b~ entitled in e"change for transferring goods or 
services to. a cust.omer. The principles in PFRS IS provide a more structured approach to 

.... _ ... _c~"I:Ifir!:g,~.1.l>J .... _;g\I!ici~~, ....• , .. :... . ... -,,' . .:, ""~'"'C. -,.-" _~_,,""' .... 

. The new revenue standard is applicable t.o all entities and will supersed-e all current revenUe 
recognition requirements under PFRSs. Either a full or modified r«rospective application is 
required for annual periods peginnjng on or 'after January 1" .2018. 

The adoption .ofPFRS 1.5 is not expectedt.o have a significant impa.ct on the Parent Company. 

• PFRS 9. Financial Instruments 

PFRS 9 reflects all phases oflliefinancial instruments project and replaces PAS 39. Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. and all previous versions ofPFRS 9. The 
standard introduces new requiretnents for classification and measurement. impairment, and 
hedge. accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1.2018. with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required. but 
providing comparative information is not compUlsory. For hedge accounting. the requirements 
are generally applied prospectively. with some limited. exceptions, 

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Parent Company's financial assets and impainneDtmethodology for financial assets. but will 
have no impact on the classification and measurement of the Parent Company's ftnancial 
liabilities. The Parent Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard, 
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Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture alFair Value (Part of 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014- 2016 Cycle) 

The atl)endments clarifY that an entity Ibat is a venture capital organization, Or other qualifYing 
entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an invest1llent-by-investment basis, to measure its 
investments. in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. They also 
clarifY that if an entity that is not itselfan investment entity has an interest in an associate or 
joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying Ibe equity method, 
elect to retain Ibe fair value measurement applied by Ibat investment entity associate arjoin( 
venture to the investment entity associate's or joint venture's interests in subsidiaries. This 
election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of 
the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognized; (b) 
the associate or joint venture become~ an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity 
associate or Joint venture first becomes a parent. The amendments should be applied 
retrospectively, with earlier application permitted. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Parent Company. 

• Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers afinvestment Property 

The atl)endments clarifY when an entity should transfer property, includinKProperty under 
construction or development into, or olltofinvestmentproperty. The amendments state Ibat a 
change in lise occurs when the prop~ meets, or ceases to meet, the. defmition of investment 
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management's 
intentions for the. use of a property does not provide evidence oh change in use. The 
amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in us.e that occur on or after the 
beginning of the atmual reporting period in which the entity ftrst applies the amendments. 
Retrospective application is only permitted if this is possible without the use of hindsight. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Parent Company. 
'" .,. ':-:', .•. --,. "- ..••. 7"'.- ,r,··~::;;-::,·,~-_· __ ;, . .'···· ""._._"" __ ~I-' 

--. -_ ..... -_ .. "-'-~'--Philiplifne1iiierp-ret81i6il'IFRlC'22, ForeIgn CurrencyT'Yariiiiclloils'''QntlAdVCi,ice" 
Consideration 

The. int(:rpretation clarifies that in dct~nnining-ttIe spot exchange rate to use' on 'in:itial 
recognition of the related asset, expense.or income (or part. of it) on the derecognition of a 
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the d.te of the 
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes Ibe nonmonetary asset o.r .non­
monetary liability ariSing from the advance consideration. If there ar.e multiple payments or 
receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment 
or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation may be applied on a fully retrospective 
basis. Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in 
its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the r.eporting perio<l in which 
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning ofa.plior reporting period pres.ented 
as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in whiqh the 
entity first applies the interpretation. 

The adoption of the interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the parent 
company tinancial statements. 

1111~DMIIUI~I~II~llmIMlli 
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Effective beginning on or after January 1,20]9 

• Pl'RS 16, Leases 

Under the new standard, lessees will no. longer classify their leases as either aperating or 
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17, Leases. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset 
modeJ. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most 
leases on their balance sheets, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize 
interest on the lease liabiHties in their profit or loss. Leases with. term af 12. months or less or 
for which the underlying asset is oftow value are exempted from these requirements. 

The accounting .by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries fbrward the 
principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however, will be required to disclose 
more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual 
value. 

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but anlyifthey have also adopted PFRS 15. When 
adopting .PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to us.e either a filii retrospective or a modified 
retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs. The adoption of I'FRS 16 
is not eXl'ected to have a significant impact on the Parent Company. 

Deferred effectivity 

• Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assetil berween an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 2.8 in dealing with the loss of 
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an ass.ociate or joint venture. The 
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when .a transfer to an associate or 
joint venture involves a business as defmed in.PFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any gain or 

. ~~!~.~ ... ~ 
joint ventur.e. 

On January 13,2016, the FRSC postponed the original effective date ofJanuary I, 20}6 of the 
said amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board has completed its 
broader review of the research project on equity accounting thaI may result in the 
simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects. of accounting for 
associates and joint ventur.es. 

Summary of Significllnt Acconnting :policies . 

-Pair value measurement 
Fair value is the price thatwould be'received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly tral1llaction between.market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or tr.ansfer the 
liability takes place either:' . 

• In the prinCipal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a princjpal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
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The principal or the most advantageous market must h.e accessible to the Parent Company. The 
fair value. of an. asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest, 

A fair value measurement of a nOIHinancialasset takes into account a market pa!ticipant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use Or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest ano best use. 

The Parent Company uses valuation techniques that are appropri'ate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are available tq measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant 
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the parent company 
financial statements are categorized within tbefairvalue hierarchy, described.a, follows, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Levell. - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active maikets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; an!!' .. 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significanno the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements Dna recurringbasts, the 
Parent Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significanttp the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each I1'portmg perio<!. 

For the purpose affair value disclosures, toe Parent Company has determ·ined classes of assets and 
Ii.bilitieson the basis of the nalllre, characteristics and risks of the as.set or liability and the level 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash includes cash in banks. Cash in banks earn interest at the respecti"e bank deposit rates. 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid inve~tm.nts !bat are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less ,from dates of acquisition and that 
are subjectto an insignificant ri.sk of change in value. 

Financi~1 Instruments 
Financial assets. 
Initial recogntrlon· 
Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at FVPL, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity (lITM)investments, AFS finanei'al asset,.or as derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The !"orent Company 
det=ines the classification of its fmancialassets at initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates such classifications at every reporting date, 

Financial assets are recognized initially •. t fair value plus, in the. case otinvestments not at FYPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

IIIIlHI~IIIIIIIII~illl!lII.llmlll 
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Purchas.es or sales of financial assets that require delivery ofassets within a time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognized on the 
trade date, i.e., the date that the Parent Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Parent Company's financial assets include cash and cash equjval~nts, financial assets at 
FVPL, AFS financial as.set and amounts owed by. related parties. 

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial assets at FVI'L 
Finanqial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for tradingandfil1ancial assets design.ted 
upon initial recognition as at FVPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 're 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the neal' term. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the parent company balance sheet at fair 
value with gains or losses recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. 

Derivatives embedded in host contrac.ts .re accounted for as separate derivatives when their risks 
and characteristics are not closely related tothos. of the host contracts and the host ~ntracts are 
not carried at fair value. These emb.e.dded ·'derivatives are measured at fair value with gains or 
los.ses arising from changes in fair value recognized in the parent company statement of 
comprehensive income. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract 
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

Financial ass.ets designated as at FVPL are· designated by management on initial recognition when 
any of the following criteria are met: 

• . The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the ·inconsistenttreatment that would 
othc",:,isc arise fr?m measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them 

.. w_._.'ilL",,4~ ........... oo,-·· _M.. ~'_, ." .. ..","'."" .. ,.,,~... .... ',_' 

. .... '... 'The" assc.ts Md ltalll11ttenre panora"group offinancilll assets,financial·liabilitres·ur buth 
which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis,. in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy; Or 

• The fInancial instrument contains an embedded derivative, un'less the embedded derivative 
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it 
would not be separately recorded, 

The Parent Company designated its investment in Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation 
(RCBC) Senior Notes as fmaneial asset at FVPL as afDecember 31, 2015. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fmaneial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried subsequently at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate (ErR) method. This method uses an EIR that exactly 
discounts estimated cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets to the net 
carrying amount ofth_financial asset. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well .s 
through the ,amortization process. Interest earned is recognized as. "Interest income" in the parent 
COI'Op~y statement of comprehensive income. Assets in this cate,gory are included in current 
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assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end ofthe reporting period, which are 
classified as noncurrent assets. . . 

The Parent Company's loans and receivables include cash in bank and cash equivalents and amounts 
owed by related parties. 

HTM investmenfs 
HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with. fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities for which the Parent Company's management bas the positive intention and 
ability to hold to. maturity. When HTM investments, other than iI)signific.nt amounts are sold, the 
entire category would be tainted and re.classified as AFS investments. After initial measurement, 
HTM investments are measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, less impairment. 
Amortized cost is. calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

The Parent Company does not have anyHTM investments as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

AFS financial as.sets 
AFS. financial assets are non.,derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not 
classified in any of the three preceding categories. They are purchased and held indefinitely and 
may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions. After initial 
measurement, AFS fin~cial assets are measured aHair value with unrealized gains or losse.s 
recognized directly in equity untiltiie investment.iS derecognized, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss recorded in equity is recogni~ in the parent company statemont of comprehe~ive 
income, Or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative los.s recorded in equity is 
recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. Unquoted equity 
instruments are measured at cost less any impairment, iffair value cannot be reliably measured. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the parent Company's AFS fmancial as~etpertains to its 
investment in CloudMondo, Ltd. 

'::~" 

Initial recognition 
Financial liabilities within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at.FVPL, loans 
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated ashedgirlg instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Parent Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities atinitial 
recognition and where allowed and. appropriate, re'evaluates such designation at each balance 
sheet date. 

All financial liabilities. are recognized initially atfair value plus, in the·case· of loans and 
borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Parent Company's financialliabiliti~s includci accrued expenses (excluding statutory 
liabilities), short.term loans, long-term debt and amounts owed to related parties. 

Subsequent measurement . 
The subsequent measurement of financi.lli.bilities depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial liabilities at FVP L 
Financial liabilities at FVPL include fmancialliabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon. initial recognition as at FVPL. 

11111~1~~IIIIIIIIII~mWIIlm~~~ 
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Financial liabilities are. classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Parent 
Company that do not meet the hc;dge accounting criteria as qefined by PAS 39. 

Financial liabilities at FVPL are carried in the parent company balance sheet at fair value with 
gams and loss.es recognized in the parent company statement of comprehensive income. The 
criteria for designating financial liabilities at FVPL on initial recognition are the same as those 
applied for financial assets. . 

The Parent Company has not classified any financial liabilities at FVPL.as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015.. . 

Oth" financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less 
directly atll:ibutable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other ftnancialliabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR methOd .. Gains and losses are recognized 

. in the parent company statement of comprehensive income when. the liabilities are derecognized, 
as well as through the amortization process .. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company's other financial liabilities include 
accrued expenses, short-term loans, amount owed terelated parties and long-term debt. 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are otIse.t and the net amount reported in the parent 
company balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recogpized amounts and there is an i~tention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously. The Parent Company assesses that it has a currently 
enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent on a future event, and is legally enfo,ce.ble 
in the normal courSe of business, event of default, and. event of insolvency or bankruptcy ofthe 
Parent Comp.ny and all of the counterpartie, . 

·::19;y~p::f),e..e!!Ce"·' .. · .................... -...... : .. ::::; ,~..." .. ':",",,::.":::;'~"~:'~:':":.-
"Wllere the transaction price in a non-.ctive market i,different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument o.r based On a valuatio.lI technique 
whose. variables include only data from observaole market, the Parent Company r~cognizes the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a 'Day l' difference) in the parent 
company statement of comprehensive income un.less it qualifies for recognition as some other type 
of asset. In cases where use is made, of data which is not observable, the. difference between the 
transaction price and mode.l value is only recognized ill the parent company statement of 
comprehensive income when the inputs become observable Or when the instrument is 
derecognized. For each transaction, the Parent Company .determines the appropriate method of 
recognizing the 'Day I' difference amount. 

Classifi,ation of financial instruments between dept BIld equily 
A financial instrument is classifieq as debtifit provides for a contractual obligation to: 

• deliver cash or another fmancial asset to another entity; or 
• exchange financial assets or financ,ialliabilities with another entity !.lnder conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Parent Company;. or 
• satisfY the obligation other than by. the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 
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incun-ed, the amount of the lo.ss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present·value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate ofr.tum 
for a similar financial asset. 

Derecognition ofFinanci&llnstruments 
Financial assets .. 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset orpart of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecoguized when: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• the Parent Company retains the right to receiVe cash flows from the .asset, but has assumed. an 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" 
arrangement; or 

• the. Par.ent Company has transferred its rights to re.ceive cash flows from the· asset and either 
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of thea sse!. 

When the Parent Company has transferred its.iights to receive cash flows from an asset and has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the .asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Parent Company's continuing 
involvement in the asset. In this case, the Parent Company also recognizes an associated. liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured On a basis that affects the rights and 
obligations tbat the Parent Company has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lOWer .ofthc original carrying amount of the asset and the maxitnum amountof 
consideration that the Parent Company could be required to repay. 

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written andlor purchased option (including a 
«. -_. .. "ei!SlRi~1I4""ffIItI ... '!I'''I;'!$~*",*sj'eR'~''$""tlJ._'''''j!tQf.QII!''1ta@!,F.. 

_ C01;opany's-coiitinuing\nvolvefuenf is !JieiimoiJiifoffliWansIeifed asseflhatlli~l'afeiirCofup8jiy 
may repurcbase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or 
similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Parent Company's 
continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferr.d asset and the 
option exercise price. 

Finane/alliabllities 
A financial liability is derecognized whenthe obligation under the liability Is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is tr.eated as a derecognition of the OJiginalliabilityand the recognition ofa new 
liability, and the difference in the resp.ective carrying amounts is recognized in the parent company 
statement. of comprehensive income. 

, 1 
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.!J:mlerty ijnd Ilguillment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in 
value. . 

The iilitial cost ~fpr.operty and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties, 
taxes, and any dIrectly attributable costs of bringing the asset to ils working condition and location 
for .its intended .. use., 

Expenditures, such as repairs and maintenance, incurred after the property and equipment have· 
been put into operations are normally charged to the parent company statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which the costs are incun·ed. In situations where il can be clearl,y 
demonstrated that the expenditures have resulled in an increase in the future economic benefits 
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally 
assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitaliz.ed as additional cost of property 
and equipment. 

When assets are sold or retired, their cost, accumulated depreciation and. any impairrnenUn value 
are eliminated from the accounts, . 

Any gain or loss resulting from the disposal is included in the parent company siatement of 
comprehensive income. 

DepreoialiCin c.ommences when an asset is in its location and condition and capable of 
being operated in the manner intended by management, The initial cost is deprecialed using the 

straight-line method, based on the estimated useful life oHive (5)ye/ll's. 

The estimated usefulHfe and deprepiation method /ll'e reviewed periodically to ens.ure that the 
period and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits 
from items of property and equipment Such a review takes into c·onsideration the nature of the 
assets, their intended use and evaluation of the technology . 

. . ~~=-Itiye~iID~nt" In SUiiS;djari~": ....• '.'''.-. :-.~-=::::' .... -..-:~.:~=::.:~:: ~::',,:: :: :. '::-'-::: .. ~ .. -..--, 
.. Subsidiaries.are entitieS over which the Par.ent Company has the power, exposure, ot riglits to 

variable returns from its involvement with its subsidiaries and the ability to use its power over the 
investees to affect the amount ofretutns to the Parent Company. Investments in subsidiaries are 
carried at cost less accwnulated impairment in value, if any. 

Impainnent 9flnvestments in Subsidiaries· 
The Parent Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication 
that investments in subsidiaries may be impaired. If any such indication. exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their 
recoverable amounts. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating 
uoWs (CGU's) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, and is determined for an individual 
item, unless such item does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent ofthos. from 
other assets or group of assets or CGUs, Wl1en the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, such item is considered impaired and, is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
ass,essing value "in usc, the estimated future cash 'flows to be generated by $.llch item are dis.;.ounted 
to their present value using a pre~tax <iiscount rale that reflects the current market assessment of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the .. asset or COD. Impairment losses of 
continuing operations are recognized in 'the parent cpmpany statement of comprehensive income 
in, the expense categories comistent with the functi~n of the impair~d as_s~t, 
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An assessment is m.de at least on e.chbalance sheeldateas to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. Ifsuch 
indication exists, the recoverab1e amount is estimated. A previously recqgnized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been. change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prioryears. Such.reversal is recognized in the profit Or loss. After such a reversal,the 
depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset's revised. 
carrying amount on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.. 

Capiml Stock 
Capital stock is measured at par value. for all shares issued. Incremental !Oosts in!Ourred that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as deduction from proceeds, 
net of tax. Proceeds and/or fair value of consideration re!Oeived in excess of par value, ifany, are 
recognized as additional paid-in. capital. 

Retained Earninll;ll 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic.net:income or loss, dividend 
distributions, prior period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policies and other capital 
adjustments. Dividends for the year that are approved after the balance. sheet date are dealt with as 
an event after the balance sheet date. Ullappropriated retained earnings represent that portion 
which can be declared as dividends to stockb.olders. Appropriated retainedeomings represent that 
portion which has been restricted. for a specific purpose and, therefore, not available for dividend 
declaration. 

The Parent Company may pay dividends in cash or \>Y ihe issuance oLshares of stock. Cash and 
property dividends are subject to the approval of the BOD, whiles.tock dividends are subject to 
approval by the BOD, at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock ofthe shar¢holders at a 
shareholders' meelingcalled for such purpose, and by the Philippine SEC. Cash and property 

-=",: .• ~ __ ~ __ ~ .. ~= .. ~.~~'i~li~gil~!a!~.Ill~!L~P~J.'.~I,~a:~.~~:m~£~<II~_.'~IIl~t~~!~.!!"~ __ !,,~._~~13~fi~.~~~,~~~~.~_.~l\f~Jl:~J~ •• ~g~~~L~~~~4~,.~_!.~Ji~.~~i~!!~~:~':RQ~ __ !~~Q~ .... ~2.t~~~~.!f.f~9ffi~.~'~~'~itW~):r== n._. __ . - - wI'en decls, ed:- -Stock dividends- aretreorted-as,·transfers-from·retRinedearmngs--tQI'8kI-i,n'capital. 

Revenue Recogpition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is prob~ble that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Parent Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless nfwhen the payment is 
being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, 
taking into account contractualIy defined terms of payment and excluding discounts, rebates, sales 
taxes or duty. The Parent Company ass.e.ssesits revenue arrangements against specific criteria in 
order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Parent. Company has concluded that it 
is acting as prinCipal in all of its revenuearrl\ligements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before-revenuds recognized: 

Dividend income 
Dividend .income is recognized when the parent Company's rightto receive payment is 
establish ed. 

Interest income 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the EIR method. 
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Co.sts and Expenses· 
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accol!nting'pedod in the form of outflows 
or decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those 
relating to. distributiens to equity participants.· Cests and expenses are recegnized when .incurred. 

Leases 
The determinatipn ef whether all arrangement is, er centains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangements is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the. arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if ene of the 
following applies; 

a. there is a chan.ge 1n contractual terms, other than a renewa:l or extension of the arrangement; or 
b. • renewal option is exercised and extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or 

extension was initially include.d in the lease term; or 
c. there is a change in the determinatien efwhether fulfillment'is dependent on • specified.sset; 

Qr 

d. there is a sl!bstantial change to.' the .sset: 

When a reassessment is made, leas .• accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 
change in circumstances give rise to. the reassessment fer scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario. (b), 

Parent Company as a le~$ee 
Le.ases where the lesser retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership ef the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recegnized as expense in the parent 
company statement of cemprehensive income. on a straight-line basis ever tbe lease term. 

. -_. -'~ded'atthefunctiomrt currency-spet n\temJing-atthe-date--ofthe-transaction .. -9t1tstanding­
-iii'onetary assets and' liabilities denominated in foreign currencies ar¢ retranslated at the functional 
currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

All differences are taken to the parent comp.~)' st~t.ement of comprehensive: 'income. 
Nonmonetary it~ms that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as ofthe dales of the initial transactions. 

Income Taxes 
Current income lax. 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at-the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as ofthe 
balance sheet date. 

De/erredfncome rep; 
Deferred income tax is provided using the balilnce sheet liability method on all temporary 
differences at the balance sheet date between. the tax bases of assets and liabilities Ill1d their 
carryins. amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

II~Nalllllllllll~~mMlww~mi 
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Philippines 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation 
116 East Main Avenue 
Phase V-SEZ 
Laguna Technopark 
Binan, Laguna 

Opinion 

Tel: (6,12) 891 0:307 
Fax: (532) 8-19 0872 
eycom/ph 

DONPHC Reg. No 0001, 
December 14, 2015, valid ~\n\iI December 31. 2013 

SEC Accreditation No. OD12-FR-4 (Group A). 
November 10,2015. valid until November 9, 20113 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements ofCirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2016 and 
2015, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each ofthc three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2016, and notes to the consolidated.financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2016 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilitiesfor the Audit 
0/ the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These.matters were ad·dressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor 's Responsibilitiesfor the Audit o/the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. 
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 

IIIIIIIIIII~ 1111111111 ~IIIII~ 111111111111111 ~~ IIIIIII~ 1111 



• 

• 

SGV 
Building a bettel" 
working world 

- 2 -

procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter b~low, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Presentation and Valuation of Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 

Land, building and related improvements valued at $11.41 million as of December 31, 2016 have been 
classified as held for sale since 2014, as disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Assessing whether noncurrent assets may continue to be classified as held for sale even if such assets 
were not sold during the initial one-year period involves managemenCsjudgment and requires 
management to provide evidence that they are committed to selling the assets . 

NonculTent assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Estimating fair value requires the assistance of an external appraiser whose calculations involve certain 
assumptions, such as sales price and adjustments to sales price based on inte111al and external factors. 
Determining fair value and related costs to sell requires management to make judgments regarding the 
appropriate valuation methodology and involves estimation based on avaihible inputs. 

Audit response 

We inquired from management the circumstances that caused the delay of the sale of the assets, as well as 
actions taken by management to respond to these circumstances. We also obtained relevant information 
from management's property consultants that supports management's commitment to its plan to sell these 
assets. For the assessment of the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, we tested the 
calculation performed by management. For the fair value, we involved our internal specialist in the review 
of the methodology and assumptions used by an external appraiser in determining the fair value. We 
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the extenlal appraiser. We compared the 
assumptions used, specifically the sales price of comparable properties, against relevant external 
information. We inquired from the external appraiser the basis of adjustments made to the sales price. For 
the related costs to sell, such as marketing expenses, brokerage fees and relevant taxes, we evaluated the 
basis of the estimated costs. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in lhe SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report 
for the year ended December 31,2016, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor's report thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and 
Annual Report for the year ended December 31,2016 are expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cov~r the other information and we will not 
express any fOlm of assurance conclusion thereon. 

[n connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
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Responsibilities of.Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's 
ability to contillue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going COnCelTl and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Tqose charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Conso~idated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable aSSurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or errOr and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Idcm tify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting fi·om fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgelY, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
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the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding. among other .matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on OLlr independence, and where applicable. related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of tile consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matler or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest bene-ftts of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Kristopher S. 
Catalan. 

GORRES VELAYO & CO. 

,~:*,J}; 
CPA Certificate No. 109712 
SEC Accreditation No. 1509-A (Group A), 

October 1,2015, valid until September 30, 2018 
Tax Identification No. 233-299-245 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-109-20 IS 

March 4, 2015, valid until March 3, 2018 
I'TR No. 5908679, January 3, 2017, Makati City 

April 12,2017 

--n-----------~----·--
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 
Trade and other receivables (Note 6) 
Inventories (Note 7) 
Amounts owed by related parties (Note 17) 
Held-to-maturity (HTM) investments (Note 10) 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (Note 8) 
Other current assets (Note 9) 

Noncurrent assets held for sale (Note 11) 
Total Current Assets 

Noncurrent Assets 
Property, plant and equipment (Note t 1) 
A vailable-for-sale (AFS) fmaneial asset (Note 12) 
HTM investments (Note 10) 
Deferred income tax assets - net (Note 23) 
Other noncurrent assets (Note 13) . 
Total Noncurrent Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIAB1LITIES AND EQUITY 
Cuneot Liabilities 
Trade and other payables (Note 14) 
Short-term loans (Note 15) 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 16) 
Amounts owed to related parties (Note 17) 
Income tax payable (Note 23) 
Total Current Liabilities 

Noncurrent Liabilities 
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Note 16) 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 21) 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net (Note 23) 
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 
Total Liabilities 

Equity 
Common stock (Note 28) 
Preferred stock (Note 28) 
Additional paid-in capital 
Equity reserve 
Other comprehensive income 
Retained earnings (Note 28) 

Parent Company shares held by a subsidiary (Note 2&) 
Total Equity 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

December 31 
2016 2015 

$24,511,493 
23,172,423 
15,281,893 
12,436,575 

371,520 
503 

2,618,370 
78,392,777 
11,408,611 
89,801,388 

28,675,910 
1,667,000 

174,578 
2,170,859 

32,688,347 

$122,489,735 

$19,135,593 
31,625,945 

6,882,126 
520,152 
327,656 

58,491,472 

36,977,845 
1,807,847 

3,373 
38,789,065 
97,280,537 

9,594,321 
221,239 

35,896,893 
4,138,375 

40,329 
24,884,576 
74,775,733 

(49,566,535) 
25,209,198 

$122,489,735 

$29,776,866 
13,749,783 

5,737,068 
10,606,752 

521,215 
19,447,248 
2,534,181 

82,373,113 
11,408,611 
93,781,724 

23,841,532 
1,667,000 

368,574 
135,555 
893,853 

26,906,514 

$120,688,238 

$\3,385,642 
10,835,088 
5,303,642 

495,686 
123,794 

30,143,852 

17,912,779 
1,357,811 

19,270,590 
49,414,442 

9,594,321 
221,239 

35,896,893 
4,138,375 

526,420 
20,896,548 
71,273,796 

71,273,796 

$120,688,238 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Years Ended Decem her 31 
2016 2015 2014 

NET SALES $74,322,312 $59,548,534 $51,792,081 

COST OF SALES (Note 18) (61,566,107) (49,981,847) (44,251,335) 

GROSS PROFIT 12,756,205 9,566,687 7,540,746 

OPERATING EXPENSES (Note 19) (4,353,603) (3,820,676) (3,328,456) 

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Interest income (Notes 5, 8 and 10) 380,095 385,973 42,563 
Interest exeense (Notes 15 and 16) (1,375,227) (1,327,413) (565,460) 

(995,132) (941,440) (522,897) 

OTHER INCOME - Net (Note 22) 747,890 831,945 2,361,516 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 8,155,360 5,636,516 6,050,909 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) 
INCOME TAX (Note 23) 

CUrrent 559,457 475,638 202,0\ 1 
Deferred (12,125) 39,998 4,814 

547,332 515,636 206,825 

NETINCOM.E 7,608,028 5,120,880 5,844,084 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassIfied 

to profit or loss in subsequent periOds: 
Remeasurement gains (losses) on retirement 

benefit, net of deferred tax (Note 21) (486,091) 208,841 383,993 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $7,121,937 $5,329,721 $6,228,077 
= 
HasiclDUuted Earnings Per Share (Note 24) $0.018 $0.013 $0.017 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMEl\'TS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 

Common Stock 
Undistributed Preferred 

Issued Stock Dividends Stock 
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 S6,559,066 S- S-
Net income for the year, as previously 

reported 
Restatement due to fmatization of purchase 

Erice allocation lliote 4) 
Net income for the year, as restated 
Other coffii!!ehe:nsive income 
Total comErehensive income 
Cash dividends declared and paid at $0.00428 

per share 
Declaration of stock dividends 644,803 689,265 
Cash dividends declared at $0.00214 per 

,hare 
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2014 7,203,869 689,265 
Net income for the year 
Other comErehensive income 
Total comErehensive income 
Issuance of additional capital stock: 

Common stock (Note 28) 1,701,181 
Preferred stock (Note 28) 221,239 

Stock issue costs (Note 28) 
Issuance of stock dividends (Note 28) 689,265 (689,265) 
Cash dividends declared at $0.003893 per 

common stock (Note 28) 
Cash dividends declared at $0.002628 and 

$0.000022 per common and preferred 
stock, respectively (Note 28) 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 S9,594~21 S- 5221,239 

(Forward) 

Additional 
Paid·in Equity 
Ca~ital Reserve 

S4,733,511 14,138,375 

4,733,511 4,138,375 

32,322,545 

(1,159,163) 

535,896,893 54,138,315 

\" I 

Otber Parent Campao)' 
Comprehensive Retained Shares Held by a 

Income !!::oss) Earnings SubsidiarY Total 
(S66,414) $15,165,652 S- _~O,530,190 

6,541,692 6,541,692 

(691,608) (691,608) 
5,844,084 5,844,084 

38J,993 m,993 
383,993 5,844,084 6,228,077 

(1,200,000) (1,200,000) 
(1,334,Q68) 

(600,000) (600,000) 
317,579 17,875,668 34,958,267 

5,120,880 5,120,8EO 
208,841 208,841 
208,841 5,120,880 5,329,121 

34,023,132 
221,239 

(1,159,163) 

(1,200,000) (1,200,000) 

(900,000) (900,000) 
5526,420 $10,896,548 S- 571,273,796 
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Common Stock Additional Other Parent Company 
Undistributed Preferred Paid-in Equity Comprehensive Retained Sbares Held by a 

Issued Stock Dividends Stock Capital Reserve Income (Loss) Earnings Subsidiary 
Net income for the year $ $- $- $-'-s:--- $- 51,608,028 S-
Other comprehensive income (486,091) 
Total coml!~h~ive income (486,091) 
Cash dividends declared at SO.0050 and 

$0.000021 per common and preferred 
stock, respectively (Note 2B) 

Cash dividends declared at $0.00362 and 
SO.OOO{)Ol per common and preferred 
stock., respectively (Note 28) 

Acquisition by subsidiary of the 

1,608,028 

(2,100,000) 

(1,520,000) 

r 

Total 
51,608,028 

(486,091) 
1,121,931 

(2,100,000) 

(1,520,000) 

Parent Company's shares (Note 28) (49,566,535) (49,566,535) 
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 59,594,321 $- $221,239 S35~96,893 54,138,315 $40,329 524,884,516 (549,566,535) 125,209,198 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial S/a1eme.nts, 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Years Ended December 31 
2016 2015 2014 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before income tax $8,155,360 $5,636,516 $6,050,909 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortization (Note 11) 2,711,632 ·2,190,004 2,900,520 
Interest expense (Notes 15 and 16) 1,375,227 1,327,413 565,460 
Interest income (Notes 5, 8 and 10) (380,095) (385,973) (42,563) 
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVPL 

(Notes 8 and 22) (293,349) 184,985 
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVPL (Note 22) (262,332) 
Movement in net retirement benefit obligation 

(Note 21) 34,812 6,561 179,765 
Excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 

aggregate consideration transferred (Note 4) (2,041,059) 
Net unrealized foreiBill exchange gains (19,282) (78,835) (28,054) 

Operating income before working capital changes 11,615,322 8,402,337 7,769,963 
Decrease (increase) in: 

Inventories (9,544,825) 5,031,613 3,414,890 
Trade and other receivables (9,508,529) 1,080,734 (7,312,607) 
Other current assets (79,881) (663,070) 107,565 

Increase {decrease} in trade and other Ea~ables 5,823~431 3,631,226 (138,433) 
Cash generated from (used in) operations (1,694,482) 17,482,840 3,841,378 
Interest received 465,984 228,187 31,704 
Income taxes Eaid (353,536) (715,139) (22,004) 
Net cash from {used in} o~eratin& activities (1,582,034} 16,995,888 3,851,078 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisitions of: 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) (7,546,010) (9,016,368) (1,860,794) 
Financial assets at FVPL (18,494,471) 7,353,292 
AFS financial asset (1,667,000) 

Proceeds from disposal of fmandal assets at FVPL 19,709,049 
Redemption ofHTM investments 518,269 209,453 
Decrease in other noncurrent assets (1,291,781) 68,651 39,231 
Net payment for the acquisition of REMEC entities 

(Note 4) (7,173,926) 
Net cash from {used in! investin~ activities $11,389,527 ($28,899,735) ($1,642,197) 

(Forward) 
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from availment of: 

Short-term loans (Note 15) 
Long-term debt (Note 16) 

Proceeds from issuance of: 
Common stock 
Preferred stock 

Payments of: 
Cash dividends 
Interest 
Long-term debts 
Short-term loans 
Debt issuance costs (Note 16) 
Stock issue costs 

Acquisition by subsidiary of the Parent Company's shares 
(Note 28) 

Net movement in amOWlts owed by and owed to 
related 2arties 

Net cash from (used in) financing activities 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 
ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
END OF YEAR (Note 5) 

See accompanying Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Stateme"ts. 

1 

I 

Years Ended December 31 
2016 2015 2014 

$22,080,857 $11,135,088 $3,300,000 
30,000,000 10,000,000 

34,023,732 
221,239 

(3,620,000) (2,100,000) (1,800,000) 
(1,271,687) (1,499,983) (415,198) 
(9,121,198) (3,761,921) (3,495,131) 
(1,290,000) (2,400,000) (1,100,000) 

(321,605) 
(1,141,435) 

(49,566,535) 

~1,805,357) (5,458,135) (3,169,115) 
(14,915,525) 29,018,585 3,320,556 

(157,341) 59,806 49,138 

(5,265,373) 17,174,544 5,578,575 

29,776,866 12,602,322 7,023,747 

$24,511,493 $29,776,866 $12,602,322 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I. Corporate Illfonnation 

Cirtek Holdings Philippines Corporation (CHPC or the "Parent Company") was incorporated 
under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines on February 10,2011 to invest in, purchase or 
acquire personal property of every kind, including shares of stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, 
evidences of indebtedness, and other securities. 

The Parent Company was listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange on November 18, 2011. 

Prior to the listing, the Parent Company had undergone a corporate reorganization on 
March 1, 2011 which includes an acquisition from Cirtek Holdings, Inc. (Cm) of 155,511,952 
common shares of Cirtek Electronics Corporation (CEC), and 50,000 shares of Cirtek Electronics 
International Corporation (CEIe), representing 1000/0 of the outstanding capital stock of both 
companies. The above transaction was treated as a business combination of entities under 
common control and was accounted for similar to pooling-of-interests method. 

Camerton Inc. (Carnerton) is the immediate parent of CHPC, while Carmetheus Holdings, Inc. IS 

the ultimate parent company ofCHPC and its subsidiaries (the Group). 

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of semiconductor packages as an 
independent subcontractor for outsourced semiconductor assembly, test and packaging services. 
CEC manufactures standard integrated circuits, discrete, hybrid and potential new packages and 
provides complete turnkey solutions that include wafer probing, wafer back grinding, assembly 
and packaging and final testing of semiconductor devices with majority of its client base located in 
United States of America (USA). CEIC sells integrated circuits principally in the USA and 
assigns the production of the same to CEC. The Parent Company's registered address is 116 East 
Main Avenue, Phase V-SEZ, Laguna Technopark, Bifian, Laguna. 

Business Acquisition 
On July 30,2014, CEIC entered into a sale and purchase agreement with REMEC Broadhand 
Wireless Holdings (REMEC), for the purchase of 100% shares ofREMEC's manufacturing 
division, REMEC Broadband Wireless International, Inc. (RBWI), a Philippine-based 
manufacturer of value-added, highly integrated technology products. Based on the terms of the 
sale, REMEC and its remaining subsidiaries will continue to design and market its top-of-class 
telecommunications products globally under its "REMEC" brand, and, REMEC will enter into a 
manufacturing agreement with RBWI to manufacture RETvlEC's products under a long-term 
contract manufacturing relationship. CEIC acquired RBWI for a consideration of $7.5 million. 
CHPC funded the acquisition through a combination of available cash on hand and proceeds from 
a corporate notes issuance. 

The closing date of the transaction is effective July 30, 2014 (see Note 4). 

RBWI is primarily engaged in the manufacture. fabrication and design of microwave components 
and subsystelns primarily for export. RBWI was renamed to Cirtek Advanced Technologies and 
Solutions, Inc. (CATS) on November 21,2014 at the British Virgin Islands and on 
February 18,2015 at the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 
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Authorization and issuance of consolidated financial statements 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for 
each of the three years ended December 31,2016 were approved and authorized for issuance by 
the Board of Directors (BOD) 011 April 12,2017. 

Basis of Presentation, Statement of Compliance, Basis of COIlsolidation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared on a historical cost basis except 
for financial assets at FVPL which are carried at fair value. The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in United States (US) dollars ($), which is the Parent Company's functional and 
presentation currency. All amounts are rounded affto the nearest US dollar except when 
otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the. Group have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC). PFRS includes statements named PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards 
(PAS) and Philippine Interpretations based on International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations issued by the Philippine Interpretations Committee. 

Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated tmancial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company 
and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Notes I and 4): 

Percentage of Ownership 

CEC 
CEIC 
CATS (formerly known as 

country of 
Incorporation 
Philippines 
British Virgin Islands (BVI) 

RBWI) BV! 
CATS - Philippine Branch Philippines 
Remec Broadband Wireless 

Real Propelty (RBWRP) Philippines 

2016 2015 
Direct Indirect Direct 

100 100 
100 100 

]00 
100 

100 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

Indirect 

100 
100 

100 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns fram its involvement with the investee; and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 
• The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Group fe-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of controL Consolidation of a 
subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date 
the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the 
equity holders of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the stand-alone financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; 
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests~ 
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received; 
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained; 
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and 
• Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss 01" 

retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required ifthe Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. 

Common control business combinations 
Where there are group reorganizations and business combinations in which all the combining 
entities within the Group are ultimately controlled by the same ultimate parent (Le., controlling 
shareholders) before and after the business combination and the control is not transitory (business 
combinations under common control), the Group accounts for such group reorganizations and 
business combinations similar to a pooling-of-interests method. The assets and liabilities of the 
acquired entities and that of the Company are reflected at their carrying values at the stand-alone 
financial statements of the investee companies. The difference in the amount recognized and the 
fair value of the consideration given is accounted for as an equity transaction, i.e., as either a 
contribution or distribution of equity. Further, when a subsidiary is disposed in a common control 
transaction without loss of control, the difference in the amount recognized and the fair value of 
consideration received is also accounted for as an equity transaction. 

The Group records the difference as equity reserve and is presented as a separate component of 
equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Comparatives shall be restated to include balances and 
transactions as if the entities have been acquired at the beginning of the earliest period presented in 
the consolidated financial statements, regardless of the actual date of the combination. 
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.Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except 
that the Group has adopted the following neW accounting pronouncements starting 
January 1, 2016. These pronouncements are either not applicable to the Group or their adoption 
did not have a significant impact on the Group's financial position or performance. 

• Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, PFRS 12, Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, 
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 

These amendments clarify that the exemption in PFRS 10 from presenting consolidated 
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity that 
measures an of its subsidiaries at fair value. They also clarify that only a subsidiary of an 
investment entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to 
the investment entity parent is consolidated. The amendments also allow an investor (that is 
not aJ? investment entity and has an investment entity associate or joint venture) to retain the 
fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to its 
interests in subsidiaries when applying the equity method. 

• Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, Accountingfor AcquiSitions of Interests in 
Joint Operations 

The amendments to PFRS 11 require a joint operator that is accounting for the acquisition of 
an interest in a joint operation, in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a 
business (as defined by PFRS 3, Business Combinations), to apply the relevant PFRS 3 
principles for business combinations accounting. The amendments also clarify that a 
previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an 
additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a 
scope exclusion has been added to PFRS 11 to specify that thc amendments do not apply when 
the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common control of 
the same ultimate controlling party. 

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest in ajoint operation and the 
acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation. 

• PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

PFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate­
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral 
account balances upon its first-time adoption ofPFRS. Entities that adopt PFRS 14 must 
present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items on the statement of financial 
position and present movements in these account balances as separate line items in the 
statement of income and other comprehensive income. The standard requires disclosures on 
the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity's rate-regulation and the effects of that rate­
regulation on its consolidated financial statements. 
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• Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation oj Financial Statements, Disclosure Initiative 

The amendments are intended to assist entities in applying judgment when meeting the 
presentation and disclosure requirements in PFRSs. They clarify the following: 

That entities shall not reduce the understandability of their financial statements by either 
obscuring material information with immaterial information; or aggregating material items 
that have different natures or functions 
That specific line items in the statement of income and other comprehensive income and 
the statement of financial position may be disaggregated 
That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial 
statements 
That the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and 
classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

• Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 38, Intangible Assets, 
Clarification of Acceptable Method'! of Depreciation and Amortization 

The amendments clarify the principle in PAS 16 and PAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) 
rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a 
revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may 
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets. 

• Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41, Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

The amendments change the accounting requirements for biological assets that meet the 
definition of bearer plants. Under the amendments, biologica~ assets that meet the definition of 
bearer plants will no longer be within the scope afPAS 41. Instead, PAS 16 will apply. After 
initial recognition, bearer plants will be measured under PAS 16 at accumulated cost (before 
maturity) and using either the cost lTIodel or revaluation model (after maturity). The 
amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the scope of 
PAS 41 measured at fair value less costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer 
plants, PAS 20, Accountingfor Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, 
will apply. 

• Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements 

The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. Entities 
already applying PFRS and electing to change to the equity method in its separate financial 
statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. 
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• Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle 

Amendment to PFRS 5, Non-currentAssets Heldfor Sale and Discontinued Operations, 
Changes in Methods of Disposal 

The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that changing from a disposal 
through sale to a disposal through distribution to owners and vice-versa should not be 
considered to be a neW plan of disposal, ralher it is a continuation of the original plan. 
There is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements in PFRS 5. The 
amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal method does not change the date of 
classification. 

Amendment to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, Servicing Contracts 

PFRS 7 requires an entity to provide disclosures for any continuing involvement in a 
transferred asset that is derecognized in its entirety. The amendment clarifies that a 
servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial 
asset. An entity must assess the nature of the fee and arrangement against the guidance fot' 
continuing involvement in PFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. 
The amendment is to be applied such that the assessment of which servicing contracts 
constitute continuing involvement will need to be done retrospectively. However. 
comparative disclosures are not required to be provided for any period beginning before 
the annual period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 

Amendment to PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim 
Financial Statements 

This amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the disclosures on offsetting 
of financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim 
financial report unless they provide a significant update to the information reported in the 
most recent annual report. 

Amendment to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Discount Rate: Regional Market Issue 

This amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that market depth of high quality 
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation is denominated, 
rather than the country where the obligation is located_ When there is no deep market for 
high quality corporate bonds in that currency. government bond rates must be used. 

Amendment to PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, Disclosure of Information 
'Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report' 

The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that the required interim 
disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or incorporated by cross­
reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within 
the greater interim financial report (e.g .• in the management commentary or risk report). 
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Pronouncements issued but not yet effective are listed below. Unless otherwise indicated, the 
Group does not expect that the future adoption of the said pronouncements to have a significant 
impact on its consolidated financial statements. The Group intends to adopt the following 
pronouncements when they become effective. 

Effective beginning on or after January 1. 2017 

• Amendment to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual 
Improvements to P FRSs 2014 - 20 16 Cycle) 

• 

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12, other than those relating 
to summarized financial information, apply to an entity's interest in a subsidiary, ajoint 
venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in ajoint venture or an associate) that is 
classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

The amendments do not have any impact on the Group's financial position and results of 
operation. The Group will include the required disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial 
statements. 

Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, Di!J'closure Initiative 

The amendments to PAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign 
exchange gains or losses). On initial application of the amendments, entities are not required 
to provide comparative information for preceding periods. Early application of the 
amendments is permitted. 

The amendments do not have any impact on the Group's financial position and results of 
operation. The Group will include the required disclosures in its 2017 consolidated financial 
statements. 

• Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes, Recognition afDeferred Tax Assetsfor Unrealized 
Losses 

The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources 
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible 
temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should 
determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may 
include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 

Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application 
of the amendments. the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may 
be recognized in opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as 
appropriate), without allocating the change betvveen opening retained earnings and other 
components of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. Early application of 
the amendments is permitted. 

These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group. 
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

• Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share­
based Payment Transactions 

The amendments to PFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the 
measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-

...... based payment transaction with net sett1ement features for withholding .tax obligations; and 
the accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment 
transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled. 

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but 
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and if other criteria 
are met. Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 

• Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying P FRS 9, Financial Instruments, with 
PFRS4 

The amendments address concerns arising fiOln implementing PFRS 9, the new [mancial 
instruments standard before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard. They 
allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to deal with 
the transitional challenges. The overlay approach gives all entities that issue insurance 
contracts the option to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the 
volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard 
is issued. On the other hand, the defe1Tai approach gives entities whose activities are 
predominantly connected with insurance ~m optional temporary exemption from applying 
PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the forthcoming insurance contracts standard or 
January 1,2021. 

The overlay approach and the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not 
previously applied PFRS 9. 

The amendments are not applicable to the Group since none of the entities within the Group 
have activities that are predominantly connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts. 

• PFRS ·15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

PFRS 15 establishes a new ftve-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or 
services to a customer. The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to 
measuring and recognizing revenue. 

The new revenue standard is applical?le to a11 entities and win supersede all current revenue 
recognition requirements under PFRSs. Either a full or modified retrospective application is 
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of PFRS 15. 
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• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions ofPFRS 9. The 
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and 
hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but 
providing comparative information is not compUlsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements 
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. 

The adoption ofPFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Group's financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no 
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group's fmancialliabilities. The adoption 
will also have an effect on the Group's application of hedge accounting and on the amount of 
its credit losses. The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this standard. 

• Arnendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle) 

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying 
entity, may elect, at initial recognition on an invcstment-by-investment basis, to measure its 
investments in associates andjoint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. They also 
clarify that if an entity that is not itself an investment entity has an interest in an associate or 
joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, 
elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint 
venture to the investment entity associate's or joint venture's interests in subsidiaries. This 
election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of 
the date on which (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognized~ (b) 
the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity 
associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. The amendments should be applied 
retrospectively, with earlier application permitted. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 

• Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Tran:,fers of Investment Property 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under 
construction or development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a 
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment 
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management' 5 

intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The 
amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the 
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 
Retrospective application is only permitted if this is possible without the use of hindsight. 

These amendments are not applicable to the Group. 
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• Philippine Interpretation on !FRlC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use 011 initial 
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a 
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the 
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset or non­
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are mUltiple payments or 
receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment 
or receipt of advance consideration. The interpretation may be app lied on a fully retrospective 
basis. Entities may apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in 
its scope that are initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which 
the entity first applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period presented 
as comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the interpretation. 

The adoption of the interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Effective beginning on or qfter January 1, 2019 

• PFRS 16, Leases 

Under the neW standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or 
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17, Leases. Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset 
model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most 
leases on their balance sheets, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize 
interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss. Leases with a term of 12 months or less or 
for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requireme,nts. 

The accounting by lessors is SUbstantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the 
principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however. will be required to disclose 
more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual 
value. 

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted PFRS 15. When 
adopting PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified 
retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16. 

Deferred effectivity 

• Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of 
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The 
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or 
joint venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any gain or 
loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does oot constitute a business, 
however, is recognized only to the extent ofuorelated investors' interests in the associate or 
j oint venture. 
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On January 13, 2016, the FRSC postponed the original effective date of January 1,2016 of the 
said amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board has completed its 
broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the 
simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for 
associates and joint ventures. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Fair Value Measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset Or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence afa principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

• Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices ill active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group detennines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures. the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the narure, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 
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Cash and Cash Eguivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank 
deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates 
of acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
Initial recognition 
Financial assets within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at FVPL, loans 
and receivables, HTM investments, AFS financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such 
classifications at every reporting date. 

Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at FVPL, 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognized on the 
trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Group's financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
financial assets at FVPL, HTM investments, AFS financial asset, amounts owed by related parties, 
loans to employees (reported as part of "Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent assets' in the 
consolidated balance sheet) and deposits (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other 
noncurrent assets' in the consolidated balance sheet). 

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial assets at FVP L 
Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition as at FVPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near tenn. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value 
with gains Or losses recognized in profit or loss. 

Deri vatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives when their risks 
and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are 
not held for trading or designated at FVPL. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair 
value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly 
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset 
out of FVPL. 

Financial assets designated as FVPL are designated by management on initial recognition when 
any of the following criteria are met: 

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them 
on a different basis; or 
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The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both 
which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
a documented risk management or investment strategy; or 
The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative. unless the embedded derivative 
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it 
would not be separately recorded. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group designated its investments in Unit Investment 
Trust Fund (UITF) and Rlzal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCBC) Senior Notes as financial 
assets at FVPL. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or detelminable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. This method uses an ErR that exactly 
discounts estimated cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets to the net 
can-ying amount of the financial asset. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 
loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 
Assets in this category are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period, which are classified as noncurrent assets. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has designated as loans and receivables its cash in 
banks and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts owed by related parties, security 
deposit, loans to employees (reported as part of 'Other current assets' and 'Other noncurrent 
assets' in the consolidated balance sheet) and deposits (reported as part of <Other current assets' 
and 'Other noncurrent assets' in the consolidated balance sheet). 

HTM investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed' or determinable payments and fixed maturities are 
classified as HTM when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. 
After initial measurement, HTM investments are measured at amortized cost using the EIR 
method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are integral part of the EIR. Gains and losses are 
recognized in profit or loss when the investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through 
the amortization process. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has HTM investments in Philippine government 
securities. 

AFS financial assets 
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not 
classified in any of the three preceding categories. They are purchased and held indefinitely, and 
may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or change in market conditions. After initial 
measurement, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses 
recognized directly ~n equity until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss recorded in equity is recognized in profit or loss, or determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative loss recorded in equity is recognized in profit or loss. 

As of December 31,2016 and 2015, the Group's AFS financial asset pertains to unquoted equity 
shares of CloudMondo, Ltd. 
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Financial liabilities within the scope of PAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at FVPL, other 
financial liabilities, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, rc-evaluates such designation at every financial 
reporting date. 

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities not 
at FVPL, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, short-tenn loans, long-term debt 
and amounts owed to related parties. 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

Financial liabilities at FVPL 
Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition at FVPL. 

Financial liabilities are classified a~ held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near tenTI. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group 
that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria as defined by PAS 39. 

Gains and losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

The Group does not have a financial liability at FVPL as of December 31, 2016 and 201 5. 

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less 
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any related issue costs, discount or premium. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or 
loss when the liabH ities are derecognized, as well as through the amortization process. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group's other financial liabilities includes trade and other 
payables, short-term loans, amount owed to related parties and long-term debt. 

Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and tinancial1iabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is 
not contingent on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event 
of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties. 

'Day l' difference 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different frmTI the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference 
between the transaction price and fair value (a 'Day l' difference) in profit or loss unless it 
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qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset. In cases where use is made of data which is 
not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in 
the profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For 
each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the 'Day l' 
difference amount. 

Classification of Financial Instruments between Debt and Equity 
A financial instrument is classified as debt if it provides for a contractual obligation to: 

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavorable to the Group; or 
• satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange ofa fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial 
asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability. 
The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are 
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after 
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined a.., the fair value of the 
liability component on the date of issue. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses, at each balance sheet date, whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is itnpaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired it: and only if, there is objective evidence of impairtnent as a 
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an inculTed 
'loss event') and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence 
of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. If such evidence exists, any 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets carried at amortized cost 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not 
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is 
collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impainnent and for 
which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amOltized 
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount 'and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit 
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the fmancial asset's original Ell:t (i.e., the EIR 
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly 
or tlU'ough the use ofan allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in profit 
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or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impainnent 
loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed 
its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

Financial assets carried at cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that 
is linked to and must he settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return 
for a similar financial asset. 

Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized where: 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed all. 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 
'pass-tilTough' arrangement; and 

• either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) 
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
pass through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is rec;ognized to the extent of the 
Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In this case the Group also recognizes an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects' the 
rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over tile transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written andlor purchased option (including a 
cash settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group's 
continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, 
except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar provision) 
on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group's continuing involvement is limited to 
the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expired. 

1111~~1 00 III ~~IH ~III ~ Imll~i lillll~~ ~~ 1111 

n n 



-
-

- 17 -

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the tenns of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective calTying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Costs incurred in 
bringing each inventory to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 

Raw materials, spare parts, 
supplies and others 

Finished goods and work-in­
process inventories 

- purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis (FIFO); 

- cost of direct materials and labor and a proportion of 
manufacturing overhead cost. Costs are determined on a 
standard cost basis. Standard costs take into account 
normal levels of materials and supplies, labor, efficiency 
and capacity utilization. They are regularly reviewed and, 
if necessary, revised in light of current conditions. 

NRV of finished goods and work-in-process inventories is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale, NRV of raw materials, supplies, spare parts and others is the current 
replacement cost. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are stated at cost and costs of day-to-day servicing, 
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the 
cost of replacing part of such property, plant and equipment and borrowing cost when that cost is 
incurred and if the recognition criteria are met. Repairs and maintenance are recognized in profit 
or loss as incurred. Land is carried at cost less any impainnent in value. 

DepreCiation commences when an asset is in its location and condition and capable of being 
operated in the manner intended by management. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment as follows: 

Category 
Machinery and equipment 
Buildings and improvements 
Facility and production tools 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 
Transportation equipment 

Number of Years 
10-15 
5-25 
5-8 
2-5 
5-7 

The property, plant and equipment's residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

When each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the 
property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

Construction in progress represents property under construction and is stated at cost. 1bis 
includes costs of construction and other direct costs. Construction in progress is not depreciated 
until such time that the relevant assets are completed and put into operational use. 
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Fully depreciated assets are retained in the acoounts until these are no longer in use. When assets 
are retired or otherwise disposed of, both the cost and related accumulated depreciation and any 
allowance for impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain Or loss is 
credited or charged to current operations. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
ofthe asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of 
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Noncun-ent Assets Held for Sale 
Property. plant and equipment are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction expected to be completed within one year from the 
date of classification, rather than through continuing use. Property, plant and equipment held for 
sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale or distribution is 
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant 
changes to the sale will be made or that the sale will be withdrawn. Management must be 
committed to the sale expected within one year from the date of the classification, unless the delay 
is caused by events or circumstances beyond the Group's control and there is sufficient evidence 
that the Group remains committed to its plan to sell the assets. 

Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. Fore.ign currency exchange differences are included in 
the determination of borrowing costs to be capitalized, but only to the extent that they are an 
adjustment to the interest cost on the borrowing. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are 
recognized as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for 
use or sale; 

• its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset; 
• how the asset will generate future economic benefits; 
• the availability of resources to complete the asset; and 
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 

Following initial recognition of the developnlent expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impainnent losses. Amortization of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the 
period of expected future benefit, which is estimated to be five (5) to ten (10) years. Amortization 
is recorded in cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment 
annually. 
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Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair 
value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business 
(;ombination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as of the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured 
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial 
instrument and within the scope of PAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized either in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income or as a change to OCI. 
[fthe contingent consideration is not within the scope of PAS 39, it is measured in accordance 
with the appropriate PFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, 
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. lfthe fair value of the net assets 
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it 
has conectly identified all of the assets acquired and all oUhe liabilities assumed and reviews the 
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost les's any accumulated impairment losses. 
for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected 
to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cau and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these 
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion 
of the CGU retained. 

Impairment ofN onfinancial Assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that a nonfinancial asset 
may be impaired. The Group has designated as nonfinancial assets its prepaid expenses, advances 
to suppliers, property, plant and equipment, and other assets. If any such indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for a nonfinancial asset is required, the Group makes an estimate 
of the nonfinancial asset's recoverable amount. A nonfinancial asset's estimated recoverable 
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amount is the higher of a nonfinancial asset's or COU's fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use (VIU) and is detennined for an individual asset, unless the nonfinancial asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other nonfinancial assets or 
groups of nonfinancial assets. Where the carrying amount of a nonfinancial asset exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount, the nonfinancial asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its estimated recoverable amount. In assessing vru, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the nonfinancial asset. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for public'ly traded 
subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

For nonfinancial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist 
or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable 
amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to detennine the nonfinancial asset's recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case the carrying amount of the nonfinancial asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been detennined, net of depreciation. had no impainnent loss been recognized for 
the non-financial asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss. 

Capital Stock 
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Subscriptions receivable are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity. Proceeds and/or fair value of consideration received in 
excess of par value? if any. are recognized as additional paid-in capital CAPlC). 

Retained Earnings 
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit or loss attributable to the Group's equity 
holders and reduced by dividends on capital stock. Retained earnings may also include effect of 
changes in accounting policies as may be required by the standards' transitional provisions. 

The Group may pay dividends in cash or by the issuance of shares of stock. Cash and property 
dividends are subject to the approval of the BOD, While stock dividends are subject to approval by 
the BOD, at least two-thirds ofthe outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at a shareholders' 
meeting called for such purpose, and by the Philippine SEC. Cash and property dividends on 
preferred ~md common stocks are recognized as liability and deducted from equity when declared. 
Stock dividends are treated as transfers from retained earnings to paid-in capital. 

Equity Reserve 
Equity reserve represents the effect of the application of the pooling-of-interests method. 

Parent Company Shares Held by a Subsidiary 
These shares represent the Parent Company's common shares acquired by its subsidiary. No gain 
or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale. issue or cancellation of these equity 
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, jf reissued, is 
charged or credited to APIC. 

Other Comprehensive Income 
Other comprehensive income comprises items of income and expenses that are not recogn ized in 
profit or loss for the year in accordance with PFRS. Other comprehensive income pel'iains to 
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remeasurements of the Group's retirement benefit obligation and changes in fair value of AFS 
financial asset. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding discounts, returns, rebates and other 
sales taxes or duties. The Group assesse~ its revenue an-angement against specific criteria in order 
to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a 
principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods, net of discounts and 
returns. Discounts and returns are not significant to the Group. 

Interest income 
[nterest income is recognized as it accrues using the EIR method. 

Deferred revenues 
Deferred revenues pertain to the unearned income arising from the sale of goods wherein no actual 
shipment or transfer of risks and rewards to customers has occurred yet. No amortization is done 
to recognize the earned revenue since the Group will make subsequent reversals upon shipment of 
the goods to customers. 

Costs and Expenses Recognition 
Costs and expenses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when a 
decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability 
has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

Cost of sales 
Cost of sales is rec<?gnized when the related sale has met the criteria for recognition. 

Operating expenses 
Operating expenses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception date and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangements is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a 
right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after the inception of the lease only if one of the 
following applies: 

a. There is a change in contractual tenns, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. A renewal option is exercised and extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or 

ex.tension was initially included in the lease term; 
c. There is a change in the determination of whether ful tillment is dependent all a specified asset; 

or 
d. There is a substantial change to the asset. 
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When a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when t.he 
change in circumstances give rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or Cd) and at the date of 
renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

The Group as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Retirement Benefits Costs 
The Group is covered by a noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan. The net defined 
benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any effect of 
limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset. ceiling. The asset ceiling is the present value of 
any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future 
contributions to the plan. 

111e cost of providing benefits under the defmed benefit plans is actuarially detetmined using the 
projected lInit credit method. 

Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
• Service cost 
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset 
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset. 

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on 11011-

routine settlements are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. Past servke costs are recognized when plan amendment or.curtailment occurS. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by 
applying the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability 
or asset. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or 
income in profit or loss. 

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in 
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defmed benefit liability) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements 
are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. These are retained in other 
comprehensive income until full settlement of the, obligation. 

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average petiod 
until the benefits become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately following the 
introduction of, or.changes to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately. 

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund. Plan assets are not 
available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to the Group. The fair value 
of plan assets is based on market price information. 

When no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by discounting 
expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the risk associated with the plan 
assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the 
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expected period until the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value ofthe plan assets 
is higher than the present value of the defined benefit·obligation, the measurement of the resulting 
defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

The Group's right to be reimbursed of some or all the expenditure required to settle a defined 
benefit obligation is recognized as a separate asset at fair value and when, and only when. 
reimbursement is virtually certain. 

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions 
The consolidated financial statements arc presented in US dollars, which is the Group's functional 
and presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies arc initially recorded at the 
functional currency spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Outstanding monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Nonmonetary 
items that are measured in tenns of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as of the dates of the initial transactions. 

Income Taxes 
Current tax 
Current tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are Ineasured at the amount expected to be 
paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the financial reporting date. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred-income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences 
at the financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward 
of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (1vfCIT) over regular corporate 
income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference, 
and the carryforward of unused tax credits from excess MelT and unused NOLCO can be utilized. 
except: 

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the tTansaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and 
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• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit wi1l be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets 
are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized directly in equity 
and not in profit or loss. Deferred t~ items are recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if, and only if, a legally 
enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities exist and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to either settle current tax 
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, 
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred income tax assets or liabilities are 
expected to be sett)ed or recovered. Subsidiaries operating in the Philippines file income tax 
returns on an individual basis. Thus, the deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax 
liabilities are offset on a per entity basis. 

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable to common 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, with 
retroactive adjustments for any stock dividends and stock split. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net income and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 

Segment RepOlting 
For management purposes, the Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. 
Sales are reported internally per division, however, profit or loss, assets and liabilities are reported 
on an entity-wide basis. These information are measured using the same accounting policies and 
estimates as the Group's consolidated financial statements (see Note 25). 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain_ The expense relating to any proviSion is presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
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pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage oftime is recognized as an interest expense. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial 
statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is 
remote. Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated 
financial statements when an inflow of economic benefit is probable. 

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's position at the balance 
sheet date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end 
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 
when material. 

3. Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at 
the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could resu1t in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in the future. 

Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 

Determination of functional currency 
The functional currencies of the entities under the Group are the currencies of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates. It is the currency that mainly influences the 
sales prices of goods and cost of goods sold. Based on the econOlnic substance of the underlying 
circumstances, the functional currency of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries is the US dollar. 

Determination qf operating segment 
The Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. Based on management's 
assessment, no part or component of the business of the Group meets the qualifications of an 
operating segment as defined in PFRS 8, Operating Segments. 

Classification afnoncurrent assets heldfor sale 
When CEIC acquired CATS and RBWRP, the manufacturing activities of CATS had been 
transferred to CEC's facility for operational efficiency measures. As a result, the land and 
building improvements owned by CATS and RBWRP became idle; thus, on December 9, 2014, 
the BOD approved the plan to sell and dispose the said aforementioned assets to interested buyers. 
PFRS 5 requires entities to classify a noncurrent asset as held for sale if its carrying amount will 
be recovered mainly through sale rather than through continued use. The Group has made, a 
judglnent that the noncurrent assets are held for sale since management is committed to selling the 
assets and are active in looking for interested buyers. Furthermore, the assets are available for 
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immediate sale in their present condition. As of December 31, 2016, the Parent Company's 
management expects that sale will be completed in 2017. 

Classification of financial instruments 
The Group classifies a financial instrument, or its component, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
,:ontractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its 
dassification in the consolidated balance sheets. The classification of the Company's financial 
instruments is disclosed in Note 26. 

Deferred income tax liability on a subsidiary's undistributed profits 
CEIC has undistributed profits as of December 31,2016 and 2015 that become taxable when 
distributed to the Parent Company. PAS 12 requires the recognition of deferred income tax 
liability on taxable temporary difference associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests 
10 joint ventures, unless the Group has the ability to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporaf'ij difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. The Group has made a judgment that it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future based on management's plan that the Group will not be declaring 
dividends iTom CErC in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Parent Company did not 
recognize deferred income tax liability on CEle's undistributed earnings amounting to $6,786,090 
and $6,262,423 as of December 31,2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Impairment of nonfinancial assets 
The Group assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The factors that the Group considers 
important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

• Significant ullderperfOlmance relative to expected historical or projected future operating 
results; 

• Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall 
business; and 

• Significant negative industry or economic trends. 

An impainnent loss is recognized whenever the carrying mnount of an asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount which is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and VIU. For 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows. 

Based on management's evaluation, no indication of impairment was noted in the Group's 
nonfinancial assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Notes 9, 11 and 13). 

Estimates and Assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fmancial year are discussed below. 

Estimation offair value of identifiable net assets of an acquiree in a business combination 
[11 accounting for business combinations, the purchase consideration is allocated to the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities (identifiable net assets) on the basis affair value at the 
date of acquisition. The determination of fair values requires estimates of economic conditions 
and other factors. The fair values of identifiable net assets are in Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Estimation affair value less cost to sell of noncurrent assets heldfor sale 
The determination of the fair value less cost to sell of noncurrent assets held for sale is made with 
reference to the selling price of the asset in the market and other factors such as the local market 
conditions and the asking price ofthe potential buyers. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 
Group carries its noncurrent assets held for sale at lower of calTying amount and fair value less 
cost to sell amounting to $11,408,611 (see Note 11). 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined using 
valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, fair values are 
validated and periodically reviewed by qualified independent personnel. All models are reviewed 
before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and 
comparative market prices. To the extent practicable, models use only observable data; however, 
areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and cO·lTelations require 
management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported 
fair value of financial instruments. The fair values of the financial instruments of the Group are 
disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Estimating usefollives of property, plant and equipment 
The Group estimates the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment based on the period over 
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The Group reviews annually the estimated 
useful lives of property and equipment based on factors that include asset utilization, internal 
technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of the assets 
tempered by related industry benchmark information. It is possible that future results of operation 
could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in factors 
mentioned. A reduction in the estim.ated useful lives of property and equipment would increase 
depreciation expense and decrease noncurrent assets. 

In 2015, the Group's review indicated that the estimated useful lives of machinery and equipment 
should be extended from 6 to 12 years to 10 to 15 years and facility and production tools from 3 to 
5 years to 5 to 8 years from January 1,2015 based on the Group's reassessment ofthe expected 
period over which the Group will benefit from the use of these assets. There were no changes in 
the useful lives of property, plant and equipment in 2016. 

Estimated impact on future annual depreciation expense is as follows: 

Years Ended December 31 
2015 
2016 to 2020 
2021 to 2025 

Increase (Decrease) 
($1,338,607) 

(2,233,408) 
3,572,015 

Depreciation charged in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to 
$2,711,632, $2,190,004 and $2,900,520 in 2016,2015 and 2014, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group's property, plant and equipment have a net book value of 
$28,675,910 and $23,841,532, respectively (see Note II). 

Estimating allowance for inventory obsolescence 
The Group recognizes allowance for inventmy obsolescence when the inventory items are no 
longer marketable and diminishes in value. Obsolescence is based on the physical and internal 
condition of inventory items. The Group reviews on a monthly basis the condition of its stocks. 
The assessment of the condition of the inventory goods either increase or decrease the expenses or 
total inventory. 
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The estimated allowance for inventory obsolescence amounted $96,884 as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015. The carrying amounts of inventories, net of allowance for inventory obsolescence, 
amounted to $15,281,893 and $5,737,068 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively 
(see Note 7). 

Estimating impairment a/loans and receivables 
The Group maintains allowance for impairment at a level considered adequate to provide for 
potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this impairment allowance is evaluated by 
management on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts. These factors 
include, but are not limited to, the length of the Group's relationship with debtors, their payment 
behavior and known market factors. The Group reviews the age and status of receivable, and 
identifies accounts that are to be provided with allowance on a continuous basis either individually 
or collectively. The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the 
Group made different judgment or utilized different estimates. An increase in the Group's 
allowance for impairment would increase the Group's recorded expenses and decrease current 
assets. 

The Group determines allowance for each significant receivable on an individual basis. Among 
the items that the Group considers in assessing the impairment is the inability to collect from the 
counterparty based on the contractual terms of the receivables. 

For collective assessment, aHowances are assessed for receivables that are not individually 
significant and for individually significant receivables where there is not yet objective evidence of 
individual impainnent. ltnpairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the age of 
the receivables, past collection experience and other factors that may affect collectability. 

As of December 31,2016 and 2015, the Group has not provided any impainnent allowance since 
receivables were assessed to be fully collectible. The calTying amount of loans and receivables, 
which include cash in banks and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts owed by 
related parties, security deposit, loans to employees and deposits amounted to $62,000,208 and 
$55,834,400 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Notes 5, 6, 9 and 13). 

Estimating retirement benefit cost and liability 
The determination of the obligation for retirement benefits is dependent on the selection by 
management of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those 
assumptions are described in Note 21 and include among others, discount rate and salary increase 
rate. Actual results that differ [roIll the Group's assumptions are accumulated and amortized over 
future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense and recorded obligation in 
such future periods. While management believes that the Group's assumptions are reasonable and 
appropriate, significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may 
materially affect the Group's retirement obligation. 

The Group's retirement benefits costs amounted to $216,687, $233,513 and $242,529 in 2016, 
2015 and 2014, respectively. As of Decembo)' 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group's retirement benefit 
obligation amounted to $1,807,847 and $1,357,811, respectively (see Note 21). 

Estimating ur;efullife of software costs and capitalized product development costs 
The estimated useful lives of amortizing software costs and capitalized product development cost 
were detennined on the basis of management's assessment of the period within which the benefits 
of these costs are expected to be realized by the Group. 
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, software with a total cost of $39,278 has been fully 
amortized. The carrying amount of capitalized development costs amounted to $922,220 and 
$569,942 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The amortization of capitalized· 
development cost amounted to $194,888, $96,355 and $72,940 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, 
l-espectively (see Note 13). 

Recoverability of deferred income tax assets 
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each balance sheet date 
and reduces deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that: sufficient 
income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. The 
Group has recognized deferred income tax assets amounting to $223,779 and $274,903 as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 23). 

The Parent COlnpany did not recognize deferred income tax assets on the carryforward benefit of 
NOLCO and unrealized foreign exchange losses amounting to $3,496,061 and $2,784,422 as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Determining provision for warranty 
The Group estimates the total warranty reserve to be recognized on the total internal and extemal 
sales for the period using a predetennined percentage rate. Assumptions made by the Group such 
as percentage used is based on their cumulative and industry experience on approximate inventory 
returns made by the customers. 

The provision for warranty amounted to $1,419,257 and $130,300 as of Decem ber 31, 2016 and 
2015, respectively. 

Legal contingencies 
The estimate of probable costs for the resolution ofpossihle claims has been developed in 
consultation with outside counsels handling the Group's defense in these matters and is based 
upon analysis of potential claims. 

Management. in consultation with these counsels, believes that the likely outcome of these legal 
proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position and operating 
results. However, it is possible that the future results of operations could be materially affected on 
changes in estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies relating to these litigations and claims. 
No provision for probable losses arising from legal contingencies was recognized in 2016 and 2015. 

4. Business Combination 

As discu$sed in Note 1, the Company acquired the ordinary shares ofRBWHl's manufacturing 
division, CATS (formerly known as RBWI) on July 23, 2014. The authorized capital stock of 
CATS consists of 50,000 shares with a par value ofUS$1.00 per share, of which 5,000 shares are 
issued and outstanding. CEIe bought all ofihe 5,000 ordinary shares issued representing 100% 
ownerShip in the acquired entity. 

The acquisition of CATS allows the Group to expand its manufacturing capacity and capability 
into the high-growth wireless segment via a proven player with a strong customer base. 

The amount of consideration transferred for the acquisition was $7,465,105. 

IIIII~ I~ III ~Iml Milli 11M ~m Mil IIII~ 00 1111 

rr·····-------T·------- " I' 

I 

I 



-
-. 

-
-

- 30 -

As of July 30, 2015, the Group valuation was completed and the acquisition date fair value of the 
HTM investments, long-term debt~ retirement benefit obligation and the related deferred income 
tax assets amounted to $1,156,722, $10,933,214, $691,855, and $113,593, respectively, a net 
decrease of $532,778 over the provisional fair value of net assets. The 2014 comparative 
information was restated to reflect the adjustment to the provisional runounts of assets and 
liabilities. Correspondingly, the amortization ofH1M investment and long-term debt from 
August to December 2014 have been adjusted by $164,994. As a result, there was a 
corresponding reduction in the retained earnings amounting to $697,608 as of December 31,2014. 
Excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred 
amounted $2,041,059 and is presented under l'Other income - net" account in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income (see Note 22). 

From the date of acquisition, CATS contributed $11,729,914 ofrevenue and $1,349,426 to profit 
before tax from continuing operations of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2014. Tfthe 
combination had taken place at the beginning 0[2014, the Group's revenue from continuing 
operations would have been $67,890,213 and the profit before tax from continuing operations 
would have been $9,715,181. 

The table below shows the analysis of cash flow on acquisition: 

Cash consideration transferred 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 
Net cash flow on acquisition 

$7,465,105 
(291,179) 

$7,173,926 

Transaction costs of$30,253 were expensed and are included in adluinistrative expenses. 

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash on hand and in banks 
Cash equivalents 

2016 
$24,511,493 

$24,511,493 

2015 
$14,792,686 

14,984,180 
$29,776,866 

Cash in banks earns interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are made for 
varying periods of between one (1) day and three (3) months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

Interest income eanled from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to $172,196, $19,469 
and $23,524 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

6. Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade 
Others 

2016 
$22,688,485 

483,938 
$23,172,423 

2015 
$13,615,734 

134,049 
$13,749,783 

Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 30-120 days' terms. 
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Others include accrued interest receivable from short-term deposits and nontrade receivable from 
suppliers which are expected to be collected within one year. 

Inventories 

At cost: 
Raw materials 
Work-in-process 
Finished goods 
Spare parts and others 

AtNRV: 
Supplies and others 

Total inventories at lower of cost and NRV 

2016 2015 

$13,692,165 $4,197,113 
408,986 519,595 
178,958 105,852 
643,244 556,485 

14,923,353 5,379,045 

358,540 358,023 
$15,281,893 $5,737,068 

Certain inventories have been provided with allowance to reflect valuation for nOo-movement and 
obsolescence. 

The allowance for inventory obsolescence of supplies and other inventories as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015 amounted to $96,884. 

The cost of inventories recognized as cost ofsales amounted to $42,377,215, $30,689,257 and 
$28,352,936 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 18). 

8. Financial Assets at FVPL 

The reconciliation of the calTying amounts of financial assets at FVPL as of December 31 follows: 

Beginning balance 
Disposals 
Gain on disposal (Note 22) 
Acquisition 
Fair value gains (Note 22) 
Foreign currency translation 
Ending balance 

UlTF 

= 

2016 
$19,447,248 
(19,709,049) 

262,332 

(28) 
$503 

2015 
$701,747 

18,494,471 
293,349 
(42,319) 

$19,447,248 

On November 23, 2015, the Group acquired additional $9,994,471 investment in UITF from 
Security Bank Corporation (SBC). The fair values for the investment in UITF are determined 
through the Net Asset Valuation of each investee as of 2016 and 2015. 

In 2015 and 2014, the Group recognized fair value gains amounting to $25,769 and $184,985, 
respectively, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The balance of investment 
in UITF amounted to $10,679,668 as of December 31, 2015. 
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In 2016, the investment in UITF was sold for $1 0,847,799. Gain on disposal recognized in 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income amounted to $168,662 in 2016. 

Investment in RCBC Senior Note 
On January 21, 2015, the Parent Company acquired $8.5 million of the USD Senior Unsecured 
Fixed Rate Notes offered by the RCBC via a clrawdown off its $1 billion Medium Tenn Note 
Programme maturing on January 22, 2020. The senior note earnS 4.25 % fixed rate per annum, 
payable semi-annually commencing July 21, 2015. The senior note is listed and actively traded in 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX). The senior note is designated as financial 
asset at FYPL as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. The fair values for the investment in RCBC 
Senior Notes have been determined directly by reference to published prices quoted in an active 
market. 

[n 2015, the Group recognized fair value gains amounting to $267,580 in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The balance of the investment in RCBC Senior Notes 
amounted to $8,767,580 as of December 31,2015. 

On July 18, 2016, the investment in RCBC Senior Notes was sold for $8,861,250. Gain on 
disposal recognized in consolidated statement of cOlnprehensive income amounted to $93,670 in 
2016. 

Interest income recognized on these notes amounted to $199,537 and $339,174 in 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. 

9. Other Current Assets 

Renta[ deposit (Note 17) 
Advances to suppliers 
Loans to employees 
Security deposit 
Prepaid expenses 
Others 

2016 
$1,131,399 

953,821 
239,823 
180,387 

80,488 
32,452 

$2,618,370 

2015 
$1,131,399 

773,277 
252,871 
180,387 
102,079 

94,168 
$2,534,181 

Advances to suppliers pertain mainly to down payments for production materials and services that 
are still to be delivered. 

10. HTM Investments 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the details ofHTM investments are as follows (see Note 4): 

Current portion 
Noncurrent portion 

2016 
$371,520 

$371,520 

2015 
$521,215 

368,574 
$889,789 
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In compliance with the Corporation Code of the Philippines, foreign corporations doing business 
in the Philippines are required to deposit with the Philippine SEC securities worth at least $2,300 
(P I 00, 000) and additional securities with market values equivalent to a certain percentage of the 
amount by which CATS - Philippine Branch's gross income exceeds $0.10 million (1'5.0 million). 

The Philippine SEC shall also require a deposit of additional securities if the actual market values 
of the securities in deposit decreases by at least 100/0 of their actual market values at the time they 
were deposited. 

The Group's HTM investments pertain to government bonds which were purchased by the 
Philippine Branch of eATS in compliance with above regulation. The bonds have maturity dates 
which range from 2015-2017 and bear an average effective interest rate of 1.97% to 4.630/0 per 
annum. 

In May 2015, one orthe HTM bonds with a face value of $111,632 (1'5.0 million) matured and as 
a result, CATS received cash amounting to $115,478. 

[nterest income ill 2016, 2015 and 2014 amounting to $8,362, $27,330, and $34,717, respectively, 
arc presented as part of "Interest income" account in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. 

11. Property, Plant and Equipment and Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 

Property, plant and equipment 

December 31, 2016 

Machinery Facility and Furniture, .n. Buihlings IIntl Pruductiun Fixtures 1111(1 Trall$purtation Constructiun 
Egui(!ment Im~rOyemenls Tuols Eguipment Eguiement in erogress Totlll 

Cost: 
Beginning balances $41,492,558 S8,091,561 $6,717,316 SI,107,269 $171,177 $3,830,811 561,420,692 
Additions 3,156,285 107,859 955,606 135,473 3,090,787 7,546,010 
Di5posIIl and other 

IIdjustments 
Reclassification 614121476 5091122 (61921

j
598} 

Ending balances 511161 1319 8,199,420 8,192,044 1,241,742 171,177 681966,701 
Accumulated deprcdatiun: 
Beginning balances 17,840,187 4,399,021 4,341,616 923,784 74,542 37,579,160 
Depreciation (Notes 18 

and 19) 1,6041772 43°1488 500,649 1501741 14,982 217111632 
Elldins: balances 292444:959 41829:509 4:842]275 11°741515 991524 401290! 792 
Net book Yalues S21,716

1
360 531369,911 S3,3~9,769 S1681217 $71,653 S- $18,6751910 
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December 31,2015 

Machinery Facility and Furniture, 
~.d Buildings and Prodllction Fixtures and Transportation Constru(;tioll in 

Eguil!ment ImETovements Tools Eguiemcilt EguiEment Ef08!ess Total 
Cost: 
Beginning balances $38,385,288 57,071,084 55,994,069 $1,058,977 S104,365 s_ $52,613,783 
Additions 3,254,022 \,049,796 733,247 63,192 85,300 3,830,811 9,016,368 
Disposal and other 

adjustments !I46,752l {29~319} U4,9OO1 (lBI488} (209,4592 
Ending balallces 41.492,558 8,091561 6,727,316 1.107,269 171,177 3,830,1111 61,420,692 
Accumulated depreciatiou: 
Beginning balances 26,587,628 4,\54,904 3,958,418 818,862 78,803 35,598,615 
Depreciation (Notes 18 

and 19) 1,404,291 267,753 3113,208 120,678 )4,074 2.190,004 
Disposal and other 

adiustments (151,732) (23, 6361 {l5,156) (t8,335) (209,459i 
Ending balances 27,840,187 4,399,021 4,341,626 923,784 74,542 37,579.160 
Net book vlIlue.!l SI3,652,371 S3,692,540 $2,385,690 $183,485 S96,635 $3,830,811 $23,841,532 

Additions to construction in progress amounting to $3,090,787 and $3,830,811 in 2016 and 201 5, 
respectively, represent construction costs incurred for the new production facility of CATS -
Philippine Branch's new product venture, Construction was completed in 2016. 

Land and building owned by RBWRP with carrying value of $8,768,248 as of December 31,2016 
and 2015 were used as collateral for an interest-bearing loan with a local commercial bank. 
The Group prepaid the balance of the loan in 2016 (see Note 16). 

The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still used in operations amounted to 
$18,780,185 and $18,394,022 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale 
On December 9, 2014, the Parent Company's BOD approved the plan to sell and dispose certain 
assets such as land, building and other improvements, and building plant and machinery of CATS 
and RBWRP to any interested buyers as these are excess assets from the acquisition and are no 
longer needed in CATS - Philippine Branch's operations. An independent valuation was obtained 
to determine the fair values of property, plant and equipment which were based on recent 
transactions for similar assets within the same industly. Property, plaNt and equipment with 
canying value of$II,408,61 I were classified as noncurrent assets held for sale in the consolidated 
balance sheets effective December 31, 2014. The Parent Company's management is committed to 
selling the assets which are available for immediate sale and is active in looking for interested 
buyers. During the one-year period from the date the assets were classified as held for sale, 
circumstances arose that were previously considered unlikely and, as a result, the noncurrent 
assets held for sale were not sold by the end of the one-year period. Management took necessary 
actions to respond to the change in circumstances and ensured that the noncurrent assets are being 
actively marketed at a price that is reasonable, given the change in circumstances. 

12. AFS Financial Asset 

The Group's AFS financial asset pertains to the unquoted investment in CloudM-ondo, Ltd. which 
is acquired at a cost of$I,667,000 in 2015. 

. .... :r 
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13. Other Noncurrent Assets 

14. 

Advances to suppliers 
Product development costs 
Miscellaneous deposits 
Loans to employees 
Others 

2016 
$1,066,014 

922,220 
135,559 

7,889 
39,177 

$2,170,859 

2015 
$55,644 
569,942 
136,168 

87,987 
44,112 

$893,853 

Advances to suppliers pertain to down payments for the acquisition of software and building 
expansion. 

Product development costs pertain to the capitalized cost of developing certain packages or products 
for specific customers. The development costs met the requirements afPAS 38 for capitalization. 
The product development costs that were capitalized in 2016, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $547,166, 
$105,365, and $163,907, respectively. Amortization of product development cost charged to the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to $194,888, $96,355, and $72,940 in 
2016,2015 and 2014, respectively, as these are available for use. 

Miscellaneous deposits pertain to refundahle deposits with MERALCO for the installation of 
CEC's electrical meters and bill deposit equivalent to one month energy consumption. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 20l5,CEC has software with a total cost 0[$39,278 which are fully 
amortized but are still used in operations. 

Trade and Other Payables 

2016 2015 
Trade $13,192,707 $8,569,122 
Accruals: 

Utilities 442,112 453,145 
Payroll 404,116 259,583 
Interest (Notes 15 and \6) 172,419 155,235 
Others 337,454 285,966 

Advances from customers 2,833,791 2,884,311 
Provision for warranty 1,419,257 130,300 
Others 333,737 647,980 

$19,135,593 $13,385,642 

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 60-90 days' terms. 

Accruals comprise mainly of accruals for electricity, water, communication. security, shuttle 
services and professional services. 

Advances from customers pertain mainly to downpayments for sales orders. 

Provision for warranty pertains to the Group' 5 estimate of the cost to repair or replace defective 
products in accordance with agreed specifications. The increase in provision for warranty is due 
to the introduction of new products for its new customer (see Note 29). Provision for (reversal of) 
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warranty in 2016 and 2015 amounted to $1,288,957 and ($18,654), respectively, and is presented 
as part of <"Cost of sales" account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

Other payables pertain to statutory liabilities and are generally payable within 12 months from the 
balance sheet date. 

15. Short-terln Loans 

The Group has the following loan facilities: 

Banks: 
SBC 
Bank of the Philippine Island (BPI) 
RCBC 

(a) 
(b) 
(c) 

2016 2015 

$10,000,000 $900,000 
5,435;088 5,435,088 

16,190,857 4,500,000 
$31,625,945 $10,835,088 

a. Revolving loan facilities with the SEC which have payment term~ ranging from 90 to 180 
days. The facility is unsecured and charged interest of 1.95% to 2.10% per annum in 2016 
and 2015. 

b. Revolving loan facilities with the BPI which have payment terms of 180 days. The facility is 
unsecured and charged interest of 1,80% per annum in 2016 and 2015. 

c. Revolving loan facilities with the RCEC which have payment terms ranging from 60 to 167 
days. The facility is unsecured and charged interest of2.250/0 per annum in 2016 and 2015. 

Interest expense incurred from these short-term loan facilities amounted to $153,247, $95,423, and 
$181,636 in 2016,2015 and 2014, respectively. 

16. Long-term Debt 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the details of long-term debts are as follow: 

Principal 
Less deferred financing costs 

Less: 
Current portion - net of deferred financing costs 

amounting to $272,155 and $71,699 in 2016 
and 2015, respectively 

Subsequent adjustments in PPA 

·········Tr----·--rr····· 

2016 
$44,250,000 

390,029 
$43,859,971 

6,882,126 

6,882,126 
$36,977,845 

2015 
$23,371,201 

154,780 
23,216,421 

5,290,995 
12,647 

5,303,642 
$17,912,779 
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Movement in deferred financing costs follow: 

Beginning of year 
Transaction costs recognized during the year 
Less amortization 
End of year 

CHPC 

2016 
$154,780 

321,605 
86,356 

$390,029 

2015 
$130,122 

146,127 
121,469 

$154,780 

On July 25, 2012, the Parent Company entered into a $10.0 million Notes Facility Agreement 
(NFA) with Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company (Initial Noteholder), Metropolitan Bank & Trust 
Company - Trust Banking Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and First Metro Investment 
Corporation (Arranger). The NF A provided for the issuance of 5-year fixed rate corporate note 
which bears interest of3.6% per annum payable quarterly. On July 27, 2012 (Issue Date), the 
Parent Company drew $10.0 million from the facility. lbe net proceeds from the issuance of the 
Notes shall be used to' fmance the Group's strategic acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. 

Under the NFA, the l')arent Company shall pay 300/0 of the loan outstanding on issue date in 
12 equal consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 2.5% of loan outstanding 
on issue date commencing on the end of the 5th quarter until end oft:he 16th quarter from the Issue 
Date. The remaining 70% of the loan outstanding on issue date is payable in four (4) equal 
consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 17 .5o/~ of the loan outstanding on 
issue date commencing on the 17th quarter from the issue date until the maturity date, provided 
that each such date shall coincide with an interest payment date, and that the last installment shall 
be in an amount sufficient to fully pay the loan. 

The NFA contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole but not in part, the relevant outstanding notes beginning on 
and after the third anniversary of the issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to 102% of 
the unpaid principal amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of prepayment. 
The Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in the NF A is closely related to the host 
contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract based on the provisions of PAS 39. 

In accordance with the NFA, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 
• debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2: 1; 
• debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date, be less than 1.5; and 
• current ratio shall not, at any time, be less than 1:1, provided however, this ratio shall not 

apply after the fourth anniversary of the issue date. 

Equity is defined in the agreement as the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid-in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest 
consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defined in the 
agreement as the aggregate of all obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its 
subsidiaries to payor repay money. 

On December 18, 2014, the Parent Company entered into another $10.0 million Notes Facility 
Agreement with Metropolitan Bank & Trust Company (initial Noteholder), Metropolitan Bank & 
Trust Company - Trust Banking Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and First Metro Investment 
Corporation (Arranger). The Notes Facility bears interest of3.14% per annum payable quarterly. 
The net proceeds of the issuance of the Notes shall be used to finance the Group's strategic 
acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. 
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Under the NFA, the Parent Company shall pay 30% ofthe loan outstanding on issue date in 12 
equal consecutive quarterly installments in the: amount equivalent to 2.5% of loan outstanding on 
issue date commencing on the end of the 5th quarter until end of the 16th quarter from the Issue 
date. The remaining 700/0 of the loan outstanding on issue date is payable in 4 equal consecutive 
quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 17.50/0 of the loan outstanding on issue date 
commencing on the 17th quarter from the issue date until the maturity date, provided that each 
such date shall coincide with an interest payment date, and that the last installment shall be in an 
amount sufficient to fully pay the loan, 

The NF A contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole but not in part, the relevant outstanding notes beginning on 
and after the third anniversary of tl:Ie issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to l02% 
of the unpaid principal amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of 
redemption at the applicable rate, The Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in 
the NF A is closely related to the host contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract 
based on the provisions of PAS 39, 

Under this agreement, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 

• debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2:1; 
• debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date, be less than 1.5~ and 
• current ratio shall not at any time be less than 1:1, provided however, this ratio shall not apply 

after the fourth anniversary of the issue date, 

Equity is defined in·the agreement the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid-in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest 
consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defined in the 
agreement as the aggregate of all obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its 
subsidiaries to payor repay money. 

On September 20, 2016, the Parent Company entered into a $30,0 million NFA with BPI (Initial 
Note holder), BPI Asset Management and Trust Group (Facility and Paying Agent) and BPI 
Capital Corporation (Arranger), The NF A provided for the issuance of S-year fixed rate corporate 
note which bears interest of 4.00/0 per annum payable quarterly. The net proceeds from the 
issuance of the Notes shall be used for capital expenditures, including production facilities and to 
refinance existing debt obligation and for working capital requirement. 

Under the NFA, the Parent Company shall pay the 30% of the loan outstanding on issue date in 12 
equal consecutive quarterly installments in the amount equivalent to 2.50/0 of loan outstanding on 
issue date comlnencing on the end of the 5th quarter until the end of the 16th quarter from the issue 
date. The remaining 700/0 of the loan outstanding on issue date in four (4) equal consecutive 
quarterly installments in the WllGUnt equivalent to 17.5% of the loan outstanding on issue date 
commencing on the 17th quarter from the issue date until the nlaturity date, provided that each such 
date shall coincide with an interest payment date, and that the last installment shall be in an amount 
sufficient to fully pay the loan, 

The NF A contained an embedded derivative arising from voluntary prepayment option where the 
Parent Company may redeem in whole or in pali, equivalent to an amount not less than $100,000. 
the relevant outstanding notes on any interest payment date beginning on the third anniversary of 
the issue date, by paying the amount that is equivalent to the higher of (i) 102% of the unpaid 
principal amount together with any and all accrued interest up to the date of redemption at the 
applicable rate, and Oi) 100% of the unpaid principal amount of the loans together with any and all 
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accrued interest up to date of redemption at the applicable rate and any related breakage costs (net 
of any breakage gains). The Parent Company assessed that the embedded derivative in the NFA is 
closely related to the host contract, thus was not bifurcated from the host contract based on the 
provisions of PAS 39. 

In accordance with the NFA, the following financial ratios must be maintained: 

• debt to equity ratio shall not, at any time, exceed 2: 1; 
• debt service coverage ratio shall not, as of relevant testing date; be less than 1.5; and 
• current ratio shall not at any time be less than 1:1, provided however, this ratio shall not apply 

after the fourth anniversary of the issue date. 

Equity is defined in the agreement the aggregate of outstanding capital stock, additional paid-in 
capital stock, equity reserve and retained earnings at any date and as shown in the latest 
consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Company. Debt, on the other hand, is defined in the 
agreement as the aggregate of all obligations (whether actual or contingent) of the Issuer and its 
subsidiaries to payor repay money" 

The Parent Company is in compliance with the debt covenants as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

Total interest expense (including amortization of defelTed financing costs) recognized in the 
consolidated statements of,comprehensive income amounted to $1,134,962, $757,709, and 
$188,302 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

CATS 
in 2012, CATS obtained a secured interest-bearing loan from a local commercial bank amounting 
to $13.0 million. The principal is payable in 28 quarterly payments of $464,286 until 2018 and 
bears annual interest rate of3.00/0 plus three month London inter-bank offer rate (LmOR). This 
bank loan was specifically borrowed to refinance the parcel of land with improvements located 
along Innovation Drive, Carmelray Industrial Park 1, Brgy. Canlubang, Calamba City, Laguna and 
registered in the name ofRBWRP. The Group assumed the loan upon acquisition of REMEC's 
manufacturing division in 2014. As of December 31, 2015, the land and building owned by 
RBWRP were used as collateral for the secured interest-bearing loan (see Note 11). 

The loan contract gives the Group an option to prepay the loan in part or in full, subject to the 
Group giving the creditor at least 30 days advance notice of its intention to make such prepayment 
counted from the date of receipt by the creditor of such written notice. 

On September 26, 2016, the Group prepaid the balance of the loan, including accrued interest, for 
$4,684,319. Interest expense charged to operations in 2016, 2015 and 2014 amounted to $87,018, 
$474,281 and $154,856, respectively. 

Carrying values of long-tenn debt held by the Parent Company and CATS - Philippine Branch 
follow: 

Parent Company 
CATS - Philippine Branch 

rl" . --.-.-~-------- . 

2016 
$43,859,971 

$43,859,971 

2015 
$17,595,220 

5,621,201 
$23,216,421 
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17. Related Party Disclosures 

Related p~rty relationship exists when the party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, Or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions. Such relationships also exist between and/or among 
entities which are under common control with the reporting entity and its key management 
personnel, directors or stockholders. In considering each possible related party relationship, 
attention is directed to the substance of the relationships. 

In the normal course of business, the Group has entered into transactions with affiliates. The 
significant transactions consist of the following: 

a. Advances for operating requirements of CHI, former parent of CEC and CErC; 
b. Rental of land and lease deposit with Cirtek Land Corporation (CLC), an affiliate, where the 

manufacturing building 1 and administrative building is situated; 
c. Payments and lor reimbursements of expenses made or in behalf of the affiliates; and 
d. Rental of land with Cayon Holdings, Inc. (Cayon), an affiliate, where the building 2 of the 

Group is situated 

The consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of comprehensive income include the 
following significant account balances resulting from the above transactions with related parties: 

a. Amounts owed to related parties 

Transactions 
2016 2015 

Olher related portie5 
CLC Rental S12,776 $13,515 

Cayon Rental 11,690 12.025 

b. Amounts owed by related parties 

Other related parties 
Camerton Reimbursement 

CHI 

Cayon 

Jerry Liu 

of expenses 

Advances for 
working capital 

Reimbursement 
of expenses 

Advances 

c. Rental deposit 

Other relatedparlles 
CLC 

Transactions 
2016 2015 

S78,833 

1,750,990 5,483,674 

Transactions 
2016 2015 

$- $-. 

Balances as of 
20]6 2015 Terms Conditions 

$446,970 $434,194 Due on demand; Unsecured 
non·interest 
bearing 

73,182 61,492 Due on demand; Unsecured 
non·interest 

S520,152 $495,686 

Balances as of 
20)6 2015 

$111,994 $33,161 

1,809,256 1.809.256 

206,284 206,284 

10,309,041 8,558,051 

S12,436,575 $10.606,752 

Balances as of 
2016 2015 

$1,131,399 $1,.131,399 

bearing 

Terms 

Due on demand; 
non·interest 
bearing 
Due on demand; 
non·interest 
bearing 
Due on demand; 
non·interest 
bearing 
Due on demand; 
non·interest 
bearing 

Terms 

Due on demand; 
non·interest 
bearing 

Conditions 

Unsecured; no 
impairment 

Unsecured; no 
impainnent 

Unsecured; no 
impainnent 

Unsecured; no 
impairment 

Conditions 

Unsecured; no 
impairment 
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The above related parties, except Jerry Liu, are entities under common control of the ultimate 
parent company. Jerry Liu is a. stockholder and the chairman of the Parent Company's BOD. 

Transactions with CHI, Charmview Enterprises Ltd (CEL) and officer 
The amount owed by an officer amounting to $7.7 million as of December 31, 2010 was 
transferred in 2011 to eEL, the former ultimate parent ofeEe and CEIC. eEL now owns 400/0 
interest in Camerton, the parent of CHPC. 

The amounts owed by and to CHI as of Decemher 31, 2010 represent advances for working capital 
in the nonnal course of business when CEC and CEIC were then still subsidiaries of CHI. 

For purposes of settling outstanding balances with the Group and as part of corporate restructuring 
in preparation for the planned Initial Public Offering (1PO) ofthe Parent Company, on 
March 17, 2011, CHI, CEL and the officer, with the consent of the Group, entered into assignment 
agreements whereby CHI absorbed the amounts owed by CEL and by the officer as of 
March 17, 2011 amounting to $7.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively. 

The Group, with the consent of the related parties, entered into assigmnent agreements whereby 
the Parent Company absorbed the amount owed by CErc to cm totaling $3.6 million representing 
unpaid advances of$2.3 million and dividends of $1.3 million as of March 17,2011 (see Note 28). 

Thereafter, on March 18,2011, the Parent Company and cm, in view ofheing creditors and 
debtors to each other as a result of the assignment agreements above, entered into a set-off 
agreement for the value of the Group's liability aggregating $6.8 million. The amount represents 
the above mentioned total liability of $3.6 million and the balance outstanding fi'om the Parent 
Company's purchase ofeEe and CEIC amounting to $3.2 million, as revalued from the effect of 
foreign exchange rate. 

The amount owed by cm as of Decemher 31, 2016 and 2015 pertains to the outstanding 
receivable arising from the·assignments and set-off agreements as discussed above. 

Transactions with Camerton 
Camerton is the majority shareholder of the Parent Company. Amounts owed by Camerton as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 pertain mainly to working capital advances and advances for 
incorporation expenses of Carnertan. 

Transactions with CLC and Cayon 
CLC is an entity under common control of the ultimate parent company. CEC had a lease 
agreement on the land where its manufacturing plant (Building 1) is located with CLC for a period 
of 50 years starting January 1, 1999. The lease was renewable for another 25 years at the option 
ofeEe. The lease agreement provided for an annual rental of $151,682, subject to periodic 
adjustments upon mutual agreement of both parties. 

On January 1,2005, CEC terminated the lease agreement with CLC but has continued to occupy 
the said land for no consideration with CLC's consent. With the termination of the lease 
agreement, the Group has classified the rental deposit amounting to $1.1 million as current asset as 
the deposit has become due and demandable anytime from CLC (see Note 9). 

On January I, 2011, CEC entered into an agreement with CLC to lease the land where CEC's 
Building 1 is located. The agreement calls for a P640,704 rent per annum fOT a period of 10 years 
and renewable thereafter by mutual agreement of the parties subject to such new teons and 
conditions as they may then be mutually agreed-upon_ Total rent expense charged to operations 
amounted to $12,777, $13,515 and $14,434 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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CEC also entered into an agreement with Cayan starting January 1, 2011 to lease the land where 
CEC's Building 2 is located. The agreement oalls for an annual rental of1'582, 144 for a period of 
10 years and renewable thereafter. Total rent expense charged to operations amounted to $11,690, 
$12,025 and $13,114 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

The compensation of key management personnel of the Group are as follows: 

2016 2015 2014 
Salaries and wages $1,716,534 $520,374 $953,896 
Elllf'loyee benefits 246,575 275,117 246,477 

$1,963,109 $795,491 $1,200,373 

18. Cost of Sales 

2016 2015 2014 
Raw materials, spare parts, supplies and 

other inventories used, and changes 
in inventories (Note 7) $42,434,652 $35,035,653 $27,679,587 

Salaries, wages and employees' benefits 
(Note 20) 10,535,487 8,234,391 7,821,742 

Utilities 3,490;477 3,696,519 3,556,257 
Depreciation (Note 11) 2,626,749 2,116,293 2,838,858 
Inward freight and duties and others 2,478,742 898,991 2,354,891 

$61,566,107 $49,981,847 $44,251,335 

19. Operating Expenses 

2016 2015 2014 
Salaries, wages and employees' benefits 

(Note 20) $2,563,292 $2,035,832 $1,594,075 
Utilities 349,377 505,530 290,845 
Transportation and travel 304,568 356,524 284,608 
Entertainment, amusement and recreation 192,109 208,554 168,981 
Professional fees 191,305 264,495 132,542 
Commissions 152,020 57,660 159,935 
Depreciation (Note II) 84,883 73,711 61,662 
Taxes and licenses 84,242 163,242 47,792 
Insurance premiums 71,871 12,497 31,191 
Office supplies 47,688 27,210 27,815 
Others 312,248 115,421 529,010 

$4,353,603 $3,820,676 $3,328,456 

"Others" rnainly consist of receivables directly written off and other charges. 
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20. Salaries and Wages and Employees' Benefits 

Salaries and wages 
Other employees' benefits 
Retirement benefits costs (Note 21) 

2016 
$10,480,573 

2,401,519 
216,687 

$13,098,779 

2015 
$8,597,053 

1,439,657 
233,513 

$10,270,223 

Other employees' benefits consist of allowances and mandatory contributions. 

21. Retirement Benefit Obligation 

2014 
$7,771,711 

1,401,577 
242,529 

$9,415,817 

The Group has a funded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan based on the normal 
retirement benefits equivalent to the minimum retirement benefit as provided by Republic Act 
(R..A.) No. 7641, otherwise known as the Retirement Pay Law, covering all of its regular 
employees. Retirement benefits costs are determined in accordance with an actuarial study and 
are based on the employees' years of service and monthly basic salary. 

Under the existing regulatory framework, R.A. No. 7641 requires a provision for retirement pay to 
qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided, 
however. that the employee's retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other 
agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law. The law does not require 
minimum funding of the plan. 

Retirement benefits costs recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are 
as follows: 

Current service cost 
Interest cost 

2016 
$148,313 

68,374 
$216,687 

2015 
$160,009 

73,504 
$233,513 

2014 
$140,308 

102,221 
$242,529 

The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as retiremeht benefit obligation are as 
follows: 

Present value of obligations 
Fair value of plan assets 

2016 
$2,080,282 

(272,435) 
$1,807,847 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows: 

Opening present value defined benefit obligation 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Remeasurement losses (gains) 
Benefits paid 
Translation difference 

2016 
$1,610,657 

148,313 
77,974 

392,006 
(34,875) 

(113,793) 
$2,080,282 

2015 
$1,610,657 

(252,846) 
$1,357,811 

2015 
$1,780,923 

160,009 
79,667 

(203,202) 
(121,045) 

(85,695) 
$1,610,657 
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

Opening fair value of plan assets 
Contributions 
Interest income included in net interest costs 
Remeasurement gains (losses) on plan assets 
Translation difference 

Movements in the net retirement plan liabilities follow: 

Beginning of year 
Retirement benefits costs 
Contributions 
Remeasurement losses (gains) recognized in other 

comprehensive income 
Benefits paid 
Translation difference 
End of year 

2016 
$252,846 

147,002 
9,600 

(121,918) 
(15,095) 

$272,435 

2016 
$1,357,811 

216,687 
(147,002) 

513,924 
(34,875) 
(98,698) 

$1,807,847 

2015 
$135,136 

105,907 
6,163 

16,630 
(10,990) 

$252,846 

2015 
$1,645,787 

233,513 
(105,907) 

(219,832) 
(121,045) 

(74,705) 
$1,357,811 

The details of the remeasurement losses (gains) in other comprehensive income as of December 31 
follow: 

Remeasurement losses (gains) on defined 
benetits obligation arising from changes in: 

Experience adjustments 
Changes in assumptions 

Remeasurement losses (gains) on plan assets 

2016 

$145,529 
246,477 
121,918 

$513,924 

2015 

($174,143) 
(29,059) 
(16,630) 

($219,832) 

2014 

($128,760) 
(272,601) 

9,723 
($391,638) 

As a result of the business combination, the Group recognized an additional present value of the 
defined benefit obligations of $1,878,867 for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine retirement obligations for the Group's 
retirement plan are as follows: 

Discount rate 
Salary increase rate 

-~ ---- -~-.. ------. 

2016 
5.43 % - 5.550/0 

3.50% - 20/0 

2015 
4.35 - 5.08% 

2.00% 

2014 
4.64% 
2.00% 
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The sensitivity analysis below has been detennined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the pension obligat10ns as of December 31,2016 and 2015, assuming a,1l 
other assumptions were held constant: 

Discount rate 

Future salary increase rate 

Increase (Decrease) 
+1% 
-1% 

+10/0 
-10/0 

Effect on Present Value 
of Defined Benefit Obligation 

2016 2015 
($187,575) ($155,646) 

225,665 185,184 

220,431 
(186,465) 

197,098 
(167,737) 

There were no changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in 
preparing sensitivity analysis. 

The latest actuarial valuation report of the Group is as of December 31, 2016. The average 
duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting date ranges from 19 to 
22 years. Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments: 

1 year or less 
More than 1 year to 5 years 
More than 5 years 

22. Other Income - Net 

Sale of scrap 
Gain on disposal of financial assets at 

FVPL (Note 8) 
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - net 
Mark-to-market gain (Note 8) 
Excess of the fair value of net assets 

acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred (Note 4) 

Others - net 

2016 
$231,552 

262,332 
(3,222) 

257,228 
$747,890 

2016 
$349,863 

470,458 
11,251,717 

2015 
$320,199 

178,986 
293,349 

39,411 
$831,945 

2015 
$125,072 

672,062 
7,548,519 

2014 
$259,819 

(67,297) 
184,985 

2,041,059 
(57,050) 

$2,361,516 

Other non-operating income pertains to the miscellaneous receipts 'from customers in prior 
periods. 

23. Income Taxes 

CEC 
On March 24, 1998, the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) approved CEC's 
registration as an ecozone export enterprise at the Laguna Technopark for the manufacture of 
standard integrated circuits, discrete, hybrid and potential new packages. 
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Beginning October 30, 2002, the manufacture and export of integrated circuits, discrete and hybrid 
transferred to PEZA from Board'ofInvestments (where originally registered) and became subject 
to the 5% gross income tax incentive, as defined under R.A. No. 7916, the law creating the PEZA. 

CATS - Philippine Branch 
CATS - Philippine Branch was registered with PEZA as an Ecozone Export Enterprise to engage 
in the manufacture, fabrication and design of millimetetwave components and subsystems in a 
special economic zone to be known as the Calmelray Industrial Park I - Special Economic Zone 
(CIP I-SEZ) and Laguna Technopark in accordance with the project study, representations, 
commitments and proposals set forth in its application forming integral parts, subject to the terms 
and conditions provided in its registration. 

As a PEZA-registered activity, CATS - Philippine Branch is entitled to tax incentives equivalent 
to 5% of the gross income earned on its regist.ered activities after the income tax holiday (ITH) of 
four years. 

Details of provision for (benefit from) income tax are as follows: 

Current 
Deferred 

2016 
$559,457 

(12,125) 
$547,332 

2015 
$475,638 

39,998 
$515,636 

2014 
$202,OJl 

4,814 
$206,825 

The provision for current income tax in 2016, 2015 and 2014 pertains to the special rate of 50/0 on 
taxable gross income of CEC and CATS - Philippine Branch. 

Based on the National Internal Revenue Code Sec. 27, MCIT of two percent (2%) of the gross 
income as of the end of taxable year is imposed on corporation beginning on the fourth taxable 
year immediately following the year in which such corporation started its commercial operation 
when the MelT is greater than the regular corporate income computed for the taxable year. The 
Parent Company is subject to MCIT beginning 2015. 

A reconciliation of provision for income tax computed at the statutory income tax rate to provision 
for income tax shown in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income follows: 

Income tax at applicable statutoty rate 
Additions to (reduction in) income tax: 

Nontaxable income 
Nondeductible expenses 
Income subject to higher tax rate 
Taxable income subject to ITH 
Movement of temporary differences 
Interest income subject to final tax 
Translation difference and others 

Provision for income tax 

Years Ended December 31 
2016 2015 2014 

$637,810 $478,334 $377,037 

(139,433) (82,272) (128,692) 
34,'30 97,041 13,071 
33,356 86,046 

(19,665) (68,042) (53,519) 
(12,125) (60,008) 

(283) 
12,459 4,529 59,2\9 

$547,332 $515,636 $206,825 
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In 2016, 2015 and 2014, CATS - Philippine Branch and CEC have availed ITH for cel~ain product 
lines. Total gross income for the registered activities ofCEC in 2015 and 2014 amounted to 
$480,477 and $1,070,379. respectively. Total gross income for the registered activities of CATS -
Philippine Branch in 2016 and 2015 amounted to $393,300 and $810,345, respectively. 

The components of the net deferred income tax assets of the Group are as follows: 

2016 2015 
Deferred income tax assets recognized in profit or loss: 

Fair value adjustment on nonCUITent assets 
held for sale $127,849 $127,849 

Retirement benefit obligation 98,648 92,452 
HTM investments 1,408 1,408 
NOLCO 80,274 

227,905 301,983 
Deferred income tax liabilities recognized in profit or loss: 

Effect of foreign exchange differences 
between tax base and financial reporting base (7,502) (8,819) 

Fair value adjustment on long-term debt (14,932) (14,932) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (30,140) (25,849) 
Unrealized gain on financial assets at FVPL (88,938) 

{52,S74) (138,538) 
Deferred income tax liability related to retirement benefit 

obligation recognized under other comprehensive 
income {4,126) {27, 8902 

Net deferred income tax assets $171,205 $135,555 

The net deferred income tax assets as and liabilities as reflected in the consolidated balance sheets 
are as follows: 

2016 2015 
Net deferred income tax assets $174,578 $135,555 

Net deferred income tax liabilities $3,373 

The following are the Parent Company's deductible temporary differences for which no deferred 
income tax assets have been recognized as management believes that it may not be probable that 
sufficient future taxable profit will be available against which the defelTed income tax assets can 
be uti lized: 

NOLCO 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses 

....... ·Tr··-·-·-~-···-····-······-··-· 

2016 
$3,352,472 

143,589 

2015 
$2,741,201 

43.221 
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company incurred NOLCO that can be claimed as 
deduction from future taxable income as follows: 

Balance as of 
Year December 3 1 ~ Available 

incurred Amount Addition EXEired 2016 Tax effect until 
2013 $782,210 $- $782,210 $- $- 2016 
2014 952,273 952,273 285,682 2017 
2015 1,006,718 1,006,718 302,015 2018 
2016 1,393,481 1,393,481 418,044 2019 

$2,741,201 $1,393,481 $782,210 $3,352,472 $1,005,741 

In 2015, the Parent Company recognized deferred income tax asset on the carryforward benefit of 
its NOLCO amounting to $80,274. CErC and CATS are exempt from income tax under the tax 
privileged status as a BVI business company un~er the BVI Business Companies Act. 

24. Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

The following table presents information necessary to calculate EPS on net income. 

Net income attributable to common 
shareholders of the Parent Company' 

Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding 

Basic and diluted EPS 
"Net oj dividends declared on preferred shares 

2016 

$7,596,228 

416,859,291 
$0.018 

2015 2014 

$5,112,080 $5,844,084 

383,220,650 336,261,197 
$0.013 $0.017 

As of December 31,2016,2015 and 2014, the Parent Company has no potential di1utive common 
shares. 

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in the calculation ofEPS is 
based on the outstanding shares of the Parent Company. The additional shares from stock 
dividends during the period, including the unissued stock dividends and stock dividends declared· 
after the reporting period but before the approval of the financial statements, were reflected in the 
calculation of the EPS as if these shares have been issued in all earlier periods presented. 

25. Operating Segments 

The Group has determined that it is operating as one operating segment. Based on management's 
assessment, no part or component of the business of the Group meets the qual ifications of an 
operating segment as defined by PFRS 8. More specifically: 

• There is no significant or obvious distinction among the products assembled by the Group. 
The assembly process is likewise similar; 

• The Group's production facility and head office is located in the Philippines; 
• Although production of goods is divided into thirteen divisions, the commercial, technical, 

operating, marketing and selling matters are made at the executive committee level and not at 
the division levels. The role of the respective division managers is to ensure that production is 
on track in meeting its volume forecasts, and that quality standards are consistently met. 
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Sales are reported internally per division, but profit or loss, assets and liabilities are reported on an 
entity-wide basis. Information is measured using the same accounting policies and estimates as 
the Group's consolidated financial statements_ 

Sales from external customers per division as reported internally are as follows (amounts in 
thousands): 

2016 2015 2014 
Sales to Quintel $19,371 $- $-
Discrete 12,487 11,296 10,800 
Integrated Circuits 9,818 8,119 8,556 
Multichip 9,681 10,163 9,629 
New Products 5,273 5,415 5,221 
Quad-Flat No-Leads 4,938 5,143 3,848 
Outdoor Unit 4,903 7,519 2,008 
Bridgewave Ems 3,024 2,368 2,969 
Hennetics 1,488 2,083 2,008 
Indoor Radio Frequency Unit 1,373 2,493 5,073 
Cougar 241 329 94 
Remec Manufacturing Services 125 272 124 
Indoor Unit 1,691 562 

$72,722 $56,891 $50,892 

CATS - Philippine Branch's service income amounted to $1.6 million and $2.2 million in 2016 
and 2015, respectively. In 2016, service income pertains to sales and production ofODR. EMS 
and IRFU and billings to customers for inventory variances. In 2015. service income is primarily 
related to the sales and production of lRFU. 

Below are customers contributing at teast 100/0 of the Group's total sales for each year. Sales to 
these customers are as follows (amounts in thousands): 

2016 2015 
Major Customer A' $19,371 $-
Major Customer B 10,060 12,728 
Major Customer C 7,728 8,858 
*After the acquisition o/CATS, the Group's revenue grew from a single major customer 

2014 
$-

10,778 
10,495 

The Group's customers are located in various countries, with the bulk of revenues contributed by 
customers located in Europe and the USA. Following shows the reVenue distribution of customers 
by revenue contribution (amounts in thousands): 

2016 2015 2014 
USA $41,144 $32,436 $23,880 
Europe 19,390 16,941 17,238 
Asia 13,788 10,172 10,674 

$74,322 $59,549 $51,792 

There are no sales made to entities under common control with the Group. 
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26. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, short term 
loans and long-term debt. The main purpose of these fmancial instruments is to support the 
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade and other 
receivables, amounts owed by related parties. rental deposits and loans to employees (presented as 
part of other current assets), miscellaneous deposits (presented under other noncurrent assets), 
trade and other payables, amounts owed to related parties and derivative liability which generally 
arise directly from its operations. 

Risk Management Structure 
The BOD is mainly responsible for the overall risk management approach and for the approval of 
risk strategies and principles of the Group. 

The main risks arising from the financial instruments of the Group are credit risk, liquidity risk 
and foreign currency risk. The Group's management reviews and approves policies for managing 
each of these risks and they are summarized below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties failed 
to discharge their contractual obligations. 

The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group's financial assets. The 
maximum exposure is shown net of impainnent losses, if any: 

Cash and cash equivalents' 
Trade and other receivables 
Financial assets at FVPL 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other current assets 

Rental deposit 
Loans to employees 
Security deposit 

HTM investments 
AFS financial asset 
Other noncurrent assets 

2016 
$24,511,243 

23,172,423 
503 

12,436,575 

1,131,399 
239,823 
180,387 
371,520 

1,667,000 

Miscellaneous deposits 135,559 
Loans to employees 7 ,889 

Total credit risk exposure $63,854,321 
"'Excluding cash on hand as of December 3}, 2016 and 2015 amounting to $250 and $440, respectively. 

2015 
$29,776,426 

13,749,783 
19,447,248 
10,606,752 

1,131,399 
165,498 
180,387 
889,789 

1,667,000 

136,168 
87,987 

$77,838,437 
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The aging analyses per class of financial asset') that are past due but not yet impaired are as 
follows: 

December 31, 20)6 

Neither Past Impaired 
Due lIor ['ast Due but not ImI!:llired Financial 

[mE!aired < 30 dar! 30< 60 dars 60-90 da~s > 90 dills Assets Total 
Cash and cash 

equivalents'" $24,511,243 $- $- $- S-- $- $24.511,243 
Trade and other 

receivables 17,226,175 2,031,535 601.105 3,286,553 27,055 23,172,423 
Financial assets at FVPL 503 503 
Amounts owed by 

related parties 12,436,575 12,436,575 
Other current assets 

Rental deposit 1,131,399 1,131,399 

.,,"-
Security deposit 180,387 180,387 
Loans to employees 239,823 239,823 

AFS finWlcial asset 1,667,000 1,667,000 
HTM investments 371,520 371,520 
Other noncurrent assets 

~ 
Loans to employees 7.889 7,889 
Miscellaneous de20sits 135,559 135!559 

$57,727,686 $2~031,535 $601,105 $3,286,553 $207,442 $ $63.854,321 
'" Excluding cash on hand amounting to $250. 

December31!2015 

Neither Impaired 
Past Due Past Due but not ImEaired Financial 

nor IluEaired < 30 da~s 30< 60 da:(s 60~90 da~s > 90 daXs Assets Total 
Cash and cash 

equivalents'" $29,776,426 $- $- $- $- $- $29,776,426 
Trade and other 

receivables 9.318,862 1,838,198 190,185 98,815 2,344.735 13,790,795 
Financial assets at FVPL 19,447,248 19,447,248 
Amounts owed by 

rdated parties 10,606,082 10,606,082 -<- Other current assets 
Rentid deposit 1,131.399 1,131,399 
Security deposit 180,387 180,387 
Loans to employees 165,499 165,499 

AFS financial asset 1,667,000 1,667,000 

<- HTM investments 889,789 889,789 
Other noncurrent assets 

Loans to employees 87,987 87.987 
Miscellaneous deEosits 136,168 136,168 

$73.226,460 $1,838,198 $190,18S $98,815 $2!52S,122 $- $77,878,780 

'" Excluding cash on hand amounting to $440. 
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The tables below summarize the credit quality per class of the Group's financial assets that are 
neither past due nor impaired: 

December 31,2016 

Cash and cash equivalents" 
Trade and other receivables 
Financial assets at FVPL 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other current assets 

Rental deposit 
Loans to employees 

HTM investments 
AFS financial asset 
Other noncurrent assets 

Loans to employees 
Miscellaneous deposits 

December 31, 2015 

Cash and cash equivalents* 
Trade and other receivables 
Financial assets at FVPL 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other current assets 

Rental deposit 
Loans to employees 

HTM investments 
AFS financial asset 
Other noncurrent assets 

Loans to employees 
Miscellaneous deposits 

'" Excluding cash on hand. 

Neither Past Due nor Impaired 
High Grnde Medium Grade Low Grade 
$24,511,243 $- $-

17,194,529 31,646 
503 

12,436,575 

1,131,399 
239,823 
371,520 

1,667,000 

7,889 
135,559 

$57,696,040 $31,646 

Neither Past Due nor Impaired 
High Grade Medium Grade 

$29,776,426 $-
9,194,991 123,871 

19,447,248 
10,606,082 

1,131,399 
165,499 
889,789 

1,667,000 

87,987 
136,168 

$73,102,589 $123,871 

$ 

Low Grade 
$-

$-

Total 
$24,511,243 

17,226,175 
503 

12,436,575 

1,131,399 
239,823 
371,250 

1,667,000 

7,889 
135,559 

$57,727,686 

Total 
$29,776,426 

9,318,862 
19,447,248 
10,606,082 

1,131,399 
165,499 
889,789 

1,667,000 

87,987 
136,168 

$73,226,460 

High grade - These are receivables which have a high probability of collection (the counterpmty 
has the apparent ability to satisfy its obligation and the security on the receivables are readily 
enforceable). 

Medium grade - These are receivables where collections are probable due to the reputation and the 
financial ability of the cQunterparty to pay and that have history of sliding beyond the credit terms 
but pay within 60 days. 

Low grade - These are receivables where the counterparty's capability of honoring its financial 
obligation is doubtful. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties in raising funds to meet 
commitments from financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from a counterparty'S failure 
on repayment of a contractual obligation or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated. 
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The Group maintains sufficient cash to finance its operations and major capital expenditures and 
satisfy its maturing obligations. It may also from time to time seek other sources of funding, 
which may include deht or equity financings, including dollar and peso-denominated loans from 
Philippine banks, depending on its financing needs and market conditions. 

The tables below summarize the maturity analysis of the Group's financial assets used for 
liquidity management and financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

December 31, 2016 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Trade and other receivables 
Amounts owed by related parties 

Financial Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

Trade payables 
Accrued expenses* 

Short-term loans 
Amounts owed to related parties 
Long-term debts"" 

"'b"l:cluding statutory liabilities 
"'* Includes future interest payments 

December 31, 2015 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Trade and other receivables 
Amounts owed by related parties 

Financial Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

Trade payables 
Accrued expenses* 

Short-tenn loans 
Amounts owed to related parties 
Long-term debts 

+Excluding statutory liabilities 
"'"'Includes future interest payments 

Foreign currency risk 

On demand 

$24,511,493 
17,743,459 
12.428,669 

$54,683,621 

$13,192,707 

327,336 

$13,520,043 

On demand 

$29,776,866 
4,430,921 

10,625,082 
$44,832,869 

$8,569,122 

495,686 

$9.064,808 

Less than 
1 year 

$-

5,428,964 

$5,428,964 

$-
1,328,378 

31,625,945 

8,504,914 

$41,459,237 

Less than 
I year 

$-
4,881,011 

$4,881,011 

$-
1,153,929 

10,835,088 

9,636,827 
$21,625,844 

1 to 2 years> 2 to 5 years Total 

$- $- S24,511,493 
23,172,423 
12,428,669 

$ $ $60,112,585 

$- $- $13,192,707 
1,328,378 

31,625,945 
327,336 

16,579,760 24,450,000 49,534,674 
$16,579,760 $24,450,000 $96,009,040 

1 to 2 years > 2 to 5 years Total 

$- $- $29,776,866 

6,930 9,318,862 
10,625,082 

$6,930 $ $49,720,810 

$- $- $8,569,122 
·1,153,929 
10,835,088 

495,686 
7,953,550 7,163,975 24.754,352 

$7,953,550 $7,163,975 $45,808,177 

The Group uses the US dollar as its functional currency and is therefore exposed to foreign 
exchange movements, primarily in Philippine Peso currency, The Group follows a policy to 
manage its currency risk by closely monitoring its cash flow position and by providing forecast on 
all other exposures in non-US dollar currencies, 
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the foreign 
exchange rate. with all other variables held constant, of the Group's income before income tax as 
of December 31, 2016 and 201 5: 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
HTM investments 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other current assets 
Other noncurrent assets 
Total Financial Assets 
Financial Lia bility 
Trade and other payables 
Net Financial Assets 
II' 1 - $.0201 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Trade and other receivables 
Financial asset at FVPL 
HTM investments 
Amounts owed by related parties 
Other current assets 
Other noncurrent assets 
Total Financial Assets 
Financial Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Amounts owed to related parties 
Total Financial Liabilities 
Net Financial Assets 
II'I - $.0213 

December 31, 2016 
Original 

Currency in 
Php' 

1'48,683,931 
18,238,638 

512,565,468 
38,988,542 
53,002,204 

671,478,783 

80,312,280 
1'591,166,503 

Total Dollar 
Equivalent 

$979,l62 
371,520 

10,309,040 
784,162 

1,066,014 
l3,509,898 

1,615,291 
$11,894,607 

December 31, 2015 
Original 

Currency in Total Dollar 
Phpl Equivalent 

1>113,436,344 
5,760,369 

502,585,192 
41,652,610 
38,025,000 

2,144,234 
6,408,057 

710,011,806 

47,709,773 
374,513,357 
422,223,130 

P287,788,676 

$2,410,462 
122,405 

10,679,668 
885,096 
808,011 
45,564 

136,168 
15,087,374 

1,013,807 
7,958,210 
8,972,017 

$6,115,357 
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Foreign 
Currency 

Appreciates 
by 

Foreign 
Currency 

Appreciates 
by 

+5% 
+5% 

December 31, 2016 

Effect on Foreign 
Income Currency 

Before Tax Depreciates by 
($810,594) -6% 

96,917 -6% 
($713,677) 

December 31, 2015 

Effect on 
Income 

Before Tax 
($758,836) 

314,054 
($444,782) 

Foreign 
Currency 

Depreciates by 
-5% 
-5% 

Effect on 
Income 

Before tax 
$810,594 

(96,917) 
($713,677) 

Effect on 
Income 

Before tax 
$758,836 
(314,054) 
$444,782 

The change in currency rate is based on the Group's best estimate of its expected change 
considering the historical trends and experiences_ There is no other effect on the Group's equity 
other than those already affecting income before tax.. 

£&nita} Management 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder 
value. 

The Group's manages its capital structure, which pertains to its equity as shown in the balance 
sheet, and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made to the objectives, policies or 
processes in 2016 and 2015. 

The Company considers the following as capital: 

Common stock 
Preferred stock 
Additional paid-in capital 
Equity reserve 
Other comprehensive income 
Retained earnings 

2016 
$9,594,321 

221,239 
35,896,893 

4,138,375 
40,329 

24,884,576 
$74,735,404 

2015 
$9,594,321 

221,239 
35,896,893 

4,138,375 
526,420 

20,896,548 
$70,747,376 

As of December 31, 2016, the Group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
As of December 31,2016, the Group was able to meet its capital requirements and management 
objectives. 
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27. Fair Value Measurement 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the carrying values of the Group's financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their respective fair values, except for the following financial instruments: 

2016 2015 
Carrying Carrying 
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value 

Financial assets 
Financial assets at FVPL $503 $503 $19,447,248 $19,447,248 
HTM investments 371,520 71,520 889,789 965,286 

$372,023 $372,023 $20,337,037 $20,412,534 

Financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 

Lon~-term debts $43,859,971 $43,859,971 $23,216,421 $24,516,928 

Fair value is defined as the amount at which the fmaneial instrument could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between lmowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction, other 
than in a forced liquidation or sale. 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, loans to employees, trade and other 
payables, short-term loans, amounts owed by and owed to related parties and deposits 

The carrying amounts approximate fair value since these are mostly short-term in nature or a due 
and demandable. 

Financial assets at FVP L - UITF 
The investments in Unit Investment Trust Fund classified as financial asset at FVPL are stated at 
their fair value based on lowest level input (Level 2). 

Financial assets at FVPL - RCBC Senior Notes 
The investment in RCBC Senior Notes classified as financial asset at FVPL is stated at its fair 
values based on the quoted prices in an active market (Levell). 

HTM Investments 
The fair value ofHTM investments that are activety traded in organized financial markets is 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices. at the close of business on the reporting date 
or last trading day as applicable (Levell). 

Miscellaneous deposits 
The miscellaneous deposits are carried at cost since the timing and related amounts of future cash 
flows cannot be reasonably and reliably estimated for purposes of establishing its fair value using 
an alternative valuation technique. 

Long-term debt 
The fair value of long-term debt is based on the discounted value of future cash flows using the 
applicable rates for similar types of loans. Discounts rates used range from 3.63% to 3.700/0 in 
2016. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Group held the following financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or at cost, but 
for which fair values are disclosed and their corresponding level in fair value hierarchy: 

Financial assets measured at 
fair value 
Financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortized cost 
but for which fair values are 
disclosed 
HIM investments 
Long-term debt 

Financial assets measured at 
fair value 
Financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortized cost 
but for which fair values are 
disclosed 
HTM investments 
Long-term debt 

28, Equity 

a. Common Shares 

Total 

$503 

371,520 
36,977,844 

Total 

$19,447,248 

889,789 
24,516,928 

2016 
Levell Level 2 Level 3 

$503 $- $-

371,520 
36,977,844 

2015 
Levell Level 2 Level 3 

$8,767,580 $10,679,668 $-

889,789 
24,516,928 

The rollforward of the capital stock of the Parent Company follows: 

Number afshares 
Authorized - common shares cPI.OO par value) 
Issued 

Beginning of year 
Stock dividend - issued and distributed 

(see Note 15c) 
-Issuance of stock 
End of year 

Amount 
Issued - shares 419,063,353 in 2016 and 201 5 

2016 

520,000,000 

419,063,353 

419,063,353 

$9,594,321 

2015 

520,000,000 

308,239,419 

30,823,934 
80,000,000 

419,063,353 

$9,594,321 

On November 18,2011, the Parent Company listed with the PSE its common stock, wherein it 
offered 42,163,000 shares to the public at issue price ofP7 per share. The total proceeds with 
issuance of new shares amounted to 1>295.1 million ($6,8 million), The Parent Company 
incurred transaction costs incidental to the IPO amounting to P47.3 million ($1.1 million), 
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which is charged against "Additional paid-in capital" in 2011. As of December 31, 20 11, the 
Parent Company's has 162,163,000 issued common shares. 

On May 25, 2012, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to stockholders. 
On the same date, the stockholders approved and ratified to stock dividend payable to 
stockholders as of record as of June 8, 2012, distributed on June 29,2012. 

On September 14, 2012, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to 
stockholders of record as of December 21,2012, distributed on January 10, 2013. On 
December 7, 2012, the stockholders approved the twenty percent (20%) stock dividend. 

On January 16, 2013, the BOD declared a twenty percent (20%) stock dividend to 
stockholders. On the same date, the stockholders approved the stock dividend payable to 
stockholders of record as of March 15,2013, distributed on AprilS, 2013. 

On January 29,2014, the BOD also declared a ten (10%) stock dividend. During the special 
stockholders meeting dated July II, 2014, the shareholders approved and ratified the 
declaration of 10% stock dividend payable to stockholders of record as of July 25, 2014 and 
payment date of August 20,2014. 

On March 24, 2015, the BOD also declared a ten (10%) stock dividend. On May 12,2015, 
the shareholders approved and ratified the declaration of 10% stock dividend payable to 
stockholders of record as of May 26,2015 and payment date ofJune 18,2015. 

On March 24,2015, the Parent Company's BOD, by majority vote, and shareholders 
representing two-thirds of the. outstanding capital stock thereof approved the amendment of 
the articles of incorporation to increase the Parent Company' 5 authorized capital stock by 
PI60,000,000 or from P400,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 common shares with a par 
value ofP1.00 per share, to P560,000,000 divided into 520,000,000 common shares with a par 
value ofI'I.OO per share and 400,000,000 preferred shares with a par value ofI'O.! 0 per share. 

The BOD also authorized the Parent Company to offer 120,000,000 shares for sale or 
subscription through a follow-on offering (FOO). 

On July 22, 2015, the Philippine SEC approved the Company's application to increase its 
authorized capital stock. 

On November 4, 2015, the Parent Company's FOO was completed. The Parent Company 
issued 80,000,000 new shares at issue price. ofI'20 per share for a total amount of 
$34.2 minion. The Parent Company incurred transactions costs incidental to FOa amounting 
to $1.2 milliori which is charged against "Additional paid-in capital" in the 2015 consolidated 
balance sheet. 

On October 24, 2016, the Parent Company's BOD approved by majority vote the amendment 
of the articles of incorporation to increase the Parent Company's authorized capital stock by 
PI,440,000,000 or from '1'560,000,000 divided into 520,000,000 common shares with a par 
value of'l'1.00 per share and 400,000,000 preferred shares with a par value ofI'O.IO per share 
("Preferred A" shares), to I'2,000,000,000 divided into 1,400,000,000 common shares with a 
par value of'l'1.00 per share and 600,000,000 preferred shares classified into I'I40,000,000 
"Preferred A" with a par value ofI'I.00 per share, and '1'460,000,000 worth of new preferred 
shares, the par values, series, classes, preferences, convertibility voting rights and other 
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features of which shall be determined by the Parcnt Company's BOD. The stockholders have 
yet to vote on these matters as of April 12, 2017. 

Parent Company Shares Held by a Subsidiary 
On December 23, 2016, CEC acquired a total of112,018,659 common shares of the Parent 
Company for P2.3 billion ($49.6 million). The shares purchased were recorded at cost and 
deducted from equity in the consolidated balance sheet. 

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company has a total number of25 and 19 
stockholders, respectively_ 

b. Preferred Shares 

Number of shares 
Authorized (1'0.10 par value) 
Subscribed 

Amount 
Subscribed - 400,000,000 shares (net of 

subscriptions receivable amounting to 
$663,717) 

2016 

400,000,000 
400,000,000 

$221,239 

2015 

400,000,000 
400,000,000 

$221,239 

In 2015, the 400,000,000 preferred shares at par value of 1'0.10 were subscribed by Camerton, 
a principal shareholder of the Parent Company. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, unpaid 
subscriptions amounted to $663,717. 

The features of the preferred shares are (i) full voting rights, one vote for each share; 
(ii) preferred non-cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 1 % of their par value per year, with 
no participation in further cash dividends which may be declared and paid to the common 
shares or any other class or series of shares; and (iii) the same stock dividends which may be 
declared and paid to the common shares or any other class or series of shares. 

c. Retained Earnings 

On February 23, 2015, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
of $1 ,200,000 or $0.003893 per share, payable on March 27, 2015 to stockholders of record as 
of March 10, 2015. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at Bangko Sentral ng 
Pilipinas (BSP) exchange rate one day before payment date. 

On August 10, 2015, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
of$891,200 or $0.002628 per share for each of339,063,353 fully paid and issued common 
shares and $8,800 or $0.000022 per share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred 
shares, amounting to an aggregate sum of $900,000, for payment and distribution on 
August 28, 2015 to shareho Iders of record of August 25, 2015. The cash dividend shall be 
paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

On January 28, 2016, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
of $0.0050 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and 
$0.000021 pef share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to 
an aggregate sum of $2,100,000, for payment and distribution on February 29, 2016 to 
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shareholders of record of February 12,2016. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine 
Peso at the BSP exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

On June 9, 2016, the Parent Company's BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of 
$0.00362 per share for each of 419,063,353 fully paid and issued common shares and 
$0.000001 per share for each of the 400,000,000 outstanding preferred shares, amounting to 
an aggregate sum of $1,520,000, for payment and distribution on July 7, 2016 to shareholders 
of record of June 23, 2016. The cash dividend shall be paid in Philippine Peso at the BSP 
exchange rate one day prior to payment date. 

29. Commitments 

The following are the signi-ficant commitments and contingencies involving the Group: 

OutsourCing Manufacturing Agreement COMA) 
On July 30, 2014, CATS entered into an OMA (herein referred to as the "Agreement") with 
RBWHl in conjunction with the Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) entered into between CEIC and 
RBWHl. CATS will perform manufacturing services to RBWHl in accordance with the 
production files and specifications as provided in the Agreement. The contract term is for ten (10) 
years with automatic renewal of additional one (1) year period. All payments to CATS shall be 
made in US Dollars and shall be paid sixty (60) days after the receipt of the invoice. 

Master Service Agreement (MSA) 
CATS entered into an MSA with RBWHI on July 30, 2014 where CATS will provide to RBWHI 
the services of selected employees and consultants (or "Business Services") of CATS. CATS 
shall be responsible for and shall timely pay any and all compensation and benefits payable to the 
employees of and consultants of CATS who perform Business Services. MSA has a ten (10) year 
term with automatic renewal of additional one year period. 

Manufacturing Services Agreement MSA} 
On October 20, 2015, CATS, "the Seller", entered into a manufacturing service agreement with a 
customer. whereas the customer desires to purchase the products defined in the agreement 
specifically for its latest range of mm-Wave converter products. The term of the agreement is 3 
years from the effective date subject to automatic renewal for one year every year thereafter. 

On November 4,2015, CATS and Quintel Technology Ltd. entered into a master supply 
agreement that covers the manufacturing of specific antennas and other Quintel products set forth 
in individual purchase order agreements. The initial term for this agreement shall be for a period 
of 3 years. CATS shall also provide support services for the following: New Product Introduction, 
Production experiments, and Mass volume production. All payments to CATS shall be placed 
within 90 days following the end of the month after receipt of invoice. 

On April 20, 2016, the contract was amended to extend the contract term, from a period of3 years 
to a period of 5 years from the commencement date of the original agreement. 
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30. Note to Statement of Cash Flows 

The Group has noncash investing activity representing the transfer of ownership over the assets 
and liabilities assumed related to the acquisition of eATS entities in 2014, as discussed in Note 4 
to the consolidated financial statements. This transaction has resulted to an increase in certain 
assets and liabilities as enumerated in Note 4. 

3 I. Other Matters 

CEC is a defendant in certain legal cases which are currently pending before the courts and other 
government bodies. In the opinion of management and CEC's legal counsel, any adverse decision 
on these cases would not materially affect the consolidated financial position as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 and results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 
2015 and 2014. 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES' 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Schedule Contents 
Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

I Map Showing the Relationships Between and Among the Companies in the 
Group, its Ultimate Parent Company and Co-subsidiaries 

II Schedule of All Effective Standards and Interpretations Under Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards 

III Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration 
IV Financial Soundness Indicators 

Supplementary Schedules 
A Financial Assets 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 
Parties, and Principal StocklJOlders (Other than Related parties) 

Amounts Receivable from Related Parties and Amounts Payable to Related 
Parties which are Eliminated dUling the Consolidation of Financial 
Statements 

Intangible Assets - Other Assets 

Long-Term Debt 

Indebtedness to Related Parties 

G Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

H Capital Stock 
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CrRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
MAP SHOWING THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN AND AMONG THE 
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DECEMBER 31, 2016 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE OF EFFECTIVE STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Framework for the Preparation and Presentatioll of 
Financial Statements 
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative 
characteristics 

PFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary 

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

PFRSl 
(Revised) 

First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards 

Amendments to PFRS 1 and PAS 27: Cost of an 
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled 
Entity or Associate 

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional 
Exemptions for First-time Adopters 

Amendment to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption 
from Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for 
First-time Adopters 
~~~~~---------.~----+-----~------~----~ 
Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation 

PFRS2 

PFRS3 
(Revised) 

and Removal of Fixed Date for First-time 
Adopt~TS 

Amendments to PFRS 1; Government Loans 

Share-based Payment 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions 
and Cancellations 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment Transactions 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Definition of Vesting 
Condition 

Amendments to PFRS 2: Classification and 
Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions* 

Business Combinations 

Amendments to PFRS 3 : Accounting for 
Contingent Consideration in a Business 
Combination 

Amendments to PFRS 3 : Scope Exceptions for 
Joint Arrangements 

*These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards WIll become effectIve subsequent to 
December 31, 2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 

IIIIII~I~ 1~1~1I1 ~III~ 1I1111mlmili m~mll~ 

-n ····n 



" 

2 

""..-r~ ~~~ ,...,., ... "",...,--,.,,~ "" --" ~~-~".V-;-'= ~,.,...,""="' ~ .IE:" fm ;""' J~"tiH '':ii~. j;' Q;:, ;'\'<-~t'ii",~1 :n~ U~'!t'lX~f!m~ JI\rnm1l1 F,: ~':;> "i,!,qr ~" '~7)!i1"j:;rc:~"r~bJ\~'I'\~ r~ ''T, - ., T "'""'-,' "".- -i; , ,'1, ,", l "I"~.--'·~'''' "' .. ,c ~ t",,,, '1. C":1!'J'!:;!'j"J,' .IeI ·"m C<J'·':., . .' ~ l,,;j'i~'~ !i..tl;'·~;;{,,'~' " .•.. .:;t~rl:!!.t,!i.l"~~.~:" " '" '.' , ... ' J; ,\, ':~ t~ ""'il 
~!tf~r~~$§:~(r~~J~~~iJ}JX!;~~!f?~h~i:.i~l~~~~W~~~~: ~~1l:.t~bj~~~TIlr~~~1lf~' 
PFRS4 Insurance Contracts -/ 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial 
Guarantee Contracts -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS 9, 
Financial Instruments, with PFRS 4* -/ 

PFRS5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations -/ 

Changes in Method of Disposal -/ 

PFRS6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources -/ 

--
PFRS7 Financial Instruments Disclosures -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Transition -/ 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: 
Reclassification of Financial Assets -/ 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: 
Reclassification of Financial Assets - Effective 
Date and Transition -/ 

AmendmentS to PFRS 7: Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures -
Transfers of Financial Assets -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures-
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective 
Date ofPFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Applicability of the 
Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim 
Financial Statements -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts -/ 

PFRS8 Operating Segments -/ 

Amendments to PFRS 8 : Aggregation of 
Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the 
Total of the Reportable Segments' Assets to the 
Entity's Asset -/ 

PF'RS 9 Financial Instruments * -/ 

>+These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31,2016. The Parent Company did not early adopllhese standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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PFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements ./ 

Amendments to PFRS 10: Transition Guidance 

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 
27-: Investment Entities 

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and 
PAS 28, Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception 

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture'" ./ 

PFRS 11 lointArrangements 

Amendments to PFRS 11: Transition Guidance 

Amendments to PFRS 11: Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in loint Operations 

PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities ./ 

Amendments to PFRS 12: Transition Guidance 

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and 
PAS 27: Investment Entities 

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and 
PAS 28, Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception 

Clarification of the Scope of the Standard* ./ 

PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement ./ 

Amendments to PFRS 13 : Portfolio Exception 

PFRS14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

PFRSl5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers* ./ 

PFRS 16 Leases* ./ 

l'hilippine Accounting·Standards 

PASl Presentati..on of Financial Statements ./ 

(Revised) Amendment to PAS 1: Capital Disclosures ./ 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable 
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising 
on Liquidation 

Amendments to PAS I: Presentation of Hems of 
Other Comprehensive Income ./ 

Amendments to PAS 1, Disclosure Initiative ./ 

*These standards. interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31,2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretatiofjs and amendments. 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

if 



PAS 7 

PASS 

PASl2 

PAS 16 

PAS 19 
(Revised) 

PAS 20 

]'AS 21 

4 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Initiative* 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors 

: Deferred Tax: 
Assets 

Amendments to PAS 12: Recognition of 
Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses* 

Plant and Equipment 

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38: 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortization 

Amendments to PAS 16 and 38: Proportionate 
Restatement of Accumulated Amortization 

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 41: Bearer 
Plants 

Amendments to PAS 19: Actuarial Gains and 
Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures 

Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount 
Rate 

to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: 

for Government Grants and 
Government Assistance 

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates 

Alnendlment:Net Investment in a Foreign 

./ 

./ 

>t<The.se standards. interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31,2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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PAS 23 

PAS 24 
(Revised) 

PAS 26 

PAS 27 
(Amended) 

PAS 28 
(Amended) 

29 

PAS 32 

5 

Borrowing Costs 

Key Management Personnel 

Accounting and Reporting by Retirement 
Benefit Plans 

Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 
27: Investment Entities 

Amendment: Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 
28, Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception 

Amendments to PAS 28: Measuring an 
Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value'" 

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies 

Financial Instruments: Disclosure and 
Presentation 

Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable 
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising 
on 

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights 
Issues 

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities 

33 Earnings per Share 

PAS 34 

PAS 36 

Disclosure of Infonnation 'Elsewhere in the 
Interim Financial Report' 

Impairment of Assets 

Amendment to PAS 36: Impairment of 
Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 
Non-Financial Assets 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

./ 

"'These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31, 2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 

./ 

./ 
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PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets v' 

PAS 38 Intangible Assets v' 

Amendments to PAS 16 and PAS 38: 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortization 

PAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement v' 

Amendments to PAS 39: Tran5;ition and Initial 
Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities 

Amendments to PAS 39: Cash Flow Hedge 
Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions 

Amendments to PAS 39: The Fair Value Option y' 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial 
Guarantee Contracts 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: 
Reclassification of Financial Assets 

Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: 
Reclassification of Financial Assets - Effective 
Date and Transition 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation 
IFRlC-9 and PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives 

Amendment to PAS 39: Eligible Hedged Items 

Amendment to PAS 39: Novation of 
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting 

PAS 40 Investment Property 

Interrelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 

Amendments to PAS 40: Transfers of 
Investment Property* 

PAS 41 Agriculture 

Philippine Interpretations 

IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, 
Restoration and Similar Liabilities 

IFJUC 2 Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and 
Similar Instruments 

*These standards. interpretations and amendments to existIng standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31. 2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 

v' 

y' 

y' 

v' 

v' 

y' 

v' 

y' 

v' 

y' 

y' 

v' 

v' 

y' 

y' 
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- IFRIC4 Determining 'Whether an Arrangement Contains 
a Lease v' 

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests arising from 
Decommissioning, Restoration and 
Environmental Rehabilitation Funds v' 

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a 
Specific Market - Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Equipment v' 

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under 
PAS 29 Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies v' 

IFIUC 8 Scope ofPFRS 2 v' 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives v' 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation 
IFRlC - 9 and PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives v' 

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment v' 

{FRIC 11 PFRS 2- Group and Treasury Share 
Transactions v' 

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements v' 

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes v' 

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their 
Interaction v' 

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations 
IFRIC- 14, Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement v' 

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate'" v' 

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign 
Operation v' 

IFRlC 17 Distributions afNon-cash Assets to Owners v' 

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers v' 

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments v' 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine v' 

URIC 21 Levies v' 

"These standards. interpretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31. 2016. The Parent Company did not early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 
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IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration* 

SIC-7 Introduction of the Eura 

SIC-IO Government Assistance - No Specific Relation 
Activities 

SIC-2S Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an 
its Shareholders 

SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
the Legal Fonn of a Lease ./ 

SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures 

SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving 
Advertising Services 

SIC-32 - Web Site Costs 

"These standards, irlte/pretations and amendments to existing standards will become effective subsequent to 
December 31, 2016. The Parent Company did riot early adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments. 

./ 

./ 
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CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR 
DIVIDEND DECLARATION 
DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Unappropriated retained earnings, as adjusted, beginning 

Add: Net income actually earned/realized during the period 

Net income during the period closed to retained eanlings 

Add: Non-actual losses 
Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax 

Net income actually earned during the period 

Unappropriated retained earnings, as adjusted, ending 
Less: Cash dividends declared 

Retained earnings available for dividend declaration 

$3,670,480 

$405,556 

3,670,480 

4,076,036 
(3,620,000) 

$456,036 
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cmTEKHOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 
FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Ratios Formula 
Current Assets/Current 

(i) Current Ratio Liabilities 
(ii) Debt/Equity Ratio Bank Debts/ Total Equity 
(iii) Net Debt/Equity 

Ratio Bank Debts-Cash & 
Equivalentsrrotal Equity 

(iii) Asset to Equity 
Ratio Total Assetsrrotal Equity 

(iv) Interest Cover 
Ratio EBlTDNInterest Expense 

(v) Profitability 
Ratios 
GPMargin Gross Profit/Revenues 
Net Profit Margin Net IncomelRevenues 
EBITDA Margin· EBlTDA/Revenues 
Return on Assets Net Income/Total Assets 

Return on Equity Net Income/Total Equity 

December 31, December 3 1 , 
2016 2015 

1.54 3.11 
2.99 0.48 

2.02 0.06 

4.86 1.69 

8.90 6.90 

0.17 0.16 
0.10 0.09 
0.16 0.15 
0.06 0.04 
0.30 0.07 
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SCHEDULE A 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2016 

Name of 
Issuing entity 

and association 
of each issue 

Cash and cash equivalents N/A 
Trade and other receivab les N/A 
Financial asset at FVPL NlA 
Amounts owed by related 

parties NlA 
Other current assets: 

Rental deposit N/A 
Security deposit N/A 
Loan to employees NlA 

HTM investments N/A 
AFS rmancial asset N/A 
Other noncurrent assets: 

Loans to employees N/A 
Miscellaneous deposits N/A 

Amount shown in 
the balance sheet 

$24,511,493 
23,172,423 

503 

12,436,575 

1,131,399 
180,387 
239,823 
371,520 

1,667,000 

7,889 
135,559 

$63,854,571 

Valued based on 
market quotation at 
the end of reporting 

period 
$24,511,493 

23,172,423 
503 

12,436,575 

1,131,399 
180,387 
239,823 
371,520 

1,667,000 

7,889 
135,559 

$63,854,571 

Income 
received or 

accrued 
$172,196 

199,537 

8,362 

$380,095 
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SCHEDULED 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENT ARY SCHEDULE OF AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM 
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES, AND 
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS (OTHER THAN RELATED PARTIES) 
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Amounts Receivable from Officers, Employees and Related Parties 

Name and designation of 
debtor 
Jerry Liu (Chairman) 
Employees 

Name and designation of 
debtor 
Cirtek Holdings, Inc. 
Camerton, Inc. 
Cayoll Holdings, Inc. 

Balance at beginning of Amounts 
period Additions collected 

$8,558,051 $1,750,990 $ 
122,062 30,306 35,866 

$8,680,113 $1,731,296 $35,866 

Amounts owed by Related Parties 

Balance at beginning of Amounts 
period Additions collected 

$1,809,256 $ $ 
33,161 78,833 

206,284 
$2,048,701 $78,833 $-

Current Not Current 
$10.309.041 $ 

116,502 
$10,425.543 $-

Current Not Current 
$1,809,256 $ 

111,994 
206,284 

$2,127,534 $-

Balance at 
the end of 
the period 

$10,309,041 
116,502 

$10,425,543 

Balance at 
the end of 
the period 

$1.809.256 
111,994 
206,284 

$2,127,534 

/, 
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SCHEDULEC 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM 
RELATED PARTIES WHICH ARE ELIMINATED DURING THE 
CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF AND FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31,2016 

Receivables from related e$lTties which arc eliminated during the consolidation 

Balance at Amounl 
beginning of Amount written 

Name and desi!!:nation ofdebtOi eeriod Additions collected off Cunent Noncurrent 
Cirtek Electronics Corporation $13,121,898 $61.154,767 32,474,001 $ $41,802,664 $ 
Cirtek Electronics International 

Corporation 21,851,682 20,170,54-8 19,006,369 23,015,861 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines 

Corporation 40,769,256 49,566,534 90,335,790 
Cirtek Advanced Technologies 

and Solutions, Inc. 4,354,635 12,641 4,367,276 
RBW Rea\t~ and ProEe~~ Inc. 2971394 174/775 221619 

$8°1 394,865 $130,904,490 $51,755,145 $ $159,544,210 $--

Amounts owed b~ relatcd ~arties which are eliminated during tbe consolidation 

Balance at Amount 
beginning of Amount written 

Name and designation of debtor eeriod Additions collected off Current Not current 
Cirtek Electronics Corporation $50,897,1119 $69,737,287 $18,622,689 $ $102,011,787 $ 
Cirtek Electronics International 

Corporation 9,000,000 1,131,522 938,706 9.192,816 
Cirtek Advanced Technologies 

and Solutions, Inc. 5,877,751 19,1&3,720 834,053 24,227,418 
Cirtek Holdings Philippines 

Corporation 10,265,290 41,696,069 32,023,638 19,937,721 
RBW Realty and Property, Inc. 4,354,635 180,167 4,174,468 

$80,394,865 $131,74&,598 152,599,253 $- $159,544,210 $ 

Balance 
al end of 

eeriod 
$41,802,664 

23,015,861 

90.3]5,790 

4,367,276 
22,619 

$159,544,210 

Balance at end 
ofe:eriod 

$102,011,787 

9,192,816 

24,227,418 

19,937,721 
4,1741468 

S159,544,21O 
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SCHEDULED 

CIRTEKHOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS - OTHER 
ASSETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Intangible Assets - Other Assets 
Other 

Charged to Charged to changes 
Beginning Additions cost and other additions Ending 

DescriEtion Balance at cost EX2enses accounts (deductions} Balance 

Product development 
costs $569,942 $547,166 $194,888 $- $- $922,220 
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SCHEDULE E 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT 
AS OF DECEMJ1ER 31, 2016 

Title of issue and type of obligation 

Notes payable 

Long-term Debt 

Amount authorized 
by indenture 
$44,250,000 

Amount shown 
under caption 

"current portion 
oflong-term" in 
related balance 

sheet 
$6,882,126 

Amount shown 
under caption 

I'long-term debt" in 
related balance 

sheet 
$36,977,845 
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SCHEDULEF 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED 
PARTIES (LONG-TERM LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES) 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 

Indebtedness to related parties (Long-term loans from related companies) 
Name ofrelated party Balance at beginning of period Balance at end of period 

Not Applies ble 
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SCHEDULEG 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF 
OTHER ISSUERS· 
AS OF DECEMBER 31,2016 

Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by the 
company for which this 
statement is filed 

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
Title of issue of 

each class of 
securities 

guaranteed 

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding 

Not Applicable 

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is file Nature of guarantee 
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SCHEDULEH 

CIRTEK HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL STOCK 
AS OF DECEMBER 31,2016 

Title of Issue 
Common Stock 
Preferred Stock 

Number of 
. shares 

authorized 
520,000,000 
400,000,000 

Capital Stock 
Number of shares Number of 

issued and shares reserved 
outstanding as for options 

shown under warrants, 
related balance conversion and 

sheet caption other rights 
419,063,353 

Number of 
shares held 

by related 
parties 

320,907,217 

Number of 
shares held 

by directors, 
officers and 
employees 

9 
Others 
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(A) Use of Form ACGR 

SECURITIES AND EXC'HANGE COMMISSION 

SEC FORM - ACGR 

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS 

,i, 
I 

, ' ~. . . : 
This SEC Form shall be used to meet the requlrements,of th~ Revised Code of, Corporate Governance. , " i 

(8) Preparation of Report i: ,'" J . 
These general Instructions are not to be filed \~i~h. th~- report. ;~e ,rn:;tr'u~tions to the various captions of the form 
shall not be omitted from the report as flled.- The rep9,rt shall c~nt~ln the numbers and captions of all items. If 
any Item Is Inapplicable or the answer thereto' is'lh tile negative, qll appropriate statement to that effect shaH be 
made. Provide an explanation on why the item dbes' 110"( apply to the company or on how the company's practice 

differs from the Code. ' , " :'1':' ,-
,I 

tC) Signature and Filing of the Report I ! 
I ii 

A. Three (3) complete sets of the report shali'be fileti'~l,ththe: Main :Offlce of the Commission. 

.' . .... . .····i . 
B. At least one complete copy of the report flied with th~ Comm,lsslon shall be manually signed. 

C. All reports shall comply with the full disc105;ure requirements of the Securities Regulation Code. 

D. This report is required to be.filed anniJal1y't6ge~her w1t'~ the company's annual report. 

(D) Filing an Amendment 

Any material change in the facts set forth in the report occurring within the year shall be reported through SEC 
Form 17-C. The cover page for the SEC Form 17-( shall indicate "Amendment to the ACGR". 

2 
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SEC FORM - ACGR . 
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. . 'y. 
ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT - '"jj ,-
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201i "., 
1, Report Is·Filed for the Year ........................ : .. :.: .... " ... :.,; ....... . 

2. 

- 3 . 

. " CIRTE'K HOLDINGS PHILIPPINES CORPORATION 

Exact Name of Registrant as Specified In its Charter':;'"':'':I'':''':''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''' 

116 EAST MAIN AVE., PHASE V, SEI.lA~UNA ~ECl"NO~~R~. BI~~N, l~~~~~, ',-::i 4024 . 
........................ - .... " ................. , ....... , ...... , ........ ,......... . .. ), ................................... , ........... .. 
Address of Principal Offl,:e. I ." " .' . . Postal Code 

'"C, 4. 

~ - 'i __ 

6. 

L:J.l.LllliU:t.13J 
SEC Identification Number "." ..............• " .. ; .... :., .. ·, .• ".: .•.. "".,5. :_ (SEC Use Only) 

. In~assification Code 
" '" 

. " .007-979-726 ' 
BIR Tax Identification Number ..........•... "" ...... " ... :" ... ""." .. · ........ "',,. "". 

+632729-62-05/ +63 49 541-23-17 . 
7. 

Issuer's Telephone number, including area code 

8 .. " ......... " ............ "" .... " .... " ................. " ... , ............. "" ... , ..... . 
Former name or former address, if changed from the last report 
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A. BOARD MAnERS 

1) Board of Directors 

(al Composition of the Board 

Complete the table with informatl'on on the Board of Directors: 

(b) Provide a brief summary of the c9rpora'te goverriant~'poilcy that the board of-directors has adopted. Please 
emphasize the pollcy/les relative to the tre,a.tl1.lent of a 1.1 I sharehold.ers, respect for the rights of minority 
shareholders and of other stakeholders .. dI5c1os0r~ duties, a'nd board responsibilities. 

Treatment of all shareholders 
, ,.1 

Each share is entitled to one vote that may be ex~rcised Inperson oriby proxy. The shareholders have the right to elect, 
remove and replace directors and vote on certain corporate acts if! a~cordance with the Corporation Code. 

o "1. 
It is the duty of the directors to promote shareholders ,rights, rerrlov~ 'im'pedlments to the exercise of shareholders 
rights and provide effective redress for violation 0/ their,rights. Th'ey shoff encourage the exercise of shareholders f 
voting rights .and the solution 0/ col/ectlve actfon.pr~';lerrl5 thro!1gh appropriate mechanisms. 

, , '. , . 

Respect for the rights of minority shareholders and of o'the; stakeholders 
, .1, " " 

,I 
The Board of Directors recognizes and sa/eguard!j the tfgftts·o/eYery shareholder. It promotes shareholders' rights, 
particularly the rights to information and to participate in the governance process. It supplements and complements the , . 

Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the:Combany, which princlp.al/y contain the basic structure of governance, The 
shareholders are given the priv{/ege to vote on al(matters-that reQ!1ire5. consent; Inspect corporate books and records; 

rights to in/ormation; rights to divIdends; and appraIJal.'rj~h,t. 

Disclosure duties 

The Boord'sholl commit at al/ times to adequately' and timely disclose 0/1 material information that could potentially 
affect the Company's share prIce and such other fn/ormation·· that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the SRC 
and its Implementing Rules and Regulations as :wen ,os' o.ther relevant laws. This information inc/ud.r:! but are not 
limited to earnings results, Qcqulsltfon or disposal of s(gnl!icant assets, Off balance sheet transactions, changes, in 
Board membership as well as changes in shqreholdings of directors and officers, and rel]1Unerotion of directors and 
officers and related party transactions. . 

1 Reckoned from the election Immediately following January 2, 2012. 
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Board responsibilities 

The Board shall exert its best effort to ensure a high standard a/best practice for the Company, its shareholders and 
stakeholders. To do 50, it shalf perform all the functions which it is required to perform in the Company's By-Laws with 
honesty and integrity. Its duties and responsibiliti~~ as'de/ined include: 1. Conduct fair business transactions with the 
company and ensure that personal interest 'does not b;a~ Boord deci~(ons .. 2. Devote time and attentfon necessary to 
properly discharge his duties and respons;bllftfes.: 3. Act judicidi.l.s/y. 4. Exercise Independent Judgment. 5. Have a 

working know/edge of the statutory and regulatory r.equ/r~riients. 6. Observe confidentiality. 7. Ensure the continuing 
soundness, effectiveness and adequacy of the Cofl1pony's ~ontrol environment. 8. Prior to assuming office, attend a 
seminar on corporate governance. 

(cl How often does the Board review and approv,e the vision and mission? Every two yeors 

(d) Directorship In Other Companies 

0) Directorship in the Company's Gro~~2.... .: .J . 
Identify, as and If applicable, the ITjembers of the company's Board of Directors who hold the office of 
director in other companies ~Ithln Its ~roup;' j. 

Director 

Anthony Buyawe Director 

(11) Directorship in Other Listed Companies 

h b·····f ·h.,c,;~pa,1V" Board of Directors who are also directors of Identify, as and if applicable, t e mem ers o. ~ 
publicly-listed companies ou'tslde of It.s:Gro·u~: ' 

(iii) Relationship within the Company'and its Group 

Provide details, as and if applic~ble, 'Of any rel;tion among the members of the Board of Directors, which 
links them to significant sharehold~rs' in' the company and/or In its group; 

>" . 

"~IIZ,~;,;i'_~li 1~1;'~ ';r ': "~l7, \l'll~~l;:~~~,lt'~:J~'-' 'if. t.~'r; !"~;I[i~~J,i~;i;t.~lj " " 

~ 
, . '"~, .. , ,'. l' "- ' J, . . . . . ~ .. -'-- . -.. ,~ 

Jerry Uu Camerton Inc. Shareholder 

I. 
. , . .. 

Z The Group is composed of the parent, s.ubsldiarles: a~SO~iates' a ndJoint ventures of the company. 
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(iv) Has the company set a limit on ,the" nU.~ber 'o,f board seats in other companies (publicly listed, ordinar 
and .companles V:lt~ secondary license.) that ~n: in.dividual director or CEO may hold simultaneouslyi' I~ 
particular, is the limit of flve.board seats In .otherpubllcly listed companies Imposed and observ d? If 
briefly descrIbe other gUidelines:' ' eyes, 

A director ~lJall exercise -due discretion .'in :atceptlng, and holding of directorships outsIde of the 
co~~any. A dIrector may hold any number of ~irect~rshrps outside of the Company provIded that these other 
POSitIOns do not de~ract from the dlrector;'s capoc/~}1 to dil[gent/V-perform his dutIes as a 'director of the 
Company. I 

(el Shareholding In the Company 
>1 

I, 
Complete the following table o~ the members-ofthe; co;"pa:ny'.5 Bpard. of Directors who directly and Indirectly 
own shares In the company: ... . .. . i ; . 

~~;:;;~:;~~~h~~l~'\l' ~ ~ ~~~~~~'~i:~.l~~lmm;ii;]f ~;jl: Jf~~~i~'~'~~;"';;I:I'; i! ";I;;~ 
r,',,,. 'r ~1 !JJ r ' 1 " ~ f' I I">if'~ "'f' 1j I i lJ:"' ' ~~ .".. ... ~ .• ....;..w.:. E:'"'- ,,;,', ., '~;.;' -<.. • ,! ~'J:."-i .J{ - . 'lbt ·~U~ r\ ';"·JK·/<·(>.rj,l),} J ._< -,J 

Jerry Uu 1 , , 8 16847995 70,6, 
Anthony Buyawe ·,·1 ·i:' 0 0 
Jorge Aguilar .,; 1. : .' , 0 0 
Nlcanor Uzares ' i·. , . , ·0 0 

-
R~fael Estrada 1, , 

, 
500,000 a 

Martin Lorenzo :1 
, a 0 

Ernest Fritz Server ii , . " . ;: 
0 . 0 

TOTAL 
.'. ,. 

7 . r : 168,979,985 70.6 

21 Chairman and CEo'.':i.' i! 
(a) Do different persons assume the role 6f ChaIrman cif the; Boar~ of Directors and CEO? If no, describe the 

checks and balances laid down to ensure th~tthe'a.i)ard·gets the benefit of Independent vIews. 
. . . .. ' I . 

Yes 0 No., 

(bl Roles, Accountabilities and Deliverables 

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities an~ deliverable!; of the Chairman a nd CEO. 

Role 

Ensure effec~ive operation of the Board 
and its committees ~n-conformity with 
the highest standards of corporate 
governance. 

Ensure effectlv~ comm'unic'at;on With .. 
shareholders, regulato~s and dther 
stakeholders and that the vIews of these 
groups are understood by the -Bdard. 

Set the agenda, style and tone of Board 
discussions to promote constructive 
debate and effective. ded~ion~,making. 

Ensure that all Bo"ar.d G:omrnitte.es are· 
. properly established, composed <1nd· 
operated. '.: 

, 

I 
I 

• • •• 1 

_1.1 
i 

Develop strategy proposals for 
recommendation to the Board and 
ensure that agreed strategies are 
reflected in the business. 

Develop annual plans, consistent 
with agreed strategies, for 
presentation to the Board for 
support. 

Plan human resourcing to ensure 
that the Company has the 
capabilities and resources required 
to achIeve Its plans. 

.Develop an organIsational structure 
and establishprocesses and systems 
to·ensure the efficient organisation 
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, Ensure cornprehensive, inductibn ' ' 
programmes for new. directors rind 
updates for all dlrecto'~s as an,d when, " 
necessary. 

Support the Chief Executive in the 1 
development of strategy and~ _m{,'re' . ,I 

broadly, to support and advise thechi~1 
Executive. ", i 

" I' " .' .. " ... ' ill 
Maintain access to senior. manag~menti 
as Is necessary and uS~ful/ but not J; 
intrude on the Chief ~xec'·utive,'s·. 'i'·' 
re,sponslbilities. ",!. 

. . .1 
Prpmote effective relatlons~ips and , 

communicatIons betWeenll1olJ·~.xe_c:uti~e 
directors and members of t~~ _Gr~_u'p ,"/' 

Ensure that th~ pertQrmanc~ 'of the -' . 

of resources. 

Be responsible to the Board for the 
perfqrmance of the b~slness 
consIstent with agreed plans, 
strategies and policies.' 

lead the executive team, including 
the' development of performance 
contracts and appraisals. 

Ehsure that financial result, business 
s~rategles and, where approprIate, 
targets and milestones are 
:cdmmun!cated to the Investment 
community. 

Develop and promote effective 
c~mmunlcat1on with shareholders 
and other relevant constituencies. 
;.i 

Executive Committee: ' ',.,[' .' 

Board, Its main commlttee~ ~nd .' i' '. Ensure that bUsiness performance Is 
individual directors is f~~~~IIy. evaluated . consIstent with the ·Buslness 
on an annual b~SlS.: : '" 'principles. 

I: 

Establish a harmoni.ous and open 
relationship with th,e Chief E,x~cu~l.~e,: ; 

, . 

Ensure that robust management 
~uccesslon and management , 
development plans are'ln place and 
presented to the,Board from time to 
lime, 
, 

Develop ,processes and structures to 
ensure that capital investment 

proposals are reviewed thoroughly, 

that associated risks 'are identified 

and appropriate steps taken to 
manage the risks. 

Develop and maintain an effective 
framework of Internal controls over 
risk In relation to all bUsiness 
ac'tivities including the Group's 
tradIng activities. 

Ensure that the flow of informatlon 
to the Board;s accurate, timely and 
dear. 

Establish a ciose relationship 01 trust 
with the Chairman, reporting key 
developments to him in a timely 
manner and seekIng advice and 
support as appropriate. 

Accountabilities Responsible for leadership bfth~ Boar~ 
i 

, Responsible 'for leaderShip of the 
business and managing It within 
the authorities delegated by the 
Board. 

, , ' " 

Deliverables 
, 

, 
I 
I , 

"i 

" 

1 
"I 

1 

I 
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3) Explain how the board of directors p1ans..for the'SUCC1i!5Slon of ,the CEO/Mcmaging Director/President and the to 

key management positions? . ,j.. . . 'i".: ',>j :,1' . '. . P 

Then Company recognizes the importance oi.s~.~C·~~-Sio.n: plan'n)~g i~ '~ul!dlng a lead~rship pipeline/talent pool to 
ensure leadership continuity. ',. ,"' .. -. .1: ;' . 

.".' I, . 

. ~' i 
Succession planning In the Company lnvolves-~h:e fal,lowlng steps: (1-) analyzing company strategy a~d Identifying 
core competencies and technical competenci€ls.re~u·ired to rmlJ!1tain and build a strong, sustainable organization, 
(2) ide.ntifying internal talent with critical COnipetE!n:les;, .a~d·~~se. SSln.g needs for external talent (3) lmpl~menting' 
retention programs and recruitment strategle~,' (4) monitoring 'performance of talent pool. 

. ,. ..... .. ·'·1·' if 
i .... , . : " 

4) Other Executive, Non-Executive and indeperident.Directclrs ,'i' ." !: 

Does the. company have a policy of ensurln~ d;~er"~it~ 'of ~x~er';enJ 'and background of directors In the board? 
Please explain. .. " i ' 

I , 
Directors sitting in the Board shaff be possessed of the'necessdry skills, 'adequate competence and understanding 
of the fundamentals of doing business: or sufficient experience 'and :cbmpetence in managing Q business. He must 
possess Integrity, probity and shall be diligent and assiduoj;s fh the pei-forming his functions. , . " . .' ! 
Does It ensure that at least one non-executiv~ dire~t~r has an exper'lence in the sector or industry the company 
belongs to? Please explain. i 

! 
Yes. The presence of a non-executive director w;'th experience in the'same sector augments in-house knowledge 
and at the same time provides on obje~tlve perspective on ,:mportant maUers such as fndustry trends, competition, 
and company capabilities. 

Define and clarify the roles, accountabilities and d~l1verables 'of the ~xecutlve, Non-Executive and Independent 
Directors: 

Role 

Accountabilities 

manage the buslnes~ 

affairs of the Corporation 
upon the direction of the 

Board of Directors and 
Implement the 

administrative pol.icies qf 
the corporation under his·, 
supervision and control'·' 

• He represents the 
corporation at all 
functions and 
proceedings 

• To execute on behalf of 
all 

He.should act in the best 
interest of the Company 
1n a manner 

ch.aract.erized by' 
tr.u;sparetlcy, . 

·accountabilityand 
fairness. ' , 

.He shOUld exercise 
.Ieadership, prudence 
and' integrity in 

: directi~g the Company 
t6wa~ds' s~stained 
progress Over the long 
. I 
term. '(.'i 

of trust and confidence. 

Heshould act in the best 
interest of the Company 
in a manner 
characterized by 
transparency, 
accountability and 
fairness. 

He should exercise 
leadership; prudence 
and integrity in 
directing the Company 
towards sustained 
progress over the long 
term. 

He shall following: 

~I Cond'Llct fair business transactions with the 
ComR~ny a'nd ensure that personal interest 

.'do~.s not bias Board decisions . 
ii' ' time a 
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Deliverables 

contracts, agreements 
and other instrume~ts ! 

affecting the Interest'S 

.'dls~ha.rpe his dutfes and responsibilities 

• ,Af~J.u9IciOusIY, ' !'r" 
'. ,Exercise Independent judgment. 

of the corporation lin ' 

which will require the 
approval of the Bo~;:d 
of Directors. . . 

• To oversee the 
preparation of the 
budgets and 5ta~ements 
of accounts of the 
corporation: ' 

• To make reports to the. 
Board of Directors. 
To pertorm such'dutles 
as are Incident to his:' 
office Of are entrusted, 
to him by the Board of 
Directors 

He Is to InItiate and 
develop corporate 
objectives and policies 
and formulate long range 
projects, plans and 
programs for the app:roval 
of the Board of Directors, 
Including those for 
executive training, 
development"and, 
compensation 

,'. Have '~,worklng knowledge of the statutory ~nd 
, regulatory rf:!quirements 

, • Obser~e cQnfJdentlallty, 
,',:-: Erisur7 'the '~ont!nulng soundness, 

effe~tlve.ne5s arid adequacy of the Company's 
, cor'lt(ol environment 

• Pri,?r, to assuming office, attend a seminar on 
cO,rporate governa nce 

. I 

. . . 

To ensure good gcivernance ofthe Company, the 
Boa'rd'should e'st;;lb1ish the vision and mission ctnd 
strategic objectives and key poliCies and 
prc;i,~edur"es for the management of th'e 
co.mp~ny, as well as the mechanism for 
moni~oring and evaluating Management's 

,'p~rf~rmanc,e 

, ", ,,' ,,' i ' 
Provide the company's definition of "inde'pendence" a~d d~s,crlbe.the cpmpany's compliance to the definition. 

"i 

An Independent Director sh~1I mean a p~rsdn-, ~h'~,' a~ilri frOin: 'his fees and shareholdlngs, Is indep~ndent of 
management and free from any business ar other r~/ationship which could or could reasonably be perceived to, 
materially interfere with his exercise of Independent)~dgerrlent.in carrying'out his responsrbllities as a director of the 
corporation. . ' 

, ,1:" 

Does the company have a term limit of five t;bnsetUtlve years f~r independent directors? If after two years, the 
company wishes to bring back an independent director W'hc; had ~'erved for five years, does it limit the term for no 
more than four addItional years? Please explain.. ' i 

I.' .,. 
No term limit. 

5) Changes In the Board ,of Directors (Executive, Ncin~Ex"ecutlve and l~dependent Directors) 

(al Resignation/Death/Removal 

Indicate any changes In the composition qf tbe Bo",Lolf D11re<:torsthat happened during the period: 

None 

11 
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(b) Selection/AppoIntment, Re-electi~m, Diiquallfication, R~moval, Reinstatement and Suspension 

Describe the procedures for the 5electron/app~intment; ~e-eleciion, disqualification, removal, reinstatement 
and suspension of the members of the Boa'r'd of Directors. I Provide details of the proceSSes adopted 
(Including the frequency of election) and th¢ crlteri~ employed II"! each procedure: 

Ii) Executive Directors 

(iii) Independent Directors 

• The Board thiu Its 
'Nomination Committee pre­

screens the'q~aliflc'atlon of all 
n,ominees tq,the Board,of ' 
Dire~tors .. 

• -,Nominations shall be made In 
'I:'Yrft1n g, 

• Votlng,sh~.IFbe by secret 
ballot. 

• Cumt.ilativ·~ voting shall be' . 
allowed and each shareholder 
'~h~l.(h"av"e the right to vo~e In 
"person "br by proxy"the 
n~mber of shar"es: stan"dlng"ln 
his name a.t.record:.date. He 
may also ~o"te( suc"h"number.of 

"" shares" for as ~any persohs as 
"there"are:dl(e"ctors "or he" may 
cumulate iald shares and gIve" 
one cahdlda~e as many votes 
as the numoer" of "directors to 

. be ~Iecieil multipll~dby the 
number of His shai~s shall 

'equal; "or h~ may distribute 
them on "th"e sani"e>p"rinc1ples 

"amo"n'g as tnany dndidates as 
he shall!i! provided that the· 
tot"a] n~mbe"r ofvo'tes cast by 
hi~ ~hail n~t ~xc~e~ "the. 
humber of shares owned by 
him m'Jltlplled'bycthe whole 
number of ' to be 

,elected. CaiiditJat"sJece,;vlllg 

Same a$ stated above 

Qua Iifications of Directors: 
• Any stockholder having at 

least one (1) share of the 
capital stock of the Company 
registered in his name. 

• At least 21 years of age 
• Directors sitting in the Board 

shall possess necessary skills, 
adequate competence and 
experience in managing a 
business, 

• He must possess all the 
qualifIcations and none of 
the disqualifications of 
regular directors under 
Corporate Governance as 
prOVided. 

• Possesses Integrity, probity 
and shall be diligent and 
assiduous In the 
performance of his fUnctIons . 

• Other relevant qualifications, 
such as membership in good 
standing In business, 
professional organization or 
relevant Industry. 

Apart from above 
qualifications, additional 
criteria for Independent 
DIrectors as fonow: 

• a candidate for independent 
director must be 
independent of the 

management and free from 
any business or other 

relationship whIch could, or 
could reasonably be 

. I 
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(i) Executive Directors 

Nornlnatlo'n Committee shaU· 
-revieWand.evaluate.the' 
quallffcatlons Qf'all p.ersons:, 
nbrriinated to the,Bqard of 
Dlrec~ors, . ,I' 

I 
" 

. ",-, 

I . -'j' 

. 
\." i 

:1 ., 
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i 

': 
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Interfere with his exercise of 

Independent judgment In 
carryIng out his 

responsibilities as a director 
af the Corporation. 

• He must have been engaged 
in or exposed to the business 
of corporation for at least 
five 

D lsqua llflcatlons; 
., Persons who have been 

convicted by a competent 
Judicial or administrative 
body, of the following: 

> Any crime Involving 
purcl1ase or sale of 
securities as defined In 
Securities Regulation Code. 

> Any crime arising out of 
the person's conduct as an 
underwriter, broker, 
dealer, f.utures commission 
merchant, commodity 
trading advisor or floor 
broker. 

> Any crime arising out of,hls 

fiduciary relationship with 
bank, quasi-bank, trust 

company, investment 
house or as an affiliated 

person of any of them. 
• Any person who, by reason of 

any misconduct, after 
hearing or trial, is 
permanently or temporarily 
enjoined by order, Judgment 
or decree of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission 
("SEC') or any court or other 
administrative body of 
competent Jurisdiction 

• Any person finally convicted 
judiCially or administratively 
of an offense involving moral 
turpitude or fraudulent actS 
or transgressions such as, but 
not limited \0, 

em'bezzlement, theft, 
estafa, counterfeiting, 
misappropriation, forgery, 
bribery, false affirmation or 

13 
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{ill Non-Executive Directors 

(iii) Independent Directors 
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-Same as ,stated abQ.ve 

Same as stated above 

: 
:.i , 

o i- , , 

. Any person finally found by 
the SEC or a court or other 
administrative body to have 
willfully violated, or willfully 
aided, abetted, counseled, 
induct!d or procured the 

violation of any provision of 
the Securities -Regulation 

, Code, the Corporation Code 
of the Philippines, or any 
other law administered by 
the SEC, or any rule, 

'. regulation or order of the SEC 
or the 8SP . 

• Any person earlier elected as 
Independent director who 
becomes an officer, 
employee or consultant of 
the' Company. 

• Any person Judicially declared 
to be" Insolvent. 

• Any person finally found 
gullty'bY a foreign court or 
equivalent finanCIal 
regulatory authority of acts, 
Violations or mlsco'nduct lIsted 
In the foregoing paragraphs. 

• Any person convicted by 
final and executory 
Judgment of an offense 
punishable by 
imprisonment for a period 
exceeding six (6) years, or 
a violation of the Corporation 

Code, committed within five 
(5) years prior to the date of 

his election or appointment. 

• No person shall qualify or be 
eligible for nomination or 

election to the Board of 
Directors If he Is engaged In 
any buslhess which 
competes with or Is 
antagonistic to that of the 
Company. 

Same as stated above 

Disqualification of Independent 
Director: 

• He becomes an officer or 
employee of the corporation 
where he is such member of 
the Board of Directors or 
becomes any ofthe person 
enumerated under Section 2 
of these By-Laws. 

• His beneficial security 
ownership exceeds ten 
percent (10%) of the 
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(i) Executive Directors 

i 
'.1 

I 
i, 
I 

J 
I 

'I 
>1: 
'I." ',1 
,I' 

Nornl,na~lb~ Ct'mlT1itt~e 
revlew'-and ev"ioJ,,,.,.th, 
qUalliications cifall 
no'~inated. t'o the 
Dl~ector~'. It' 'hl.lip",lsc:re,en the 
qJa'liflc~troi1's nbrillne,;, to 
th~ Bd~r~ <?(p!rector'~' ',1: . 

I 

. , 

, i 

, 

i 
I 
" 

'I' .' 
I 

i: 
i, 

I, 

outstanding capital stock of 
the Corporation where he Is 
such a director. 

• Falls, without any Justifiable 
cause, to attend at least fifty 
percent"{SO%) of the total 
number of Board meetings' 
during his Incumbency unless 
such absences'are due to 
,grave Illness or death of an 
Immedlate,famlly. 

• Such other dlsquallf1catlons 
which the Corporation's 

Manual on Corporate 

Any of the following shall be a 
ground for temporary 
disqualifications of a directOr! 

Refusal to fully disclose the 
extent of his business 
Interest as well as refusal to 
comply with all other 
disclosure requirements 
under the SRC and Its 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations. This 
disqualification shall be In 
effect as long as his refusal 
p~rslsts. 

• Absence or non-participation 
in more than Fifty Percent 

(50%) of ~II meetings, both 
regular and speCial, of the 
Board during his 
incumbency, or any twelve 

(12) month period during 
said incumbency unless 
such absence was due to 
illness, death in the 
immediate family or serious 
accident. This 
disqualification applies for 
purposes of the succeeding 
election. 

• Dlsmlssali termination from 
directorship in another Ilsted 
Company for cause. This 
disqualification shall be in 
effect until he has cleared 
himself of any involvement in 
the alleged irregularity. 

• Being under preventive 
suspepsion by the Company 
for any reason. 

• Conviction that has not yet 
become final referred to in 
the rounds for 

15 
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(I) ExecutIve Directors 

(Ii) Non-Executive Dfrectors 

(Hi) Independent Directors 

",:":: ". 

I~:::~::;~:: t!,~~ ,ca p,lta I stock"ofthe 
reguia-r 'or '~eetlng 
meetIng cci'Hed for 

I . " 
andYn either case, aft:erDn,vl,,", 
ndtlceto s.uch 
propo.sal·to 'remove such I: 

. 'I' 

as stated ,above 

I, ,hall 
revl,ew evaluate the : 
qualIfications of all person~ 
nominated to the Board of 
DIrectors. 

"The termInation 'and cess~tlon of 

an ·'ndepende~t dIrector shall be 
gove"nied" by the provlsio~s of 

SEC Memorandum Circul~r i, 
otherwis~ kri"own,as "the Code of 
Cq.rpoi-ate Governance, the 
S"ec~rjties Regulation Code and 

Im"I.,"."';'n"R,,II, >< and 

, Voting Result of the last Annual General Meeting" 

I, 

He possesses any ofthe criterIa 
enumerated for permanent 
disqualifications, as stated 
above 

He possesses any of the criterIa 
enumerated for permanent 
disqualifications, as stated 

He possesses any of the criteria 
enumerate~ for permanent 
disqualifications, as stated 
above 

16 
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61 Orientation and Education Program .' '. "" ,'. ' . .j"... i 

(al Disclose details of the company' s orlentftl~npr~gra~fm ~ew dlrlc!ors, If any: 
(b) State any In-house tralnmg and exter~al:c.o.urse~ atte'nded:bYDirec.tors and Senior Managemene for th t 

three (3) years: " . . . 1, .' i e pas 
, i 

Ie) Continuing education programs for dlre~~6;s': ~rog;a~'s and s.emlnars' and roundtables attended during the 
year. ' . . .~ I . . ! . 

. 

. 

B. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT & ETHICS 

1) Discuss briefly the company's poliCies on the following business 'conduct- or' e,thlcs affecting directors, senior 
management and employees: . . . 

(al Conflict of Interest 

(bl Conduct of 
Business and Fair 

D~aHngs 

of directors and .' 
officers should never 
prevail over the 
Interests of the 
company. Directors, ?Ire 
reqUired to be iOyitb . 
the organlza.tioli that. 
they may not directly 
or indirectly derive'any 
personal profit or" 

advantage by reason?f 
their position in the, 
Company. They must 

promote the common" 
interests of a II 
shareholders an~ th~' . 
Company without 
regard to their o~n. 
personal and selfish., 
I 

A director shall not. 
use his position to ,make 
profit or to acquire, 
benefit or advantage ~or 
himself and/or h.i.s 

cor:npany shall not tolerate any form! act 'of senior 

manag~ment and employees tha't ':Nill compromise the 
,hiterest Gf the employer for their personal gains 

.1 

Standards of fair business, advertising and competition 
.'a.re to ·be ~pheld .. Appropriate means to safeguard 
customer information must be available. The following 

must·be observed: 
,. ~ :'\ not make false statements against competitors, 

I 
their products and/or services; 

• 

.. Exercise reasonable and prudent professional 

" judgment when dealing with clients. 
I 

3 Senior Management refers to the CEO and other persons havhig authority and re~pons;bllity for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the company. 
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impartiallty. I . service providers, suppliers, competitors and 
employees 

Ie) Receipt of gifts from The Directors, Seni,or Manage'mentand Employees are encouraged to avoid the 

third parties receipt from and-gl~in'g of,gifts of unusually high value to persons or entities with 
whom the company relates (customer, suppliers, servlc~provlders) 

Id) Compliance with 
Directors, officers and employees shall uphold right conduct and follow restrictions 
Imposed by appll~able lav.:s, rules' and regulat{o'ns. They shall not accept demands 

Laws & Regulations brought on by prevailing business conditions Dr perceived pressures as excuses to 
Violate any law, rllie. or regulation. 

Ie) Respect for Trade Directors, Management and En1Ployees shall observe confidentiality of 
Secrets/Use of Non- Infor~atlons ofthe company, customers, business parties with whom the company 
public Information relates. " " . . ' 

If) Use of Company DIrectors, Officers and"Emplqyees shall'use company property and resourd!:s 

Funds, Assets and Including company .tlme, su~plies and s.oftware, efficiently, responsibly and only for 

Information legitimate business purpo~~5 qhly·."TheY shall safeguard company assets fro'm loss 
damage, misuse ortheft 'and sli.all respect Intellectual property rights. " 

(8) Employment & Directors, Offlce:r's'and EmplOyees shall comply wIth applicable employment & 
labor laws & 

. . 
labor laws and policies 

Policles 

Any officer or.employee who commits a violation ofthe Code.of EthIcs shall be 
subject to dlsclpllriary ac.tlon Iincluding suspension and termination), Without 

Ih) Disciplinary action 
prejudJce to any civil or criinlnal proceedings that the Company or regulators may 
flIe for violation of exlstlhg law. There 'shall be no exception from or waivers of any 
provision of t)1ls:C~de of.·Ethlcs, except as expressly approved by the Board of' 
Directors. ' '.1' , 
The Company is c'ommltted ~o.fos,te·ri"ng a workplace conducive to open 
communlcatiori regarding the Company's business practices and to protecting 
employees from unlawf~1 retallatl.o'n and discrimination for their having properly 
disclosed or rep6rt~d lliegal or une~hlcat:c6nduct. In an effort t.o furt~erthls 
commitment, the ·Company lias established the following: (i) guidance for the 

(i) Whistle Blower 
receipt, retention, a'nd,treatme,~t cif verbal or written reports received by the 

Company regarding accounting, in10rnal controls, auditing matters, disclosure, 
fraud and unethical-busiriess practices, whether submitted by Company employees 
or third part"ies; ,(ii) guida'n~e for p'rbvidlng Company employees a means to make 

Reports In a conflderitlaland'anohymousmanner; and (III) the Company's Intention 
to discipline, up'to.an'd including't'ermlriation of employment, any person 

determined to h~\le ~rigaged i.n re'~allatorv behavior. 

Ii) Conflict Resolution .. 

. . . 
2) Has the' code of ethics or conduct been disseml~at~d to:all dire:~tors, senior management and employees? 

Every director, management and empl~yees.have,b"e;' glven cr·i~Piest~·_ensure that company's cade of conduct and 
poliCies are properly implemented and understood. . . '. 

" i .. ·· '; .! : 

3) Discuss how the company implements and monitors ·compliance. with the code of ethics or conduct. 

All employees must complete Code of c.onduct awareness traihing. I~ order to reinforce the company's standards 
and help employees understand the polir::ies and reg~/o·ti.oris," Cfrtek continues to offer compliance trainfng for 
employees ocross a variety o/topfcs. 

The Company conducts periodic compi;'ance a.ssess0~nts ... 

4) Related Party Transactions 

(a) Policies and Procedures 

Describe the company's policies and procedures :for the review, approval or ratification, monitoring and 
recordIng of related party transactions petween and' among the company and its parent, joint ventures. 
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Subsidiaries, associates, affiliates, substantial stockholders officers and directors ',nclud', th' 
h'ld d d' d 'bl ' I ng elr SpOuses 

C 1 ren an epen ent 51 Ings and parents and of lnte'riocklng director relationships of members of th ' 
b~. " e 

!i~I~!ii.~~~~~~~~ The Con~p~InY, shall avoid .related party transactIons. In in~tances: where, related party transactions cannot be 
avoi.de~/. ,the Company, shall', disclose all relevant 
inf<?rmatlon on .the same; lncludl~g information on the 

17;;-;~~;;f.~~~~2.!!L~Le:~~~ affl!lated,partle.s and the affiliation of directors and principal r (7) officers .. 

(8) 

(b) Conflict of Interest 

(i) 

I, 

Directors/Officers and 5% or moreShareholders·. . . . . , ,I',. .. . :, 
5% of the common shares of the corporarfon 

been no votIng trust agreement which has been 
Exch,jiicle ~orrimlsslon 

The Company is not aware oj any p,erson h'o/ding 
under a voting trust or similar agr.ef:menr·as 
flied with the corporation and rhe 5~.f[Jriti~S 

Identify. any actual or probable confHGt- dHnterest 
may be involved. . 

, ... 
The Company ;5 not aware of any aCtual or, pro,bable 
more shareholders may be Involved. 

I , .' 

~hld~ :director~/offlcers/5% or more shareholders 
, I'· 

of interest to which directors/officers/5% or 

I 
i 

(Ii) Mechanism 

Describe the mechanism laid dow/"). to d.etect, determine and resolve any possIble conflict of interest 
between the company and/or its grqup·an? th"elr·dlrec~ors, officers and signIficant shareholders. 

Carrying out audits by reviewing and bUsiness 
Company processes and procedures, systems, financial and 

I bUSiness i 
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5) Family, Commercial and Contractual Relation~ . 

6) 

(a) Indicate, If applicable, any relation of a rami'i y/ commercial, contractual or business nature that exists 
between the holders of significant equity (5% or more). to the extent that they are known to the company: 

(b) Indicate, if applicable, any relation of a com'rt;~r'GiaV co'~tr'a~tual pr bUsiness nature that 
holders of significant equity (5% or more) and the,'company:: . 

exists between the 

. ! 

(e) 

Alternative Dispute Resolution , 
, ,,". i . 

Describe the alternative dispute resolution sy~tem adopted by the company for the last three (3)' years in amicably 
settling conflicts or differences between the' corporation ,and. its stockholders, and the corporation and third 

parties, including regulatory authorities. 

The company has not been subject to any material di$pute for the past three years. 

C. BOARD MEETINGS & ATIENDANCE 

1) Are Board of Directors' meetings scheduled before or ~t the beginning of the year? 

The Board of Directors 'meeting is scheduleo at the begit:'hing of the year. 

4 Family relationship up to the fourth civil degret;! 'either by c6n~ang~lnity or ~fflnlty. 

, , 

l , 
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2) Attendance of Directors 
I 

. _ .' _' _ i , . 
3) 00 non-e~ecutlve directors have a separate:m~eting'duri'ng th,e y~ar:without the presence of any executive? If 

yes, hoW manytimes7 No . .".' . " "::. .', i 
I 'I . 

., " . ~ :' .. " 
4) Is the minimum quorum requirement fc:'f Boa.rd)JeGis.i,o'~.s·s.e(ar~wo-thlrds of board members7 Please explain. 

A majority of the number of directors as jl;ed"in' th~Ar~,i,le;:lj Inc~rparatian shalf constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of corporate business; Provided, that at ledst p'!.e" ()). independent Direc;tor {s present in such meeting. 
Every decision of at least a majority of the dl're'i;to~s.pre5ent at,~ m~e~ing at whIch there /5 a quorum shall be valid 
QS a corporate act, except for the election o~ officers ~hich sha.it-.(equ/re the vote of C1 majority of all the members 
0/ the Boord. j" . ,. • \: 

S) Access to Information ; i , ' 
I· . . :i,. . 

(a) How many days' In advance are board pape~s~·for board:df 'dlreCtors meetIngs 'prOVided to the board? 
i 

Notice a/the meeting, agenda' and reference rTlQterfofs; presentations and other refated reports are required 
to be sent to the members of the Boar.d of Diredors at.least one week prior to the dote of the meeting 

(b) Do board members have independent acceSS to Mali.gement and the Corporate Secretary? Yes 

(c) State the policy of the role of the' company setr·et~ry. DOes such rol~ include assIsting the ChaIrman in 

preparing the board agenda, facilitating training of directors, keeping directors updated regarding any 
relevant statutory and regulatory changes, etc? 

The Secretary must be ,0 resident and citizen of the. Philjppine~. He is responsible to, record the minutes and 

transactions of al/ meetings of the directols and stockholders arid safekeep and preserve the integrity of Boord 
Minutes of Meetings. To keep the corporate seal and Qjfix it to al/ papers and documents requiring a seal, and 

to attest by his signature all corporate documents' re9uiring the some. 

(d) Is the company secretary train~d in legal, accotintancy or company secretarial practices? Please explain 

should the answer be in the negative. Yes 

(e) Committee Procedures 

Disclose whether there is a procedu~e tHat Direct9rs can ayail of to enable them to get information necessary 

to be able to prepare In advance for the m.eetings of d;ff~~ent committees: 
, . . , . 

Yes_ No t::::J 

5 Board papers consist of complete and adequate i~fdr~atiol1,ab¢ut' the matters to be taken in the board meetIng. 
Information Includes the background or explanation "On' 'matters) brought before the Board, disclosures, budgets, 

forecasts and Internal financial documents. ".:! ' 

.,," . 

! :·n 
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6) External Advice 

'I, 
Indicate whether or not a procedu're exists whereby dlrer;tors cari receive external advice and, If so, provide 
details: .. " , 

The may, through Audit Comnnltt'ee, 
recommend to the stockholders a duly accredited 
external auditor who shall undertake an 
Independent audit and shall provide an·objectlye 
assurance dn' the way In which the fin,antial 
statements have 
Other services 
legal, shall from time to time be commissioned"by 
the company with the approval of hie senlo,l: 
management. 

7) Change/s In existlilg policies 

i' 

Engagement proposals are 
i professional services firms, The CEO and CFa 
sel~ct the advisor based On comprehensiveness 
of proposal, methcidology, qualification of 

. ,and 

Indicate, If applicable, any change/s Introduced by"the Board of Directors (during its most recent term) on 
existing policies that may have an effect o'n the busin,ess ofthe .~or'npany and the re:ason/s for the change: 

, No chan'ges in existing policies 

D, REMUNERATION MAnERS 

1) Remuneration Process 

Disclose the process used for determining the r~rriun~r~tio~ ofthe: C~O a'nd the four (4) most hIghly comperisated 
management officers: 

CEO Approval 

CEO Approval 

Approval 

Board Annr~'v,1 Board Approval 
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2) 

I Instruments 

.. : 'I i 
Remuneration Policy and Structure for EXecU~jv~ and 'Ncin:.Executlve Dl~ectors 

i ' . ',', 
i ,', ..... I:, :.[: . 

Disclose the company's policy on remunE!!ratlo~,ai)d the struct~re·dflts compensation package. Explain how the 
compensation of Executive and Non-Executlv'e Directors Is caltulated.,~ ! 

". • 'J .; 

By resolution of the Board, each director shall receiile a reaso~able p~r diem allowance jor his attendance at each 
• • I _ 1 

meeting of the Board. As compensat/~m, theBoord,shofl receive and allocate an amount of not more than ten 
percent (10%) of the net income before incomt: tax of the corporation durIng the preceding year. 

o . ' ' "". ! 

Executive Directors 
S·e,e statement above 

Non-Executive Directors 

Do stockholders have the opportunity to approve tfle decision dn tqtal remuneration (fees, allowances, benefits· 
in·kind and other emoluments) of board of directors? Prqvlde detal!.s for the last three (3) years. 

As of Oecember 31, 2012, the Board, apart frqn1'minimum '~er diem, has not received any allowance, beneflts-in-
kind or other emoluments. - , 

See statement above 

3) AggregateHemuneratlon 

Complete the following table on the aggregatenimuneratlonac,crued·during the most recent year: 

la) Fixed Remuneration PhP12,OOO,OOO' 

Ib) Var.ia ble Remuneration 
... ' 

PhP2,OOO,OOQ 

(c) Per diem Allowance PhP48,OOO . PI)P16,Oao phP32,OOO 

Id) Bonuses 

Ie) Stock Options and/or 
other financial 
Instruments 

(f) Others ISpeclfy) 

PhP62,OOO , PhP16,OOO PhP32,OOO 
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2) Credit granted 

3) Pension' Plan/s 

Contributions 

(d) 

PhPl,115,OOO 

4) Stock Rights, Options and Warrants 

(a) Board of Directors 

Complete the following table, on'the.members· Q'f the ~o~~an~'5' Board of Directors who own or are entitled 
to stock rights, options or warrants over t'h~',comp~ilY~S sh~ies: 

(b) Amendments of Incentive Programs . , 

Indicate any amendments and dl~co~ti'n.l:I·~tl?!n:.Of ,~,'nv' ;n~~ntive programs Introduced, including the criteria 
used In the creation of the program. ,Disclose, whether,/these. are subject to approval during the Annual 

Stockholders' Meeting: i ,.' '-'.": . ,:( 
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5) Remuneration of Management 

Identify the five (5) members of mana·gernentwho are Dot at the same time executive directors and indicate the 
tota I remuneration received during the financial year.: . 

Senior Management as a group (VP for Engineer, 
Senior Director for Sales & Marketlng,·QC/aA 
Director, Human Resource Manager, Facilities & 
Material Management Director) 

PhP 5,862,056 

E. BOARD COMMITIEES 

1) Number of Members, Functions and Respon'sibilltles ,'1 
PrOVide details on the number of members qf ·'each comrnlttee, .Its functions, key responsibilities and the 
power/authority de.legated to It by the Board: 

responsibilities 
focuses"on 

To·assist the 
areas 

Board In 
pertaining to: 

fulfilling Its 
(1) Financial 
State·ments -

oversight 
generally 

responsibilities 
Reviews 

on 
significant 

(1) financial 
accounting and 

reporting 
financial 

,process, 
reporting issues 

(2) system of 
and 

internal 
understands its Audit 2 1 

control, 
impact. 

(3) audit 
(2) Internal 

process, 
Control.,. 

(4) Company's 
con·slders 

process for 
effectiveness of 

. monitoring. 
the company's· 

compllance 
Internal control 

with 
system, 

applicable 
Including LT. 

laws and 
security and 

re.gulaUons. 
contro"l; 
(3) Internal 

Audit ~ review 
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effectiveness of 
the internal 
audit function; 
and 

· . (4) External .... 
Audit - review 
and confirm 
Independence 

of the external .. 
auditors. 

Ndmlna"tion Reviews and .. Pre~screen5 The Committee 
,Committee evaluates the qualifications of shall have the 

.... ,qualifications all nominees to exclusive power 
.' of all pe~50ns the Board of to enforce and 

nornln'ated to Directors; administer the 
the Board as supervise and Nomination and , ; . well as those' coordinate the Election Rules of 
nominated to conduct of the Company. 

, ' . other position elections or 

I requiring replacement of 
. 

i " ap,polntment the Board of Nomination 2 1 
.by the Board Directors; 

Ii 'and provide 
asse~sm~nt on 

I 
the'Board's 

, effectiveness , 
In directing , 

... ,.' the process of 

I . .renewing and , 
" replaCing 

I Board 
I ., 

members. , 
i Compensation" I Establish a Make 

"Corhrnltte~" .": " I formal and Recommendatlo I 
. ! transparent ns to the Board 

i procedure for on matters i i: 
I developing a pertaining to , 

· . , 

p~li~y on remuneration 

') 
_~I 

_c' 
Provides 

remuneration and 
of directors and compensation 

oversight over 
officers to packages of 

remuneratiOn 
"ensure that corporate" 

2 1 
of s~nlor their officers Remuneration 
management compensation and directors, 
and other key is consistent after conducting 
personnel. with the review and 

corporation's evaluation. 
culture, 
strategy and 
the business 
environment In 

. which It 
operates. 
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2.) Committee Members 

(a) Audit Committee 

'. . .'.1. . 
Disclose the profile or qualifications of th~ Aupit CoiTimltte·e members. 

. !. . :. ., I:·· .. . 
Ernest Fritz Server - Mr. Server serv':'!s as th~ P~.~~I·cief.1t of :l\IIultl~edla' Telephony Inc., Vice Chairman of REM 
Corpbration and a director of Phillpplne:To.wrfship, foc. Previously,. Mr. Server served as Vice Chairman of the 
Commercial Bank of Manila, Consumer Ban~ and Cosmos B.ottlin·g Company and President of Philippine Home 
Cable Holdings, Inc. and Phllam Fund. Mr. Se(Ve~ gfa~uaf~,d from Ateneo de Manlla In 1963 with degree In 
Bachelor of Arts degree In Economics arid ·h'olas M,BA .r· .aJor In Banking and Finance from University of 
Pennsylvania, Wharton Graduate School. ,.. . , . ...: .. :. i .. 

Anthony Buyawe - He Is concurrently t~e CFO of CEC, tEl and ;h. Figaro Coffee Company. Prior Joining the 
Company, Mr. Buyawe was (FO of ITP Technqh)gies.(2003~70Q5)la·nd SMEOC (200B-2009) and Senior Director 
of Ernst & Young (200S-200B).: Mr. Buya~e cibtal~ed !i1s sA.degte from University ot" the Philippines and his 
MBA from the Asian institute of Management. '. ..' .. ,.;. I:' 

t, 

J!ill.'L....!J. - He is concurrently the presiden~/CEO of CEC, ~Ir.ect%f Clrtek land and Cayon Holdings, Inc. alid 
Chairman of Silicon link, Inc. Mr. Llu I holds a Bachelor ··of sc'lence degree In Physics from Chung Yuan 
University of Taiwan and an MBA·from the .Un·lve·~slty o,f.the East.! 

Describe the Audit Committee's responsibility relativ~ .~o tlie ext~rnal auditor. , 

The Audit Committee shall have the foll~wing responsibilities: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Assist the Board in the performance of its overSight responsibility for the financial reporting process, 

system of internal control, audit process, and monitoring of compliance with applicable laws, rules and 
regulations; 

Provide oversight over Management's .actlvities In managing credit, market, liquidity, operational, legal 
and other risks of the Company, Including 'but' rot limited to regular receipt from Manogement of 
information on risk exposures and n~k mcmagement activities; 

Perform oversight functions over the'"Comparw'slnternal and external auditors. It" should ensure thot the 
internal and external auditors act indep·eniient from each other, and that both auditors are given 
unrestricted access to all records/ properties l;rld personnel to enable them to perform their respective 

audit junctions; 

4. Review the annual internal audit·plori ta ·ensure its conformity with the objectives of the Company, The 
plan shall include the audit.scoP~( re'so~rces and b~dget necessary to Implement it; 

5. Prior to the commencement of the a~dit, discuss With·:the external auditor the nature, scope and expenses 
of the audit, and ensure proper cbordiriation if mole than a~e audit firm is involved ;n the activity to 

secure proper coverage and minimize dup.lication·of efforts; . 
. . 

6. Organize an internal audit department, and :c9nsider t·he appointment of an independent Internal auditor 
alld the terms and conditions afits engC!ge.~ent,'and re,movali 

I 
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7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

. . - , . , 

~onit~r and ev~/uate the adequacya.nd efi~tt~·ve,n.ess.olthe Company's internal control system, includihg 
fmanclO/ reportmg control and In!ormation:technofogy decurity; , 

. ..',. ........ ·11·· 
Review 'he reports submitted by 'he :n'er~ol ond extetl QU~ltors; 

Review the quarterly, semestral ane}. annua~ /irwncia(lstatements. before their submission to the Board 
. ','. I'- , , 

with partIcular focus on the folfovying tna,tte'r.s;.'. " ".!' , " I . . , 
i. Any change In accounf!ng policies"and-practices; i' ,i" 
ii. Major judgment areas; ',". . ",' )'. I 
iii. Significant adjustments re~ulting j;oil-/ the. (/Udit~ -1· i 
Iv. Going concern assumptions; i,'" ":' .' ';., -.'" '.' . I." 
v. Compliance with accounting standejrds; and ' '" ; I 
vr. Compliance with tax, legal cmd ~~gulatory.,~qlJite .. ents.:! 

\'.. I .. 'I 
! .••..... ." .. ! . :.! . . 

Coordinate, monitor and /ocifitate comp/ione€! with laws; rilles and regulations; . ... . ... i, . 
11. Evaluate and determine the non-audit w.o;k,: If any, ··af t·he external auditor, and review period!i;ally the 

non-audrt fees paid to the external.auditor in relat/on to their significance to the total onnua/lncome of 
the external auditor and to the Company's tiveroil "(;ohsultancy expenses. The committee sholl disallow 
ahy non-audit work that wi/f· conflict· with his· dutfes ~s an external auditor or may pose a threat to his 
independence. The non-audit work, 'fallowed, should b~ disc,iosed In the Company's annual report. 

.. i 
12. Establish and identify the reportIng line. a/the internal audJto( to enable him to properly fulfill his duties 

and responsibfllties. He shall /unction~IIY report-directly to'"the AudIt Committee. 

13. The Audrt Committee shall en"Sure that, ·in the performance of the work of the Internal auditof, he shafl be 
free from Interference by outSide parties,' and 

14. To comply With 011 the duties and responsibiliti~s prescrlbeJi by the SEC under applicable laws, rules and 
. regulations. 

(b) Nomination Committee 

te) Remuneration Committee 
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3) Changes in Committee Members 

Indicate any changes In committee membership that occ~rred . 
~,he year and the reaSOn for the changes: 

,NO CHANGES 

4) Work Done and Issues Addressed 
" 

, 

I, 
I 

Describe the work done b.y each committee a~d the ~1,g~l.ficarit Issues':a "dd're"ed during the year. 

Audit 

Nomination 

Remuneration 

Assisted the Board In I I . its 
oversight responsibilities for 
financial reporting process, system 
of internal tontrQI, auciit·proc'es~ and 
the company's proce~s.for 
monitoring compllam;e With 1~lws 
and regulations ;;ifld the-co'de 0«'. 
RevIewed and the 
qualifications of aU' perS9ns.' . :: 
nominated to the Board as ~ell as 

those nominated to' other. position? 
requiring the apPointment by the 
Board, 

Provided a forrral'· transparent: I 
procedure for developjng ~ _policy 0.1); 

executive. ari~·foj: .. 

fixing the of"corporate , 

S) Committee Program 'I 

No mat~rlal issues addressed 

No-material issues addressed 

, 

No material Issue, addressed 

Provide a list of programs that each committee plafls to to address relevant Issues in the Improvement 
or enforcement of effective governance ~?r t::h~ comin,g y~ar. 

I , ' , 
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RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Disclose the following: 

(a) . Overall risk management philosophy of the company; I 

(b) A statement that the directors' have reviewed the effective hess of the risk management system and. 
commenting on the adequacy thereof; . 

(cl Period covered by the review; 
(d) How often the risk management system is-reviewed <:lnd t,he directors' criteria for assessing its effectiveness; 

and . 

(e) Where no review was conducted ~uring the year, am~xplanation:why not, 

Risk management refers to comprehensive corporate actions or procedures taken to effectively manage risk and 
allow the company to achieve its goals 0/ sustal:nab'/~ growth a,ne! vol.ue creation. 

21 Risk Policy 

lal Company 

Give a general description of the c~mp~ny's risk 'n~nagement policy, setting out and assessing the rlsk/s 
covered by the system (ranked according to prlori.tyL along with the objective behind the polley for each kind 
of risk: 

Risk (foreign exchange, 
interest rate, credit) 

Strategic Risk 

Itechnology Inflection, 
change in customer 
demand, competition, 
industry volatility) 

Operational Risk 
(quality, productivity, 

I 

Foreign eX'Change:" I Is man~ged 

by' forward ccnitratts negotiated 
with banks., The' positrons s,~~JeCt 
to exchange 'r.\sk peso'expen$e.~ of 
the company.:matniy direct I~bor 
and utility charge,. ' ! 

I 
Forward contracts,' are ) not 

deSignated , as' , ,tie~.glng 
instru ments as deiiried' by lAS 39 
although they are. in .-place fo~ the 

purpose of managing ris)<s. ' ,I,i 
" 'I':' 

Company p'oliey is to maint~ln 
correct balance- ',between, flxed­

rate debt and floating-rate debt. , 

The Company has established a'" 
credit risk _'matlagement" sy'stem 
to ensure prorrlpt' artd ' eHirl,,", 

collectlQn ,of trade. and T' ec;,I~alble 

The 
technology tri;!!:lds arid emerging 
applications. 'The.-(:pmpany"also' 
carries' out' c'ontinuous ,R&D on 

new materl'als and packaging 

applications. The Company 
collaborates w{th, key cust.t;>mers 
on new i' of~ 
semiconductor 

Change In exchange rates will not 
generate any significant effect on 

"the Income statement. 

Achieve low blended interest rate. 

Ensure prompt and efficient 
collection of trade and receivable 
.accounts. 

Ensure that the Company's 
products 'and services are aligned 
with market and customer 
requirements, and provide a 

distinct value proposition to 
customers 

Achieve high quality standards 
and effiCiency at the production 
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process. The Con"lpany monitors production downtime due to , 

compliance 'wfth var\ous -cQntrol material stock-out. Ensure 
plaris and.. d~cumente'd flnan~ial vlabUity across the 
procedures .. The (o'mpany revenue centers. 
m~lntains at least three supplIers 
for Its major raw material 
requiremerits~ 'The' Company' 
monitors finanCial performance 
6n a weeklv basis. 

Compliance Risk (legal, The Company"' monitors, strict 
regulatory, code of compli.a~ce; with empIQY!TIent,a~d Compliance with employment and 

conduct) labor laws, . _statutory: repo~lng labor laws, statutory reporting 

and filings, a"nd adherence to code and filings, and adherence to code 

of conduct. qf conduct. 

(b) Group , , 
Give a general description of the Group's risk . . settlng out and assessing the rlsk/s covered 
by the system (ranked according to prlarliv)!alang,wlthth~ bblectlve behind the policy for each kind of risk: 

tel Minority Shareholders 
.! 
i 
i •..... : .".:. 

Indicate the principal risk of the exer~lse·o(controUhig r.tiol,rle,·s voting power. 

~a~nt::~:::e: Set Up I, .', .... . 
. I. . :.: . i. 

Briefly describe the control syste~s set. ·tip to assess; m·an~gei and control the main issue/s faced by the 
company: 

PI~ase see discussion 
on ri?k management 
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Ib) Group 

Briefly describe the control systems se~_ up' t~ assess, d . manage an control the main Issue/s faced by the 
company: 

Ple~sesee discussion. 
1-------+---/ on risk mariallennerlt 

te) Committee 

Identify the committee or any other body of·en"P"?'::~'t':~~?,tnance. In charge of layIng down and 5upeIVislng 
these control mechanisms, and give details of its' fl 

'I 
G. INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROL d ,. 
1) Internal Control System 

Disclose the following Information pertaining to. the i"terrial of the company: 

la) Explain how the Internal control system iSdeflne~foi th,,'ct,mIJanv: 
(b) A statement that the directors have reJieweCt the the Internal control system and whether 

I 
they consider them effective and adequ~te;· , 

(c) Period covered by the review; .. '. . . : ..' 
(d) How often internal controls are 'reviewed and the dir'ectqrs; for assessing the effectiveness of the 

internal control system; and i I 

(e) Where no review was conducted during the, year, an' e)(planaUcin:why not. 

Internal control system is defined as a process, effecte'd by the. Company's board of directors, management and 
other personnel. designed to provide reasonable· aS5~rance ·regarding the achfevement af objectfves tn the 
folfowing categories; 

1. Effectiveness and efficiency of operations. 
2. Reliability of financial reporting. .. 
3. Campffance with applicable laws and regulations. 

The first category pertain to the Company's fundamental objectives, including performance and profitability goals 
and safeguarding of assets. The second. relates to the preparatfon of comprehens(ve, accurate financial 
statements, including selected financial data deriv.ed from such statements, such ·05 earnings releases, reported 

publiC/y. The third deals with complying with laws and ,.eg~lations. 

2) Internal Audit 

(a) Role, Scope and Internal Audit Function 

Give a general description of the role, scope of il)ternal audit work and other details of the Internal atJdit 
function. ' 

, , 
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Process Audit 
f---------l house, by , Involved 

T516949 Quality 
Systems Standards Systems Audit 

15014001 Process Audit ., 
I 

Compliance 

Company 
and 
and whether ,suc~ 

Internal audit 
compliance provide 
reasonable I (accounting) 
assurance . 'of 
financial data 
Integrity, and 
compliance With 

PAS 

cqstomer; e,hd-
!custoiner arid 

'. .' .' . I 
. accredltlngrnc: 

." I! 
: 1.'.-

,i· 
I: 

".1, 

serVices firm' 

Flo,rll ";;; a re 
raised to QA 

Department; 
forwarded to 
division Involved; 
findings and 
propose 
solutions 
prese"nted to 
senior 
management for 
recommendation 

Findings 
forwarded to 
Quality Systems 

forwarded to 
CFO and CEO; 
presented to the 
Board 

(b) Do the apPointment and/or removal of the Internal Auditor or the accounting /audlting firm or corporation to 
which the Internal audit funCtion is outsourced' require the app;oval of the audit committee? Yes 

(c) Discuss the internal auditor's reporting reia~i~n'sh"p ~ith th~ a~'dit committee. Does the Internal auditor have 

direct and unfettered access to the board of d,irectors and the audit committee and to all records, properties 
and personnel? Yes 

(d) Resignation, Re-assignment and Reasons 

Disclose any resignation/s or re-dssignment 9f the internal audit staff (inc1udln~ those' employed by the thlrd­
party auditing firm) and the reason/s for t~em, No resignation. or re-assi.gnments 

(e) Progress against Plans, Issues, Findings and Exan:iinatlon T~ends . 

State the internal audit's progress against 
trends. 

. , 
" 

Issues, significant findings and eXamination 
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are according to 

IThe relationship among -progress, pl.an~,"is's~es··,an·d· ~hoyid be viewed as an Internal control review 
cycle which Involves the following step-by-step activities: 

1) Preparation of an audit plan inclusiv'e"of' a '1Im"lIn,'; 
2) Conductof examination b~sed on.'the,p[~ri;· .;. I, 
3) Evaluation of the progress in the l~plerhe'ltatiO(l i 

4) Documentation of Issues and flndlhgs!a's a, result' ' 
5) Determination of the pervasive isslJes'·a"nd ' ba'sed on single year 

result and/or year-ta-year results;' 
6) Conduct of the foregoing proce'dure5.'6n a re!:~1'14,asls.J 

If) Audit Control Policies and Procedures r.·· . '.J I 
- Ii 
I '" . I 

Disclose all internal audit controls, policies and prpcedures that: have been established by the company and 
the result of an assessment as to wheth'e'r.' the established controls, poliCies and procedures have been 
Implemented under the column "Implementatlon/' i ' 

,I,:, I! 

Company accounting system Is a set' of ,records 
and the procedures and equipment._,'used' to, . 
pertorm accounting functions. Man';lal systems. 
consist of journals and ledgers, on p'aper. 
Computerized accounting systems' consist of 
accounting software, computer files, a~d rel~ted, 
peripheral equipment such as, computer 
hardware, printers, modems; etc. 

Regardless of the system, the f\..IIiction of 

accountants Include: 

(i) recording, claSSifying, and summarizing 

measuring economic events; 

(2) recording, claSSifying, and summarizing fully implemented 

measurements; 

(3) reporting economic events and' 
Interpreting financial statements.' 

Both internal and external users tel1;acGOun1:ar'lts, 
of. their information. needs. The accountinl?-' 
system enables a company's accounting staff, to " 

'supply relevant accounting informat~on to, me~t,'­
those needs. As internal and external' user's mak,e' 
decisions that become' economic' 'events; :the 
cycle of information, deciSions, and , -econpmic 

events begin again. J! " 

, 
I 

·1 
i 

. ! 

J 
, ,-

'I , , 

6 "Issues" are compliance matters that arise from'aqopting different interpretations. 
7 "Findings" are those with concrete basis under the tomp<1I1Y's pollcles ~-nd rules. , .. ' "! I ' • 

, , 
, 
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I 
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(g) Mechanisms a~d Safeguards 

State the mechanism established by the co'mpany' to S,afeguard :the Independence of the auditors; financial 
analysts, investment banks and rating age:ndes (exainple, restrictions on trading In the company's shares and 
Imposition of internal approval procedures fOr these' transactions, limitation on the non-audit services that an 
external auditor may provide to the company): ' 

(h) State the officers {preferably the (,halr'man Clnd the .CEO) who will have to attest to the company's full 
compliance with the SEC Code of Corporate <?overnance. Such ,confirmation must state that all directors, officers 
and emplovees of the company have been given pro'per Instruction on their respective duties as mandated by 

the Code and that Internal mechanisms are In p'la.ce ~o ensure that compliance. 

H. ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS 

... ~ 

1) Disclose the company's policy and activities relative'to the foll~Vfing: 

. poliCy I .A~ti0tles 

Customers' welfare 
Provide highest stal}dard' of quality Daily quality and process revIews; . , 

daily reports to customers to all customers' ,:' , 
The Company 'obserJt;!;s, a. "suppller 
qualification.sc.reeniri.g" process In 
order to: (1) reduce the likelihood of 
supplier nQh~perfo~manc.e, 

, 
' . . . : 

Supplier/contractor selection 
such as late dell.very; l1on-dell,verj,·.or Reference check, financIal status 
delivery of non':'conformlng lf~~ltYJ '. !;heck, quality check, a billty to 

practice 
goods. and (2) ensure that t~e meet specifications 
supplier will ~e'a responSible land 
responsIve partner'in ~he 
day-to-day business relationship 
with the buy·er. . 

, 

. ' i , 
Control of hazardous waste 

Control operations"ln order to disposal; water conservation, 

Environmentally friendly value-
I .. "'1 

electricity conservation, efficient mInImize .f,nvlronment.al poU~tlon to 
chain ensure thEi safety and h~~lth .pf , 

raw materials utilization, 3 Rs 
every employee, ." ' ." .: . i (reduce, re-use, recycle), proper 

; waste segregation, proper 
.' 

, 
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I training of people, environmental 

. , updates to all employees 

Promote good, relatloris with ': 
'Participation In community 

Community Interaction communities thrdugh, participation! 
In community upllftment programs: upllftment programs and 

and humanitarian activities. > ! humanitarian activities 

We conductperlodic antl.-~rlbery· I 
audits of our business to ra'ise over~1I 

.Anti-corruption programmes and awareness, ~etect potential i 
procedures? misconduct and monitor Fomp'liance Periodic audits, monitoring 

with antl-corfu'ptlon l~';"'s an9 
! Compa ny policy 

Foster long-term relationship with 
suppliers to achieve quality,' ., 
competitiveness, 'proce"ss efficiency Timely settlement of payables, 

Safeguarding creditors' rights and perfor.rnan.ce reliab!llty update on the Company's 
operating and financial .. 

Matntain f~irnBss, tr'uthf~l"ness, performance (with the banks) 
Integrity an'd transparency in 
buslnes~ dealings' with creditors 

2) Does the company have a separate corpor~te' respon's!bmty '(CR) report/s~ction or sustainablllty report/section 7 
Yes . 

3) Performance~enhancing mechanisms for employee participation. 

(a) What are the company's policy for it,employees'safety, h~lltli, a'nd welfare? 

i . . ........ : 
The Company maintains and updates comp~eheris{~.e"Qccupat(orib{ Safety bnd Health Procedures. 

(b) Show data relating to health, safety andwelfareof It; employees. 
. } . 

In 2012 the Company hod one minor work-related beCld~nt: .. ::I· . 

(c) State the company's training and develbpmentprogrammes for its employees. Show the data . 
. ! I· . , 
j ' .',. 

The Company conducts regular training for'cili productfon and ;.upport departments. The Company also sends key 
personnel to external training program; ~n a regula"bp~is. ...i.:· . 

'" '. 

(d) State the company's reward/compensa~lon.'poilCY that act:ciu~ts fo'r the performance of the company beyond 
short~term Hnancial measures' ,I,., 

4) What are the company's procedures for 'handling conipl~rnts 'by employees conce'rnlng illegal (including 
corruption) and unethical behaviour? Explain 'how ~'mproyees are protected from retaliation. 

, ! .. .' I • 

Company employee can file their report t·hr~ugh".{a)·~h~'com~~ny's Compliance and Fraud Hotline, (b) the Human 
Resource Director (c) the CFO, or (d) Chair:man of the Audif.iCommlttee of the Board of Directors. Any report 
received through the Hotline will be forw~~,ded to the appropriate party, which would be either the HUman 
Resource Director, the CFO or the Chairman of .the Audit CO,mmittee. Any report received by a Company officer, 

director, or employee from a non~Company ,s~~i"i:e: st:t.D.uld b~ l~'medlately forwarded to The Hotline. 

. I 
Retaliation against any employee that files a re'port or compiai.nt under this policy Is strictly prohibited. Employees 

determined to have engaged In retaliatory behavior or who fail' to maintain an employee's anonymity if requested 
may be subject to discipline, which could inClude, termination pf employment. Any employee who feels that he or 

she has been subjected to any behaVior that Violates this polley shOlJld Immediately report such behavior to his or 
her supervIsor, Hu'man Resources Djrector, :the C'FO,. or the Director Chairman of the Audit Committee. Please 

note however, that employees who knowingly file rnish:~ading or fals~ reports, or without a reasonable belief as to 

36 



-
... 

-. 

r 
-~ 

I 

truth or accuracy, will not be protected by this policy a~d may be subject to discipline, including termination of 
employment. . , " " . 

I. DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY 

11 Ownership Strllcture 

lal Holding 5% sharehaldlng or more 

" . 

The corporation is not aware ot (:my person 'holding more than 5% of the comrpon shares of the 
corporation under a voting trust or similor .agreement as there has been no voting trust agreement 
whIch has been filed wfth the corporation and the. SecuritIes and Exchange Commission 

2) Does the Annual Report disclose the follo~lng: , .1 ., . . . 
I 

YES Key risks , 
" I , YES . Corporate objectives 

. 
, 

YES Financial performance indicators 

Non-financial performance indicators , . YES 

Dividend policy 
. I YES 

Details of whistle-blowing polley I NO 
" 

BiographIcal details (at le<lst age, qualific<ltions, ~ate of fi.~st ap'p6;rit~'e t, relevant experience, and any other 
YES 

directorships of listed companies) of dlrectors/c~rn~1,1~510~e~s '.' ".! 

.. 
Tr<lln'lng and/or continuing education prog(amrrie attended jJy each, d,irectqr/c:dmmlssioner YES 

Number of board of directors/commissioners meet!ngs held during th~ year , YES 

Attendan~e details of each director/commlsslonedn resp~~t of nieetln~s held! YES 

-; .' ,:-
Details of remuneration of the CEO and each member 01 the b~ard of director5/commis~loner~ YES 

Should the Annual Report not disclose any of the above, please indicate the reason for the non­
disclosure. Not port of information required in StC Form l~-A 

3) External Auditor's fee 
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5ycip Gorres Velayo & Co" . Php 550,00.00 : 

. 

4) Medium of Cornmunication 

... list down the models of communication thanhe compa~y is using for disseminating information. 

-

(7'\ 
_t.1 I 

. . ., , 

Shareholders are provided through public rec;rds, communication media, and the Company's website, the 
disclosures, announcements and reports filed with the 5£( ~SE ,and other regulatIng agencfes. 

5) Date of release of audited financial report: April 2/ '201~ 

6) COll)pany Website 

j> \ 
. ,-i-

I' , 
Does the company have a website dlsdoslnglip'~to~d~te:l~formatlon a,~dut the following? 

Business operations i 

Flnancl;il sta tements/reports (current and Prlor~~ars).:: 
.i 

Materials provided In brleflngs to analy~ts and riie~I!J' 
,1, '.;.j i: Share holding structure 

Group corporilte structure ':1, ! 
Downloadable annual report l 

!, 
: 1· I Notice of AGM and/or EGM 

. . ' ~. . I . 
Company's constitutlon (company's by-law5, memOriln~lIm.a!\d ~rtlde'5pf aSSocl~tlon) 

Corporate website Is being upgrade~'to1urth~r ~~.han~e rm"",'" 

Ii 
7) Disclosure of RPT 

None 

, : ,I 

v .. 

V .. 

Ve, 

V .. 

V" 

V" 

V" 
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~hen RPTs are involved, what processes ar~ In place to address them in the manner that will 5 

Interest of the company and In particular of It~ miri.orlty.shareholde,rs and ot~er stakehq.lders 7 afeguard the 

The Company has no knowledge of any relate.d~partY 'transactions i~ 2'012. 

'l 
RIGHTS OFSTOCKHOLDERS 

Right to participate effectively In and vote in Anri~ai/~pec:ial Stoci:kholders" Meetings 
. ,.'/. 

, . ' ."1 . 
(al Quoru~ 

• '." . '1'1 
Give details on the quorum required to ~on'vene th~ Ann"uailiSpeclal Stockholders' Meeting as set forth iii Its 
By-laws. . -' i " . ' , . .,:' : t 

! . 1·1 
I' , 

'.:t;'- Majority of tti:e,-numb'er of dIrectors 
"as·flxed"ln the"Artlcles tif 

tj"!~ ~ .Incor oration ,I.: -~; 

(b) System Used to Approve corp'orate Act~l ' , 

Explain the system used to approve corpor~te'~~t~· .. ; 
I " , 

~~',~.~,?~~::'i~:';~;j:~Wfi·'~~·:'!l)J$~r.':Q; 
Description 

~:tt~~'I;Y:~:i~~;;;:f:'"'l'V :" ,};,;,j\' ,". 

(cl Stockholders' Rights 

DurIng Stockp,old~rs' 'mee:ting~",'~ ,stoc~holder may vote In person or by 
proxy, During Boa~d,tyIeetihgs, ~el'"!lb~rS of the Board may approve 
corporate acts th~ough viva vdce.voflnR. 

, 

Ust any Stockholders' Rights concerning Annual/Special, ~tockHolders' Meeting that differ from those laid 
down in the Corporation Code.· ! .' , '! . 
, Stockholders' Rights under' . 

.. 
" ' q i' Stockholders' Rights lll!l: In i q , 

The Co.!p~ratiori Code I The Corporation Code , ]." 

NA , NA 

NA NA 

NA NA 

DIVidends 

Record Date 
,",,"''' .-"~",,,,,..,.~ ' .. " 

Payme!'t Da~e.. , ., 

13 March 2012 25 March2011 25 April 2012 

13 March 2012 8 June 2012 ' 29 June 2012 
, 

14 September 2012 21 DeCember 2012 10 January 2013 

(d) Stockholders' Participation 

1. State, if any, the measures !3dopted to promote." stockhol,der participation In the Annual/Special 
Stockholders' Meeting, including the procedure on how stockholders and other parties Interested may 
communicate directly with the Chairmjfin qf the B.~ardl 'I~dividual' directors or board committees. Include 
in the discussion the steps the Board h~s taken to solicit and'understand the views of the stockholders as 
well as procedures for putting forward :p~opo~al.~ -at stockholders' meetings . 

. ' 

I 
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NA 

i " '," 

2. State the company policy of asking snare holders tO,actively p.(rticipate in corporate decisions regarding: 
a. Amendments to. the company's COri5titutlo~"- pat1lclpatlpn In stockholders', meetings 
b. Authorization of additional shares :""pa'rl:ldpation:'ih stockholders' meetings 

, 

c. Transfer of all or substantially all. assets, In effect results In the sale of the company _ 
pa rticipation In stockholders; meetings ' 

I' 
3, Does the company observe a minimum 'oL21 "",,,n,,,,,: days for giving out of notices to the AGM where 

items to be resolved by shareho'iders.are taken up?' I,. 
• !. • 

a. Date of sending out notices: 3 April 2012 .' 
I",',.' , 

b. Date of the Annual/Special Stod~hold~rs' Meel:inl,,! ,'5 2012 i " ..... 
4. State, if any, questions and answers durin'g the.Ann.i"I)"np,,.1 Stockholders' Meeting. 

5. Result of Annual/Special Stockholders; ~~etlng'.5'.R,,,0Iutlor" 

lClW$ to Change Date of 
AnnuCiI Stockholders' 

92.56% 

92.56% 

. NA 

NA 

NA 

NA 

NA 

6. Date of publishing of the result 01 the vatesta ken during the most recent AGM for all resolutions: 
25 May 2012 

Ie) Modifications 

State, if any, the modifications made"in the Annuai!Special Stockholders' Meeting regulations during the most 
recent year and the reason for such modification:' , 

Modification~ I Reason for Modification .. , . 
NA NA 

NA . :.; NA 

NA NA 

tfl Stockholders' Attendance 

(il Details of AttenClance in the Annual/Special ?t~ckholders' Meeting Held: 

Annual 
Nlcanor Uzares 
Anthony Buyawe 
Jorge Agu ita r 

25 May 2012 

i 
I 

, !, 

, , 
Viva voce"'! 

.' 

I 
J 

14.00% 18.56% 92.56% 
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Martin Loremo 
Tadeo Hllado 
Brian Gregory Llu '\ . 
Michael Uu , . 
Jerry liu 

" 
Michael Uu 7 

Special Brian Gregory Uu December 
Anthony Buyawe 2013 1. Jorge Aguilar 

I 

' . 

" i 
! 

I - ! Viva,voc~ 
' " 

I 

, 
! 
I 

! 
0,05% 

, i 
i' 
I 

99,95% 72.19% 

. 

(Il) Does the company appoint an In,depenqer'lt party, (lnspecto~s) to count and/or validate the-votes at the 
ASM/SSMs7 No ", i, 

, I, 
11111 

. ,. I 

Do the company's common shares carry one vote,for one share? If not, disclose and give reasons for any 
divergence to this standard. VYhere tl')ecompan.y'has more than one class of shares, describe the voting 
rights attached to each class 0: 5~ares,/es:, ,,' I ; 

I , Ig) Proxy Voting Policies 

State the policies followed by the company regarding proxy voting In the Annual/Speclal Stockholders' 
Meeting 

. C;ompany's Policies 

;Proxies shall bE!,fnade',ln.wrltlng, signed and In accordance 
Execution and acceptance of proxies with the e)(i~ting laws, rules and regulations of the Securities 

and E~change Commission. 

Notary Unle.ss ~equlr.ed, proxy f~rm may not be notarized. 

Duly act0n:'P1;shed proxl~s must be submitted to the office of 
Submission of Proxy : the'Cor'porate Secretary not later than seven (7) days prior to 

t\;le'date 'of stockholders' meeting for proxy validation. 

Several Proxies Same.procedure as above. 

Unless otherwise,provlded In the proxy, it shall be valid only 

Validity of Proxy . for the' meeting at whlcr it has been presented to the 
. 'Secretary, ! 

Proxies executed a broad 
Prdxies executed abroad shall be duly authenticated by the 
P.hllipplrie Embassy or Consular Olfice, 

Invalidated Proxy 
Proxies which are not properly executed shall be considered 
void and,sh~1I not be considered in the counting of votes, ' 

Validation' of proxies shall be he1d'at the date, time and place 

Validation of Proxy 
as may' be' state~!rn the- Notice of the stockholders' meeting 

·w.hith in no case 'shall be less than.five (5) calendar days prior 
to' the date of'stdckholders meeting. 

Violation of Proxy Shall' render such proxy void, 
• 

"'I' 
I (h) Sending of Notices 

State the company's policies and 
Meeting, 

proted"u~: on the s'ehdlng ~f 'notices of Annual/Special Stockholders' 

The notice shall state the place, date ,and hour·of' 
the meeting, and the purpose or p:drposes for 
which the meeting is cailed, i ' 

"',., ~,. 

Procedure 

N,otices for regular or special meetings of 
stoGkholders may be sent by the Secretary by 

I perfonal ?ellvery, by ordinary or registered mail, 
by facsimile, by electronic mail or by publication 

i 
I 

I 
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in ~~s_papers of general circulation published in 
M~tro ~anlla. at least 2 weeks prior to the date 

,of the .eJting to E;!ach stockholder of record at 
his I~st h~wn address. 

i 

(I) Definitive Information Statements and Management Repqrt , 
Number of Stockholders entitled to reee'iv£!" 
Definitive information Statements and 

. Manaoement Reoort and Other Materials 
.. 

.. 

i 85 
, 

II . 

Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive' I) 

Information Statement and Managemen,t ~eport . ill '~~:" o1k 
, and O,ther Materials held by market ~ 3 A'prll '!I 
',' oartlclnants/certaln beneficial owners ; 

'l Date of Actual Distribution of Definitive ! ':1 
,\ Information Statement and Management Report ' 3 Aprli 0'112" 
: and Other Materials held by stockholder~ , .t .,.... 11.' 

fState whether CD format or hard copl~s.were ~ . HARD rhpJ
Es ; distributed . ! "1-"1' 

I 

! 
(j) Does the Notice of Annual/Specla.' Stockholders' M~etlng i'n~lu e ithe following: 

Each resolution to be taken up deals'with only one. item. 
..' ... ,j. 

>1 

I 
I 

I 
. , . t· 

Profiles of directors (at least age, quallflcationi date of first: a .P9Intment, 
exp.erience, and directorships in othe~ list~'d c~:Jnlpanfe$l 'n~.n' in~ted for . 
electlon/re-election. :. . '. " :!:. 

The auditors to be appointed or re~appoint~d: I ..... · ,.,:: I, 
An explanation of the dividend policy, Ifanydiv;'dend is to'/', d~clared, 
The amount payable for final dividends:; 

Documents required for proxy vote. 

VES 

VES 

YES 

YES 

YES 

YES 

.. ' ,. ··..1 ' I 
Should any of the foregoing Information be not dlsclo,5~d plf~5e indicate the reason thereto. 

2) Treatmen.t of Minority Stockholders 

(a) State the company's policies with respect t~ th!e·trE~~~~~l')ti9. minority stockholders . 

. "" ... [ ',""''' 
, . 

NA NA 

NA NA 

NA .' I NA 

NA NA 

(b) Do minO<'itv stockholdecs have a right to' nominate candidate + board of direct~rs? Ves 

. I 
i 

42 



... 

-

C", 

("I 

(~ 

K. INVESTORS RELATIONS PROGRAM 

1) Discuss the company's external and internal C~rTfm~nlcat'lons --"-"--"-d how frequently they are reviewed. 
Disclose who reviews and approves major company' . . the committee with this 
responsibility, If it has been assigned to a committee, 

There is an Investor Relations Officer within. the Company, which 

1. Creation and Implementation of an lnves~or ~elatlohs pr<igr'~m that reaches out to aU shareholders'and 
fully informs them of corporate activities; 

2. Formulation of a clear policy on communicating br relevant information to Company 

stakeholders and to the broader Investor cn,mn'''''''>''",·!.-".'.Iv effectively and sufficiently; 
3. Preparation of disclosure document~ tathe SEC Stock Exchange, and 

The Investor Relations Officer reports to "the Chief 
disclosures to the SEC and PSE. 

r who shall" oversee all reporting and 

2) Describe the company's Investor relations program Including, Its ~omrnurllc;'tl"ns strategy to promote effective 
communication with Its stockholders; other stakeholders and general. Disclose the contact details 

3) 

(e,g. telephone, fax and emall) of the officer responsible for I 

(1) Objectives 

, . 
I '. ," • 

What are the company's rules and procedures governhig th" ,,:q"i~lllpn of corporate control In the capital 
markets, and extraordinary tra'nsactlons such 'a"s !"nerg~r-s, tlal portions of corporate assets? 

I 
(1) Thorough assessment and due diligence" (1) Bo.ard. ,,",,roval"o 

regulatory approvals, (4) disclosure oftrar:saC·ti~n". 
"i.n",rtlnn value and structure, (3) obtain 

Name of the Independent party the board of dire~t,o'rs 6fthe ;"ijm~'>'n,V"D'nolnted to evaluate the fairness of the 

transaction price. 

The Campany uses several financial adVisors 'dependl~g anthe . and requirements of the transaction. 

l. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY INITIArlVES 
, 

Discuss any initiative undertaken or pro'oD,;ed 

M. BOARD, DIRECTOR, COMMITTEE AND CEO APPRAIS,AL . . /. 

Disclose the process followed and criteria used in assessing 'I annual performance of the board and its 

committe~s, individual director, and the CEO/PresIdent: " 
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Board of Directors 

CEO/President Board evall.ia~lon: 

N. INTERNAL BREACHES AND SANCTIONS 

Discuss the Internal policies on sanction5'lmp~s'ed for anv vlo,lat,lorolo, 
involving directors, officers, management and"ef!1ploy~e's 

i 
I, 

,I 
i. 

,I 
,I 

1 , 

Performance, Good 
Corporate Governance 

of the corporate governance manual 
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